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INTRODUCTION

My long-standing interest in saints came to a turning
point in 1997 after an unexpected, spontaneous and
deeply moving experience.

In the spring of that year, 1 traveled to Montreal to
speak at a conference. Montreal is home to St. Joseph’s
Oratory, a magnificent structure built on Mount Royal, a
small mountain within the city environs. It is a healing
shrine, the world’s largest pilgrimage center dedicated to
St. Joseph. Some 2 million people of all faiths from all
over the world come here every year to pray for the inter-
cession of a remarkable saint, Blessed Brother André,
whose tomb lies within the oratory. One Sunday, I visited
the oratory and joined a large throng of people lined up to
pay their respects at the tomb. I came with no particular
purpose other than to see the oratory and witness others.
I didn’t even know much about the life of Brother André.
What happened to me there caused me to learn about his
life and miraculous healing work.

Brother André was born Alfred Bessette in a village
east of Montreal in 1845 to a poor and humble family. He
was small and of delicate constitution, and suffered poor
health all of his life. In 1870, he sought to enter the
Congregation of the Holy Cross, a religious order dedicat-
ed to the teaching profession. The order accepted him
despite his lack of education, and gave him the lowly job
of doorkeeper at Notre Dame College in Mount Royal. He
took the name André in honor of his sponsor, Pastor
André Provencal.

Brother André spent much of his time in prayer. When
he was off-duty, he visited the sick. Miraculous cures were
attributed to him and he soon became renowned as the
“Wonder Man of Mount Royal.” People came from afar to
see him. He always credited the cures to the intercession
of his patron saint, Joseph.

Brother André’s ability was not greeted with warmth
within his own religious community. Some were skeptical
and even opposed him. The quiet little man persevered,
always within the requirements of authority, and finally
realized his great dream to build an oratory in honor of St.
Joseph. It began with a tiny chapel on Mount Royal in
1904. Over the years, donations in honor of Brother
André have enabled expansions. The present basilica is
the tallest point in Montreal, and holds 3,000 people.

Brother André died in 1937 and was beatified in 1987
by Pope John Paul II (r. 1978— ). His death did not end
his healing work. As millions of pilgrims attest, his inter-
cession from beyond the grave enables continuing mira-
cles of divine healing.

Brother André’s heart is on view as a relic, encased in
a clear glass container in the oratory. But the real attrac-
tion, the real power center, is his small black granite
tomb, called the Black Coffin. Pilgrims come to touch the
tomb and pray for healing.

So there I was this one Sunday morning, filing into the
small alcove that contains the tomb. Outside the alcove,
candlelight flickered over the high walls filled with the
canes and crutches people had thrown away after miracu-
lous healings there.

The tomb itself was small, plain and unadorned. The
simplicity of its surroundings certainly gave no hint that
therein lay the remains of a miracle healer revered around
the world. Someone had placed a single red rose atop the
tomb. People waited for a turn to touch the black granite
while others crowded around them. At last I maneuvered
to the front and placed both palms on top of the tomb.

When I touched the tomb, I felt a burning begin in the
center of my chest. It astonished me. The feeling intensi-
fied, as though my heart center were on fire. This feeling
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of fiery heat radiated out to the rest of my body, growing
stronger, until I felt as though I were enveloped in invisi-
ble flames. I felt strangely unable to move. As I stood riv-
eted to the tomb, it came to me that I was touching the
Heart of God, experiencing the burning fire of true
unconditional love. It was flowing into me as a heat and
fire that literally were burning away imperfections in me.
Layer upon layer peeled away. The intensity and brilliance
of this radiance were overwhelming.

Suddenly 1 understood that there is a difference
between love and unconditional love. Love heals, nur-
tures, nourishes and sustains. Unconditional love puri-
fies. This difference is at once subtle and profound; at
once infinitesimal and vast. I was being purified in some
way by unconditional love.

The burning sensation lasted as long as I held my
hands on the tomb. I remained swept up in a rapture
equal to that of any saint. I have never felt so much in the
presence of God.

Afterward, the only thing I was capable of doing was
walking into an adjoining chapel, where I wept and
prayed, and tried to understand what I had just experi-
enced.

On my last day in Montreal, I returned to the oratory.
I was anxious to touch the Black Coffin again. I desired
that incredible fire that had taken me into the presence of
God. It was a weekday, with few people about, and so this
time I had the entire alcove to myself. But when I touched
the tomb again there was no burning. Instead I felt a deep
and soft inner radiance. It was another extraordinary
experience, but of a different sort.

In retrospect, I realized that of course I would not
experience the same fire. A mystical experience is unique
and not repeated. The expansion of consciousness that
comes from it is needed only once.

What was the source of the power that facilitated such
an experience? How can a holy person continue, from the
other side of death, as a channel for divine grace? I do not
know the answers, but only continue to explore the mys-
tery. Was I changed? Yes. Like the experience itself, I was
changed in both subtle and profound ways. I did not feel
that T had become “holy” or anything of the sort. And
though I felt “stuff” burned off of me, I still possessed the
same flaws and shortcomings. But I have a much different
awareness of love now, and of the importance of bringing
love to its highest and purest expression, that of uncondi-
tional love.

This experience joins the records of countless other
transformative experiences had by people the world over

when they come into the presence of saints. As I men-
tioned at the beginning, I had already long been interest-
ed in saints as part of my study of mysticism. This expe-
rience with Brother André propelled me into a deeper
study of both.

What exactly is sainthood? The Roman Catholic
Church has a formal process of canonization for recogniz-
ing the holiest of the holy as saints—saints are not “made”
but simply honored for their achievements. The Church
thoroughly examines a candidate’s life and works, and
requires validation of at least two posthumous miracles.
But fewer than 300 of the 10,000 or so documented saints
throughout history have been canonized (Brother André
has been beatified, a step that precedes canonization). The
rest have achieved a saint status by popular acclaim. They
are venerated locally. Some, popular once upon a time,
have disappeared altogether from current devotion. And
some belong more to legend than to history.

A saint’s sanctity and purity, as well as writings and
acts of charity and sacrifice, certainly are important con-
siderations to formal sainthood. But what drives the pop-
ular interest and devotion is belief in the power of the
saint to bring help and healing to the living. Some saints
are important to the Church for their treatises and works
on theology and philosophy. The people, however, look
for miracles. We the public are drawn to saints because of
the mystery around them: their rich inner lives of mysti-
cal and visionary experience, and their ability to work
wonders and miracles.

There are too many saints to put them all in a single
volume. In this book, I have made a selection of saints
who have made important contributions to the Church
and to society, especially in education, charity and health
care. Among these are towering figures such as St
Thomas Aquinas, who shaped the development of
Western philosophy. I have also included some of the
early martyrs and legendary figures, as well as church
fathers, church doctors and beatified and canonized
popes. I have paid special attention to the inner, mystical
lives of saints and to their miracles, for here is where we
come closest to the Mystery.

I keep Brother André’s picture at my desk, and carry
some of the little medallions of him that the oratory sells,
including one that contains a tiny piece of relic. They are
links not so much to the man, but to what he and other
saints represent: that miracles are made possible by a
heart that loves.

—Rosemary Ellen Guiley
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Adalbald of Ostrevant (d. ca. 650-652) Martyr
Also known as: Adalbald d’Ostrevant

Adalbald of Ostrevant was born in Flanders to a noble
family. His mother or grandmother (sources differ)
was St. Gertrude, founder of the monastery at Ham-
age. Adalbert served at the Merovingian court of King
Dagobert I, great-great-grandson of Clovis I and St.
Clotilde of the Franks, and Dagobert’s successor, Clo-
vis II. While in Dagobert’s service against the rebel-
lious Gascons, Adalbert fell in love with Rictrude
(later sainted herself), the daughter of a Gascon noble
family. Her relatives forbade the union, but Rictrude
married Adalbert anyway. They had four children: St.
Maurontius, St. Clotsindis, St. Eusebia and St. Adal-
sindis.

Rictrude’s kin never accepted Adalbald, reportedly
jealous of his reputation and political position. Mem-
bers of her family assassinated Adalbald while he was
traveling to Gascony. Devastated, Rictrude nevertheless
retrieved the body and buried it. Almost immediately,
rumors spread of miraculous healings at the tomb. Ric-
trude continued her work, reputedly founding the
abbey at Marchiennes.

Feast: February 2
Patronage: parents of large families

Adalbert of Prague (b. ca. 939-956-d. 997) Arch-
bishop and missionary to Poland

Also known as: Apostle of the Prussians; Adelbert;
Voitech, Voytiekh, Voytech, Wojtech; Apostle of
Bohemia

Christened Wojtech, Adalbert was born in Libice,
Bohemia, to a princely family. The dates of his birth are
placed anywhere from 939 to 956. He studied under
archbishop St. Adalbert of Magdeburg and took his
mentor’s name when the archbishop died in 981. Adal-
bert became the second bishop of Prague in 983, but
his righteous efforts to convert the Bohemian pagans
made an enemy of Duke Boleslaus II of Bohemia, and
Adalbert left for Rome in 990.

Released from his responsibilities by Pope John XV
(1. 985-996), Adalbert joined the Benedictine monas-
tery of SS. Boniface and Alexius. But two years later,
Duke Boleslaus agreed to accept Adalbert’s authority,
and Pope John XV sent Adalbert back to Prague. The
Bohemian people cheered his return, and he founded
the monastery of Brevnov with Majolus of Cluny. Adal-
bert’s relations with Duke Boleslaus and the nobility
worsened, however, after an adulterous but penitent
noblewoman seeking sanctuary in a convent was
dragged out and Kkilled. Adalbert excommunicated
everyone involved and was forced to flee again to
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Rome in 995. This time Boleslaus massacred some of
Adalbert’s family, and he did not return to Prague.

Adalbert’s next mission was to Hungary, where he
evangelized the Magyars and may have baptized Kings
Geysa and Stephen. But at the invitation of Prince
Boleslaus 1 of Poland, he traveled to Pomerania to
evangelize the Prussians. The Prussian nobility and the
pagan priests liked him no better than had the Bohemi-
ans, and Adalbert and his missionaries were assassi-
nated as Polish spies in 997 near Danzig. One account
says Prince Boleslaus 1 buried Adalberts body at
Gniezno, Poland; another says that the prince ran-
somed the body for its weight in gold.

Despite his disappointments, Adalbert exercised
considerable influence. He was friends with Holy
Roman Emperor Otto III and inspired St. Boniface of
Querfurt. Adalbert composed Czech and Polish hymns
in the vernacular and is credited with writing the Pol-
ish battle song, “Boga-Rodzica.” His righteous zeal for
religious compliance, which was not well appreciated,
included extraction of the teeth of anyone found
breaking fast on a holy day. His relics were taken to
Prague in 1039.

Canonized: 999

Feast: April 23

Patronage: Bohemia (part of the Czech Republic);
Poland; Prussia

FURTHER READING
Reston, James Jr. The Last Apocalypse: Europe at the Year 1000
A.D. New York: Doubleday, 1998.

Adelaide (931-999) Princess, foundress of religious
programs, regent

Name meaning: noble person

Also known as: Adelheid

Adelaide was born in 931, the daughter of King
Rudolph II of Burgundy. She became a political pawn
at age two. Her father, embroiled in a war with Hugh of
Provence for the crown of Lombardy (Italy), agreed to
betroth her to Hugh’s son Lothaire in order to end the
fighting in 933. Her brother Conrad honored his
father’s agreement in 947, when Adelaide was 16;
Rudolph had died years before, and his widow, Ade-
laide’s mother, had since married Hugh. Meanwhile,
Berengarius (or Berengar) II, Marquis of Ivrea, claimed
Lombardy and forced Hugh to abdicate in favor of
Lothaire. Lothaire and Adelaide were king and queen
of Ttaly only a short while before Lothaire died, proba-
bly from poison at the instigation of Berengarius in
950.

Berengarius tried to force Adelaide to marry his son,
but the young widow refused and was imprisoned in a

castle in the middle of Lake Garda. Accounts differ
about her escape from Castle Garda: One story says a
priest named Martin dug a subterranean passage under
the lake, rescued Adelaide and kept her in the passage,
surviving on fish alone, until Alberto Uzzo, duke of
Canossa, whisked the queen off to his castle. Neverthe-
less, the Italian nobles, tired of Berengarius and his
wars, invited King Otto I of Germany, called the Great,
to invade Italy and dispose of Berengarius. Otto
entered Italy in 951, rescued Queen Adelaide (either
from Castle Garda or from the eager duke) and mar-
ried her on Christmas Day 951 at Pavia, thereby taking
the title King of the Lombards. Berengarius fled to his
castle at Montefeltro.

The couple did not linger long in Italy because Liu-
dolf, Otto’s son by his first wife Edith, was trying to
start an uprising against the French influence of his
stepmother. He failed, however, and the German peo-
ple supposedly adored their new queen. She and Otto
had five children, with the son and heir, Otto II, born
in 955. Throughout the next 10 years, Otto I fought
continuous wars over the control of Italy, which was
not only plundered by soldiers but also allowed to
decay under the debauched reign of Pope John XII.
When Berengarius became a threat again in 961, the
pope offered Otto 1 the crown of the empire in return
for protection. The spectacular coronation of Otto I
and Adelaide as Holy Roman Emperor and Empress of
the German Nation on February 2, 962, not only
assured Germany’s dominance in Europe but also ful-
filled Otto’s ultimate goal of reestablishing a Christian
empire with himself as the new Caesar.

In 969, Otto I designated his 14-year-old son Otto
1T as co-emperor, thereby securing the boy’s right of
succession. To further cement Otto ITs authority, Otto 1
arranged his son’s marriage to the Byzantine princess
Theophano, daughter of the usurper John Tzimisces.
Tzimisces, called Little Slippers, was the lover to the
wife (also named Theophano) of the murdered Byzan-
tine emperor Nicephorus II Phocas. Otto II and Theo-
phano were married in Rome in 972 and ascended to
the throne after Otto I died in 973. Theophano, a polit-
ically astute and strong-willed woman, exerted great
influence on royal affairs and reputedly turned her
husband against his mother. Relations with her
mother-in-law Empress Adelaide were strained at best,
and Adelaide left court to join her brother Conrad in
Vienne, appealing to St. Majolus, abbot of Cluny, to
intervene. The abbot arranged a reconciliation at Ade-
laide’s court at Pavia.

Relations between the two women remained diffi-
cult until Otto II's death on December 7, 983. Theo-
phano traveled to Pavia seeking refuge with Adelaide.
The heir, three-year-old Otto III, was in the care of the
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bishop of Cologne, far too close to the domain of
Prince Henry of Bavaria, called the Quarrelsome, who,
along with Henry of Carinthia and Bishop Henry of
Augsburg, was trying to take the crown. On Christmas
Day, 983, Otto III was symbolically crowned Holy
Roman Emperor in Aachen, Charlemagne’s ancient
seat. Almost immediately Henry of Bavaria kidnapped
the child and took him to Quedlinburg, where Henry
had himself proclaimed king.

Adelaide and Theophano appealed to Gerbert of
Aurillac, a brilliant theologian, mathematician, coun-
selor to Otto II and eventually Pope Sylvester II, to inter-
cede, and he created a coalition of powerful kings and
churchmen to put pressure on Henry. Conceding defeat,
Henry returned young Otto IIT to his mother, Empress
Theophano, on June 29, 984. Adelaide returned to
Pavia, still unable to reconcile fully with Theophano,
while the empress ably ruled as her son’s regent until her
sudden death in June 991.

But Otto III was still underage in 991, so his grand-
mother Adelaide assumed the regency until Otto III
could be fully crowned at age 16 in 996. Writers of the
period characterized Adelaide’s regency as a wise and
peaceful era in which the empress established monas-
teries and churches, supported the works of St. Adal-
bert of Magdeburg, St. Majolus of Cluny and St. Odilo,
also of Cluny. She concentrated on converting the Slavs
and other pagans on the empire’s northern borders.
After Otto III took the throne, Adelaide retired to a
convent and continued her works of charity and con-
version.

In 999 Adelaide traveled to Burgundy to arrange a
reconciliation between her nephew Rudolph and his
vassals. She died en route at her monastery at Seltz,
near Strasbourg in Alsace, on December 16 at age 68.
Her relics are enshrined at Hanover.

Canonized: 1097 by Pope Urban 11

Feast: December 16

Patronage: abuse victims; brides; empresses; exiles;
in-law problems; parents of large families;
princesses; prisoners; second parents; step-par-
ents; widows

FURTHER READING
Reston, James, Jr. The Last Apocalypse: Europe at the Year
1000 A.D. New York: Doubleday, 1998.

Adeodatus I (d. 618) Pope
Also known as: Deusdedit

Adeodatus was born in Rome, the son of a subdeacon
named Stephen. He had been a priest in Rome for 40
years when he was elected to the Chair of St. Peter to
succeed St. Boniface IV. Consecrated on October 19,

615, he was the first priest who was not also a monas-
tic to become pope since John II (r. 533-535).

His pontificate was conducted in a time of many
troubles—war between the Lombards and Byzantines,
a plague of leprosy, and a major earthquake. He gave
generously to the victims and helped them in any way
he could. He was equally supportive of his clergy, who
were impoverished by the same events, leaving each a
year’s stipend in his will.

Adeodatus is thought to have been the first to use
leaden bullae to seal his official pronouncements, thus
the name “bulls,” as papal documents are still known
today.

He died in Rome on November 8, 618.

Feast: November 8

Adrian 111 (d. 885) Pope
Also known as: Hadrian II1

Little is known of the life or papacy of Adrian III, or
why he is venerated as a saint. He was born in Rome
and was elected to the Chair of St. Peter on May 17,
884.

During his reign, there was a great famine in Rome,
which he mitigated as he could. He opposed an aristo-
cratic faction led by Formosus, Bishop of Porto; had
George of the Aventine, a member of the Formosan
group and a notorious murderer, tried, condemned and
blinded; and had a widow of another of the group
whipped naked through the streets of the city.

Adrian died either in early September or on July 8,
885, near Modena, while on his way to a diet in
Worms, Germany, at the invitation of Emperor Charles
the Fat, probably to settle the question of Charles’s
succession and to seek help in defense against the
Muslim Saracens. He was buried in the monastery of
Nonantula, where his memory has ever since been held
in veneration.

Cultus confirmed: 1892 by Pope Leo XIII
Feast: July 8 (formerly September 7)

Agapetus | (d. 536) Pope and martyr
Also known as: Agapitus

Agapetus was the son of a priest named Gordianus
who was killed in riots during the reign of Pope St.
Symmachus. He was archdeacon of the Roman clergy
when he was elected to succeed Pope St. Felix IV in
the Chair of St. Peter on May 13, 535.

Agapetus confirmed decrees barring converts from
Arianism from becoming priests, and requiring those
already ordained to serve in lay capacities only. How-
ever, he is remembered primarily for a trip he took to
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Constantinople at the behest of Queen Amalasuntha of
the Goths. The Byzantine Belisarius, having taken
Sicily, was preparing to mount an offensive on Italy,
and Amalasuntha hoped that a personal appeal from
Agapetus would change the mind of Emperor Justin-
ian.

He arrived in Constantinople to discover that the
new patriarch, Anthinus, was an adherent of the
Monophysite heresy, then very strong in Byzantium.
Anthinus had been appointed by Justinian at the
advice of Queen Theodora. When Agapetus ordered
Anthinus to make a written profession of his faith, he
refused. Justinian at first threatened to banish the
pope, but then, convinced of Anthinuss heresy, he
relented, and not only allowed Agapetus to dismiss
Anthinus, but also permitted him (for the first time in
the history of the Church) to consecrate his successor,
Mennas.

Agapatus was not able to dissuade Justinian from
his designs on Italy, however. While still in Constan-
tinople, he fell ill and died on April 22, 536. His
relics were translated to Rome in a leaden coffin on
September 20 and interred in St. Peter’s basilica in
the Vatican. Like many other saints of the period, he
owes his cultus to the devotion of Pope St. Gregory I
(Gregory the Great, r. 590-604). He is venerated in
both the Roman Catholic and Greek Orthodox
churches. His name appears in the Roman Marty-
rology.

Feast: April 22 (formerly September 20; April 22
in Greek Orthodox Church)

Agatha (d. ca. 250) Virgin and martyr
Name meaning: good

Although Agatha has been venerated as a saint and
martyr since ancient times, none of the legendary
details of her life or death can be authenticated. The
stories of her terrible persecutions appear in the Marty-
rologium Hieronymianum (Martyrology of St. Jerome)
and the Martyrologium Carthaginiense (Carthaginian
calendar of martyrs), the Carmina of Venantius Fortu-
natus, and the canon of the Mass, but many scholars
now believe Agatha to have been an inspiring but fic-
tional character.

Both Palermo and Catania in Sicily take credit as
the site of Agatha’s birth, supposedly to a wealthy and
influential family. Her beauty attracted the attention of
the Roman consul Quintinian, but Agatha refused his
offer of marriage, having dedicated her life as a virgin
to Christ. His ego bruised, Quintinian committed
Agatha to a brothel, but she stood firm and retained
her virginity. Enraged, Quintinian turned her over to a

magistrate and accused her of being a Christian. The
Acts of her martyrdom place her arrest during the reign
of Emperor Decian, about 250—a period of horrific
persecution.

First the magistrate ordered Agatha to be beaten
and imprisoned, but when those tortures had no effect
on her faith he condemned her to be stretched on the
rack. Her cheerful confidence in Christ’s love against
such suffering so offended the magistrate that he had
her breasts crushed and then cut off, ordering her to a
dungeon without food, water or medicine. But St. Peter
supposedly came to her in a vision of light, accompa-
nied by a youth carrying a torch, and healed her
wounds. Unimpressed by such a miracle, Quintinian
ordered the magistrate to have Agatha rolled naked
over live coals mixed with broken potsherds. Agatha
prayed for release, and at that very moment an earth-
quake struck Catania. Asking Christ to receive her
soul, Agatha died.

Her courage and spirit fostered a cult of worship all
over Christendom. Pope Symmachus built a church in
her honor on the Via Aurelia in Rome. Prayers by St.
Lucy of Syracuse at St. Agatha’s tomb reportedly cured
the saint’s mother, Eutychia, from hemorrhage. A letter
from Pope Gelasius (r. 492—496) to a Bishop Victor in
the fifth century referred to the basilica of St. Agatha.
Pope St. Gregory I the Great (r. 590-604) mentioned a
Roman church dedicated to St. Agatha given to the
Arian Goths. Pope Gregory reconsecrated the church
of Sant’ Agata dei Goti for Catholic worship in the late
sixth century.

Medieval church paintings of Agatha often showed
her carrying her severed breasts on a platter—an
image many mistook for loaves of bread. Conse-
quently, the tradition arose of blessing “Agatha bread”
on her feast day. The shape of her breasts also evoked
bells, especially those used as fire alarms. The carry-
ing of her veil, supposedly taken from her tomb, on a
lance in procession reportedly has stopped or pre-
vented eruptions of Mount Etna. Prayers for her inter-
cession were credited with preventing the Turks from
taking the island of Malta in 1551. Following the
Peace of Constantine, Agatha’s relics went to Constan-
tinople, but they were translated to Catania about
1126.

Feast: February 5

Patronage: alpine guides; bell founders; breast dis-
ease; earthquakes; eruptions of Mount Etna; fire
and fire prevention; girdlers; jewelers; martyrs;
natural disasters; nurses; rape victims; shep-
herdesses; single laywomen; sterility; torture vic-
tims; volcanic eruptions; wet nurses; Catania,
Sicily; Malta; Zamarramala, Spain
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Agatho (d. 681) Pope
Also known as: Thaumaturgus

Agatho was born in Sicily, probably in Palermo. He had
been married for 20 years and had become financially
successful when he decided to join the Benedictine
monastery of St. Hermes in Palermo. He is thought to
be the Agatho whom Pope St. Gregory I (Gregory the
Great, 1. 590-604) authorized to join the monastery if
his wife became a nun. In that case, he would have
been more than 100 years old when he was elected
bishop of Rome to succeed Pope Dounus (r. 676-678)
on June 27, 678.

Agatho was renowned for his affability and charity.
His life experience also made him an unusually good
business man, and he maintained the Vatican’s
accounting books himself, contrary to custom.

Shortly after Agatho’s election, Wilfrid, bishop of
York, who had been dismissed from his see, appealed
to Agatho, who ordered him reinstated. He also dis-
patched an envoy to teach the Britons about chanting
and to report to him on the state of the English
Church.

However, the signal event of Agatho’s pontificate
was the Sixth Ecumenical Council, held in Constan-
tinople in 680. Although he was unable to attend, he
sent emissaries who read a letter from him condemn-
ing Monothelitism, a heresy that held that Christ pos-
sessed a single, divine nature rather than a double,
divine and human, nature. Monothelitism had at one
time divided the Eastern and Western Church, but the
council accepted Agatho’s definitions, Patriarch George
of Constantinople proclaiming: “Peter has spoken by
Agatho.” By the time the councils decrees reached
Rome, however, Agatho had died.

He died during a plague on January 10, 681, and
was buried in St. Peter’s at the Vatican. The many mira-
cles thereafter received through his intercession led to
his being called Thaumaturgus (Wonderworker). He is
venerated in the Greek Orthodox as well as the Roman
Catholic Church. His memory is celebrated especially
at York, England, and Palermo, Italy.

In art, Agatho is shown wearing a tiara and holding
a long cross.

Feast: January 10

Agnes of Assisi (ca. 1197-1253) Abbess and miracle
worker; the younger sister of St. Clare of Assisi, founder
of the Poor Clares

Agnes of Assisi was born at Assisi, Italy, in 1197 or
1198 to a noble family. Her father was Count Favorino
Scifi, and her mother, Bl. Hortulana, belonged to the
noble family of the Fiumi. In addition, her cousin

Rufino was one of the celebrated “Three Companions”
of St. Francis of Assisi.

Agnes lived an idyllic childhood in luxurious sur-
roundings in her father’s palace in the city and in his
castle of Sasso Rosso on Mount Subasio. On March 18,
1212, Clare, Agnes’s sister, left home to follow the
example set by St. Francis. Inspired, Agnes departed 16
days later and went to the Benedictine monastery of St.
Angelo in Panso.

Furious, Count Favorino sent his brother Monaldo,
with several relatives and some armed followers, to
force Agnes to return home. According to an account
in the Chronicles of the Twenty-four Generals, Monaldo
drew his sword to strike Agnes, but his arm dropped,
withered and useless, by his side. Others dragged
Agnes out of the monastery by the hair, striking her
and kicking her repeatedly until she was near death.
Clare came to the rescue. Suddenly Agness body
became so heavy that the soldiers dropped her in a
field near the monastery.

Agnes stayed, and Francis rewarded her by cutting
off her hair and giving her the habit of poverty. He
installed Clare and Agnes at St. Damian’s, along with
their mother, their sister Beatrice and some noble-
women. The Order of the Poor Ladies of St. Damian’s,
or Poor Clares, was born.

Agnes became abbess and was well-loved. In 1219
Francis sent her to Monticelli, near Florence, to found
and govern a community of the Poor Ladies. She also
established communities at Mantua, Venice and Padua.

In 1253 Agnes attended Clare on her deathbed and
assisted at her funeral. Clare had predicted that Agnes
would soon follow her. Three months later, on Novem-
ber 16, Agnes died and was buried near her mother
and sisters Clare and Beatrice in the church of St. Clare
at Assisi. Miracles were reported at her tomb.

Benedict XIV (r. 1740-58) permitted the Order of
St. Francis to celebrate her feast.

Feast: November 16

Agnes of Rome (d. ca. 304) Virgin and martyr
Name meaning: Pure one

Little is known about Agnes, and the circumstances of
her martyrdom are not documented. According to St.
Ambrose in De virginitate, she died by fire at age 12.
Other versions of her martyrdom are given by Pope
St. Damasus (r. 366-384) and Prudentius in Peris-
tephanon.

Agnes is said to have been a beautiful, wealthy
Roman maiden born during the reign of Emperor Dio-
cletian (284-305) to Christian parents at a time when
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St. Agnes of Rome (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

most of the nobility were pagan. Diocletian was an
ardent persecutor of Christians.

One story holds that a rejected suitor betrayed her
to the authorities.

According to an epitaph written by Damasus, pre-
served at her tomb and church, she announced her
faith and was sentenced to die by fire. Before dying, she
was stripped of all her clothing, and covered herself
with her hair.

According to Prudentius, who composed a hymn in
her honor, she was punished by being placed into a
brothel. Miraculously, her virginity was preserved, for
anyone who approached her was blinded and knocked
down by a divine force. Her suitor tried and was thus
punished, but Agnes prayed and asked Christ to
restore his sight. She was then thrown into the flames.

Another version says that she remained unharmed
in the flames, and so finally was decapitated. Yet
another version says she was killed by a sword.

During the reign of Constantine (323-337), a basil-
ica was built on the site of her grave near the Via
Nomentana. It was remodeled by Pope Honorius I (r.
625-638) in 630.

Agnes’s emblem in art is the lamb, a symbol of
purity, and because of the similarity between her name
and the Latin word for lamb, agnus. In art she is often
depicted in flames and with a sword at her feet. On her
feast day, two lambs are blessed, and their wool is then
made into pallia and given to archbishops of the
Church.

Feast: January 21
Patronage: young girls

Agostina Petrantoni (1864-1894) Martyr of charity
Also known as: Agostina Pietrantoni, Livia Pietranton

Little is known of Agostina Petrantonis early life
beyond her birthplace of Pozzaglia Sabina in Rieti,
Italy. She was born on March 27, 1864, and was given
the name Livia. She joined the Sisters of Charity and
dedicated her life in service to the sick, working at the
Holy Spirit Hospital in Rome. From 1886 on she
worked with the most critically ill patients, succumb-
ing to many of their diseases.

After contracting tuberculosis, Agostina asked to
serve in the tuberculosis ward exclusively. She died in
1894 when a tuberculosis patient stabbed her to death
after a rape attempt. Her last words were a prayer for
her attacker’s forgiveness.

In his speech at her canonization, Pope John Paul II
said that Sister Agostina understood the gift of gener-
ous service, especially to the neediest, in whose faces is
reflected the face of Christ.

Canonized: April 18, 1999, by Pope John Paul II
Patronage: abuse victims; martyrs; people ridiculed
for piety; against poverty

Aidan of Lindisfarne (d. 651) Bishop and monastic
founder

Most of what scholars know about Aidan comes from
favorable accounts by the Venerable Bede in his Eccle-
siastical History of the English People. In 635, Aidan, a
monk at St. Columba’s monastery on the island of
lona, traveled on foot to the city of Bamburgh in the
old, Romanized part of Britain, now Northumbria, to
serve as bishop at the request of St. King Oswald of
Northumbria. Aidan followed the Celtic/Irish custom
of establishing his see in a monastery, rather than
in Northumbria’s largest city of York, and founded
Lindisfarne as a royal fortress protected by the king.
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Aidan walked over all of Northumbria, gaining many
converts and serving the poor, often with King
Oswald translating the monk’s Latin into common
English.

The establishment of Lindisfarne monastery was
Aidan’s greatest achievement. The Lindisfarne Gospels,
almost the only codex (a manuscript book rather than
a scroll) that can be attributed to a single scribe, was
written by Eadfrith, abbot of Lindisfarne after Aidan’s
death. However, Viking raiders, who pillaged the mo-
nasteries for their silver and precious objects, often
destroyed the illuminated manuscripts for their gilded
covers. Barbarians attacked Lindisfarne in 793, 801,
800 and 867; any survivors left the ruins for good in
875. The Lindisfarne Gospels were perhaps buried or
sent to another monastery for safekeeping; one copy
remains.

Aidan died in 651 after the murder of King Oswin,
Oswald’s successor. He was buried at the abbey.

Feast: August 31

FURTHER READING

Cahill, Thomas. How the Irish Saved Civilization. New York:
Nan A. Talese/Doubleday, 1995.

Reston, James, Jr. The Last Apocalypse: Europe at the Year
1000 A.D. New York: Doubleday, 1998.

Alban (d. ca. 304) Reportedly the first martyr in En-
gland during the persecutions by Emperor Diocletian (r.
284-305)

The story of Alban, a pagan by birth, was recorded by
the Venerable Bede in his Ecclesiastical History of the
English People. A resident of Verulamium (now St
Alban’s in Hertfordshire, between Birmingham and
London), Alban gave shelter to a Christian priest who
was trying to escape the persecutions. So impressed
was Alban by the man’s humble demeanor, prayer and
wisdom that he converted and was baptized.

Authorities learned that the priest was hiding in
Alban’s house, and sent soldiers to arrest him. Alban
donned the man’s clothing, enabling him to escape,
and was arrested in his stead. He was taken before the
governor and repeatedly refused to renounce his new
faith. He was severely scourged and tortured and con-
demned to die by beheading.

The route to the execution site required Alban and
his guards to wade across a river. There were so many
onlookers that progress was impeded. Tradition holds
that Alban prayed, and the waters of the river divided
to create a dry passage. The executioner was so moved
by this miracle that he converted himself, and was
martyred along with Alban.

When the party reached the hill where the execu-
tions were to take place, a fountain miraculously
sprang up out of the ground.

The priest whom Alban had sheltered was captured
several days later and stoned to death in Redbourn,
near Verulamium.

Alban has been venerated in Britain since the fifth
century, and was even known in France. Other
accounts of his life have been written, some stating
that he had been a soldier. A church was built on the
site of the execution and became famous for miracles.
A monastery was built there later.

Feast: June 20

FURTHER READING
St. Alphonsus Liguori. Victories of the Martyrs. Brooklyn:
Redemptorist Fathers, 1954.

Albert the Great (ca. 1206-1280) Doctor of the
Church, theologian, bishop and philosopher

Name meaning: noble; brilliant

Also known as: Albertus Magnus, Doctor Universalis,
Doctor Expertus, Albert the German, Universal Doctor

The eldest son of Count Bollstadt, a military nobleman
in the service of Emperor Frederick II, Albert was born
ca. 1206 at the castle of Lauingen in Swabia, a south-
ern German province along the Danube River. Nothing
is known of his early childhood or education, but as a
young man he studied at the University of Padua. At
age 16 he became impressed with the Order of Preach-
ing Friars, or Brothers, founded by St. Dominic, and
became a postulant in 1222 under Blessed Jordan of
Saxony, second master general of the Friars Preachers
and immediate successor to Dominic. Rumors circu-
lated that Albert’s father, angry at his son’s renunciation
of title and wealth, would try to retrieve him by force,
but they came to nothing when the Brothers, com-
monly called Dominicans, discreetly sent the young
Albert to the friary in Cologne. There he completed his
studies and taught others, as well as teaching at
Hildesheim, Freiburg-im-Breisgau, Regensburg and
Strasbourg.

Learning and thinking in 13th-century Europe were
undergoing radical changes, and Albert’s approach to
these changes was intelligent, scientific and common-
sensical. As a member of one of the new mendicant
orders, Albert was not tied to a parish church or
monastery, leaving him free to teach and preach any-
where, and, like the other friars, able to assume a key
position in the new universities. Up until the 12th cen-
tury, traditional education in the Latin-based world
was based on the Scriptures and commentaries on
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them. Meanwhile, Islamic scholars had assimilated the
logic and philosophy of Aristotle and other Greek
works of mathematics and science. In the 12th century,
Latin translations of these works became available,
presenting Christian scholars with a challenge: how to
use this valuable knowledge, reconcile it with earlier
Christian thinking, and remove the heresy associated
with Islam.

Albert’s answer to this challenge was to learn all he
could of the newly revealed information, try to under-
stand it, examine it critically and accept what he could
and adapt it to established Church dogma. He was
interpreting Peter Lombard’s Book of the Sentences in
1245 when he was sent to the university in Paris, gen-
erally acknowledged as the greatest school of theology.
There he encountered the Summa Theologice of Alexan-
der of Hales, the first book written after all the works
of Aristotle had become known in Paris. He received
his doctorate.

Among Alberts students accompanying him to
Paris from Cologne was a young friar named Thomas
Aquinas, who took his master’s teachings and became
the greatest philosopher of his day. Thomas returned
to Cologne when Albert was selected regent of the
new Studium Generale there in 1248 and became sec-
ond professor under Albert and master of students. In
1250 Albert drew up the rules for direction of study
and graduation from Dominican universities and insti-
tutions. Thomas remained with Albert until 1252.
What Albert began, and Thomas perfected, became
known as the Scholastic system or Scholasticism: the
application of Aristotelian methods and principles to
the study of revealed doctrine, or the reconciliation of
reason and orthodoxy. Albert did not believe the
works of Aristotle should be banned or totally sub-
sumed to early Christian teaching, nor did he accept
all of Aristotle’s philosophy without question, but he
showed that sense and experience were the basis of all
human knowledge.

In 1254, Albert was named prior provincial of the
Dominican Order in Germany. In 1256, he traveled to
Rome to defend the mendicant orders against the
attacks of William of St. Amour in the book De Novis-
simis Temporum Periculis, or “The Dangers of These
Present Times.” Pope Alexander IV (r. 1254-61)
agreed with Albert and his peers, condemning
William’s book on October 5, 1256. While in Rome
Albert served as master of the sacred palace, the posi-
tion as the pope’s personal theologian and canonist
always filled by a Dominican. Albert returned to
Cologne and resigned the office of prior provincial in
1257 to allow him more time for study and teaching.
Three years later, in 1260, Alexander IV named the

reluctant Albert bishop of Regensburg, a post that he
resigned in 1262 to return to his beloved Studium in
Cologne.

In 1270 Albert wrote a treatise against Siger de Bra-
bant and the Muslim philosopher Averroés in defense
of his former student Thomas. In 1274, Pope Gregory
X called Albert to attend the 14th General Council at
Lyons. While en route he learned that Thomas had
died at Fossa Nuova, and Albert lamented that “the
light of the Church” had been extinguished. Albert
journeyed from Cologne once more, in 1277, again to
defend himself and St. Thomas against Church conser-
vatives—specifically, Stephen Tempier, bishop of Paris,
who accused Albert and Thomas of being too favorable
to the unbelieving philosophers. Albert hotly defended
himself and Thomas, challenging his detractors to
examine his theological record, but the so-called ape of
Aristotle could not win on all points.

A prodigious writer, thinker and experimenter,
Albert fearlessly tested previously accepted facts and
made keen observations about science and nature. In
one famous episode, Albert had himself lowered over a
cliff edge so he could check firsthand whether eagles
had one egg and offspring per season, as was thought
at the time. For centuries, his works were the accepted
authorities on physics, geography, astronomy, mineral-
ogy, chemistry and biology. He was renowned as an
alchemist and said to practice the magical arts; he
reportedly carried a magic cup that cured the ill. He
traced the chief mountain ranges of Europe, explained
the influence of latitude on climate and proved the
Earth was a sphere. He performed groundbreaking
studies on insects. Albert also wrote works of theology
and logic and composed the Mass for the Feast of Cor-
pus Christi. All in all, Albert wrote 38 quarto volumes
of scientific and theological literature.

By 1278, however, Albert was in poor health. His
memory failed during a lecture that year, and his
strength and mind continued to deteriorate. He died
peacefully, sitting in a chair among his brethren at
Cologne, on November 15, 1280, and is buried at St.
Andrea’s Church. His tomb became a pilgrimage site.
Some of his remains were translated to Lauingen and
Regensburg.

In art, Albert is shown in his Dominican habit.

Beatified: 1622 by Pope Gregory XV

Canonized: 1931 by Pope Pius XI

Declared Doctor of the Church: 1931 by Pope Pius XI

Feast: November 15

Patronage: all students and researchers of the nat-
ural sciences; medical technicians; miners; natu-
ralists; schoolchildren; scientists; students;
theology students; Cologne University
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Alexander | (d. ca. 115) Pope

Alexander was a Roman and is said to have been a stu-
dent of Pliny the Younger. He converted to Christianity
and succeeded St. Evaristus as bishop of Rome, thus
becoming the sixth pope. His reign lasted from ca. 105
to ca. 115.

Alexander is sometimes credited with having intro-
duced the custom of blessing houses with salt water,
but this was in fact an ancient Roman practice. He is
also said to have introduced the commemoration of the
Last Supper into the Mass, although this almost cer-
tainly came later.

According to tradition, Alexander was arrested by
Emperor Hadrian and imprisoned along with two
priests, SS. Eventulus and Theodulus. During his
imprisonment, he managed to convert his jailer, St.
Quirinus, and his daughter, St. Balbina. This, however,
did not save him and his friends from being burned
and then beheaded by Hadrian’s soldiers on the Via
Nomentana in Rome. In 1855, archaeologists discov-
ered what are thought to be their bodies in a semisub-
terranean cemetery at the spot where they died. Their
relics have since been moved to the church of St
Sabina, now under the charge of the Dominicans.

In art, Alexander wears a triple tiara and holds a
triple cross and book.

Feast: October 18

Alexis (ca. 380-ca. 417-440) Mystic and confessor
known as “the Man of God”

Name meaning: Defender, helper

Also known as: Alexis, Alexios, Alessio

There are no traces of Alexis in any early Western mar-
tyrology or liturgy. He apparently was an Eastern or
Byzantine saint venerated in Rome during the 10th
century.

Alexis was born in Rome to Euphemanius and
Aglaia, a wealthy senator and his wife. The child
devoted himself to God, but bowed to his parents’
wishes that he marry. Apparently the ceremony took
place, but Alexis—who had seen a vision of St. Paul
calling him to service—could not live with his bride.
She agreed to release him and he fled Rome for Edessa,
in Syria, on his wedding night.

For 17 years Alexis lived in a shack next to the
church of Bishop Rabula, begging for alms only in the
evening, sharing his meager resources with the poor
and keeping his identity a secret. At the end of that
time, however, a statue of the Virgin apparently called
on the people of Edessa to “seek the Man of God,” and
Alexis fled the city for Tarsus, following his early

vision of Paul. A storm stopped his voyage, and he was
rescued and taken to Rome. Filled with desire to see
his family, Alexis returned to his father’s estate but was
not recognized by his parents or bride, who lived with
her in-laws. They allowed Alexis to minister to the
peasants and children and to live beneath the stairs of
the house, where he remained anonymous for another
17 years.

At the end of that 17-year period, another voice
spoke to Pope Innocent I (r. 401-417), calling him to
“seek the Man of God.” The pope traced the voice to
Euphemanius’s house, to a cupboard under the stairs.
There lay Alexis, dead, clutching a parchment letter
explaining who he was and how much he loved his
family.

Scholars now believe that the story of Alexis
became confused over time with that of St. John Caly-
bata, a Roman nobleman with a similar history. But
accounts from the ninth century tell of a poor monk in
Edessa, supposedly with patrician Roman parents, who
lived as a beggar and died there, buried in a common
pauper’s grave.

Pope Benedict VII (r. 974-983) gave the exiled met-
ropolitan of the Byzantine Church, Sergius of Damas-
cus, the crumbling church of St. Boniface on the
Aventine in Rome. Sergius erected a monastery and
added Alexis's name as patron of the church and
monastery. The church still stands, renovated many
times, and reportedly contains the remains of the stair-
case under which Alexis lived, in his own father’s
house.

Feast: July 17 (in the West); March 17 (in the
East)

Patronage: beggars; belt makers; against earth-
quakes; against lightning; nurses; pilgrims;
against storms; travelers

Alfred the Great (849-899) Anglo-Saxon king of
Wessex
Name meaning: Elf counsel; all peace

Alfred, the youngest of either four or five sons of the
Anglo-Saxon king Aethelwulf of Wessex, was born in
849 in Wantage, Berkshire. King Aethelwulf may have
considered a career in the Church for Alfred, as the boy
visited Rome in 853. In 869, at age 20, Alfred married
the Mercian princess Aetheswitha or Ealswyth to
cement an alliance between Mercia and Wessex, and
they had five or six children.

The greatest threat to Wessex in the ninth century
were the invasions of Mercia, Northumbria and East
Anglia by Danish Vikings. In 868, Alfreds older
brother, St. King Aethelred, led his armies into Mercia
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to stop the Danes. Alfred, only 19, was Aethelred’s
deputy. By 871, the Danes were pushing the Anglo-
Saxons farther south into Wessex. King Aethelred was
killed at the battle of Merton, and the kingship passed
to Alfred.

Although poorly supported, Alfred managed to hold
back the Danes for seven years, mainly through alliances
with the other Anglo-Saxon kingdoms: the beginnings
of a united England. In 878, the Danes attacked Wessex
for four months, and Alfred retreated into the marshes
of Somerset to regroup. Reorganizing his army, Alfred
defeated the Danes at Edington later that year. He signed
the Treaty of Wedmore with the Danish king Guthrum
and divided England along the road from London to
Chester. Anything north of this line, including York and
East Anglia, became the Danelaw—ruled according to
Danish law—and lands south were English. Alfred
forced the Danish leader to convert to Christianity. To
prevent further invasions, Alfred built fortresses and
strongholds throughout Mercia, rebuilt the army by
requiring military service of all free men, and formed a
navy with ships of his own design.

But Alfred’s successes lay not just in conquest. He
learned to read and write, eventually translating many
Latin texts into Old English, including the treatise Pas-
toral Care by Pope Gregory the Great (Gregory 1), the
Consolation of Philosophy by Boethius and most proba-
bly the Ecclesiastical History of the English People by the
Venerable Bede. Alfred also encouraged literacy among
his nobles, founding a court school for the clergy and
young people and inviting scholars from all over
Europe to teach there. He introduced decent and fair
laws throughout the kingdom, making no distinction
between his English and Welsh subjects. But perhaps
Alfred’s greatest contribution was his patronage of the
Anglo-Saxon Chronicle. The Chronicle tells the stories
and events of Christianity from the time of Christ
through 1154 and is often the only source of informa-
tion about the Danish invasions. The book also
includes accounts of the Norman Conquest. The
Chronicle is one of the first books written in the ver-
nacular, and its description of the reign of King
Stephen shows the language moving from Old English
to Middle English.

Alfred suffered from unspecified diseases, perhaps
psychosomatic in nature, which caused him pain, ill-
ness and self-doubt all his life. He was never king of
England, although his reign strengthened the rule of
later English kings. Alfred’s image did appear on
coinage. Alfred died October 26, 899, and was deemed
“the Great” in the 17th century.

Feast: October 26

FURTHER READING
Reston, James, Jr. The Last Apocalypse: Europe at the Year
1000 A.D. New York: Doubleday, 1998.

Aloysius Gonzaga (1568-1591) Scholar and patron
of youth
Also known as: Luigi

The eldest son of Don Ferrante Gonzaga, marquis of
Castiglione, and his wife, Marta Tana Santena, was
born at castle Castiglione delle Stivieri in Lombardy on
March 9, 1568. The Gonzagas (reputedly known for
their brutality and immorality) were the ruling family
of Mantua, and Don Ferrante also held a high position
at the court of King Philip II of Spain. Marta Tana
served as lady-in-waiting to Philip’s queen. Don Fer-
rante desired his son to be a military commander, so at
age four little Luigi, as the saint was called, was sent to
military school. At seven Luigi felt drawn to a religious
life, and at nine took a vow of chastity, never looking a
woman—not even his mother—in the face again.

In 1579, when the boy was 11, Don Ferrante placed
him and his younger brother Ridolfo at the court of the
duke of Mantua, who had recently appointed Don Fer-
rante governor of Monferrat. But appalled by the vices
of court, Aloysius decided to renounce his inheritance
in favor of Ridolfo, even though Aloysius had already
received investiture from the emperor. About this time
Aloysius contracted kidney disease, which he wel-
comed as a way to stay in his room and pray. He also
began practicing severe austerities: fasting every other
day on bread and water, allowing no fire in his room
no matter the temperature, and scourging himself. By
age 12 Aloysius dreamed of being a Jesuit missionary,
receiving his First Communion at Brescia from St.
Charles Borromeo and filling his summer days at Cas-
tiglione by teaching the catechism to poor local boys.

In 1581, Philip II summoned Don Ferrante to
accompany Empress Mary of Austria on a journey from
Bohemia to Spain, and the family accompanied him.
Upon arrival at court, Aloysius and Ridolfo became
pages in the service of the Infante, Don Diego (James),
prince of the Spanish Asturias. Although duty-bound
to serve Don Diego, Aloysius continued his devotions
and hardened his resolve to become a Jesuit. His
mother approved his decision, but Don Ferrante
adamantly opposed it by any means possible: threats of
beatings, tempting the boy with the pleasures of the
northern Italian courts, sending him on diplomatic
missions all over Europe. When Don Diego died in
1584 and Aloysius and Ridolfo returned to Castiglione,
Aloysius again pressed his case and his father relented,
but only after an imperial commission officially trans-
ferred the succession to Ridolfo.
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Aloysius joined the Jesuit novitiate house of Sant’
Andrea in Rome on November 25, 1585. The Jesuits
curbed his austerities, ordering him to eat and take
recreation, and sent him to Milan. While praying one
morning, Aloysius received a vision telling him he had
not long to live, a revelation that filled him with joy.
He returned to Rome and was professed in 1587. In
1591 plague struck the city, and Aloysius begged to
serve in the Jesuit hospital, tending patients and per-
forming menial tasks. He caught the plague but mirac-
ulously recovered.

But then Aloysius contracted a fever that severely
weakened him for three months. Unable to work, he
would nevertheless arise at night and worship before
his crucifix and kiss his sacred pictures, then kneel in
prayer propped between his bed and wall. He asked his
confessor, St. Robert Bellarmine, whether it was possi-
ble to go straight to heaven without passing through
purgatory, and St. Robert replied that he believed
someone like Aloysius could hope for such grace.
Aloysius immediately fell into an ecstatic state and
revealed that he would die on the octave of Corpus
Christi.

When the octave arrived on June 20, Aloysius
seemed so much improved that the rector talked of
sending him on a trip, but Aloysius maintained he was
dying and requested the viaticum in the evening. After
receiving the last rites, Aloysius lay very still, occa-
sionally saying, “into Thy hands,” and appeared to ebb
away between 10:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. With Jesus’
name on his lips, Aloysius died about midnight of
June 20-21, 1589, at age 23. St. Robert Bellarmine
testified that Aloysius had never committed a mortal
sin and through his Jesuit service had developed total
devotion to God and man. Aloysius is buried under
the altar in the Lancellotti Chapel at the Church of St.
Ignatius in Rome. Pope Benedict XIII (r. 1724-1730)
named Aloysius the patron of young students in 1729,
and Pius XI later designated him the patron of all
Christian youth.

Beatified: 1621 by Pope Gregory XV

Canonized: 1726 by Pope Benedict XIII

Feast: June 21

Patronage: AIDS caregivers; AIDS sufferers; Catholic
youth; against eye troubles and diseases; Jesuit
students; against plague; relief from pestilence;
teenagers; youth

FURTHER READING

Meschler, Maurice. Life of St. Aloysius Gongzaga Patron of
Christian Youth. Rockford, Ill.: TAN Books and Publish-
ers, 1985.

Alphonsa Hawthorne (1851-1926) Dominican known
for her work among cancer patients

Name meaning: noble ready, battle ready

Also known as: Rose Hawthorne, Mother Alphonsa

Alphonsa was born Rose Hawthorne, the daughter of
famous American author Nathaniel Hawthorne, and
was a convert to Catholicism.

In the 1890s, cancer was considered a contagious
disease, and destitute sufferers were usually ware-
housed in poor houses, shunned by friends and family
and left to die without care or spiritual comfort. Believ-
ing she had found her life’s work with these abandoned
souls, Alphonsa first enrolled in a three-month nursing
course at New York Cancer Hospital in order to pro-
vide the best care she could. Following the completion
of her nursing training, and with hardly any money
and relying on God to provide, Alphonsa moved into a
three-room tenement apartment in New York’s Lower
East Side, one of the city’s worst neighborhoods, and
opened a home for incurable cancer patients.

The work was grueling and sad, but Alphonsa per-
severed. Charitable donations from private individuals
allowed Alphonsa to move her charges to a larger
apartment. Over time like-minded women joined
Alphonsa in her mission, the first of them a young por-
trait painter named Alice Huber. Eventually the
women became an American congregation of Domini-
can Sisters: the Servants of Relief for Incurable Cancer.

In 1899, public generosity allowed the women to
purchase an entire building, which they christened St.
Rose’s Free Home for Incurable Cancer. Also that year
the Servants of Relief became part of the Third Order
of St. Dominic. A second home opened in 1901 in
Sherman Park, now called Hawthorne, New York.
Today the group, known as the Dominican Sisters of
Hawthorne, has seven homes in six states.

Patronage: against death of children; difficult mar-
riages; divorced people; loss of parents; sick chil-
dren

FURTHER READING

Joseph, Sr. M., OP. “Out of Many Hearts.” URL: http://
www.hawthorne-dominicans.org/dsh/history_1.html.
Downloaded June 26, 2000.

Alphonsus Marie Liguori (1696-1787) Bishop, founder
of the Redemptorist Congregation, moral theologian, mys-
tic and Doctor of the Church

The life of Alphonsus Marie Liguori was fraught with
strife and illness, but the saint nonetheless made prodi-
gious accomplishments. He was born Alphonsus Marie
Anthony John Cosmas Damian Michael Gaspard de’
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Liguori on September 27, 1696, at Marianella near
Naples, to a somewhat impoverished noble family. His
father, Don Joseph de Liguori, was a naval officer and
captain of the galleys. His mother was of Spanish
descent.

Alphonsus was a precocious child and learned
quickly in his home tutoring. He was a skilled musi-
cian. At age 16, he took his doctor of laws degree even
though the law required an age of 20. By age 19 he was
practicing law in court and by age 27 was one of the
leading lawyers in Naples. He enjoyed worldly pur-
suits, but retained his innocence.

In 1723, his legal career came to a crashing halt. He
served as counsel in an important lawsuit involving the
grand duke of Tuscany and prepared his case. After
making his opening statement in court, the opposition
informed him that he had overlooked a crucial docu-
ment that undermined his entire case. Alphonsus was
forced to agree. Devastated and humiliated, he refused
to eat for three days and vowed never to return to
court.

He spent days in prayer seeking God’s will. On a
charitable visit to a hospital, he had a mystical experi-
ence in which he found himself surrounded by light,
and an interior voice said, “Leave the world and give
thyself to Me.” This occurred twice. Alphonsus went to
the church of the Redemption of Captives, where he
laid his sword before a statue of Mary and vowed to
offer himself as a novice to the Fathers of the Oratory.

His father was not pleased, but consented, provided
Alphonsus lived at home. On October 23, 1723,
Alphonsus joined the Oratorians. He received his ton-
sure the following year, and joined the Neapolitan Pro-
paganda, an association of missionary secular priests.
For six years he traveled in and around Naples, preach-
ing, and enrolled thousands in a sort of confraternity
called the Association of the Chapels.

In 1729, Alphonsus left home and went to live with
Matthew Ripa, the “Apostle of China,” who had
founded a missionary college in Naples. There he met
Father Thomas Falcoia of the Congregation of the
Pious Workers. The two became close friends despite a
33-year difference in their ages.

Falcoia had a vision to found a new order of men
and women dedicated to the imitation of Christs
virtues. Meanwhile, Sister Maria Celeste, a nun at the
convent of Scala, which Falcoia had helped to refound,
was having visions of a new order, complete with a
Rule. Thus in 1732 was born the new order, the Con-
gregation of the Most Holy Savior (17 years later “Sav-
ior” was replaced with “Redeemer”). In accordance
with another of Sister Maria’s visions, Alphonsus
became its director. In 1743 he was formally elected
superior general. Pope Benedict XIV (r. 1740-58)

approved the Rule and Institute of men in 1749, and
the Rule and Institute of women in 1750. The new
order suffered from dissension within the ranks, and
political opposition from without. Alphonsus’s health
suffered, but he maintained his duties. He continued
his missionary work until 1752. Even though the order
had papal approval, it did not have state approval—
there was a law forbidding new religious orders—and
Alphonsus spent the rest of his life in a futile effort to
gain state approval.

In 1762, King Charles of Naples forced Alphonsus
to accept the bishopric of St. Agatha of Goths against
his wishes. The tiny diocese near Naples had a lax
clergy and largely uninstructed people. There Alphon-
sus labored until 1775. Not everyone was happy with
his reforms, and he was repeatedly threatened with
assassination. He often was seriously ill—eight times
in his life he was given last rites. From May 1768 to
June 1769, he suffered a terrible attack of rheumatic
fever that left him partially paralyzed for the rest of his
life. His neck was permanently bent, at first so badly
that his head rested on his chest. He had to drink from
a tube at meals and required assistance at mass to
drink from the chalice. After he was permitted to
resign in 1775, Alphonsus returned to his order’s
monastery at Nocera di Pagani, hoping for a speedy
death. He would live 12 more years.

In 1780, a crisis arose that split the order. The Rule
was drastically altered and presented to the deaf and
nearly blind saint for signing to present for royal
approval. Unsuspecting, Alphonsus did so. The order
seemed destroyed. In 1781 the Papal States assumed
control of the order and appointed a new superior gen-
eral. Alphonsus was cut out of his own order. This
state of affairs remained until after the saint’s death. In
1793, the Neapolitan government recognized the origi-
nal Rule, and the order was reunited under one head.

During the last three years of his life, Alphonsus
weathered a dark night of the soul, in which he was
besieged by temptations, dreadful apparitions and
despair. Nonetheless, he died peacefully on August 1,
1787, at Nocera di Pagani near Naples, just as the mid-
day Angelus was ringing. He was buried there and a
shrine was erected. Another shrine was built at St.
Agatha of the Goths.

Though gifted with words as a lawyer, Alphonsus
did not become a writer until late in life. His first
work was a small volume, Visits to the Blessed Sacra-
ment, published at age 49. Annotations to Busenbaum,
a work on moral theology, appeared in 1748. His
great work, Moral Theology, appeared in two volumes
in 1753 and 1755. He also published numerous trea-
tises, and compiled stories of the early martyrs in Vic-
tories of the Martyrs. His writings and sermons remain
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popular today. Altogether, he wrote 110 books and
pamphlets.

Alphonsus was a visionary and mystic, and miracles
were attested to him. There are numerous cases of bilo-
cation, in which he simultaneously heard confessions
and in a distant location preached sermons. The most
significant bilocation took place in 1774. After saying
mass in Arienzo, he sank into a chair and remained
unmoved until the next day. During that time, he had
been at the bedside of the dying pope Clement XIV (r.
1769-74) in Rome.

Alphonsus also was seen to levitate on numerous
occasions, even while preaching. In 1745 he was
preaching in Foggia at a church where 14 years earlier
he had beheld a vision of Mary. During his sermon a
ray of light from a picture of Mary struck him, and he
fell into an ecstasy and was raised several inches off the
floor.

Alphonsus knew peoples secret and hidden
thoughts, and knew of events in distant locations. He
controlled nature and the elements. In 1779 Mount
Vesuvius was spewing flames and people feared an
eruption. Alphonsus looked at the mountain, uttered
the name “Jesus” and made the sign of the cross.
According to witnesses, the flames disappeared.

He was buried wearing his scapular of Our Lady of
Mount Carmel. Forty years later, he was exhumed. His
body and clothing had turned to dust, but the scapular
was incorrupt. In art he is shown as a young priest, or
as an older man bent double with rheumatism.

Beatified: 1816 by Pope Pius VII

Canonized: 1839 by Pope Gregory XVI

Declared Doctor of the Church: by Pope Pius IX

Feast: August 1

Patronage: confessors; the lay apostolate; moral the-
ologians; vocations
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Alphonsus Rodriguez (1533-1617) Widower, door-
man and mystic
Also known as: Alonso Rodriguez

Alphonsus Rodriguez was born in Segovia, Spain, on
July 25, 1533, the third child in a large family of wool
merchants. When he was about 10, Bl. Peter Faber
arrived in Segovia to preach, stayed with Alphonsus’s

family, and took them up on their offer to spend some
time in their country house. While there, he prepared
Alphonsus for his first communion.

Peter was one of the group of seven who founded
the Society of Jesus along with St. Ignatius of Loyola in
1540. In 1547, when he was 14, Alphonsus was sent
along with an elder brother to study under the Jesuits
at Alcala. However, when their father died a short
while later, Alphonsus was called home to help manage
the family business. When his mother retired in 1556,
he inherited the business. Four years later, he married
Maria Suarez.

Alphonsus and Maria had three children, although
two died young. Maria herself died shortly after giving
birth to the last child, their only son. Two years later
Alphonsus’s mother died. Since the business wasn't
prospering either, he sold it, and took his son to live
with the boy’s two maiden aunts, Antonia and Juliana.
He had taken to praying and doing penance, and from
Antonia and Juliana he learned to meditate daily.
Finally, he decided to resume his studies with the
intention of pursuing the religious life.

Alphonsus was then well into his 30s and barely lit-
erate. His health also was precarious. Not surprisingly,
therefore, he was rejected by the Jesuits at Segovia. He
turned to the novitiate of the Jesuits of Aragon at
Valencia, where he was rejected as a candidate priest,
but allowed to enroll in the school. He picked up his
studies where he had broken them off in his youth;
after two years, he applied to become a Jesuit brother,
but was rejected again. At this point the provincial
stepped in, declaring that if Alphonsus was not to be a
Jesuit priest or brother, at least he could become a
Jesuit saint. Thus, in 1571, Alphonsus joined the
Jesuits and was sent to Montesion College on the
island of Majorca. In 1585, at age 54, he professed his
final vows as a brother.

At Montesion, Alphonsus held the position of door-
keeper. He was diligent in his duties, but he also spent
much time in prayer. One day, tempted by impure
thoughts, he passed in front of an icon of the Virgin
Mary and cried in Latin: “Sacred Mary, Mother of God,
remember me!” Immediately, he felt the temptations
disappear. From then on dedicated himself to commu-
nicating with Mary, praying several rosaries each day
and reciting psalms in her honor. He was rewarded
with frequent visions, and in his most extreme ill-
nesses felt as if he were living in Nazareth at the time
she and her son were there.

Alphonsus was 72 in 1605 when he met St. Peter
Claver, then a young man who wanted to serve God
but didn’t know how. Alphonsus had a vision in which
he was told that Peter would do great things in South
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America. He urged him to go as a missionary to Carta-
gena (Colombia), where he did indeed do great things,
becoming apostle to the African slaves passing through
the port.

In May 1617, when the rector of Montesion, Father
Julian, was struck with rheumatic fever, he called
Alphonsus to intercede with God and the Virgin Mary
on his behalf. Alphonsus spent the night in prayer, and
by morning Julian was completely recovered.

On October 29, 1617, Alphonsus entered his final
ecstasy. This lasted until midnight on October 31,
when the death pangs began for real. After half
an hour, he briefly regained consciousness, looked
lovingly at his brethren, kissed the crucifix, and
expired. His last words were: “Jesus, Jesus, Jesus!” He
was 84.

In art, Alphonsus is depicted as an old Jesuit with
two hearts on his breast, connected by rays of light to
Christ and the Virgin.

Beatified: 1825 by Pope Leo XII
Canonized: 1888 by Pope Leo XIII
Feast: October 30 (formerly October 31)
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Ambrose (ca. 339-397) Bishop of Milan, Latin Father
and Doctor of the Church, known for his miracles and his
writings

Name meaning: divine immortal

Also known as: Ambrose of Milan; Ambrosio, Ambro-
gio; the Honey-Tongued Doctor

Ambrose was born about 339-340 in Trier (Treves),
the youngest of three children. His father, Ambrosius,
was the praetorian prefect of Gaul, an area that
included the territories of present-day France, Britain,
Spain and part of Africa—one of the four great prefec-
tures of the Roman Empire and the highest office that
could be held by a subject. Ambrosius died when his
son was young, and the family moved to Rome. There
Ambrose and his brother Satyrus studied law, litera-
ture, philosophy and Greek. They received religious
instruction from their older sister Marcellina, who had
already taken vows as a virgin nun in front of Liberius,
the Roman pontiff, and who lived in her mother’s
house with another consecrated virgin. Like most
Christians of his day, Ambrose was not baptized,
because sins committed after baptism were regarded

with such horror that baptism was delayed. All three
siblings eventually were canonized.

Upon completion of their studies, Ambrose and
Satyrus began practicing law. Ambrose, in particular,
came to the attention of Anicius Probus, the praetorian
prefect of Italy. By his early thirties, Ambrose was the
consular governor of Liguria and Aemilia with resi-
dence in Milan—a post obtained for him by Probus
from Emperor Valentinian I. Ambrose became head of
all civil administration, police and justice systems in
Milan, the center of Western imperial government
since the beginning of the fourth century.

Since 355, the see of Milan had been occupied by
Auxentius, an Arian. (The Arian heresy taught that the
Logos, or Word, is but a creature created by God and is
not God incarnate. Many Christians were Arians in the
third, fourth and fifth centuries, including the mission-
aries sent by Emperor Constantius, son of Constantine
the Great, to evangelize the Gothic tribes.) When Aux-
entius died in 374, the provincial bishops begged
Emperor Valentinian I to appoint a successor by edict,
but Valentinian refused. Passions were high on both
sides. As consular governor, Ambrose went to the
cathedral and tried to maintain peace by giving a con-
ciliatory speech. While he was talking, someone
(Ambrose’s biographer, St. Paulinus of Nola, said it was
a child) called out, “Ambrose, bishop!” and the crowd
roared its approval.

Ambrose, however, was still unbaptized and igno-
rant of theology. He immediately refused the position,
even, according to Paulinus, inviting prostitutes into
his home to make himself unworthy in the people’s
eyes. He appealed to Valentinian to excuse him, but the
emperor, pleased that one of his governors could
become bishop, promised severe penalties to anyone
found hiding Ambrose. Ambrose reluctantly acqui-
esced, and in eight days he was baptized, ordained and
passed through the orders to be consecrated bishop of
Milan on December 7, 374.

The new bishop gave away all his wealth except a
stipend for his sister St. Marcellina. His brother St.
Satyrus left his legal work to handle Ambrose’s secular
affairs. He prayed often, fasted regularly, wrote, stud-
ied Scriptural texts and Greek philosophers—particu-
larly Origen and St. Basil—and conducted Mass daily.
His door was always open to speak to anyone,
whether noble or peasant. St. Monica, mother of St.
Augustine of Hippo, was one of Ambrose’s followers,
and the bishop managed to convince Augustine that
the intellect could be reconciled with the spirit, bring-
ing him back to the Church in 387. Ambrose took an
early stand against capital punishment and was a
vocal proponent of vows of virginity—so much so
that some Italian mothers kept their marriageable
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daughters away from Ambrose’s sermons. Ambrose
retorted that virgins do not depopulate countries;
wars do.

But much to the Arians’ dismay, Ambrose was an
unyielding Catholic. When Emperor Valentinian I died
suddenly in 375, his brother Valens, an Arian, took
control of the East and Valentinian’s son Gratian
assumed leadership of the West, except Italy. The army
proclaimed the late emperor’s four-year-old son by his
second wife, Justina, as Emperor Valentinian II, and
Gratian agreed to share power. This situation made the
Arian Justina regent. In 377, the Goths invaded the
eastern part of the empire and Gratian raised an army
to aid his uncle Valens. Concerned that he might fall
victim to Arian influence, Gratian appealed to
Ambrose for guidance, and he responded with his
famous treatise, De Fide ad Gratianum Augustum, or
“To Gratian concerning the Faith.”

After the usurper Maximus killed Gratian in 383,
Justina begged Ambrose to act as ambassador on her
son’s behalf. In what is believed to be the first occasion
that an ecclesiastic acted on behalf of secular politics,
Ambrose managed to convince Maximus to confine
himself to Gaul, Spain and Britain and not to invade
the lands under the control of Valentinian II—and
Justina. Justina had remained circumspect about her
plans to further Arianism while her husband Valentin-
ian and his son Gratian lived, but now that she was
empress-regent and supported by a Gothic court,
Justina began aggressively pursuing her agenda. In
385, Justina induced Valentinian II to demand that
Ambrose relinquish the old Portian basilica to be used
as a place for Arian worship. He refused, saying no
bishop could surrender a temple of God. Valentinian
sent messengers demanding the basilica, but Ambrose
stood firm, calmly celebrating the Mass and rescuing
an Arian priest seized by the crowd.

In January 386, Justina persuaded Valentinian II to
pass a law authorizing Arian assemblies and proscrib-
ing Catholic ones. Ambrose disregarded the law. On
Palm Sunday of that year he preached a sermon against
relinquishing any church, and his followers, fearful of
their lives, barricaded themselves and Ambrose in the
basilica. Imperial guards surrounded the basilica,
thinking to starve the congregants out, but by Easter
they were still inside. To pass the time Ambrose had
taught his people hymns and chants he had written,
sung by two choirs singing alternate stanzas. (The
Arian debate has long since faded from memory, but
Ambrosian antiphonal singing remains a treasured
legacy and still a popular form of worship.) Again,
Valentinian conceded defeat to the bishop, with
Ambrose remarking, “The emperor is in the Church,
not over it.”

Meanwhile, Valentinian’s court learned that
Emperor Maximus was planning to cross the Alps.
Ambrose agreed to speak with Maximus a second time,
rising above his battles with Justina. Ambrose publicly
accused the tyrant of breaking faith and asked Max-
imus to send Gratian’s remains as a sign of peace, but
Maximus ordered the bishop to leave. The emperor
was already displeased with Ambrose because the
bishop had excommunicated him for the execution of
the Spanish heretic Priscillian. The death of Priscillian
and six followers was the first instance of capital pun-
ishment for heresy meted out by secular, rather than
ecclesiastical, authorities.

Ambrose sent advance word to Valentinian of Max-
imus’s intentions, and the emperor and his mother fled
to the Eastern court of Theodosius I, leaving Milan
defenseless. Theodosius engaged Maximus, killing him
in Pannonia (Hungary), and restored Valentinian II to
the throne and awarded him control of the usurper’s
territories. But although Valentinian II was the nomi-
nal ruler, Theodosius now controlled the entire
empire. He stayed for a while in Milan and convinced
the young emperor to denounce Arianism and accept
Catholicism after Justina’s death. At Ambrose’s urging,
Valentinian also thwarted efforts to reintroduce pagan
worship of the goddess Victory in the Senate.

While Theodosius was still in Milan, a mob of
Christians at Kallinikum, in Mesopotamia, destroyed a
Jewish synagogue. Theodosius ordered the local bishop
to rebuild the synagogue, and the bishop appealed to
Ambrose. Ambrose responded that no Christian bishop
could pay for a building used for false worship, but
Theodosius ordered the reconstruction to proceed.
Ambrose preached against Theodosius, they argued,
and Ambrose threatened never to sing Mass at the altar
unless Theodosius revoked the order. Rightly or
wrongly, Ambrose won.

A more serious scandal occurred in 390. Word
reached Milan that Butheric, the governor of Thessa-
lonica, had imprisoned a popular charioteer for having
seduced a servant girl in Butheric’s family. Butheric
refused to release the charioteer for the games, so
enraging the crowd that they killed Butheric and
stoned several guards to death. Theodosius ordered
savage reprisals. When the people gathered in the cir-
cus for games, soldiers surrounded the building and
massacred 7,000, with no regard to age, gender, guilt
or innocence. Ambrose wrote Theodosius, exhorting
him to perform public penance and warning the
emperor that Ambrose neither would nor could accept
the monarch’s offering on the altar, nor would he ever
celebrate the Divine Mysteries before him until he had
offered penance. Theodosius did public penance like
any commoner, thereafter ordering that henceforth no
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capital punishment should be carried out for 30 days
after sentencing to allow time for calmer judgment to
prevail.

Valentinian II was murdered by Arbogastes in 393
in Gaul. Ambrose mourned the emperor and left Milan
before Arbogastes’s emissary, the pagan Eugenius,
arrived in Milan, threatening to overthrow all Chris-
tianity. Ambrose traveled throughout his diocese in
394, encouraging the people to resist, then returned to
Milan to learn that his old friend Theodosius had
defeated and killed Arbogastes at Aquileia, the final
blow to paganism in the empire. A few months later, in
395, Theodosius died in Ambrose’s arms, and the
bishop who loved him conducted the emperor’s
funeral.

Ambrose died peacefully on Good Friday, April 4,
397. For several hours before his death he lay with his
arms extended as if on a cross, then, after receiving the
sacraments from St. Honoratus, bishop of Vercelli, he
died. His followers buried him in his basilica near the
relics of the holy martyrs Gervase and Protase. In 835
Bishop Angilbert II placed the relics of all three saints
in a porphyry—the royal purple stone—sarcophagus
under the altar, where they were discovered in 1864.
Ambrose is one of the Four Great Doctors of the Latin
(Western) Undivided Church, along with SS. Jerome,
Augustine and Pope Gregory the Great.

Ambrose’s writings include sermons and homilies;
mystical writings, commentaries and hymns; of the lat-
ter, one is still sung in order to bring good weather.

Of his miracles, Ambrose healed by a laying on of
hands, exorcized demons and is said to have raised the
dead. When the son of Decentius, an important Christ-
ian in Florence, died, Ambrose spread himself over the
corpse and brought the boy back to life.

Ambrose discovered the tombs of Gervase and Pro-
tase, and people were healed by touching the relics.
The most famous incident involved a blind butcher,
Severus, who touched the relics with his handkerchief
and then applied the cloth to his eyes.

Feast: December 7

Patronage: bakers of honeybread; bees and beekeep-
ers; bishops; candlemakers; chandlers; domestic
animals; the French Army Commissariat; geese;
gingerbread makers; learning; schoolchildren;
stone masons; students; wax melters and refiners;
Bologna, Italy; Milan, Italy
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Ambrose Sansedoni, Blessed (1220-d. ca. 1286-
1287) Dominican, diplomat

Also known as: Ambrose of Siena or Sienna; Ambrose
Sassedoni

Although three brilliant stars heralded his arrival,
Ambrose, born on April 16, 1220, was so ugly and
deformed that his mother and father, a book illumina-
tor, couldn’t bear to look at him. They entrusted the
baby to a nurse, who took the fretful child with her
every day to Mass at the Dominican church of St. Mary
Magdalene in Siena.

According to lore, Ambrose quieted down if near
the altar of relics but cried loudly when removed.
When Ambrose was about one year old the nurse took
him as usual to church and covered his hideous face
with a scarf. While she was praying, a pilgrim said to
her, “Do not cover that child’s face. He will one day be
the glory of this city.” A few days later the child
stretched out his twisted arms and legs, distinctly said
the name “Jesus,” and became a normal and beautiful
child.

With such a miraculous gift from God, Ambrose
embraced piety from the beginning. When he was two
or three years old, his father offered him one of two
books—one secular, one on saints—and Ambrose
chose the one about saints. The child naturally gravi-
tated to the care of the sick, poor and abandoned. At
age seven he rose at night to pray and meditate, recit-
ing the “Little Office of the Blessed Virgin” daily.

Against the wishes of his friends and family, the
handsome young Ambrose entered the Dominican
order of preaching friars at age 17 in 1237. The friars
sent him to Paris to study under St. Albert the Great,
joining Alberts other famous pupil, St. Thomas
Aquinas. In 1248 Thomas and Ambrose accompanied
Albert to Cologne, where Ambrose taught in the
Dominican schools. Supposedly Ambrose had desired
to write, but recognizing his inability to compete with
Thomas, he became a preacher instead.

Ambrose also served as a missionary and diplomat,
traveling to Hungary in 1260 to evangelize the people.
In 1266, he successfully represented Siena in its efforts
to be released from an interdict, issued as the result of
supporting Emperor Frederick II against the Holy See.
Not only did the pope pardon Siena and restore her
privileges, but he also forgave the city’s misplaced alle-
giance a second time with Ambrose’s intercession.
Ambrose brokered peace between Emperor Conrad of
Germany and Pope Clement IV (r. 1265-68) and
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preached the Crusade. Ambrose was named bishop of
Siena but declined the office.

At the request of Pope Gregory X (r. 1271-76)
Ambrose resumed teaching at the Dominican convent
in Rome. Although Ambrose tried to retire after Gre-
gory’s death, Pope Innocent V sent him as papal legate
to Tuscany. He restored peace between Venice and
Genoa and between Florence and Pisa. For 30 years
Ambrose’s diplomatic skills gained him the regard of
popes and kings.

Nevertheless, Ambrose never let his service stand in
the way of his devotion. He prayed and meditated con-
stantly, often in a state of ecstasy. Stories of his victories
over carnal temptations were legendary, and he frequently
levitated while preaching. Sometimes Ambrose was sur-
rounded by a “circle of glory”: a mystical light filled
with birds of brilliant plumage. Shortly before his death in
1287 (brought on, according to some, by the vehemence
of his preaching), Ambrose supposedly saw visions of
great beauty. No collections of his sermons remain.

Beatified: 1622 (his cultus confirmed) by Pope Gre-
gory XV

Feast: March 20

Patronage: betrothed couples; Siena, Italy

Anastasia (d. ca. 249) Roman martyr

Anastasia suffered particularly cruel tortures, according
to the story of her martyrdom. After Valerian suc-
ceeded to the throne of the Roman Empire in 244, he
showed benevolence toward the Christians, but near
the end of 247 turned on them with vicious persecu-
tions. Anastasia was a young Roman woman of both
noble and Christian birth who decided to enroll in a
Christian nunnery. Her holiness earned her a great rep-
utation.

Valerian’s inquisitors broke into the nunnery and
arrested her. She was taken before the prefect general,
Probus, who threatened her with torture if she did not
renounce her faith. He promised her happiness if she
would go with him to sacrifice at the temple of Jove.
Anastasia chose torture. Her face was then beaten
bloody and she was sent back to prison.

Her joy made Probus angrier. He had all of her
limbs dislocated and her sides burned by torches. This
did not break her, so he ordered her nails to be torn
from her fingers, her teeth to be broken with a ham-
mer, and her breasts to be torn from her body with hot
iron pincers. Instead of dying in prison, her wounds
were miraculously healed.

Probus then ordered her tongue to be pulled out by
the roots. This was carried out before a crowd of spec-
tators. Blood gushed from her mouth. She made signs
to a Christian, Cyril, for water, and he gave her some.

Despite the loss of her tongue, Anastasia reportedly
raised her hands to heaven and blessed the Lord and
asked him to help her consummate her sacrifice.
Probus had her hands and feet cut off, and then finally
ordered her to be beheaded. Cyril also was beheaded
for assisting her. The executions took place on the
27th or 28th of October, in about the year 249.

Anastasia’s body was buried outside the city by
Sophia, the head of the nunnery.

Feast: October 28

FURTHER READING
St. Alphonsus Liguori. Victories of the Martyrs. Brooklyn:
Redemptorist Fathers, 1954.

Anastasius | (d. 401) Pope and martyr

Anastasius, son of Maximus, was a native of Rome. A
priest in the Roman Church, he was elected the succes-
sor of Pope St. Siricius (r. 384-399) on November 27,
399.

Anastasius is known for his personal holiness and
piety and for some important ecclesiastical pronounce-
ments. He is responsible for the instruction to priests
to read the Gospels standing and bowing their heads.
In 400, he convened a synod to consider the writings
of Origen, and upheld the council’s condemnation of
the work as heterodox. He also supported the Church
in North Africa in its struggle against Donatism, a
schism that lasted from about 311 to 411.

Anastasius died in 401 after a reign of only two years
and was buried in the Pontian catacombs. Although
his death was natural, he is honored in the Roman Mar-

tyrology.
Feast: December 19

Anastasius the Sinaite (d. 700) Father of the Church,
abbot and defender of the faith

A Greek, Anastasius the Sinaite was born in Alexan-
dria. He became the abbot of the monastery at Mount
Sinai, where he earned the name of “the new Moses”
for his vigorous attacks on groups seeking to influence
the Church. He is best known for his work The Guide,
a defense of the faith that remained popular for
centuries.

Feast: April 21

Andrew the Apostle (d. 60) One of Jesus” Twelve Dis-
ciples or Apostles

Name meaning: Strong, manly, valorous

Also known as: Andreas; Endres
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Jesus calling SS. Peter and Andrew. (Engraving, 19th
century)

Andrew was born at Bethsaida on Lake Genesareth
(the Sea of Galilee). He was the brother of St. Peter and
in adulthood lived with him in a house at Caphar-
naum, on Lake Genesareth. The brothers were prosper-
ous fishermen. They were also followers of St. John the
Baptist, through whom they came into contact with
Jesus. Andrew was the first to meet Jesus; immediately
recognizing him as the Christ, he introduced him to
Peter. They followed Jesus on an evangelizing tour and
later were called by him to be among his twelve regular
disciples or apostles.

Not much is known about Andrew’s subsequent
career. Together with St. Philip, he presented the
Gentiles to Christ (as described in John 12:20-22).
When as a result of the persecutions of Herod
Agrippa 1 (1. 42-44) the apostles were forced to flee
Galilee, Andrew is believed to have preached in many
regions. By tradition, he spent some time in Byzan-
tium, where he appointed St. Stachys as the first
bishop. There is another unfounded tradition that he
preached in Russia, reaching as far as Kiev in the

Ukraine, whence the conversion of the Slavs spread in
the 11th century.

The exact whereabouts and circumstances of
Andrew’s death are not known. According to an early
account now known to be a forgery intended to
counter Rome’s claim to the relics of SS. Peter and
Paul, Andrew was crucified on an X-shaped cross
(today called a St. Andrew’s Cross) at Patras (Patrae) in
Achaia. This tradition has it that the Roman governor,
Aegeas or Aegates, had him tied rather than nailed to
the cross to extend his suffering, but that he used the
opportunity to preach to all who came to view his exe-
cution. In any event, his martyrdom came during the
reign of Nero, perhaps on November 30, A.D. 60.

Andrew’s relics were translated to Constantinople,
where they were deposited in the Church of the Apos-
tles, about the year 357. Tradition has it that some
were conveyed to Scotland in the fourth century, in
response to a dream of St. Rule (Regulus) in which he
was guided by an angel to a place called St. Andrews’s,
where he built a church to house the relics. Rule
became the first bishop of St. Andrews and spent the
next three decades evangelizing the Scots. When the
French Lombards took Constantinople at the start of
the 13th century, Cardinal Peter of Capua carried the
remaining relics to Italy and placed them in the cathe-
dral of Amalfi, where most are to be found today.
Andrew’s head, however, was returned to Constantino-
ple by Pope Paul VI (1. 1963-78).

Andrew’s feast has been universal in the West since
the sixth century.

Andrew is represented as an old man with a book
and an x-shaped cross; a man bound to a cross; a man
preaching from a cross; a man sitting in a boat; a
preacher holding some fish. His symbols include a fish-
ing net, an x-shaped cross (saltire) and fish. In the old-
est images, he is depicted with a normal Latin cross.
The saltire became associated with Andrew beginning
in the 10th century, becoming common only in the
14th.

Feast: November 30

Patronage: anglers; fishmongers; fishermen; against
gout; maidens; old maids; singers; against sore
throats; spinsters; against stiff-neck; unmarried
women; women who wish to become mothers;
Achaia; Amalfi, Italy; Avranches;, Brabant;
Brunswick; Burgundy; Greece; Holstein; Luxem-
bourg; Minden; Patras, Greece; Pesaro; Russia,
Scotland; University of Patras

Andrew Avellino (1521-1608) Theologian, founder of
monasteries, friend of St. Charles Borromeo
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Name meaning: strong, manly
Also known as: Lorenzo Avellino; Lancellotto

Andrew was born at Castronuovo, near Naples, in
1521. He was christened Lorenzo, but his mother
called him Lancellotto. The young man dedicated his
life to Christ quite early, embracing chastity. After fin-
ishing his elementary studies in Castronuovo, Lancel-
lotto went to Venice to study the humanities and
philosophy. His vow of chastity was so challenged by
the lovely Venetian girls that he assumed tonsure and
quickly left for Naples, where he studied canon and
civil law. Lancellotto received the Doctor of Laws and
was ordained a priest in 1547 at age 26.

For a while Lancellotto practiced canon law at the
court in Naples. He was quite accomplished—so silver-
tongued, in fact, that he feared his preoccupation with
argument weakened his devotion to meditation and
prayer. The situation came to a head when, in the heat
of a friend’s defense, he perjured himself. Filled with
remorse, Lancellotto renounced the law and vowed to
live as a penitent.

But the archbishop of Naples had other plans for
him, sending him to reform the Sant’ Arcangelo con-
vent in Baiano. The nuns had become so lax in their
vows that the convent was for all practical purposes
a brothel. Through zeal and example Lancellotto
brought the convent back to its rules, but he nearly
died in the effort. Certain men of the area were so used
to the services of the convent that in 1556 they cap-
tured Lancellotto and beat him severely. He was taken
to the monastery of the Theatines to recover and there
decided to join the order, only recently founded by St.
Cajetan. At age 35 he was invested during the Vigil of
the Assumption and took the name Andrew.

Following his novitiate he visited the tombs of apos-
tles and martyrs in Rome, then returned to the
monastery as master of novices. His success at improv-
ing the quality of priests gained him promotion to
superior of the Naples house 10 years later. In 1570, at
the request of St. Charles Borromeo, Andrew traveled to
Lombardy to found Theatine houses in Milan and Pia-
cenza and became a close friend of Charles Borromeo.
Other houses were founded throughout Italy, and
Andrew attracted many disciples, including Lorenzo
Scupoli, author of the book The Spiritual Combat.

In 1582 Andrew returned to Naples, where he spent
his last years teaching, preaching, writing, fighting
heresy and converting Protestants. His many letters
were published in two volumes in 1731, followed by
five volumes of his other works in 1734.

On November 10, 1608, while preparing the Mass,
Andrew suffered a massive stroke and died after receiv-
ing the Holy Viaticum. He was 88.

People who came to pay their respects clipped bits
of his hair for relics. During this, his face was cut acci-
dentally several times. When fresh-looking, red blood
welled out of the cuts, some speculated that Andrew
had not initially died but had been catatonic and actu-
ally buried alive. Physicians confirmed his death, and
made more cuts in his skin and collected his blood for
the next three days. Andrew was buried in the
monastery church of St. Paul in Naples.

The blood reportedly bubbled in a vial. On the
anniversary of his death, the hardened blood was said
to liquefy and bubble (similar to the blood of St. Janu-
arius) when brought out for veneration. The blood is
said to bubble every year on the anniversary of his
death.

Beatified: 1624 by Pope Urban VIII

Canonized: 1712 by Pope Clement XI

Feast: November 10

Patronage: against sudden death; apoplexy; for a
holy death; strokes and stroke victims; Naples

Andrew of Crete (ca. 660-740) Greek Father of the
Church

Andrew of Crete was born about 660 in Damascus. He
became a monk at Mar Saba and served later at the Holy
Sepulchre. Around 685, he was ordained a deacon at
Hagia Sophia. He ran a refuge for orphans, the elderly
and others. In 692 he became archbishop of Gortyna on
Crete, where he remained for the rest of his life.

Andrew of Crete had substantial oratorical skills, as
evidenced in his homilies and panegyrics to the saints.
He is credited with authoring the “Great Canon”
prayed by the Orthodox during Lent.

Feast: July 4

Andrew Kim Taegon (d. 1846) One of the Korean
Martyrs
Also known as: Andrew Kim

Andrew Kim was born to the nobility. Both his parents
converted to Christianity, and his father died a martyr.
Christianity did not come to Korea until the 1600s and
not to any extent until the late 1700s. Korea’s rulers
maintained a policy of total isolationism, keeping out
any Western influence and making entry into Korea
practically impossible. In 1784, Pietro Yi was the first
Korean to be baptized at Pechino, but he denied his
faith in the persecutions of 1791, started when a
Korean Christian noble refused to burn incense to
honor the memory of his mother.

By 1801, sporadic and localized persecutions had
been extended to the entire country. One Chinese
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priest who had managed to enter Korea offered himself
as a sacrifice, hoping that his death might stop the suf-
ferings of other Christians. Authorities beheaded him
on May 31, 1801, but did not end the persecutions.
Martyrdom inspired the faithful, and Korea’s tiny
Catholic community petitioned other countries to send
priests. France answered the Koreans’ prayers, secretly
slipping several bishops and priests, all members of the
Foreign Mission Society of Paris, into the country.

In 1839, the return of the conservative faction to
Korean government resulted in widespread persecu-
tion, lasting until 1846. Three French clerics—two
priests and the bishop Msgr. Laurence Imbert—all died
by beheading on September 21, 1839.

Andrew Kim had been baptized at 15. He then trav-
eled 1,300 miles from Korea to the nearest seminary in
China. He also studied Latin in Macao. Slipping back
into Korea in 1845, he became the first native-born
Korean ordained a priest, working tirelessly to bring
the Sacraments to the people until Korean tribesmen
captured, tortured, then beheaded him at the edge of a
river at sunset on September 16, 1846. Terrified fol-
lowers retrieved his body late that night, taking it into
the mountains for a proper and safe burial.

Only two letters remain from Andrew Kim: one to
the vicar apostolic bishop who ordained him, and one
to his followers, exhorting them to keep the faith. One
of those faithful was Paul Chong Hasang, who was
killed less than a week later on September 22.

Persecutions rose again in 1861. Two more French
bishops and a number of missionaries were martyred,
as well as many ordinary Koreans. Estimates run as
high as 10,000 over the two periods. Official persecu-
tions ended in 1886; up until 1881, Christianity was
referred to in government documents as “the perverse
doctrine.” Today Christianity flourishes in South Korea
and struggles on as the Church of Silence in commu-
nist North Korea.

On May 6, 1984, Pope John Paul II held services in
Seoul to canonize 103 saints, including Andrew Kim
and Paul Chong Hasang, as representatives of the
Korean martyrs. The saints’ feast day was inserted into
the Calendar of the Universal Church.

Beatified: July 1925, martyrs of the 1839-46 perse-
cutions by Pope Pius XI; October 1968, martyrs
of the 1861-66 persecutions by Pope Paul VI

Canonized: May 6, 1984, by Pope John Paul II

Feast: September 20

Patronage: Korean clergy

FURTHER READING
“Saints Andrew Kim Taegon, Paul Chong Hasang and Com-
panion Martyrs in Korea.” Daily Catholic. Section Two,

vol. 10, no. 178, September 20, 1999. URL: http:/
www.DailyCatholic.org. Downloaded July 11, 2000.

Anencletus (d. ca. 91) Pope and martyr
Name meaning: Blameless
Also known as: Anacletus, Cletus

Almost nothing is known for sure about Anencletus,
even his name. Some early Church documents identify
him with Anicletus and Cletus, whereas others suggest
these were different people. He is thought to have suc-
ceeded St. Linus as bishop of Rome when Linus died
around the year 79. He was thus the third pope. Dur-
ing his 12-year reign he divided Rome into 25 parishes
and ordained an unknown number of priests.

Anencletus was martyred by the Roman emperor
Domitian around the year 91. He was buried near
Linus at the foot of Vatican Hill, where his relics may
be found today.

Feast: April 26

Angela Merici (1470 or 1474-1540) Founder of the
Order of Ursulines

Name meaning: Angel, messenger

Also known as: Angela de Marici, Angela of Brescia

Angela Merici was born March 21, 1470, or 1474, at
Desenzano, a small town on the southwestern shore of
Lake Garda in Lombardy. Orphaned at 10, Angela and
her brother and older sister went to live with a wealthy
uncle at Salo. Angela’s sister died suddenly, when
Angela was 13, without benefit of the last rites. Angela
prayed and suffered on her sister’s behalf until receiv-
ing a vision of the Blessed Mother accompanied by the
sister—confirmation to Angela that her sister was in
heaven. In gratitude Angela consecrated herself to
God, becoming a Franciscan tertiary at 15. She lived
very austerely, shunning any possessions, even a bed,
and living on bread and water and a few vegetables.
Angela’s uncle died when she was 20, and she
returned to Desenzano. Shocked at how little the poor-
est neighborhood girls knew of religion, she discussed
her plans to begin teaching them with a few of her
friends, mostly tertiaries like herself. A natural, charm-
ing leader, Angela had no difficulty enlisting other
young women to her cause. Her plans were confirmed
when a vision revealed virgins ascending a ladder of
light, accompanied by angels playing golden harps,
until the Savior called her by name to start a society of
teaching women. Converting her home to a school,
Angela and her friends began teaching the rudiments
of religion to the local little girls—so successfully that
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Angela was invited to open a similar school in nearby
Brescia.

In Brescia, Angela came in contact with many influ-
ential people who supported her efforts and whom she
inspired in their devotion. Her photographic memory
of the Bible and knowledge of Latin placed her in a
position as counsel and speaker as well. In 1524,
Angela made a pilgrimage to the Holy Land, where
reputedly she was struck blind in Crete. Resisting
entreaties to return home, Angela completed her pil-
grimage with enthusiasm. While praying before a cru-
cifix upon the very spot in Crete where she had gone
blind, her eyesight was miraculously restored.

The next year, 1525, Angela traveled to Rome to
receive jubilee year indulgences from Pope Clement
VII (1. 1523-34). His Holiness tried to persuade Angela
to remain in Rome as head of a community of nursing
sisters, but she declined. After hearing of her vision of
the virgins on the ladder, the pope gave Angela permis-
sion to establish a community of teaching women. In
another vision, St. Ursula—patroness of medieval uni-
versities and a leader of women—appeared to Angela,
who was so transported by her ecstasy that she appar-
ently levitated.

Years would pass before Angela could accomplish
her goal, however. Shortly after returning to Brescia
from her papal visit, war broke out in Lombardy. As
Charles V neared Brescia, civilians fled the city, and
Angela and some of her friends went to Cremona. After
peace was declared, the citizens of Brescia welcomed
Angela as a prophetess and saint. Finally, in 1533,
Angela began training some young women to form a
community. Angela and 28 companions consecrated
themselves to God, under the protection of St. Ursula,
on November 25, 1535, at St. Afra’s Church in Brescia,
with Angela as their first superior.

The Company of St. Ursula was the first teaching
order of women, which was a radical concept for many
years. The women took no formal vows and did not
live communally or in a cloister. Although some lived
with Angela in her home near St. Afra’s, most lived in
their own homes with their families. The women did
not adopt a habit but were encouraged to wear a sim-
ple black dress. They met, worshiped and taught
classes together or in their students’ homes. Pope Paul
I (r. 1534-49) formally recognized the Ursulines in
1544; they did not become a Congregation until 1565.
In 1568, St. Charles Borromeo called the Ursulines to
Milan and persuaded the women to assume a clois-
tered, communal life as a means of reform of the dioce-
ses in which they worked. Unable to accept Angela’s
mission of a flexible society, rules of strict enclosure
were enacted in France.

Angela directed her community for only four years,
falling ill in January 1540 and dying January 27 in
Brescia. Her sisters, surrounding her at the end,
reported that a ray of light shone upon her at death,
and that the Lord’s name was on her lips. Her body
later was found to be incorruptible.

Beatified: 1768 by Pope Clement XIII

Canonized: 1807 by Pope Pius VII

Feast: January 27

Patronage: bodily ills; disabled or handicapped peo-
ple; loss of parents; sickness

Anicetus (d. ca. 166) Pope and martyr

Anicetus was born in Emesa, Syria. Around 155 he
succeeded St. Pius I as bishop of Rome, making him
the 11th pope. Anicetus ruled only until about 166,
but his short reign was full of controversy.

Anicetus forbade priests to wear long hair, perhaps
because the Gnostics did so. Gnostics and Marcionites,
each preaching their own heresies, had not yet been
stifled by the Church, and were very much in evidence
in Rome at this time. There were also signs of a grow-
ing rift between Eastern and Western churches over
the question of when Easter should be celebrated.
Western churches followed Rome in celebrating Easter
on Sunday, but Eastern churches celebrated the feast
on the 14th day of the month of Nisan (that is, after
the first moon of the vernal equinox), regardless of the
day of the week on which it fell. St. Polycarp, bishop of
Smyrna, an Eastern church, came to confer with Ani-
cetus about the year 160, but left without resolving
the conflict, which was to grow larger in the coming
centuries.

Anicetus is said to have died a martyr, although his
martyrdom may be only figurative, worn down as he
was by the many problems he could not resolve. He
died sometime between 160 and 166, on the 16th, 17th
or 20th of April.

Feast: April 17

Anne, Matron (n.d.) Believed to be the mother of the
Virgin Mary and grandmother of Jesus Christ

Name meaning: Grace, gracious one

Also known as: Ann or Anna

Anne receives no mention in the Bible, either by name
or by any reference to Mary’s parents. But by the sec-
ond century, the apocryphal Book of James or Protoe-
vangelium Jacobi, written about 170, fills in the
legendary details of Anne’s life and the birth and child-
hood of Mary. Anne’s story also appears in The Golden
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Legend, a book of the saints’ lives written by Jacobus de
Voragine.

Anne’s story in the Book of James followed closely
the Old Testament story of Hannah in I Samuel 1,
2:1-10; indeed, Anne or Anna is the Latin form of the
Greek name Hannah, and both mean “grace.” Hannah
is one of the two wives of Elkanah. The other wife,
Peninnah, bore Elkanah sons and daughters and
taunted Hannah for her barrenness, so much so that
Hannah prayed to the Lord to give her a son, and she
would consecrate him to the Lords service. Even
though Hannah was old, her prayer was granted, and
when her son Samuel was weaned she left him in the
care of the priests.

Anne’s husband, Joachim of Nazareth, endured
embarrassments for his childlessness. Joachim was so
despondent that he left Anne in Jerusalem and went to
live for 40 days and nights in a rude shepherd’s hut,
praying ceaselessly for a child.

James wrote that Anne’s sorrow was doubled, as a
widow and as a barren woman. Praying in the garden,
Anne despaired of ever finding favor in Gods sight,
until an angel appeared assuring her of a child. Anne
promised that whether she had a son or daughter the
child would be consecrated to the Lord. The angel told
her that Joachim was returning, as he had received a
visit from the angel as well, and Anne hurried to meet
her husband. They embraced at the Golden Gate of
Jerusalem and went home. Nine months later Anne
delivered a daughter called Mary.

Medieval ecclesiastics believed that Mary was con-
ceived merely through Anne and Joachim’s embrace
(James had delicately omitted the details of their return
to the house), leading to the doctrine of Mary’s Immac-
ulate Conception.

The Book of James detailed Mary’s childhood as
well, giving a loving picture of Anne as a tender and
godly mother. At six months, Mary took her first baby
steps, and Anne quickly moved the child to an unde-
filed area of the bedroom so that Mary wouldn’t walk
on unclean ground before her consecration. On
Mary’s third birthday, Joachim and Anne took her to
the Temple, where the child rejoiced in her new sur-
roundings and lived until her 14th birthday. A major
flaw in this story is that Judaic law forbade women in
the Temple.

Anne’s devotion as a mother and grandmother to
Jesus Christ made her a popular figure in the early
Church. By the eighth century, Pope Constantine intro-
duced Anne worship into Rome, and the saint received
her own feast day on July 26. Crusaders brought Anne
to Western Europe, where she was venerated in En-
gland as early as 1030.

The popularity of Anne’s story helped medieval
ecclesiastics solve a thorny New Testament issue.
Matthew 12:46 refers to Jesus' “brothers,” yet the
Church had decided that Mary remained a virgin
throughout her life, as had Joseph. If that were true,
who were these “brothers”?—not Joseph’s children
from a previous marriage, and not Mary’s children. St.
Jerome suggested that they were sons of Mary’s sisters,
or Jesus’ cousins. This doctrine, called the Holy Kin-
ship and popularized in medieval literature, art and
prayer, pulled together all the Marys of the New Testa-
ment, except for Mary Magdalen, into one family and
gave Anne two husbands after the death of Joachim.
The Holy Kinship not only solved the problem of Jesus’
brothers but also established a matriarchal lineage for
Jesus, a factor in the extraordinary popularity of Anne’s
cult.

By the 16th century, Martin Luther attacked the wor-
ship of Anne as spurious, especially the so-called selb-
dritt paintings, which portrayed Mary and Jesus always
accompanied by Anne. Despite Luther’s efforts, vene-
ration of Anne, concentrated in England, was extended
to full canonical worship Churchwide in 1584.

In 1650, Breton sailors, caught in a storm at sea off
the coast of Quebec, promised Anne a sanctuary if they
safely reached shore. The sailors built a shrine at
Beaupré, which was rebuilt in 1658, and attracts over
one million pilgrims a year. Several of her relics are
there, including a finger bone. St. Anne de Beaupré is
especially famous for the crutches left behind by
healed cripples.

In art, Anne often appears at her betrothal to
Joachim or embracing him at Jerusalem’s Golden Gate.

Canonized: 1584 by Pope Gregory XIII

Feast: July 26

Patronage: broommakers; cabinetmakers; carpen-
ters; childless people; homemakers and house-
wives; infertility; grandparents, especially
grandmothers; lace makers and workers; lost
articles; miners; mothers; old-clothes dealers;
against poverty; pregnant women; seamstresses;
stablemen; turners; women in labor; Brittany;
Canada; Quebec; Santa Ana Indian pueblo; Taos,
New Mexico

FURTHER READING
Streep, Peg. Mary, Queen of Heaven. New York: Book of the
Month Club, 1997.

Anne Line (ca. 1574-1601) One of the Forty Martyrs
of England and Wales

Name meaning: Gracious one

Also known as: Anne Higham
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Anne Line was born to the wealthy and strongly
Calvinist family of William Heigham of Dunmow, in
Essex. When she and her brother converted to Catholi-
cism—an illegal religion from 1570 to 1791—they
were disowned and disinherited. At 19, Anne married
Roger Line of Ringwood, also a convert, but he was
arrested for recusancy (failure to obey the law requir-
ing Catholics to attend Church of England services)
and exiled to Flanders in 1594, where he died within
months.

Alone and in ill health, Anne devoted all her efforts
to assisting fellow Catholics. She first moved to the
home of Mrs. Wiseman in Braddox, but Mrs. Wiseman
was executed for helping priests. Her next job was man-
aging a house of refuge for priests in London organized
by the Jesuit, Father John Gerard. Father Gerard was
arrested and imprisoned in the Tower of London but
escaped in 1597. His return to the safe house caused
Anne to come under suspicion, so she moved again.

On Candlemas Day (February 2), 1601, Anne
invited a large number of Catholics to celebrate Mass
in her apartment. Noticing the large assembly, Anne’s
neighbors alerted the authorities. The priest-catchers
broke into her home just as another Jesuit, Father
Francis Page, was about to conduct the Mass. The
heavily barred door gave Father Francis just enough
time to remove his vestments and mingle with the
crowd, but the discovery of an altar and communion
vessels was enough to indict Anne.

Anne awaited trial at Newgate prison. She was so ill
that she had to be carried in on a chair. But when ques-
tioned by Lord Chief Justice Popham at the Old Bailey
on February 26 if she were guilty of the charge of har-
boring a priest from overseas (Act of 27 Elizabeth),
Anne bravely replied that her only regret was that she
had not received a thousand more. Even though the
prosecution had very little evidence—only the altar
and one witness who said Anne had been in her house
with a man dressed in white—the jury found her guilty
at the judge’s direction, and she was sentenced to
death.

The next day, February 27, Anne rode to Tyburn
for execution. Composed to the end, she kissed the
gallows and knelt in prayer. Hanged along with Anne
were a Jesuit, Father Bl. Roger Filcock, her friend and
confessor, and a Benedictine, Father Bl. Mark Bark-
worth, the first Benedictine to be martyred since the
suppression of the monasteries.

Beatified: 1929 by Pope Pius XI

Canonized: October 25, 1970, by Paul VI as one of
the Forty Martyrs of England and Wales

Feast: February 27

Patronage: childless people; converts; widows

Anselm (ca. 1033-1109) Archbishop of Canterbury,
Doctor of the Church
Also known as: the Father of Scholasticism

Anselm was born about 1033 to a noble family from
the Aosta region of the Piedmont in Italy. He was sent
to a monastery school before he was five and suffered
under the strict and sometimes cruel education prac-
tices of the day, leading him to champion more liberal
teaching methods all his life. As a child he dreamed
that he sought Heaven in the mountains and there
received bread from the Lord. He tried to enter a
monastery at about age 15, but the abbot, fearing that
Anselm’s father Gundulf would object, refused him
admission. Anselm prayed for illness, hoping that the
monks would relent if he were ill; he did become sick
but to no avail. He soon fell in with less-religious
friends and began enjoying the pursuits of a young
nobleman, restrained only by his mother Ermenberga’s
love. Once she died, Gundulf’s unremitting hatred and
harshness drove Anselm away, and he crossed the Alps
into France in 1056.

After nearly three years of study and wandering in
France and Burgundy, Anselm traveled to Normandy,
where the Blessed Abbot Lanfranc of Lombardy lived
with a group of fellow scholars at Bec Abbey. Lanfranc,
who was prior, welcomed the young man into the
Benedictine order in 1060. In 1063 William, duke of
Normandy, later King William I the Conqueror, named
Lanfranc abbot of St. Stephen’s Abbey at Caen, and
young Anselm succeeded him as prior of Bec. Anselm
served as prior for 15 years, during which time he
wrote two of his major treatises: the Monologium and
the Proslogium. The greater of the two, the Proslogium,
attempts to present an ontological argument of the
existence of God by showing that the mere fact that
even nonbelievers understand the uniqueness of God
as a perfect being validates His presence. Anselm’s was
heavily influenced by the writings of St. Augustine,
and his arguments in turn influenced great thinkers of
his day, such as St. Thomas Aquinas (who disagreed)
and later philosophers such as Hegel, Kant and
Descartes.

In 1078, the abbot of Bec, Blessed Herluin, died,
and Anselm succeeded him—but not without great
reluctance. As abbot, Anselm traveled to England,
where the abbey owned property. He met often with his
old mentor Lanfranc, whom King William I had named
archbishop of Canterbury in 1070. Lanfranc served as
regent on behalf of the king in his absence and helped
ensure the smooth transition of power to William’s
son, William II Rufus (meaning “red-haired”), when
the king died in 1087.
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But when Lanfranc died in 1089, William Rufus
did not replace him, seizing the see’s revenues and
leaving the Church of England in anarchy. The En-
glish bishops clearly wanted Anselm to succeed Lan-
franc, but Anselm did not want the office. He even
refused to travel to England for fear of appearing to
seek the archbishopric. But in 1092, at the urging of
Hugh, earl of Chester, Anselm came to England and
was hailed as the new archbishop by the clergy, nobles
and people. Anselm stayed for several months, often
meeting with the king. But when he tried to return to
Bec, the king denied him permission. The people
prayed all over England that the king would choose
Anselm to fill the Chair of Augustine. By early 1093,
William Rufus fell ill and, fearing for his mortal soul,
repented of his sins and named Anselm archbishop of
Canterbury. Anselm tried to refuse the honor—he had
to be dragged to the king’s bedside and forced to
receive the pastoral staff—but finally agreed to accept
the office.

Once William Rufus regained health, he returned to
his old ways. First he kept Anselm from calling the
synods necessary to handle church business. Next the
king and Anselm argued over the king’s gift of Church
property to his friends. Always looking for revenue,
William Rufus demanded a gift of 500 pounds from
Anselm to seal his election as archbishop. But when
Anselm accumulated the money from his impover-
ished see, the king scornfully refused the levy as insuf-
ficient. Anselm angrily retorted that as long as the king
treated him as a free man Anselm would serve him, but
if he treated him like a slave the king would have noth-
ing of him or his office. Anselm then gave the 500
pounds to the poor. He finally was consecrated arch-
bishop on December 4, 1093.

To be fully invested, however, Anselm needed to
receive the pallium from Rome. Complicating the situ-
ation was the dispute over papal authority between
the rightful pope, Urban II (r. 1088-99), and the
antipope Clement. William Rufus saw the schism as a
means for him to assert his own power, so when
Anselm asked to go to Rome to receive the pallium,
William commanded that no one could communicate
with either pope until he, William, had established
his position on the matter. Anselm supported Urban
11, and the question went to a council at Rockingham
in March 1095. William finally assented to Anselm’s
trip to Rome to get the pallium from Urban II, and
Walter, bishop of Albano, accompanied Anselm back
to Canterbury as papal legate with the pallium.
William demanded that he place the pallium on
Anselm—thereby asserting royal authority over the
Church—but Anselm would not acquiesce. In a com-
promise, the papal legate, Walter, placed the pallium

on the altar on June 10, 1095, and Anselm invested
himself.

In 1097, after the kings ineffectual campaign to
Wales, William accused Anselm of providing poor sup-
port and formally charged him. Anselm demanded to
plead his case in Rome, which William first denied
then hurriedly granted. Anselm blessed the king, set
sail for Rome, and did not return to England during
the rest of William Rufus’s reign.

Pope Urban II welcomed Anselm to Rome and
allowed him to enjoy his exile at an Italian monastery.
During this period Anselm wrote his most famous
work, Cur Deus Homo, or “Why God Became Man.” In
his book, Anselm put forward the “satisfaction theory”
of the Incarnation to explain the Atonement: that man’s
rebellion against God demanded satisfaction, but fallen
man was incapable of making adequate satisfaction.
God assumed human nature upon Himself, so that a
God-made man could make perfect satisfaction and
thereby save the human race.

Believing that he had failed as archbishop, Anselm
begged Urban II to release him from office, but the
pope refused. In 1098, Urban II asked Anselm to repre-
sent him at the Council of Bari, where Anselm helped
the Italo-Greek bishops understand the papacy’s posi-
tion on the controversial doctrine of filioque, or the
procession of the Holy Spirit. The clergy in attendance
also discussed Anselm’s persecution by William Rufus.
They denounced William for simony, oppression and
depravity, and only agreed to threaten excommunica-
tion rather than assess a solemn anathema at Anselm’s
urging.

William II Rufus died in an accident while hunting
with his younger brother Henry in 1100. One of the
party, Walter Tirel, shot William with an arrow (some
believe on Henry’s orders). Henry immediately went to
Winchester and seized the treasury, then had himself
crowned King Henry 1 before his oldest brother,
Robert, duke of Normandy, could act. Henry also mar-
ried Matilda of Scotland, daughter of St. Margaret, fur-
ther cementing his claim. Anselm returned to England
amid great rejoicing, but soon argued with Henry I
about the king’s demands to reinvest Anselm as arch-
bishop. Anselm said that a Roman synod at Easter in
1099 expressly forbade lay investiture; offenders would
be punished by excommunication.

Robert of Normandy invaded England in 1101. In
order to have the Church on his side, Henry I
promised to obey the Holy See, and Anselm helped
persuade the barons of Henry’s legitimacy, preventing a
rebellion. The brothers agreed to a peaceful end to hos-
tilities if Henry relinquished all claims to Normandy.
As soon as the war was over, Henry resumed his
demands of investiture and sent an emissary to Rome
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asking Pope Paschal II (r. 1099-1118) for an exemp-
tion from the Easter decrees. The pope refused the
exemption, and Henry I sent another emissary to try
again. The answer was the same, but the envoys
claimed that the pope had orally agreed to the exemp-
tion, but not in writing. During this period the king
continued to invest bishops and abbots, but Anselm
was not required to consecrate them.

In 1102, Anselm held a council at Westminster to
reinstate some English saints removed earlier from the
calendar, to encourage the ordination of English
priests, enforce celibacy and protest Henrys latest
demands that the archbishop consecrate the bishops
invested by the king. Also during that council, Anselm
condemned slavery and prohibited the sale of men
“like cattle.” Anselm continued to resist Henry’s
demands for investiture, returning to Rome in 1103 to
plead his case before Pope Paschal II, who again denied
Henry’s request for exemption. Returning to England,
Anselm stopped in Lyons, where he learned that
although the king’s counselors had been excommuni-
cated, the king had not. Anselm traveled on to visit
with Henry’s sister, Adela of Blois, who was ill. He
informed her that he intended to excommunicate her
brother, and she arranged a brief reconciliation in
1105. The agreement soon fell apart, with Henry again
demanding the right of investiture while reneging on
his promise to his brother Robert, invading Normandy
and defeating Robert in battle. Henry’s victory united
England and Normandy, and the king imprisoned
Robert in an English castle for 28 years.

Anselm again went to Rome to plead his case and
secured a letter allowing him to absolve Henry of cen-
sures enacted for past offenses but not settling the
question. At long last, at a royal council in London in
1107, the king agreed to relinquish his claim to invest
bishops and abbots, and the Church allowed clergy to
pay homage—fees of entitlement—on their posses-
sions and properties. The Church emerged victorious
over the Crown. Amazingly, this pact was kept by
Henry I. He even designated Anselm his regent while
the king was in Normandy in 1108.

By 1109 Anselm was 76 years old. He had spent the
two years since the 1107 council peacefully, writing
and tending to pastoral duties. He died at Canterbury
on April 21, 1109, and is believed to be interred in the
cathedral church. Dante Alighieri immortalized
Anselm by placing the archbishop among the spirits of
light and power, next to St. John Chrysostom, in the
Sphere of the Sun (Paradiso, canto XII).

Anselm is especially venerated in Canterbury; Bec
and Rouen, France; and Aosta and Turin, Italy. He is
shown in his episcopal vestments in art. He was never
formally canonized.

Declared Doctor of the Church: 1720 by Pope Cle-
ment XI
Feast: April 21
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Anterus (d. 236) Pope and martyr
Also known as: Antheros, Antherus

The Greek Anterus was elected pope upon the resigna-
tion of St. Pontian. He reigned for 43 days, from
November 21, 235, until January 3, 236. He caused
the acts of the Christian martyrs to be collected and
placed in the Vatican archives, and for this he himself
was martyred. He was the first pope to be buried in the
papal crypt of the Roman cemetery of San Callistus.

Feast: January 3

Anthelm (ca. 1105-07-1178) Carthusian monk and
bishop

Little is known of this saint’s early life. Anthelm was
born ca. 1105-07 at Chignin Castle, six miles from the
town of Chambéry, to nobility. Although he had cho-
sen a life in the Church from an early age, he was more
attracted to the things of this world, rather than the
next, and pursued ecclesiastical positions to enhance
his prestige. A visit to relatives at the Carthusian
monastery at Portes changed his life, however, and he
entered the strict order of St. Bruno in 1137.

Not long into his novitiate, Anthelm was sent to
help rebuild the monastery at Grande Chartreuse,
which had been nearly destroyed in an avalanche. His
gifts for organization and business soon restored
the life and prosperity of the monastery. He super-
vised rebuilding the ruins and then built a security
wall. He brought water to the monastery with an
aqueduct and renewed the farmlands and sheep-
folds. When Hugh I resigned as prior of the mo-
nastery in 1139, Anthelm succeeded him. Through-
out these activities Anthelm enforced the Carthusian
rule and organized the various monasteries—previ-
ously answerable only to the bishop—into a unified
order, calling the first general chapter about 1140.
Grande Chartreuse became the mother house and
Anthelm the first minister general. Anthelm’s skills
and reputation brought many new monks into the
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order, including his father, a brother, and William,
count of Nivernais.

Anthelm resigned his post in 1152, hoping to retire
in solitude, but succeeded Bernard, prior of Portes
monastery, as abbot instead. The monks at Portes had
become very prosperous—too prosperous, Anthelm
believed, for an order with rules of poverty. He gave
away most of the grain stores and even sold church
ornaments for alms.

Two years later Anthelm returned to Grande Char-
treuse, longing for the contemplative life, but was
again called to service. In 1159 two popes vied for
legitimacy: Alexander III (r. 1159-81), supported by
King Louis VII of France and most of the bishops, and
Victor 1V, the favorite of Emperor Frederick Bar-
barossa. Anthelm threw himself into the argument
and, along with Geoffrey, the Cistercian abbot of
Hautecombe, recruited both clergy and nobility from
France, Spain and England in support of Alexander. In
gratitude, Alexander IIT appointed Anthelm as bishop
of Belley, much against Anthelm’s wishes, in Septem-
ber 1163.

Bishop Anthelm energetically promoted reform of
his diocese. In his first synod he encouraged the
priests and clergy to return to celibacy; many priests
had married. When after two years he still found
lapsed celibates he deprived them of their benefices.
He tolerated no oppression or disorder from the laity,
either, standing firm against the intrusion of secular
kings into ecclesiastical affairs. Alexander III even
sent him to England to try to mediate a truce between
King Henry II and Archbishop Thomas Becket but
with no success. Anthelm’s flock so loved him that
for a time the town of Belley was renamed Anthel-
mopolis.

Anthelm died at age 72 on June 26, 1178. He had
devoted his last years to the Carthusian order and two
other institutions: a women’s community at Bons and a
leper house. His tomb at Grande Chartreuse quickly
became known for its miraculous powers; St. Hugh of
Lincoln visited the shrine before he died in 1200.

Anthelm is depicted in art with a lamp lit by a
divine hand.

Feast: June 26

Anthony (251-356) Credited as a founder of monasti-
cism

Name meaning: Inestimable

Also known as: Anthony, Anthony or Antony of Egypt,
Anthony of the Desert, Anthony the Abbott

Anthony was born in 251 to Christian parents in a
little village (reported as Coma or Koman) south of

St. Anthony (Engraving by Albrecht Durer, 1519)

Memphis in Upper Egypt. Perhaps fearing the persecu-
tions ordered by Emperor Decius in 250, his parents
kept him at home, unread and ignorant of any lan-
guage except his own. Anthony was about 20 years old
when his parents died, leaving him a large estate and
the care of his younger sister. About six months after
his parents’ deaths Anthony heard the Gospel text,
“Go, sell what thou hast, give it to the poor and thou
shalt have treasure in heaven” (Matthew 19:21), and
he resolved to sell and distribute all of the estate except
what he and his sister needed to live on. Not long
thereafter, Anthony again heard the Gospel, “Be not
solicitous for tomorrow” (Matthew 6:34), and he
gave away the rest. He placed his sister in a house of
maidens or pious women, the first recorded descrip-
tion of a nunnery, and began a life of solitude about the
year 272.

Anthony’s first retreat was in the Libyan desert, not
far from his home, where he lived in an abandoned
tomb. He usually ate only after sunset, his meal con-
sisting of bread with a little salt, and water to drink.
Sometimes he would not eat for three or four days. He
slept on a rush mat or the bare floor, and spent his days
in prayer, reading and manual labor.

But the devils temptations, particularly visions
of sexual seduction, invaded the young man’s solitude.
One time, the devil beat Anthony so severely that
he was left for dead, saved only by a friend who
had come to bring bread to the tomb. The tempta-
tions of Anthony were a popular subject for medieval
artists.

After emerging triumphant from the temptations,
about 285, Anthony crossed the Nile River to live in
the abandoned ruins of a mountain fort, where he
stayed in almost total isolation for 20 years. He rarely
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had human contact except for the man who brought
bread every six months, but nevertheless attracted the
faithful and the curious. Anthony finally came down
from the mountain in 305, at age 54, to respond to the
entreaties of his followers, founding the first
monastery at Fayum.

In the year 311, after the resumption of persecu-
tions under Maximinus, Anthony traveled to Alexan-
dria to comfort Christians awaiting martyrdom. He
made no secret of his presence or intentions, but amaz-
ingly was not arrested. Once the persecutions abated,
he returned to the desert, where he founded another
monastery called Pispir. But Anthony still chose soli-
tude, living in a cell on Mount Kolzim with his disciple
Macarius and tending a desert garden. Unable to fully
escape the world, eventually Anthony lived with a
company of followers, instructing them in monastic
life. In 337, Emperor Constantine and his two sons
Constantius and Constans wrote Anthony, begging that
the holy man remember them in his prayers.

Anthony returned to Alexandria in 355 to combat
the Arian heresy, which taught that God the Son is a
creature and not at the same level as God the Father.
Anthony’s friend and biographer, St. Athanasius, patri-
arch of the Church at Alexandria, reported that
Anthony attracted crowds of both the faithful and
pagans alike. St. Jerome wrote that while Anthony vis-
ited Alexandria, he met the famous holy man Didy-
mus, the head of the catechetical school and
completely blind. Anthony reportedly told Didymus
that he “should not regret his loss of eyes, which were
common even to insects, but to rejoice in the treasure
of the inner light which the apostles enjoyed, by which
we see God and kindle the fire of His love in our
souls.”

Shortly before his death, Anthony visited a commu-
nity of his followers, but hurried back to his refuge at
Mount Kolzim. Upon becoming ill, he directed his dis-
ciples to bury him secretly at Kolzim next to his fol-
lowers Macarius and Amathas, and send his cloak to
Athanasius. Anthony then lay down, assured his disci-
ples that his body would rise incorruptible in the res-
urrection, and stopped breathing. The year was 356,
and Anthony was 105 years old and apparently in good
health until the end. In 561, his remains supposedly
were discovered and moved first to Alexandria, then to
Constantinople, then finally to Vienne, France, during
the Crusades.

The Order of Hospital Brothers of St. Anthony,
founded in 1096, tended the sufferers of “St. Anthony’s
Fire” or ergot—a horrible medieval disease with painful
skin eruptions that blackened and turned gangrenous,
often requiring amputation, caused by a fungus in rye
bread flour. Nervous spasms and convulsions accompa-

nied the eruptions. The Brothers, ignorant of the fun-
gus, treated the afflicted with an herbal balm and
prayers to St. Anthony, believed to have miracu-
lous healing powers and who, with Christ, had suffered
terrible torments. The most famous depiction of this
role is by the 16th-century German artist Matthias
Grunewald in the Isenheim Altarpiece in Colmar, in
which Anthony, surrounded by the plants used in the
balm, is tormented by demons trying to destroy his
faith.

Feast: January 17

Patronage: amputees; basket makers and weavers;
brushmakers; butchers; domestic animals; epilep-
tics; gravediggers; hermits; monks; sufferers from
ergotism; pestilence, eczema and other skin dis-
eases and rashes
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Anthony Mary Claret (1807-1870) Archbishop and
founder of the Claretians

Anthony Mary Claret was born December 24, 1807, in
Sallent, Catalonia, in northeastern Spain. His father
was a weaver who kept his small factory in the family
home. As a boy, he experienced his first miracle when
he went swimming one day at the beach at Carce-
loneta, and was swept out to sea by a huge wave. His
friends thought him drowned. Anthony had the pres-
ence of mind to pray to the Blessed Virgin Mary for
help, and another wave deposited him back ashore.

Anthony intended to follow in his father’s footsteps,
and when he was 18 his father sent him to a designer’s
school in Barcelona. There he became attracted to the
religious life and announced his intent to study for the
priesthood and become a Jesuit. His health prevented
him from being accepted. Instead, he became a secular
priest in the diocese of Vich at age 28. He was assigned
to Sallent. Soon he felt a calling to become a mission-
ary, which he did with Rome’s approval. He traveled
through Catalonia, the Canary Islands and parts of
Spain, working in the style of the apostles.

In 1849, Anthony founded the Missionary Sons of
the Immaculate Heart of Mary, which became known
as the Claretians. The same year, he was named arch-
bishop of Santiago, Cuba, where he spent the next six
years. He was popular and effective, but his success
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St. Anthony Mary Claret

attracted enemies, and Anthony was subjected to many
trials.

In 1857 he returned to the court of Queen Isabella
as her confessor. He endured political persecution
and accompanied the queen into exile in France in
1868 for a year. He then participated in the First Va-
tican Council in 1869 and 1870, still enduring per-
secution.

Anthony returned to France and died on October
24, 1870, in the Cistercian monastery of Fontfroide in
southern France. He had preached 25,000 sermons,
written 144 works and performed many miracles.

So many miracles happened in the Church of
Montserrat through the prayers of the saint that it
became known as the Church of Miracles.

He was seen to levitate while deep in prayer, rising
slowly into the air in a kneeling position until he was
more than two feet off the ground. One witness
attested to the “heat of great devotion” that emanated
from his body during one such episode. People liked to
touch his clothing or kiss his hand because of the
sweet odor of sanctity that he carried. He also was seen

with his face transfigured, and surrounded by an aura
of brilliant light.

Anthony also had the gifts of prophecy and discern-
ment, knowing the sins and faults of those with whom
he came into contact. He said he could “read their con-
sciences.”

He had the gift of miraculous transport. While a
seminarian, he lived at Vich in the rectory of Don For-
tunato Bres, his friend and adviser. Many years later,
Bres, on his way to mass one winter day, slipped on ice
and broke his leg. He asked for Anthony, who was
many miles away, to be notified. Ten minutes later,
Anthony arrived. The route was snow-covered, and it
was snowing at the time, but Anthony was not wet. He
said that “an irresistible impulse” had caused him to
come to Don Fortunato.

While in Cuba, Anthony seemed to be able to pre-
vent earthquakes during a time of frequent earth-
quakes. Once while preaching in a public square, the
earth trembled, but the saint assured people that all
would be well. There were no earthquakes. He also
calmed storms.

Beatified: 1935 by Pope Pius XI
Canonized: 1950 by Pope Pius XII
Feast: October 24
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Anthony Mary Zaccaria (1502-1539) Cofounder of
the Barnabites, the regular Order of St. Paul
Also known as: Antonio Maria Zaccaria

Anthony Mary was born in 1502 in Cremona, in Lom-
bardy (Italy), to wealthy patrician parents. His father
Lazzaro died when the boy was two, widowing his
mother, Antonia Pescaroli, at 18. She devoted the rest
of her life to her son and his education, sending him to
school in Cremona and Padua. She also taught
Anthony Mary compassion for the suffering and desti-
tute. In 1520, Anthony Mary began studying medicine
at Padua and received his doctor of medicine degree at
22. He returned to Cremona to practice, but instead
began studying theology and ministering to the poor
and sick.

Still a layman, Anthony Mary nevertheless began
teaching the catechism to both children and adults
from the small church of St. Vitalis next to his mother’s
home. He served in prisons and hospitals, especially
during the plague of 1528, and the citizens of Cremona
began calling him an apostle. Anthony Mary received
ordination in January 1529 and preached his first ser-
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mon from St. Vitalis, surrounded by only family and
friends. Legend holds that angels were seen at the altar.

Anthony Marys work was so successful that he
wanted to expand his ministry. But first the Domini-
can, Fra Battista, a friend of Girolamo Savonarola,
named him chaplain to the wealthy Ludovica Torelli,
countess of Guastalla. In 1531 the countess, Fra Bat-
tista and Anthony Mary traveled to Milan, where they
joined the Confraternity of Eternal Wisdom. Along
with two Milanese priests he met at the confraternity—
Giacomo Morigia and Bartolomeo Ferrari—Anthony
Mary organized a congregation of secular clergy to
combat the effects of years of famine, war and plague
that had scourged Milan and all of northern Italy. Their
idea was to establish three religious families within the
community—priests, sisters and lay people—and Pope
Clement VII (r. 1523-34) agreed, approving the Sons
of St. Paul in 1533. In 1535, the congregation became
the Clerics Regular of St. Paul with the approval of
Pope Paul III (r. 1534-49) and under the superiorship
of Anthony Mary.

In 1536, Anthony Mary named Father Morigia as
superior and went to Vicenza to reform the clergy and
bring two communities of sisters to stricter observance
of their rules. The countess, meanwhile, had been
gathering young women in her home in Milan who
yearned for a spiritual life. Pope Paul III recognized
these women, known as the Angelicals of St. Paul,
under the Rule of Augustine in 1535, formalizing the
second part of Anthony Mary’s vision. The third part,
the lay followers, was the Marrieds of St. Paul. All
three families shared the same zealous mission for
reform and preaching, encouraging daily Communion,
penitence and service to the sick and poor. They estab-
lished the ringing of church bells at 3:00 M. every Fri-
day to commemorate the death of the Lord on Good
Friday, and the Forty Hours Prayers: exposition of the
Sacrament by turns in the various city churches.

The zeal of Anthony Mary’s congregation did not
inspire all Milanese citizens, however. Anthony Mary
and his followers were accused of Pelagianism and the
heresies of the Beguines and the Poor Men of Lyons.
Their association with Fra Battista made them suspect
as well. Church and civil authorities tried the Sons of
St. Paul on October 5, 1534; the trial ended in dis-
missal. Then both the Sons of St. Paul and the Angeli-
cals were tried from June through August 1537; that
trial ended in full acquittal. The trials only stiffened
Anthony Mary’s resolve, leading to more reform mis-
sions and the acceptance of the rule of poverty for the
congregation. Anthony Mary had already relinquished
his considerable inheritance many years before. By
1539, Anthony Mary sought a church to house his
growing congregation. He was offered the Church of

St. Barnabas in Milan, which eventually gave the con-
gregation their more common name: the Barnabites.
Anthony Mary did not live to see his followers in the
church, however. While back in Guastalla in May 1539
he fell ill with fever. Believing his end was near he
asked to be taken home to his mother in Cremona,
where he died peacefully on July 5 at age 37. He was
supposedly granted a vision of St. Paul just before
death.

After the funeral in Cremona, Anthony Mary’s body
was returned to Milan and buried at St. Paul's Convent
of the Angelics. The faithful immediately venerated him
as Blessed, but he missed automatic canonization after
100 years of veneration by only five years when Pope
Urban VIII (r. 1623-44) issued new rules for sainthood
in 1634. His body reportedly was still incorrupt 27
years after death. Anthony Mary’s cause was reintro-
duced in 1802, with three miracles approved for full
canonization in 1897.

Beatified: 1849 by Pope Pius IX
Canonized: May 27, 1897, by Pope Leo XIII
Feast: July 5

Anthony of Padua (1195-1231) Franciscan; Doctor
of the Church

Name meaning: Inestimable

Also known as: Hammer of the Heretics, Ark of The
Covenant, the Wonder-Worker

Anthony of Padua, one of the most beloved and
revered saints of the Church, was born in Lisbon, Por-
tugal, in 1195 to wealthy, noble parents. He was chris-
tened Ferdinand. Some have given his family name as
de Bulhoes; writers of the 15th century linked him to
Godfrey de Bouillon, commander of the First Crusade.
But all that is known of his childhood is that he was
educated at the cathedral school in Lisbon.

In 1210, at age 15, Ferdinand joined the Canons
Regular of St. Augustine in the convent of Sao Vicente
outside the city walls. To avoid the distractions of
friends and visitors, Ferdinand asked to be reassigned
to the convent of Santa Croce in Coimbra two years
later. There he worked and studied for eight years,
where his intelligence and amazing memory enabled
Ferdinand to accumulate a wealth of knowledge of the-
ology and Scripture.

Ferdinand’s life changed in 1220, when Don Pedro
brought from Morocco to Coimbra the relics of the first
Franciscan martyrs. Fired with missionary zeal and
seeking martyrdom, Ferdinand knew he had no chance
to convert the Saracens merely as a canon regular. After
pouring out his emotions to a group of Franciscan
brothers who had come to the convent to beg, Ferdi-
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St. Anthony of Padua (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

nand left his order and joined the Franciscan Order of
Friars Minor at Olivares, taking the name Anthony
after Antony Abbot, patriarch of monks and monaster-
ies.

Anthony left for Morocco late in 1220, but became
so ill on his arrival that he tried to return to Portugal.
Shipwrecked during a storm at Messina, Sicily,
Anthony remained there for several months to recuper-
ate. While in Sicily, the brothers told Anthony that a
general chapter of the Franciscans was to be held in
Assisi, the last chapter open to all brethren. Anthony
traveled to Assisi in May 1221 for the chapter, presided
over by Vicar General Elias, with St. Francis sitting at
Elias’s feet. Once the chapter concluded, Anthony was
assigned to the hermitage at Montepaolo near Forli,
outside Bologna. There he lived quietly, celebrating
Mass for the lay brethren and working in the kitchen.
No one knew of his education.

But Anthony’s talents were soon recognized. Due to
a misunderstanding, there was no speaker for an ordi-
nation ceremony held at Forli for both Dominicans
and Franciscans. Neither order had anyone prepared to
give the homily In desperation, the superior asked
Anthony to speak whatever the Holy Spirit should put
into his mouth. Anthony protested but obeyed, deliv-

ering a moving and eloquent sermon to the astonish-
ment of his listeners. Brother Gratian, minister provin-
cial, sent Anthony to preach throughout Lombardy,
and St. Francis himself appointed Anthony as lector, or
teacher, of theology to the Franciscans—the first mem-
ber of the order to fill that position. Anthony taught at
Bologna and the universities of Montpellier and
Toulouse. He attended the general chapter at Arles,
France, in 1226, and, following St. Francis’s death in
October of that year, served as envoy from the chapter
to Pope Gregory IX (r. 1227-41) to present Francis’s
rule to the papacy. He was elected minister provincial
of Emilia in May 1227, a demanding job that required
travel to all the priories under his jurisdiction. He also
wrote sermons for feast days, for saints’ days and for
regular Sunday worship.

Anthony’s true gift, however, was preaching. His
eloquence, powers of persuasion, messianic zeal and
sonorous voice inspired thousands, and he never hesi-
tated to use his pulpit to fight for the poor, the prison-
ers, debtors and disenfranchised. He was as likely to
reprove a bishop for his ways as to cherish a child.
Needless to say, Anthony attracted huge crowds to hear
him speak, and the stories of his miracles soon fol-
lowed. One legend says that while he was walking on a
seacoast, reflecting about the frequent appearance of
fish in the Gospels, the fish rose out of the water and
gathered around him to listen. Another says he
restored a field ready to be harvested after followers
had trampled it. He miraculously protected his listen-
ers from the rain, and he prophesied the destruction of
his pulpit by the Devil during another sermon. In one
village, a wife forbidden to go hear Anthony speak
threw open the window to catch what words she
could. Anthony’s voice so inspired the husband that he
repented.

One of Anthonys frequent sermon topics was
heresy. Different heresies by the Cathars (or Albigen-
sians) and the Waldensians wracked Germany, northern
Italy and southern France. Known as the “hammer of
heretics,” or malleus hereticorum, Anthony zealously
spoke out against their efforts to demean the role of the
clergy (whom the heretics believed corrupt) and to
question the Presence in the sacraments. One miracu-
lous story tells that an Albigensian named Bonvillo
challenged Anthony regarding the Eucharist. If a mule
who hadn’t eaten in three days bowed before the
Eucharist before eating anything, then the Albigensian
would believe. The mule was offered hay but he refused
to eat before acknowledging the Holy Presence.

In May 1230, Anthony asked Pope Gregory IX (r.
1227-41) to release him from his duties as minister
provincial in order that he might spend more time on
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preaching and prayer. Anthony retired to the convent
of Padua, which he had founded, but continued his
efforts for the people. Hating usury, he lobbied and
persuaded the municipality of Padua in March 1231 to
pass a law allowing debtors to remain out of debtors’
prison if they had any other sources of recompense.
The year before he had traveled to Verona to beg lib-
erty for Guelph political prisoners from the Ghibelline
tyrant Ezzelino.

His last major sermon was during Lent in 1231.
Right after Easter, Anthony became ill with dropsy and
left Padua with two other friars for a woodland retreat
at Camposanpiero. The brothers built him a small
house in a walnut tree, where he lived for a short
while. Realizing he was dying, Anthony asked to
return to Padua. He made it as far as the convent of
Poor Clares in Arcella, where he died on June 13,
1231, in the chaplain’s apartment. Anthony was 36.

Immediately after his death, Anthony supposedly
appeared to the abbot at Vercelli, Thomas Gallo, who
announced the holy man’s passing to the grieving citi-
zens of Padua. Reportedly a group of Paduan children
also received the message and announced Anthony’s
death. Although the Poor Clares at Arcella tried to
claim Anthony’s body, it was taken to Padua for burial
at the Church of Our Lady. Shortly after his canoniza-
tion in 1232, a Moroccan-style basilica was begun in
his honor, and his relics were transferred there in 1263.
When St. Bonaventure, Minister General, opened An-
thony’s tomb for the transferral, he found the saint’s
tongue uncorrupted and still red in color. Bonaventure
kissed the tongue and praised its former abilities of
speech as a gift from God. References to Anthony’s
“honeyed tongue” are revealed in the appearance of
bees in icons and paintings.

Artists since the 17th century have depicted
Anthony holding the Infant Jesus—a legend says that
once, while staying with friends, Anthony’s host spied
on him and found him enraptured, holding the Christ
Child. Anthony also appears with a book for wisdom,
with a lily for purity, and with his devout mule. On
Tuesdays, Franciscans customarily give bread or alms
to the poor called “St. Anthony’s bread.”

Canonized: 1232 by Pope Gregory IX

Declared Doctor of the Church: January 16, 1946, by
Pope Pius XII

Feast: June 13

Patronage: amputees; animals; barrenness; boatmen;
donkeys; elderly people; expectant mothers; fish-
ermen; harvests; horses; lost articles; mariners;
Native Americans; the oppressed; the poor; Por-
tugal, against shipwrecks; against starvation;
sterility; the Tigua Indian tribe; travelers

FURTHER READING
Stoddard, Charles. St. Anthony, the Wonder-Worker of Padua.
Rockford, 111.: TAN Books and Publishers, 1992.

Antoninus (1389-1459) Archbishop of Florence
Also known as: Antonius, Antonino

Antoninus was born in Florence on March 1, 1389,
the only child of Niccolo Pierozzi, a lawyer, and his
wife Thomassina. He was baptized Antonius or Anto-
nio, but because of his small size and gentle nature he
was called by the diminutive “Antoninus” or “Anto-
nino” all his life.

Supposedly a pious child, at age 15 Antoninus ap-
plied to Blessed John Dominic for admission to the Do-
minican Order. In 1404 Bl. John was at the Convent of
Santa Maria Novella in Florence, but he was reforming
the Dominican priories in the area and organizing a
new house at Fiesole. Afraid that the frail Antoninus
could not tolerate the vigorous austerities of the new
monastery, Bl. John did not turn the boy down directly
but told him to go home and memorize the Decretum
Gratiani, or Decrees of Gratian, an enormous compila-
tion of Church law. Determined, Antoninus returned in
a year, the book entirely committed to memory, and was
accepted. Along with Fra Angelico and Fra Benedetto
(natural brothers: one the famous painter, the other a
miniaturist), Antoninus spent his novitiate in Cortona,
then returned to Fiesole, where he stayed until 1409.

A zealous reformer like Bl. John, Antoninus was
named vicar of the convent at Foligno in 1414, then
subprior and prior of the convent at Cortona. From
1418 to 1428 he served as prior of convents in Naples,
Gaeta, Siena and Fiesole, and then was named prior of
the convent at Minerva in Rome in 1430. From 1433 to
1446 he was superior of the reformed Tuscan and
Neapolitan congregations, in which post he restored
the primitive rules of the Dominican order. In 1439
Pope Eugenius IV summoned Antoninus to attend all
sessions of the General Council of Florence.

Antoninus’s greatest achievement was the founda-
tion of the convent of St. Mark, or San Marco, in Flo-
rence, in buildings formerly owned by the Silvestrines.
The monastery and adjoining church—generously sup-
ported by Cosimo de’ Medici—became a center for
Christian art and scholarship, housing a large library
and gracefully redesigned by Michelozzo. The chapel
frescoes were painted by Antoninus’s old friend Fra
Angelico, and his brother Benedetto decorated the choir
books. Scenes from Antoninus’s life adorn the cloisters.

Reportedly to Antoninus’s dismay, his great talents
for preaching, Church reform, scholarship and diplo-
macy led Pope Eugene IV (1. 1431-47) to name him
archbishop of Florence in 1446. He tried to hide on the
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island of Sardinia to escape the post, but was conse-
crated at the pope’s command on March 13, 1446. Less
than a year later, Eugene asked Antoninus to administer
the final sacraments to him before he died on February
23, 1447, in the archbishop’s arms. Antoninus pursued
his new duties with enthusiasm, visiting all the parishes
of his diocese on foot each year, reforming clerical
abuses, putting a stop to gambling, opposing usury and
magic, and preaching, praying and writing. He was
especially active in helping the poor, often emptying
the church’s pantries and storerooms and even selling
furniture when there was nothing else to give. He
nursed and comforted victims of the plague of 1448
and attempted to rebuild shelters for those made home-
less in the earthquakes of 1453-55. Pope Nicholas V (r.
1447-55) frequently consulted him on both civil and
ecclesiastical issues, valuing the archbishop’s opinion so
highly that he forbade any appeal to Rome of Antoni-
nus’s decisions. Nicholas V even went so far as to
declare that Antoninus, in his lifetime, deserved saint-
hood as much as the dead Bernardine of Siena, whom
the pope was about to canonize. Antoninus often
served as a papal ambassador, and Pope Pius II named
him to a commission charged with reforming the
Roman curia. A distinguished theologian, Antoninus
was one of the first Christian writers to acknowledge
the changes in economics and society brought on by
the Renaissance, teaching that money invested in com-
merce and industry was true capital, and that receiving
interest on such investment was not usury and there-
fore morally lawful.

Antoninus died on May 2, 1459, at San Marco, and
Pope Pius II (r. 1458-64) himself presided over the
funeral. Cosimo de’ Medici, not particularly fond of the
Dominicans, frankly admitted that Florence would not
have survived the dangers, natural catastrophes and
seditious plots against it without the intercession of the
archbishop. Antoninus’s incorrupt body was moved to
a new chapel at San Marco in 1559.

Canonized: May 31, 1523, by Pope Adrian VI
Feast: May 10
Patronage: fever sufferers

Apollonia (d. 249) Deaconess and martyr

Apollonia lived in Alexandria, Egypt, as a deaconess.
Under Emperor Philip the Arabian and his successor Tra-
janus Decius, mobs roamed about Alexandria persecut-
ing Christians. Apollonia, who was elderly, was snared by
a mob. She refused to deny Christ. The mob tortured her,
tearing out her teeth with pincers. They took her to a
pyre and threatened to throw her on the fire. Apollonia
answered by throwing herself into the flame.

The account of the life of Apollonia was written by
St. Dionysius to Fabian, bishop of Antioch. In art she is
depicted with a golden tooth at the end of her neck-
lace, or with pincers holding a tooth.

Feast: February 9
Patronage: dentists, toothache sufferers

Arnulf of Metz (ca. 580-ca. 640) Bishop and member
of the Frankish court
Also known as: Arnold, Arnulph

Arnulf was born to a distinguished Frankish family in
Austrasia, the eastern section of the original kingdom
established by the Merovingian king Clovis I. He stud-
ied under Gundulf, mayor of the palace under Aus-
trasian king Theodebert II, and was so skilled that he
became a trusted minister of the king and eventual
head of six provinces. These palace mayors (major
domus) actually ran the civil and military affairs of the
kingdom; later Merovingian kings were mere figure-
heads. Arnulf married Lady Doda, and they had two
sons: Anseghisel and Clodulf.

In 610, Arnulf planned to join the abbey of Lerins
as a monk along with his friend Romaricus; Doda had
already become a nun at Treves. But the episcopal see
of Metz was vacant, and Arnulf was consecrated bishop
in 611. He remained an officer and adviser at court,
handling both civil and ecclesiastical business. In 613,
following the death of Theodebert II, he and other
nobles—principally Blessed Pepin of Landen—negoti-
ated the installation of Clothaire II, king of Neustria, as
king of Austrasia. Upon Clothaire II's death in 623,
Arnulf served as the new king Dagobert I's tutor as well
as chief minister. Arnulf wielded so much power that
succeeding ministers were known as “Arnulfings.”

By 626, Arnulf yearned for the monastic life and
resigned his see. His son Clodulf eventually became
the third bishop of Metz. Arnulf and his friend Romari-
cus, later St. Romaric, withdrew to a hermitage in the
mountains at Vosges, where he lived until his death in
640. The hermitage later became the Remiremont
monastery.

Arnulf’s other son, Anseghisel, married St. Begga,
daughter of the nobleman Pepin of Landen. Their son
Pepin II of Heristal was the father of Charles Martel—
Pippinid mayor of the palace under kings Chilperic II
and Theuderic IV, sole ruler but not king of Austrasia
from 737 to 741, grandfather of Charlemagne and
founder of the Carolingian dynasty.

Feast: July 18
Patronage: brewers; millers; music; finding lost
objects
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Athanasius (d. 373) Bishop; Father of the Church and
Doctor of the Church

Also known as: “Pillar of the Church,” “Father of
Orthodoxy” and “Champion of Christ’s Divinity”

Athanasius was one of the greatest opponents of the
heresy of Arianism, a movement under the popular
priest, Arius, which denied the divinity of Christ and
the eternal nature of the Word of God. He was born
around 296-298 in Alexandria, Egypt, to prominent
Christian parents. He was well educated under the eye
of Alexander—who became bishop of the city—study-
ing Greek philosophy and rhetoric and Christian doc-
trine. He learned theology from teachers who had been
confessors under Maximian 1. In 313, Alexander suc-
ceeded Achillas in the patriarchal see. In 315, Athana-
sius went to the desert to spend some time in retreat
with St. Anthony.

In 318, Athanasius was ordained a deacon and
became archdeacon and secretary to Alexander. He is
thought to have written his first work at around this
time: De Incarnatione Verbi Dei, which concerns the
redemptive work of Christ. From 323 on, he spent
much of his life combatting the Arian heresy. In 325,
he attended the Council of Nicaea with Alexander,
where his influence began to be felt. This important
council set forth the true doctrine of the Church and
the confession known as the Nicene Creed, and con-
firmed the excommunication of Arius.

Five months after the council, Alexander died. On
his death bed he recommended Athanasius—still in his
twenties—as his successor as bishop. In consequence
of this, Athanasius was unanimously elected patriarch
in 326.

His refusal to tolerate the Arian heresy was the
cause of many trials and persecutions for Athanasius.
In 330, Eusebius of Nicomedia, the Arian bishop,
returned from exile and persuaded Emperor Constan-
tine to allow Arians to take Communion. Athanasius
refused to follow the order and was accused of crimes
by the Arians, including treason and misuse of Church
funds and property. He was tried and found innocent.
He was then accused of killing a bishop. This was
proved groundless, for the bishop was alive and in hid-
ing. Athanasius refused to attend an Arian synod to
discuss the charges. Summoned by Constantine to the
Council of Tyre in Lebanon in 335, Athanasius had to
face angry Arians who assembled there and again
charged him with crimes.

The Arians succeeded in having Athanasius exiled
to Trier, Germany, where he remained two and a half
years. Meanwhile, Arius and Constantine died, and
Athanasius returned to Alexandria in 338.

Eusebius of Nicomedia had him deposed again, and
a usurper took his place (the people refused to
acknowledge the usurper). Athanasius went to Rome
to defend himself to Pope Julian I (r. 337-352). His
opponents failed to appear and he was vindicated.
After the usurper died in 345, Athanasius was restored
to Alexandria. But he was condemned again by the Ari-
ans in the councils of Arles, France, in 353 and Milan,
Italy, in 355. Even his church was attacked and mem-
bers of his congregation were wounded.

Athanasius retreated to the desert in Egypt, spend-
ing six years as a hermit. There he wrote Apology to
Constantius; Apology for His Flight; Letter to the Monks;
and History of the Arians.

He returned to Alexandria on February 22, 362.
Though welcomed by an enthusiastic crowd, he was
exiled back to the desert by Emperor Julian the Apos-
tate as “a disturber of the peace and an enemy of the
gods.” There he remained until the emperor died in
363. Athanasius enjoyed another eight months in
Alexandria under Emperor Jovian, but was thrown out
once again by Jovian’s successor, Valens. He hid in his
father’s tomb for four months. Finally, Athanasius was
restored permanently to his see. He had been banished
five times and had spent 17 years in exile.

During his last years, he consolidated the doctrines
of the Council of Nicaea and wrote the Life of St.
Anthony. He died in Alexandria on May 2, 373. Later
his remains were translated to Constantinople and
then Venice.

The Athanasian Creed was not written by him but
is drawn from his work. His other important writings
are Contra Gentes and De Incarnatione Verbi Dei.

Feast: May 2

FURTHER READING

Early Christian Fathers: A Selection from the Writings of the
Fathers from St. Clement of Rome to St. Athanasius. Tr.
Henry Bettenson. London: Oxford University Press,
1969.

Gregory of Nazianzus, “Oration 21: On Athanasius of
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Augustine of Canterbury (d. 604 or 605) Benedictine
and first bishop of Canterbury, Apostle to England, Apos-
tle to the Anglo-Saxons
Also known as: Austin

Augustine was by all accounts a timid man, a librarian
and monk. In 596, Pope St. Gregory the Great (r.
590-604) chose about 30 monks from St. Andrew
Monastery on the Coelian Hill in Rome, led by their
prior, Augustine, to serve in the first papal mission to
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St. Augustine of Hippo (Library of Congress Prints and
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convert the pagans. The band traveled as far as
Provence, in Gaul; but, terrified by tales of the Anglo-
Saxons and the dangers of crossing the English Chan-
nel, the monks persuaded Augustine to return to Rome
and beg His Holiness to end their mission. Gregory
knew, however, that the Saxon king Aethelbert was
married to a Christian princess, Bertha. He told Augus-
tine that he had no choice but to go on to England.
They landed on the Isle of Thanet off the coast of Kent
in late 596 and were warmly welcomed by the king and
queen, who gave Augustine a house in Canterbury and
permission to preach. On Pentecost in 597, Augustine
baptized King Aethelbert.

Augustine traveled back to France almost immedi-
ately to receive consecration as bishop of the English
by St. Virgilius, metropolitan of Arles. Instead of estab-
lishing his see in London, Augustine chose Canterbury,
the royal capital of Kent. He rebuilt an ancient church
that served as the center of the cathedral and erected a
monastery to SS. Peter and Paul outside the walls. The

present cathedral, begun in 1070, stands on the origi-
nal site. Augustine also established episcopal sees at
London and Rochester and dedicated the first church
in England to St. Pancras.

Gregory I gave Augustine very specific instructions
regarding the conversion of the English. Pagan temples
were not to be destroyed but instead cleansed and con-
secrated for Christian worship. Local customs and fes-
tivals were to be retained, with substitutions of feast
days for saints and martyrs whenever possible. Conse-
quently, by 601 Augustine had converted many of the
English people.

Converting the clergy to a unified liturgy proved a
more difficult task. Unable to communicate effectively
with the Church in Rome, the British Church had
established its own patterns of worship and practice.
Many also were unwilling to evangelize the Anglo-Sax-
ons, whom they considered their enemies. A meeting
failed miserably when Augustine supposedly failed to
rise at the arrival of the British bishops. Deeming
Augustine arrogant, the bishops would not accept him
as metropolitan.

Discouraged and exhausted, Augustine died on May
26, 604 or 605. He was buried at the abbey of SS. Peter
and Paul outside the Canterbury Cathedral. From then
on, the monastery became known as St. Augustine’s,
and succeeding archbishops of the English Church
were buried there. The archbishop of Canterbury
remains the head of the Church of England and is
described as occupying the “Chair of Augustine.”

Feast: May 27 (May 28 on some calendars; May
26 in England and Wales)
Patronage: England

FURTHER READING
Cahill, Thomas. How the Irish Saved Civilization. New York:
Nan A. Talese/Doubleday, 1995.

Augustine of Hippo (354-430) Father of the Church,
Doctor of the Church
Also known as: Aurelius Augustinus, Doctor of Grace

Augustine of Hippo was one of the greatest figures in
the Church. His philosophical and theological thought
influenced Christianity and philosophy for at least
1,000 years. His early years were spent in sin, which he
later chronicled with great frankness in his remarkable
work, Confessions.

Augustine was born November 13, 354, in Tagaste,
North Africa. His mother, St. Monica, was Christian,
and his father Patricius was a pagan, whom Monica
eventually converted by her patience and good ex-
ample. He was not baptized as an infant, but his
mother enrolled him as a catechumen in the Catholic
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Church. He studied Latin and Greek grammar and lit-
erature in his boyhood, complaining about rough treat-
ment by his schoolmasters.

After his father died in 370, Augustine went to
Carthage to study rhetoric as the first step to prepare
for a public life. There he met a young woman at a
church service, began to live with her and fathered a
son named Adeodatus (“Gods gift”). With adoles-
cence, he confides to God in Confessions, “both love
and lust boiled within me, and swept my youthful
immaturity over the precipice of evil desires to leave
me half drowned in a whirlpool of abominable sins. . . .
my soul was sick, and broke out in sores, whose itch I
agonized to scratch with the rub of carnal things,”
including stage plays, “with the mirror they held up to
my own miseries and the fuel they poured on my
flame.”

Augustine was still making those judgments 20
years later. But, during the years in Carthage, he was
probably embroiled in tensions set in motion by con-
flicting explanations of the human condition by his
mother and his father’s behavior (his father being
guilty of marital infidelities) and religions. This ten-
sion was also at the base of the Manichaean religion,
which Augustine joined in 373. The Manichees taught
that there are two supreme gods, one good and one
evil, and similarly two competing souls within the
human person. For nine years he maintained interest
in this cult. After his move to Rome in 383 to teach a
better class of rhetoric students, he was the guest of a
Manichee and socialized with many prominent mem-
bers of the sect.

The next year, 384, he won an appointment as a
professor of rhetoric in Milan. Within two years he
abandoned Manichaeanism and gradually came under
the influence of his Christian mentors: Ambrose, the
influential local bishop, and Simplicianus, a wise
elderly former bishop. At the same time, he wanted to
advance himself in position and possessions, so mar-
riage seemed the next step. His mother had joined him
and helped him to arrange a marriage to a girl who was
not yet 12, so he agreed to wait two years. Augustine’s
mistress of many years had to leave him as part of this
marriage plan, which threw Augustine into emotional
turmoil. “My heart which had held her very dear was
broken and wounded and shed blood,” he wrote. “She
went back to Africa, swearing that she would never
know another man, and left with me the natural son I
had of her. . . . I was simply a slave of lust. So I took
another woman, not of course as a wife; and thus my
soul’s disease was kept alive as vigorously as ever.” He
was tormented both by the loss of his former lover and
the hopelessness for him of a life of continence, which

ran in circles alongside his growing seriousness in
reexamining Christianity.

In Confessions, he tells how he experienced a strik-
ing conversion while in a garden, in which his self-
doubt was expelled and “the light of utter confidence
shone in all my heart.” His mother was exultant.
Augustine decided to give up his teaching position and
was baptized along with his son Adeodatus and
another close friend on Easter of 387. About a year
later the group was at the port of Ostia on their way
home to Africa when Monica died. She and Augustine
had shared an ecstatic experience five days previously,
after which she had told him that all her prayers had
been answered in superabundance and she no longer
hoped for anything in this world.

When Augustine finally returned in 388 to Tagaste
in North Africa, he set up a sort of monastery on
his family land with his close friends. His son Adeo-
datus died within a year, aged 16. (In Confessions,
Augustine reveals his love for his son, crediting God
entirely for the boy’s many virtues and intelligence.
He notes that his book De Magistro is a dialogue
between the two, and “that all the ideas . . . put into
his mouth were truly his, though he was but sixteen.”)
Augustine soon gave away his possessions, and for the
rest of his life lived simply as a monk in community
with men.

In 391 he was ordained a priest in Hippo by Bishop
Valerius, who permitted Augustine to preach almost
immediately. Upon Valerius’s death in 396, Augustine
became bishop of Hippo, and was to serve there for 35
years. He composed the Rule that the Augustinian
Order follows to this day. In the 390s he started a con-
vent for women following the Rule. He preached
almost daily, and wrote incessantly: theological trea-
tises, letters, polemics against heresies, the Confessions
(finished in 400), and The City of God, written in
installments between 413 and 426. He died on August
28, 430, while the city of Hippo was under siege by the
Vandals. In 700, his remains were taken to the church
of St. Pietro in Ciel d’Oro, Italy.

When Augustine was about 72, he sat down to
review his writings and put them in chronological
order, and was astounded at the quantity. His complete
works, written in Latin, are about the size of an ency-
clopedia. Generations of scholars have consulted
Augustine. The Confessions is not only his intimate
spiritual autobiography, but it is also a presentation of
the writer's mystical experiences during his spiritual
struggle to accept Christianity. However, it is not a
mystical work in the sense of a contemplative intro-
spection or poetic reflection; rather it is an expression
of what has been called Augustine’s “mysticism of
action.”
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The City of God is, in the words of Thomas Merton,
“the autobiography of the Catholic Church.” When
Rome was sacked by the Goths under Alaric in 410,
many intellectuals made accusations that Christianity
had debilitated the empire, exhausted and made it vul-
nerable to attack. The City of God is Augustine’s
response. His defense of Christian doctrine was
informed by politics and history, full of direct refer-
ences to pagan philosophers from Plato to his contem-
poraries.

Augustine said that the fall of the earthly city of
Rome was the inevitable result of the sinful wills of its
rulers and citizens; at the same time the rise of the City
of God (the Catholic Church) was a process that had
begun before time and was infused with grace, personi-
fied by Jesus Christ. This concept of the two cities is
eloquently summarized in a famous passage from Book
XIV: “Two loves have built two cities: the love of self,
which reaches even to contempt for God, the earthly
City; and the love of God, which reaches even to con-
tempt for self, the heavenly City. One glories in itself,
the other in the Lord. One seeks its own glory amongst
men,; the greatest glory of the other is God, witness of
its conscience. One, swollen with pride, uplifts its
haughty head; the other cries out to God with the
Psalmist: ‘Thou art my glory, it is Thou who dost lift up
my head.” Augustine shows in Books XI and XII how
the good and bad angels had inaugurated the two cities
on the basis of the two loves.

Augustine believed that the soul by its nature is the
equal of an angel’s, and any inferiority is due to sin. By
emulating the ways of angels, humans have the capac-
ity to change into angelic form and join the City of
God. These and other views about the soul and the
restoration of its original status are discussed in other
works.

Augustine vigorously defended Catholicism against
various heresies, stating that pagan religion and magic
were inventions of the devil to tempt people away from
Christianity. He said that error had no rights; therefore,
heretics had no rights.

The tension in the will that characterized Augus-
tine’s early life became the base of his theology, which,
because of his great influence, became the core of
Christian doctrine. It is in his later works that Augus-
tine becomes more philosophically theological. His ref-
erences to mystical experience appear in Confessions
and in The City of God. In the latter, he said of experi-
ences of the supernatural: “When . . . we hear with the
inner ear some part of the speech of God, we approxi-
mate to the angels. But in this work I need not labor to
give an account of the ways in which God speaks. For
either the unchangeable Truth speaks directly to the
mind of the rational creature in some indescribable
way, or speaks through the changeable creature, either
presenting spiritual images to our spirit, or bodily
voices to our bodily sense.”

Augustine usually is acknowledged to be second
only to St. Paul in influence on Christianity. His writ-
ings established the theological foundation for
medieval Christianity, and much later influenced the
dualistic philosophy of René Descartes.

Roman Catholic religious orders and congregations
called Augustinians trace a spiritual lineage to Augus-
tine, but date their actual origins only from the 10th
and later centuries. The young Martin Luther
(1483-1546) was an Augustinian.

Feast: August 28
Patronage: Augustinians; brewers, printers, theolo-
gians, Carthage
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Balbina (d. ca. 130) Martyr; Roman nun and daughter
of the Blessed Quirinus, martyr

According to the legendary Acts of Sts. Peter and Bal-
bina, Balbina was baptized by Pope St. Alexander I (r.
105-115). She was martyred and was buried near her
father in the Praetextus catacomb on the Via Appia of
Rome. Her relics were later enshrined in St. Balbina’s
Church on the Aventine.

Feast: March 31
Patronage: Scrofulous diseases, struma

Barbara (d. fourth century) Legendary martyr of en-
during popularity, despite the suppression of her cult in
1969

Name meaning: Stranger

William Caxton’s version of The Golden Legend tells
Barbara’s story, which is probably entirely fictitious.
She was not known prior to the seventh century. Her
story spread in the ninth century, and by the Middle
Ages she was one of the most popular of all saints.

According to lore, Barbara was the daughter of a
rich Greek man, Dioscorus. Because of her great
beauty, he kept her imprisoned in a high tower. Princes
still sought her hand in marriage, but she refused, say-
ing she did not want to marry anyone. She spent her
time in prayer and study.
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While Dioscorus was away on a long trip, Barbara
descended from the tower to look at a bathhouse
her father had under construction. She was dismayed
that it had only two windows, and persuaded work-
men to make a third window to honor the Trinity.
Barbara lived in the bathhouse and was secretly
baptized by a priest. She ate only honeysuckles and
locusts, following the example set by St. John the
Baptist.

She returned to the tower, where she received the
Holy Ghost and other graces. She disfigured all the
pagan idols in the tower.

Upon his return, her father was enraged. He tried to
kill her with a sword, but she prayed (and perhaps
became entranced) and was taken to a mountain,
where two shepherds saw her fly. Dioscorus then
seized her by the hair, drew her down from the moun-
tain and had her thrown in prison. He denounced her
before the civil tribunal. She refused to recant and was
severely scourged and beaten. She endured the torture
with the help of comforting visions of the Lord. The
judge ordered her killed by the sword.

Dioscorus took her to a mountain and killed her;
she received her martyrdom along with St. Juliana
(perhaps Juliana of Cumae). Her father immediately
was slain by fire from heaven (probably a lightning
bolt), and his body was reduced to ashes.
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St. Barbara (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs
Division)

A nobleman named Valentine buried the bodies of
Barbara and Juliana in a little town where many mira-
cles were then reported.

Different versions of the legend of Barbara give vari-
ous places and times of her martyrdom: Tuscany, Rome,
Antioch, Heliopolis and Nicomedia, where Juliana of
Cumae reportedly was martyred.

Barbara is invoked against fire, lightning, sudden
death and impenitence. In art she is depicted holding a
tower or the palm of martyrdom. She is one of the
Fourteen Holy Helpers.

Feast: formerly December 4

Patronage: ammunition workers; architects; build-
ers; dying; fire prevention; founders; gunners;
miners; prisoners; stonemasons

Barnabas (d. ca. 61) Apostle, martyr and patron of
St. Paul

Barnabas was not one of the original apostles of Jesus,
but was named so by the apostles after he converted
from Judaism (he was a Levite) to Christianity in
Jerusalem.

He was born Joses Justus on Cyprus. Upon his con-
version, he sold his property and gave the money to
the Apostles. He persuaded the Christians in Jerusalem
to accept Paul as a disciple. He went to Antioch, Syria,
and brought Paul there from Tarsus. Barnabas, his
cousin, John Mark, and Paul went on missions in
Cyprus and Perga. John Mark left them, and Barnabas
and Paul went on to Antioch in Pisidia and to Iconium,
Lystria and Lycaonia (present-day Turkey). They were
severely persecuted in Pisidion Antioch; and in Lycao-
nia they were welcomed as gods but then literally
stoned out of the city. They returned to Antioch in
Syria. Barnabas and Paul went to a council in
Jerusalem, but fell out with each other upon their
return to Syrian Antioch. Barnabas wished to have
John Mark travel with them again, but Paul objected
because John Mark had not stayed with them on their
previous journey.

Barnabas returned to Cyprus with John Mark. Little
is known about the rest of his life. He is said to have
preached in Rome and Alexandria. Legend holds that
he was stoned to death in Salamis, Greece, in A.D. 61.

His grave was discovered in 485 or 486, and his
remains were taken to Constantinople (now Istanbul)
by Emperor Zeno. Some of his remains were distrib-
uted to Milan, Edenna, Pavia, Genoa, Cremona,
Naples, Cologne, Bologna, Florence, Prague, Namur,
Tournai and Toulouse.

Barnabas is invoked against hailstorms, arguments
and grief. His name is first in Eucharistic prayers. He is
described in the Acts of the Apostles. Historians have
established that he is not the author of the apocryphal
epistle of Barnabas or the gospel of Barnabas. The Acts
of Barnabas, supposedly written by John Mark, actually
were composed much later, in the fifth century.

SS. Paul, center, and Barnabas, right
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Feast: June 11
Patronage: missionary labors; weavers; Florence;
Milan

Bartholomew the Apostle (first century) One of the
Twelve Disciples of Jesus; martyr
Also known as: Nathanael bar Tolomai, Nathaniel

Bartholomew was a native of Cana who was introduced
to Jesus by St. Philip and was called to the Apostolate,
but beyond that nothing certain is known about him.
He is described in various traditions as having preached
in Mesopotamia, Persia, Egypt, Lycaonia, Phrygia, Ar-
menia, and on the shores of the Black Sea.
Bartholomew is believed to have died at Albanopo-
lis, Armenia, martyred on the order of Astyges for hav-
ing converted his brother, Polymius, King of Armenia.
According to the Roman Martyrology, he was flayed
alive and beheaded, though other accounts say he was

flayed and then crucified head-down. His relics are
thought to have been interred on the island of Lipara,
whence they were translated to Benevento, Italy, and
later to Rome. They rest today in the Church of St.
Bartholomew-on-the-Tiber. In the 11th century, King
Canute’s wife, Queen Emma, is said to have presented
one of his arms to the cathedral at Canterbury in En-
gland.

Bartholomew’s symbol is a tanner’s knife. In art, he
is represented as a bearded man holding a book or a
tanner’s knife and a human skin. Sometimes the skin
he holds is his own.

Feast: August 24 (in Rome); August 25 (in Echter-
nach and Cambrai); June 11 (in the East); June
13 (in Persia)

Patronage: bookbinders; butchers; cobblers; corn-
chandlers; dyers; glovers; Florentine salt and
cheese merchants; furriers; leather workers;
against nervous diseases; plasterers; shoemakers;
tailors, tanners; trappers; against twitching; vine-
growers; whiteners; Armenia

Basil the Great (ca. 329-379) One of the greatest
Doctors of the Church, Father of the Church, Bishop of
Caesarea

Basil the Great was born in Caesarea, Cappadocia (now
in Turkey), around 329 to a Christian family. His
grandparents had suffered under Christian persecu-
tions and spent several years in exile living in the
harsh and wild mountains of Pontus. St. Basil the
Elder, Basil the Great’s father, was a teacher. He mar-
ried a martyr, Emmelia; the couple had 10 children.
Besides Basil, his sister Macrina and brothers Gregory
of Nyssa and Peter of Sebaste became saints. Basil, Gre-
gory, and Basil’s friend St. Gregory of Nazianzus the
Younger became known as the “Three Cappadocians,”
of whom Basil earned the highest esteem.

Basil received religious instruction in the tradition
of St. Gregory Thaumaturgus from his grandmother,
St. Macrina the Elder. The family moved to Macrina’s
estate on the River Iris after Basil the Elder died, when
young Basil was still but a boy. After school in Cae-
sarea, where Basil was instructed by Bishop Dianius, he
was sent to Constantinople and Athens to study. He
met Gregory of Nazianzus, and the two became close
friends.

When he had completed his studies, Basil returned
to Caesarea and was baptized and ordained Reader by
Dianius. He was furthered influenced toward a spiri-
tual life by his sister, Macrina, who had founded a reli-
gious community on the family estate with their
mother. Basil visited monasteries in Egypt, Palestine,
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St. Basil the Great (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

Coele-Syria and Mesopotamia, gaining the inspiration
for his own monastery, which he founded in 356 in
Pontus, near Macrinas community. He composed a
rule and thus became known as the father of Eastern
monasticism, much the same as St. Benedict is
regarded as the father of Western monasticism.

When Dianius died in 362, Eusebius was named his
successor as bishop with the help of the elder Gregory
of Nazianzus. Eusebius persuaded Basil to be ordained
priest and gave him administrative duties. Basil was far
more competent than Eusebius and their relationship
deteriorated. Basil returned to Pontus, but was sum-
moned back to Caesarea by Gregory of Nazianzus in
365 to combat the Arian heresy. Basil essentially ran
the diocese without interference from Eusebius. He
demonstrated superb administrative ability and was
not afraid of powerful people. He also devoted much
time and attention to the poor.

With the help of the elder Gregory, Basil became the
bishop of Caesarea in 370, a position that enabled him
to wield great power. He laid down the law, required
spiritual discipline, settled disputes and vigorously
opposed heresy. He was a formidable statesman and
opponent, and incurred the wrath of Emperor Valens

(r. 364-378), who favored Arianism and persecuted
Basil.

In 373, a series of setbacks and sufferings began for
Basil: In that year, his key friend and supporter, St.
Athanasius, died, followed by Gregory of Nazianzus
the Elder in 374. Basil also became estranged from his
good friend, Gregory of Nazianzus the Younger. He
had known enemies and lost ground to the Arians. A
schism was erupting in the Church. His health was
failing, and invading Goths threatened the empire.
Pope Damasus (r. 366-384) suspected him of heresy,
and St. Jerome accused him of pride.

Basil died on January 1, 379. His death was
mourned by Christians, Jews and pagans alike. The
honorific “the Great” was appended to his name
posthumously. His relics were not mentioned until the
12th century, when parts of his body and other relics
allegedly were brought to Bruges by a Crusader. In the
16th century, the Naples Oratory was given a relic sent
from Constantinople to the pope.

Despite the setbacks in the latter part of his life,
Basil left a lasting imprint on the Church. He was
responsible for the victory of Nicene orthodoxy over
Arianism in the East. Arianism was denounced at the
Council of Constantinople in 381-382, thanks largely
to his influence.

Basil wrote important works on dogma, especially
defending the Divinity of the Three Persons of the
Trinity; commentaries on the Scriptures; treatises on
morals and monastic rules; and sermons. Some of his
works have been lost. Three hundred and sixty-six of
his letters survive. He either composed a liturgy or
reformed an existing one; several Eastern liturgies have
been attributed to him.

Feast: January 2
Patronage: hospital administrators; Order of St
Basil

FURTHER READING

The Fathers Speak: St. Basil the Great, St. Gregory of
Nazianzus, St. Gregory of Nyssa. Georges Barrois, trans.
and ed. Crestwood, N.Y.: St. Vladimir’s Seminary Press,
1986.

Nicene and Post-Nicene Fathers, Series 2: St. Basil. Philip
Schaff and Henry Wace, eds. Grand Rapids, Mich.:
William B. Eerdmans Publishing Co., 1988.

Beatrix da Silva (1424-1490) Cistercian abbess
Also known as: Brites, Beatrice da Silva

Beatrix da Silva was born in Portugal in 1424 to a
noble family with ties to royalty. She accompanied
Isabel of Portugal to the court of Spain. She joined the
Cistercian convent of Santo Domingo de Silos in
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Toledo, and founded the Congregational of the Immac-
ulate Conception.

Beatified: 1926 by Pius XI
Canonized: 1976 by Paul VI
Feast: August 16
Patronage: prisoners

Bede the Venerable (b. 672 or 673-d. 735) Doctor
of the Church and historian

A scholarly man and one of the most learned of his
time, Bede compiled meticulous historical records
recounting the development of Christianity in his
native England from Roman times to his own lifetime.
Though he wrote extensively on many famous church
figures, he had little to say about himself. Few details
of his life are known. At the end of his great work, the
five-volume Ecclesiastical History of the English People,
he added only a paragraph about himself.

Bede was born in 672 or 673 in the area of Wear-
mouth-Jarrow, Northumberland, England. At the age of
seven, he was taken by his relatives to the nearby
monastery of SS. Peter and Paul and given over to the
care of the abbot St. Benedict Biscop, and later to
Abbot Ceolfrid. Bede spent the rest of his life at the
monastery, occasionally traveling to visit friends. He
devoted himself to the study of the Scriptures,
observed monastic discipline and took part in the daily
singing.

Bede was ordained deacon at age 19 and priest at
age 30. Both ordinations were performed by Bishop
John (later St. John of Beverly). From the time of his
priesthood, Bede spent most of his time in study and
writing. He seems to have enjoyed a peaceful and pro-
ductive life. He was well regarded and loved by his
peers.

He studied and wrote right up to the day of his
death. During his final illness, his disciples—who
included St. Cuthbert—read aloud by his bedside. On
the day of Bede’s death, the vigil of the Ascension in
735, he dictated a translation of the Gospel of St. John.
He died sitting on the floor of his cell singing, “Glory
be to the Father and to the Son and to the Holy
Ghost.”

Within two generations of his death, the honorific
Venerabilis (the Venerable) was used in conjunction
with his name. The title was officially bestowed in 835
by the Council of Aachen. Throughout the Middle
Ages, a cult of Bede was maintained in northern En-
gland. In 1899 Bede was declared a Doctor of the
Church, the only English person to hold that title.

His most important work, Ecclesiastical History of
the English People, completed in 729, has remained

through the centuries one of the most authoritative
sources for historians of that time period. In his pref-
ace, addressed to King Ceolwulph, Bede said he was
encouraged to undertake the writing by Abbot Albinus,
who had been educated at the Church of Canterbury
and who gave him considerable help. Ecclesiastical His-
tory was translated into Anglo-Saxon upon the orders
of King Alfred, and was translated and published in
Europe.

Bede wrote other chronological treatises, biogra-
phies, a description of Jerusalem and other holy places,
a martyrology, works on science and numerous com-
mentaries on books of the Bible. He also wrote verse
and composed chant music. He is credited with initiat-
ing the custom of marking dates from the Incarnation
with the term Anno Domini, or A.D.

Declared Doctor of the Church: November 13, 1899,
by Pope Leo XIII

Feast: May 27

Patronage: scholars

FURTHER READING

Bede. Ecclesiastical History of the English Nation. URL:
http://www.fordham.edu/halsall/basis/bede-book1.html.
Downloaded: February 10, 2000.

Benedict (ca. 480—ca. 547) Father of Western monas-
ticism and founder of the Benedictines

Name meaning: “Blessed”

Also known as: Benedict of Nursia

Benedict was born ca. 480 in the Sabine town of Nur-
sia. As a youth he was attracted to the art of rhetoric,
and was sent to Rome to be educated. He was so
revolted by the licentiousness of the city that he and
his nurse fled to Enfide, a village about 30 miles away.
After a time Benedict then went to a remote place now
called Subiaco, where he encountered a monk,
Romanus, who led him to a cave. Here Benedict
became a hermit, at about age 14, and spent three years
living in the cave. Romanus brought him bread every
day, which Benedict raised by rope to his cave.

While at Subiaco, Benedict was violently attacked
one day by a black bird, which he sent off by making a
sign of the cross. He knew he was under attack by
Satan and was seized with a temptation against holy
purity. To conquer it, he undressed and rolled himself
several times in thorn bushes. His remedy worked, and
he said throughout his life that he never again experi-
enced such an attack on his purity. The thorn bushes
became celebrated and were regarded as relics. His act
inspired many later saints to mortify themselves when-
ever they felt themselves tempted or demonically
assailed.
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St. Benedict (copyright © Robert Michael Place. Used
with permission)

Centuries later, in 1223, St. Francis of Assisi visited
the cave. According to one story, he grafted rose bushes
onto the thorn bushes. Another story says he blessed
the thorn bushes, converting them into roses, which
had healing properties to the pilgrims who visited the
site.

Benedict’s solitude eventually came to an end. His
sanctity and alleged miraculous powers began to
attract followers. Benedict organized them into 12
monasteries of 12 monks each, and each under a prior.
He exercised supreme rule over all. The Subiaco
monastic community became a permanent settlement,
but Benedict at some point left abruptly, allegedly
because another priest, Florentius, attempted to under-
mine him.

In about 525, Benedict went to Monte Cassino and
destroyed the temple to Apollo at its top. In its place,
he established ca. 530 the first structures of a
monastery that would become the most famous in the
world, the birthplace of Western monasticism. The
monastery attracted a large following of disciples, as
well as Church officials from Rome and Capua, who
came to consult Benedict for his wisdom and prophetic
powers.

At about this time, he probably wrote his famous
Regula Monachorum, called the Rule (also Benedict’s
Rule or the Benedictine Rule), a monastic rule that
became the standard for monastic living throughout
the Western world. The Rule calls for a year of proba-
tion, a vow of obedience to a single abbot or abbess,
moderate asceticism, and work and prayer (ora et lab-
ora became a motto of the Benedictines). Benedicts
rule was influenced by, and passages were accommo-
dated from, the Rule of the Master, a monastic docu-
ment also dating from the sixth century but not as
spiritual, personal and broad as Benedict’s Rule.

Benedict expanded his activities beyond the
monastery to the surrounding population, curing the
sick, distributing alms and food, and providing aid
and counseling. It is alleged that he raised the dead on
at least several occasions. Benedict’s tunic, of which he
had just one, was reported to give off a fragrance
sweeter than all the perfumes of India, as did Benedict
himself.

His twin sister, St. Scholastica, settled nearby and
pursued a religious life.

Benedict foretold his own death six days in
advance, and instructed his monks to dig a grave in
secret. As soon as the task was accomplished, he fell ill
with fever and deteriorated. On the sixth day, he
instructed his monks to carry him into the oratory,
where he took Communion. In his final moments, he
stood, supported by monks, and died with his hands
raised in prayer.

The remains of Benedict and Scholastica—who had
died some months earlier—were buried on Monte
Cassino. One story holds that they were removed to
Fleury, France, in 703. Another holds that they were
unearthed at Monte Cassino during the World War 11
bombing.

Benedict was named a patron of Europe by Pope
Paul VI in 1964.

The only source for documenting Benedicts life is
The Dialogues by Pope St. Gregory the Great (r.
590-604). Gregory offers the following description of
one of Benedict’s mystical experiences:

. ... In the dead of night he [Benedict] suddenly beheld
a flood of light shining down from above more brilliant
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than the sun, and with it every trace of darkness cleared
away. Another remarkable sight followed. According to
his own description, the whole world was gathered up
before his eyes in what appeared to be a single ray of
light. As he gazed at all this dazzling display, he saw the
soul of Germanus, the bishop of Capua, being carried by
angels up to heaven in a ball of fire.

Many marvels and miracles were attributed to Bene-
dict. He could move stones too heavy for others to lift.
According to Gregory, his sanctity enabled a pupil,
Maurus, to walk on water in order to rescue a drown-
ing child. Benedict manifested money for a man in
debt. Peregrinus, a Catholic layman, appealed to Bene-
dict for help in relieving his great debt. Benedict told
him to return in three days. Meanwhile, he prayed.
When Peregrinus returned, they went to inspect a store
of grain, where they found 13 gold coins. Benedict told
him to take 12 for his debt and spend the 13th how-
ever he chose.

Benedict also is said to have multiplied flour and oil
to feed his monks, thus demonstrating the power of
faith. When the monks had difficulty finding water,
Benedict prayed and water was found at that spot.

The saint had powers of prophecy, and foresaw the
downfall of his own monastery. In 590, the Lombards
invaded and destroyed it, forcing the monks to flee.
The monastery was rebuilt, but was damaged by Sara-
cen invaders in 883 and by an earthquake in 1349. The
monastery was bombed to ruins during World War II,
but was lavishly reconstructed.

The Order of Saint Benedict (O.S.B.) is the oldest
order of monks in the West; for over five centuries it
was the only monastic order in the West and greatly
influenced the spread of civilization in the Middle
Ages. During the Middle Ages, Benedictines were
called the Black Monks, referring to the color of their
habit. There are Benedictine monasteries worldwide
today in Roman Catholic and Anglican churches,
housing not only Benedictines but also Carthusians,
Cistercians, Trappists and other related orders.

The Benedictine Rule continues to be one of the
most important documents of Christian religious prac-
tice, and has been interpreted for, and applied to, the
lay life as well as the monastic life. The Rule reflects
what Benedict learned and understood about the
power of words—and thus the power of the Word of
God.

Central to Benedict’s structure was daily prayer. His
prayer of the Divine Office, chanted several times daily
from the breviary, required all work to stop. If monks
were out in the fields, they had to stop whatever they
were doing, kneel and pray at the specified times. The
Divine Office is considered the prayer of the Catholic
Church.

Benedict also required the study of Scriptures (lectio
divinia) as another way to pray the Word of God, and
one that would especially harmonize the mind and
heart. Four to six hours were set aside in the
monastery for monks to read, memorize and repeat
passages that seized the monks with inspiration. The
idea was to allow the meaning of the words to pene-
trate the heart and become part of the person, finally
losing all meaning except the power of the Word of
God. At this point the monks surrendered to contem-
plation in the presence of God that was beyond intel-
lectual understanding.

Feast: July 11 (Western Church), March 14 (East-
ern Church)

Patronage: against poisoning; against witchcraft;
speleologists; Europe
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Benedict Il (d. 685) Pope

The date of Benedict’s birth is not known. He was a
native of Rome, the son of John. As a youth, he was
active in Church affairs. He was ordained a priest and
became a respected scholar of the Scriptures and an
expert in sacred chants. He was distinguished further
by his humility, his generosity, and his love for the
poor.

Benedict was elected to the Chair of St. Peter to suc-
ceed Pope St. Leo II (r. 682-683) upon the latter’s
death in June 683, though he was not consecrated
until June 26 of the following year.

The delay in Benedict’s consecration was due to the
wait for the traditional approval of the emperor. The
consecrations of Leo 1T and several other of his prede-
cessors had been delayed for the same reason. In order
to prevent this from happening again, Benedict sought
and obtained a decree from Emperor Constantine Pog-
onatus (Constantine the Bearded) that abolished the
practice of imperial confirmation.

During his brief reign, Benedict was an active head
of the Church throughout Europe. He opposed the
Monothelitism heresy and worked to bring several
Spanish bishops in line with his views. He was also one
of several popes to support the Englishman, St. Wilfred
of York, who was trying to return to his see after hav-
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ing been forced out by St. Theodore. Benedict was also
energetic in his support of the Church of Rome, restor-
ing several churches and supporting the clergy and lay
sacristans.

Benedict died on May 8, 685, and was laid to rest
in St. Peter’s.

Feast: May 8

Benedict XI (1240-1304) Dominican monk and pope
Also known as: Nicholas Boccasini

There is much uncertainty concerning the childhood
of the man who came to be known as Pope Benedict
XI. He was born in Treviso, Italy, in 1240, as Nicholas
Baccasini. His father was either a poor shepherd or an
impoverished nobleman; he died while Nicholas was
young, and the boy was put in the charge of an uncle
who was a priest in Treviso.

Since Nicholas proved to be highly intelligent, his
uncle had him trained in Latin and other clerical sub-
jects. When he was 10, he began acting as a tutor to
noble children, a vocation he followed for four years,
then entered the Dominican monastery at Venice. As a
monk, he continued his teaching career, primarily in
Venice and Bologna. In 1295, he received a master’s
degree in theology. He also became involved in admin-
istrative affairs, for a while serving as the Dominican
prior general for Lombardy; in 1296 he was elected the
order’s ninth master general.

Nicholas was a strong supporter of Pope Boniface
VIII (r. 1294-1303), widely unpopular for his treat-
ment of his predecessor, Pope St. Celestine V (r. 1294).
Nicholas issued a general ordinance forbidding
Dominicans to show any favor to Boniface’s opponents
and enjoined them to defend the legitimacy of Boni-
face’s election in their sermons. Boniface rewarded this
loyalty by sending Nicholas on papal missions and, in
1298, by appointing him bishop of Ostia and dean of
the Sacred College of Cardinals. Dominicans hastened
to Rome to protest these appointments, only to hear
from the pope a prophecy that God had reserved an
even greater burden for Nicholas.

Nicholas stood by Boniface even in 1303, when
forces unfriendly to him captured the Lateran Palace.
Troops under King Philip the Fair of France’s coun-
selor William of Nogaret then besieged the pope in the
castle of Anagni, whence he had fled, and demanded
that he abdicate the papal throne. The soldiers
stormed the house, where they were met by the pope
and Nicholas, along with one other supporter, the car-
dinal-bishop of Sabina. For a time it seemed that all
would die, but Nicholas succeeded in rallying the
pope’s forces, and they were rescued. Nevertheless,

Boniface had suffered much, and he died a short while
later.

The Sacred College met on October 22, 1303, and
elected Nicholas as Boniface’s successor, thus fulfilling
the latter’s prophecy concerning the former. Assuming
the name Benedict XI, Nicholas immediately set about
making peace with Philip the Fair. He absolved the
king and his subjects of censures Boniface had placed
on them. However, he excommunicated William and
summoned him to appear before his tribunal.

Benedict died suddenly at Perugia on July 7, 1304,
after a reign of only eight months. It was thought that
he had been poisoned by William, though this was
never proved. Miracles at his intercession were
reported even before his burial, and continued there-
after at his tomb. He is venerated especially in Perugia,
though his feast is celebrated in Rome and throughout
the Dominican order.

In art, Benedict is depicted as wearing a Dominican
habit and papal tiara, while holding the keys.

Beatified: 1733 by Pope Clement XII
Feast: July 7

Benedict Biscop (ca. 628-ca. 690) Benedictine abbot
Name meaning: Blessed

A monastic founder, Benedict Biscop was born John
Biscop Baducing ca. 628 in England to a family of
Anglo-Saxon nobility that had close ties to the court of
King Oswy of Northumbria. He spent much of his
youth at court, serving the king as a warrior.

In 653, at age 25, Biscop was inspired to make the
first of five pilgrimages to Rome with St. Wilfrid. His
trips inspired him to become a monk and bring Roman
elements of worship, including rituals and chant, to
England. After his return to Britain, Biscop traveled
again to Rome with Alcfrith, the son of Oswy. After his
return in 666, he took the habit and was tonsured at
St.-Honorat at Lérins, where he took the monastic
name Benedict.

He made a third trip to Rome where he quickly
found favor with Pope Vitalian, who in 668 sent him to
serve as adviser to Theodore of Tarsus, archbishop of
Canterbury. Theodore appointed Benedict abbot of SS.
Peter and Paul monastery in Canterbury (now St.
Augustine’s). In 671 he resigned the post in order to
make another pilgrimage to Rome.

On a fourth trip to Rome in 679, he assured Pope
Agatho of the orthodoxy of the English Church. On
this and his last two pilgrimages, he collected numer-
ous relics, books and paintings. Many of these were
given to two Benedictine monasteries he founded in
England: Wearmouth in 674 and Jarrow in 682. He
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also introduced the teaching of Gregorian chant and
the Divine Rule in these monasteries, under the direc-
tion of Abbot John of Rome. He is credited with intro-
ducing stone churches and glass church windows to
England.

Benedict was paralyzed for the last three years of his
life. He became a mentor to St. Bede the Venerable,
who wrote his biography. Benedict died on January 12,
c. 690. Around 980, his relics were translated from
Wearmouth to Thorney. Glastonbury also claims his
relics.

Feast: January 12
Patronage: musicians, painters

Benedict Joseph Labre (1748-1783) Pilgrim recluse
known for his sanctity, austerity and miracles of interven-
tion

Also known as: the “Beggar of Rome”

Benedict Joseph Labre was born in Amettes, France, on
March 25, 1748, the oldest of 18 children. At an early
age he showed great interest in austerity and mortifica-
tion. His uncle was a parish priest in Erin, France, and
at age 12 Benedict went to study with him for six
years. He earnestly desired a religious life, but his par-
ents did not approve. After his uncle died in 1766, he
renewed his efforts to join an order and his parents
acquiesced. He was rejected by the Trappists. He spent
a brief six weeks as postulant with the Carthusians. He
received permission to enter the Cisterican abbey of
Sept-Fonts, but after a short stay his health failed, and
he left.

Benedict was inspired to live like St. Alexis and be
neither in a cloister nor in the wilderness, but simply
be a pilgrim to the famous shrines of Christendom.
Thus, he set out through Europe in 1770. He had only
the clothes on his back, a rosary, a crucifix, a Testa-
ment, breviary, a copy of the Imitation of Christ and a
few other books. If he could not find food in the wild
or was not given any, he rummaged through garbage
heaps.

In 1774 he settled in Rome. He became known for
his devotion to the Blessed Sacrament, his attendance
of the Forty Hours devotion and his ecstasies. Once he
was seen levitating in a kneeling position while he
prayed at the Church of Gesu in Rome. According to
his biography (written by his confessor, Marconi), wit-
nesses were amazed but the sacristan, who had seen it
before, was not, and calmly continued his sweeping.

His body finally gave out from his austerity and
mortification. He collapsed on April 16, 1783, on the
steps of the Church of Santa Maria dei Monti in Rome
and was carried to a nearby house, where he died.

Immediately miracles were attributed to his interven-
tion. Marconi documented 136 such cases.

Declared Venerable: 1859 by Pope Pius IX

Canonized: 1883 by Pope Leo XIII

Feast: April 16

Patronage: beggars; the homeless; religious orders;
toy makers

Benevenuto Scotivoli of Osimo (d. 1282) Franciscan
bishop

Benevenuto Scotivoli of Osimo was born in Ancona,
Italy. He studied law at Bologna and became a student
of St. Sylvester Gozzolini. He entered the Franciscan
order and served as archdeacon of Ancona and bishop
of Osimo.

Canonized: by Pope Martin IV (r. 1281-85)
Feast: March 22

Berard and Companions (d. 1220) Martyrs
Also known as: Berardus and Companions

Berard was born in Carbio, Italy, to a noble family, and
grew up well-educated. He learned to speak Arabic,
which served him in his missionary work.

Berard joined the Franciscan order and was
accepted by St. Francis of Assisi himself. He served the
order as a friar minor, priest and preacher. St. Francis
sent him and a party of Franciscans to preach to Mus-
lims in Morocco. Joining Berard were Peter, Otho,
Accurcius and Adjutus. Their work was short-lived.
After their arrival, the Franciscans began preaching in
the marketplace. They were immediately arrested and
ordered to cease. When they returned to preach again,
they were beaten. The Muslims demanded that they
renounce Christ, but they refused to do so. The sultan
had them all beheaded on January 16, 1220. It is
believed that Berard and his party were the first Fran-
ciscan martyrs. They were canonized as a group.

Years later, St. Anthony of Padua saw their relics,
and was inspired to join the Franciscans and go to
Morocco himself.

Canonized: 1481 by Pope Sixtus V
Feast: January 16

Bernadette Soubirous (1844-1879) Nun and vision-
ary of the famous apparitions of the Blessed Virgin Mary
at Lourdes, France

Also known as: Bernadette of Lourdes

Marie Bernarde (“Bernadette”) Soubirous was born on
January 7, 1844, in Lourdes, France. Her parents,
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Francis, a miller, and Louise Soubirous, were very
poor. They had nine children; five died in infancy, and
Bernadette was the oldest of the survivors.

When Bernadette was 12, her father lost his mill.
The family moved several times, finally taking a tiny
room loaned to them by a cousin. The conditions were
horrible. The building had been a jail and was con-
verted to a stable. The family’s room overlooked a dung
heap and the stable yard; the room next to theirs con-
tained livestock. It was damp and smelly, which aggra-
vated Bernadette’s asthma.

In 1857 Bernadette was sent to live with a foster
mother, Marie Lagues, who promised to send the child
to school and teach her the catechism. Instead, she
sent Bernadette out to tend her sheep. She did try to
give her instruction in the catechism at night, but

St. Bernadette Soubirous (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

Bernadette struggled with the French—she spoke only
a dialect—and thus remained a poor student.

On February 11, 1858, when she was 14, Berna-
dette was out gathering firewood along the Gave du
Pau River near Lourdes with two companions. They
waded in the water near a natural grotto at a place
called Massabielle. Her friends went on ahead and
Bernadette paused, afraid that the cold water would
bring on an asthma attack. Suddenly she heard the
sound of rushing wind and saw a brilliant light near
the grotto. A small woman appeared in the light and
bowed her head in greeting. Bernadette got out her
rosary, and the apparition prayed with her. Speaking
Bernadette’s dialect, the woman instructed her to come
back to the grotto every day for 15 days. She said, “I do
not promise to make you happy in this world but in
the next.”

Bernadette reported her experience. When more
visions occurred, crowds of the curious and skeptical
began to gather at the grotto. In all, Bernadette experi-
enced 18 visions through March 4. Mary gave Ber-
nadette personal messages and messages for the world.
She urged people to pray and do penitence. During the
visions, Bernadette experienced trances or ecstasies,
some lasting an hour.

On February 25, Mary told Bernadette to drink
from a spring, pointing to a spot on the ground.
Bernadette dug into the earth, and appeared to spec-
tators to be eating mud. A spring emerged and sub-
sequently became credited with miraculous healing
powers. The water was determined to have no known
natural therapeutic properties; believers attributed its
curative powers to the patronage of Mary.

In the last apparition on March 4, the woman iden-
tified herself as “the Immaculate Conception,” thus
confirming dogma established four years earlier by
Pope Pius IX (r. 1846-78). Bernadette revealed this
message on March 25, along with the lady’s instruc-
tions that a church should be built on the spot where
she appeared. Bernadette’s experiences were highly
controversial, and some Church officials tried to delay
or obstruct the building of the chapel. But when
Empress Eugénie of France, the wife of Napoleon III,
became interested and supportive, the chapel was
erected.

Bernadette made her First Communion in June
1858. After two years with her foster mother, she
returned to her family home in Lourdes. She was
allowed to attend school free of tuition with the Sisters
of Charity and Christian Instruction at Nevers.

In 1862 the Catholic Church authenticated Berna-
dette’s visions. In 1866, Bernadette retired to the Sisters
of Notre Dame convent in Nevers, not far from Lourdes,
where she experienced the extremes of harsh treatment
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from the mistress of novices and admiration as a saint
by some of her sisters. She worked as infirmarian and
sacristan. Chronically ill most of her life, she became
fatally ill with tuberculosis of the bone in the right knee.
She suffered many complications and died on April 16,
1879, asking forgiveness for her faults, especially pride.
During her life, she never deviated from her account of
the visions. She refused to go to Lourdes to try to heal
herself, saying that the site was for others, not her; it
was her duty to bear her illness. She never revealed the
personal messages given her by Mary.

Bernadette was buried in the Chapel of St. Joseph
on the convent grounds. On September 22, 1909, 30
years after her death, her body was exhumed for the
cause of her beatification. Though her clothing was
damp and the coffin contained sawdust and bits of
charcoal, Bernadette’s body was incorrupt, and her
arms and face still retained their natural tone and
coloring. Her rosary, held in her hands, was rusted, and
the crucifix upon her chest was covered with verdi-
gris. Further examination showed that the incorrupt
body was nonetheless emaciated, especially the af-
flicted right knee. The body was washed, reclothed and
reburied.

The remains were exhumed a second time on April
3, 1919. The body was still incorrupt, except the face
had discolored—probably from the washing during the
first exhumation. A wax coating was applied to the
face. Bernadette’s relics were placed in a gold and glass
coffin for public display at the Chapel of Saint
Bernadette in the motherhouse at Nevers.

Lourdes became one of the most important pilgrim-
age sites in the world, now drawing millions of visitors
every year who hope to be cured by the waters. The
spring generates 27,000 liters of water a week—
approximately 13 liters per minute. The Church inves-
tigates reports of miraculous healings and publishes
the most noteworthy of them.

Beatified: 1925 by Pope Pius XI

Canonized: December 8, 1933, by Pope Pius XI
Feast: April 16

Patronage: shepherdesses
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Bernard of Clairvaux (1090-1153) Cistercian abbot
and Doctor of the Church

Also known as: Doctor Mellifluus, “The Honey-Mouthed
Doctor,” for the spiritual sweetness of his teachings

St. Bernard of Clairvaux (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

Bernard of Clairvaux was born in Fontaines, near
Dijon, in France, to a leading family of the nobility. He
excelled in his early studies, especially in literature,
while at the same time giving evidence of great piety.

Bernard’s lifelong devotion to Mary began in child-
hood in 1098. He dreamed he saw a young woman
praying in a stable, who suddenly held a radiant baby
in her arms. He recognized the baby as Jesus. Mary
smiled and allowed Bernard to caress him. He prayed
often to Mary and felt a close bond to her. Bernard
found himself equally attracted to the reformed Bene-
dictine community at Citeaux, and to a career as a
writer and scholar as his family wished. In 1111, he
prayed to God for direction. He had a vision of his own
departed mother, whom he understood to be sent by
Mary. He knew instantly that he was to become a
monk.

At about age 23 he entered the monastery at
Citeaux along with 30 companions; he was eventually
followed by his father and five brothers. In 1115, the
abbot, St. Stephen Harding, sent Bernard to found a
new daughter house that was to become famous as the
Cistercian abbey of Clairvaux.
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Though Bernard sought quiet and solitude to con-
template, the needs of the Church, the orders of his
superiors and the urgent pleas of rulers caused him to
spend much time in travels and controversies. Early in
his career, when denounced to Rome for “meddling” in
high ecclesiastical affairs, he won over his accusers by
explaining that he would like nothing better than to
retire to his monastery, but had been ordered to assist
at the Synod of Troyes. He likewise found himself
called upon to judge the rival claims of Innocent IT and
Anacletus 1T to the papacy, and traveled widely to
bring others over to the side of Innocent. His other
activities included assisting at the Second Lateran
Council (1139), preaching the Second Crusade (1146)
and countering the theological errors of Peter Abelard
(1139) and of Gilbert, bishop of Poitiers (1147-48).
Bernard was a key figure in the condemnation of
Abelard by the Council of Sens.

Bernard’s health suffered throughout his life. He ate
very little and endured acute abdominal pains. Once
when he was quite ill, he prayed at the altars of Mary
and SS. Lawrence and Benedict. Mary and the two
saints appeared to him, placed their hands on his
abdomen and instantly healed his pain.

Worn out by his labors, and distressed by the failure
of the Crusade, he died at Clairvaux on August 20,
1153. According to lore, Mary appeared to him to wel-
come his soul to heaven.

Despite his many activities, the real center of
Bernards life was prayer and contemplation: From
them he drew strength for his labors and journeys and
inspiration for his writings. Bernard, like all Christians,
believed that the vision of God and union with Him
was the end for which man was created. This can be
fully attained only in the afterlife, but Bernard and
many others throughout the ages have claimed an
experience, even in this life, of that vision and union.
This mystical experience, like the Beatific Vision of
which it is a foretaste, is, in the Christian view, a free
gift of God; the most that man can do is desire it and
strive to remove obstacles to it. The methods of remov-
ing obstacles are the subject of ascetic and mystical
theology. Many Christians before Bernard had
described this mystical experience, but he was one of
the first to address himself to the theological under-
standing of it, though not in any systematic way. His
work shows a profound and precise knowledge of doc-
trinal subtleties.

Ascetic theology deals with groundwork of the spir-
itual life: the eradication of vices, the cultivation of
virtue, the attainment of detachment, by which one
learns to give up one’s own will and accept God’s will
for one. Bernard’s works in this field include De Gratia
et Libero Arbitrio (Of grace and free will) and De

Gradibus Humilitatus et Superbiae (Of the steps of
humility and pride). Bernard’s teaching is typical of the
paradoxical Christian view of man, simultaneously
affirming his dignity as made in the image and likeness
of God (which image, for Bernard, consisted primarily
in man’s free will) and his need for humility as a crea-
ture—a fallen creature, in whom the likeness to God is
obscured by sin.

But for Bernard, as for the author of the Johannine
book (Fourth Gospel) of the New Testament, the
beginning, end and driving force of the whole mystery
of creation and redemption is love: God’s love for man
enabling man to love God in return. In De Dilgendo
Deo (Of loving God), Bernard presents motives for lov-
ing God, both those that all men may acknowledge
(the gifts of creation) and those that compel Chris-
tians, who believe that God became incarnate and died
to save them (the goods of redemption). Here, as else-
where in his writings, the humanity of Christ has the
central role.

Love is nurtured by conversation, and so in the four
books De Consideratione (Of meditation), written for
his pupil who had become pope as Eugene III, Bernard
discusses meditation, or mental prayer, by which one
converses with God and may, perhaps, attain a vision
of God and union with Him even in this life. It is in the
86 Sermones super Cantica Canticorum (Sermons on the
song of songs) that Bernard eloquently expounds on
this vision and union, and the desire for it. As many
would do after him, he sees these ancient Hebrew
poems as describing the union of God and the soul as a
mystical marriage. Bernard stresses that the mystical
experience is, precisely, an experience, and thus strictly
incommunicable, to be known only by one who has
experienced it.

In addition to these works, Bernard composed
more than 300 sermons and 500 letters, which de-
monstrate his deep devotion to Mary and the infant
Jesus. A story is told that one letter to his cousin, Ro-
bert, was dictated in a field during a heavy downpour.
The paper never became wet. The episode was looked
upon as miraculous, and an oratory was built on the
spot.

Of other miracles and unusual events ascribed to
the saint, an interesting one concerns the “flies of
Foigny.” Bernard attended the dedication of a church
in Foigny, and the service was disturbed by a great
multitude of buzzing flies. Bernard cried, “Excommuni-
cabo eas!” (I shall excommunicate them!). The next
day the excommunicated flies were found dead. There
were so many they blackened the pavement and had to
be shoveled out of the church.

Bernard’s symbol is a white dog. In art he is often
depicted in Cistercian habit with a vision of Our Lady.
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Canonized: 1174 by Pope Alexander 111

Declared Doctor of the Church: 1830 by Pope Pius
VIII

Feast: August 20

Patronage: bees; cancer victims; chandlers; Cister-
cians; climbers; Burgundy; Gibraltar; Liguria,
Italy; Speyer Cathedral, Germany
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Bernadine of Siena (1380-1444) Franciscan mission-
ary and preacher
Also known as: “the second Paul”

Bernadine of Siena was born on September 8, 1380, at
Massa Marittima near Siena, Italy. His father was the
governor. Bernadine was ophaned at age seven and
then raised by an aunt. He is said to have been sensi-
tive, and had an intense dislike for indecent language.
He fasted and spent time in prayer. In 1397 he entered
the Confraternity of Our Lady, and in 1400 organized
the hospitals of Siena to cope with a plague outbreak.
His work with the ill left him exhausted.

Bernadine joined the Franciscans in 1402 and was
ordained a priest in 1404. He had a weak and hoarse
voice, and did not give his first sermon until Septem-
ber 8, 1417. He did very little preaching, and for 12
years lived as a hermit.

He then went to Milan on a mission, and suddenly
found he was a charismatic speaker with a strong and
commanding voice. The story goes that he prayed
earnestly to Mary about his voice, and one day a globe
of fire came down from heaven and stopped at his
throat, instantly healing him.

Bernadine crisscrossed central and northern Italy
on foot, preaching against immorality for hours at a
time, several times a day. He also stressed punishment
for sin, reward for virtue, the mercy of Jesus and the
love of Mary. His special devotion was to the Holy
Name of Jesus. He became the foremost missionary in
Italy, and also healed people, especially lepers.

Once, he told a crowd he would show them devils,
and then stunned everyone by telling them to look at
each other, for they were doing the work of Satan.

Perhaps because of his great popularity, he was slan-
dered by enemies and was silenced for a short while. In
1427 he was defended by Pope Martin V (r. 1417-31).
The pope offered him the see of Siena, but Bernadine
turned down that and several other offers to be bishop
in various cities. He was unable to avoid being named
vicar general of his order, the Franciscan Friars of the
Strict Observance, in 1430. Due to his efforts, the order
increased in size from about 300 members to more
than 4,000.

Bernadine was devoted to Mary and had visions of
her. In one, she appeared to him and showed him a
farm near Bergamo where a friary could be built. Three
years later, when Bernadine returned to dedicate the
friary, Mary with the infant Jesus appeared in a brilliant
light and was witnessed by many.

Even when it was clear he was dying, he preached
for consecutive days. He died at Aquila on May 20,
1444. His relics were enshrined there. Some relics also
are in Siena, Rome and Massa Marittima.

In art he is often depicted holding a sign with the
letters THS, the first three Greek letters of the holy
name of Jesus, which he always displayed as a mono-
gram from the pulpit and distributed to crowds. Some-
times mitres are at his feet, symbolizing his refusals of
the office of bishop.

Canonized: 1450 by Pope Nicholas V

Feast: May 20

Patronage: against bleeding; against chest problems;
against hoarseness; lungs and chest; wool work-
ers; Massa Marittima

FURTHER READING
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Books, 1955.

Blaise (d. ca. 313-315) Bishop of Sebaste, Turkey;
martyr
Also known as: Blase

Blaise, a philosopher and physician, was elected bishop
of Sebaste and then was forced to flee during the perse-
cutions of Emperor Diocletian (r. 284-305). Tradition
holds that he retired to a cave on Mt. Argeus. Throngs
of people came to see him for his miraculous cures;
even wild animals sought him out.

After Diocletian, persecutions continued under
Emperor Licinius Licinianus (r. 308-324). Governor
Agricolaus of Cappadocia was ordered to arrest Chris-
tians and feed them to wild beasts. Hunters sent out to
capture the animals found Blaise; he was arrested and
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taken to Agricolaus. En route weeping followers of
Blaise gathered to ask his blessing as he passed by. One
such person was a woman who thrust at him her child,
dying of a small fish bone stuck in his throat. Blaise
healed the boy with prayer.

Blaise refused to renounce his faith and was
scourged and imprisoned. The saint remained placid
and in good humor, and continued to work miracles
from his cell. The infuriated governor ordered him to
be lacerated with iron hooks.

Certain holy women were induced to collect his
blood. They were rounded up with two of their chil-
dren and ordered to perform sacrifices to the gods.
They asked for the idols, but flung the statues into a
lake. The women and their children were beheaded.

Blaise was then hideously tortured. He was stretched
on a rack, had his flesh torn with iron combs, and
endured a red-hot coat of mail laid upon him. Agrico-
laus ordered him tossed into the lake. Legend has it
that Blaise walked on water to the middle of the lake,
sat down, and urged the pagans to do the same if they
believed in their gods. Some tried and were drowned.

A voice from heaven told Blaise to accept his mar-
tyrdom. He returned to land and was beheaded.

Blaise’s relics are in numerous cities, including
Brunswick, Mainz, Liubeck, Trier and Cologne in Ger-
many; Taranto, Milan and Rome in Italy; Paray-le-
Monial in France; and Dubrovnik in Croatia.

On the day of Blaise’s feast, throats are blessed and
candles lit, in commemoration of the healing of the
boy. Blaise is invoked against throat and neck com-
plaints.

Feast: February 3

Patronage: builders; cattle; doctors; hat makers;
hosiery workers; against neck complaints; pets;
plasterers; shoemakers; stone carvers; tanners;
against throat disorders; veterinarians; weavers;
wild animals; wind musicians; wool dealers

FURTHER READING
St. Alphonsus Liguori. Victories of the Martyrs. Brooklyn:
Redemptorist Fathers, 1954.

Bonaventure (1217-1274) Cardinal-Bishop, Minister
General of the Friars Minot, Doctor of the Church
Also known as: the Seraphic Doctor

Bonaventure is considered one of the great theolo-
gians of the Church along with his contemporary, St.
Thomas Aquinas. He wrote extensively on theology
and philosophy; some of his works are mystical in
nature.

Little is known about the early life of Bonaventure.
He was born in 1217 in Bagnoregio near Viterbo, Italy,

to Giovanni Fidanza and Maria Ritella. It is not know
why or when his given name of John was changed to
Bonaventure. According to the saint himself, he was
saved from death in childhood by the intervention of
St. Francis of Assisi; Bonventure later became the offi-
cial biographer of Francis.

In 1217 he went to the University of Paris where he
met Franciscans. In 1243 he joined the Order of the
Friars Minor and studied under the Franciscan schol-
ars Alexander of Hales and John of La Rochelle. From
1248 to 1256 he taught and lectured at the university,
quitting under opposition from secular professors to
the Dominican and Franciscan professors. Pope Alex-
ander IV (r. 1254-61) restored the Mendicants, and in
1267 both Bonaventure and Thomas Aquinas received
their doctorate degrees.

Bonaventure was elected minister general of the
Friars Minor in 1257 and became involved in internal
disputes. He visited much of the order and instituted
reforms.

In 1263, he assisted at the translation of the
remains of SS. Clare and Anthony. His life of St. Fran-
cis was declared the official biography to the exclusion
of all others. In 1264, he took over direction of the
Poor Clares and founded the Society of the Gonfalone
in honor of the Blessed Virgin Mary in Rome. In 1265,
he declined a request from Pope Clement IV (r.
1265-68) to become the archbishop of York.

In 1266 Bonaventure generated much controversy
when he convened a general chapter in Paris that
decreed all accounts of Francis written prior to his
should be destroyed. In 1269 he instituted the practice
of mass being sung every Saturday throughout the
order in honor of Mary.

Bonaventure played a key role in the election of
Clement’s successor in 1271, advising the cardinals to
choose Theobald Visconti of Piacenza, who became
Pope Gregory X (r. 1271-76). The pope named Bona-
venture cardinal-bishop of Albano in 1273, much to
the saints displeasure. The pope also instructed
Bonaventure to prepare the questions for the Four-
teenth Ecumenical Council opening in Lyons on May
7, 1274. During the discussions, the pope relied heav-
ily upon the counsel of Bonaventure.

While the council was in session, Bonaventure died
suddenly on July 15, 1274. The cause is not known,
but his secretary, Peregrinus of Bologna, attributed it to
poison. The saint was buried the next day in the
church of the Friars Minor in Lyons. The pope, the
king of Aragon, the cardinals and other members of the
council attended the funeral.

During his life, Bonaventure was known for his
mystical experiences and miracles. His ecstasies no
doubt provided inspiration for his more mystical writ-
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ings. Once Thomas Aquinas visited him while he was
at work on the life of Francis, and found him in
ecstasy. Thomas left, saying, “Let us leave a saint to
work for a saint.” His sanctity inspired Dante Alighieri
to place him among the saints in his Paradisio.

In 1434 his remains were moved to a new church in
Lyons in honor of St. Francis. His head was found to
be perfectly preserved, and his tongue as red as it had
been in life. The people of Lyons then named him their
patron.

In 1562, his shrine was vandalized by the
Huguenots, who burned the urn containing his body:.
The superior hid Bonaventure’s head and forfeited his
life in the process. During the French Revolution, the
head disappeared and has never been found.

Bonaventure left a legacy of important theological
and philosophical works esteemed throughout the
Middle Ages and still studied today. His greatest is
Commentary on the Sentences, a sweeping treatment of
the entire Scholastic theology, which is summarized
in another of his works, Brevoliquium. Like Thomas
Aquinas, he defended Aristotle, though he did not
hesitate to criticize his shortcomings. His most ex-
emplary mystical work is De Triplici Via, which
explores perfection. In addition, he wrote numerous
treatises and exegeses. Nearly 500 of his sermons have
survived.

Canonized: April 14, 1482, by Pope Sixtus IV
Patronage: Lyons

FURTHER READING

Bonaventure: The Soul’s Journey into God, The Tree of Life, The
Life of St. Francis. Tr. Ewert Cousins. Mahwah, N.J.:
Paulist Press, 1978.

Boniface | (d. 422) Pope

Nothing is known about the early life of Boniface, son
of the presbyter Jocandus. He was ordained a priest by
Pope St. Damasus 1 (366-384) and served as Pope St.
Innocent I's (r. 401-417) representative in Constan-
tinople. On December 29, 418, he succeeded St.
Zosimus in the Chair of St. Peter, but not without inci-
dent.

Immediately after the obsequies for Zosimus on
December 27, a faction of the Roman clergy consisting
mainly of deacons seized the Lateran basilica and
elected Archdeacon Eulalius as pope. When the higher
clergy—who were opposed to Eulalius—tried to enter
the basilica, they were met with violence. The follow-
ing day they convened in the Church of Theodora and
elected the aged Boniface instead. Both Boniface and
Eulalius were consecrated on December 29, Boniface
in the basilica of St. Marcellus. Each then proceeded to

act as pope, throwing the Church into schism, and
dividing the city of Rome. The trouble persisted for 15
weeks until Emperor Honorius at Ravenna finally pro-
nounced in favor of Boniface, on April 3, 418.

When Boniface fell critically ill early in 420, Eulal-
ius and his backers tried again. They failed to receive
support, however, and upon his recovery in July,
Boniface appealed to Honorius to make some provi-
sion against a renewal of the schism following his
death. In response, Honorius enacted a law stipulating
that, in contested papal elections, neither claimant
should be recognized, and a new election should be
held.

Boniface’s pontificate was marked by great zeal and
activity in upholding the jurisdiction of the universal
Church. He continued the papal opposition to Pela-
gianism, a heresy that denied original sin, supporting
St. Augustine in his pronouncements against it. He was
able to persuade Emperor Theodosius II to return the
ecclesiastical provinces of Illyricum to Western con-
trol, over the claims of the patriarch of Constantinople.
He was successful also in settling the issue regarding
appeals to Rome within the African church. Although
African bishops persisted in their disagreements with
the Holy See, they promised to obey the rulings, thus
recognizing the pope’s role as guardian of the Church’s
discipline.

Boniface renewed legislation of Pope St. Soter (r.
166-175) that prohibited women from touching the
sacred linens or ministering at the burning incense. He
enforced laws forbidding slaves to become clerics.

Boniface died in Rome on September 4, 422. He
was buried in the Catacomb of St. Maximus on the
Via Salaria, near the tomb of St. Felicitas (Felicity),
whom he revered and in whose honor he had erected
an oratory.

Feast: September 4 (formerly October 25)

Boniface IV (d. 615) Pope and martyr

Boniface was born at Valeria, Abruzzi (Italy), the son of
a physician named John. He may have been a Benedic-
tine monk and student of Pope St. Gregory I (Gregory
the Great, . 590-604). He served under Gregory as
deacon and dispensator (official in charge of adminis-
tering the patrimonies). He was elected to the Chair of
St. Peter to succeed Pope Boniface III (r. 607) late in
607, although he was not consecrated until August 25,
608, after Emperor Phocos had confirmed his election.

Phocos presented him with the Pantheon in Rome,
which Boniface converted into a Christian church,
consecrated to the Virgin Mary and all the Martyrs (the
Santa Maria Rotunda). He had some 28 cartloads of
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bones translated from the sacred catacombs and placed
in a porphyry basin beneath the high altar of the
church.

Boniface later received a visit from Mellitus, the first
bishop of London. Mellitus was long supposed to have
left Rome carrying letters from Boniface to Lawrence,
archbishop of Canterbury, and Ethelbert, king of En-
gland, “concerning what was to be observed by the
Church of England,” though these are now thought to
be spurious.

Boniface died in 615 in retirement in his own home,
which, following the example of Gregory, he had con-
verted into a monastery. He relics were interred in the
portico of St. Peter’s Basilica at the Vatican, but were
subsequently moved three times: in the 10th or 11th
century, at the close of the 13th century, and finally on
October 21, 1603, when they were placed in the new
St. Peter’s. His cult began during the reign of Boniface
VIII (r. 1294-1303).

Feast: May 8 (formerly May 25)

Boris and Gleb (d. 1010) Martyrs of Russia, betrayed
by one of their own brothers
Also known as: Romanus and David, respectively

Boris and Gleb were sons of St. Vladimir, grand prince
of Kiev, who was the first Christian ruler in Russia.
They had two other brothers, Taroslav (Yaroslav) and
Sviatopolk (Yaropolk). When Vladimir died in 1015,
Boris and Gleb were away. Boris, a military officer, was
off with his troops fighting the Pechengs.

Sviatopolk took over his father’s throne, but even
though he gave money to the townsfolk, their loyalty
lay with the more popular Boris. The advisers of Boris
urged him to make his rightful claim to the throne, but
he declined, saying he would not raise his hand against
his brother. His troops left him and only his servants
remained with him in Alta.

Sviatopolk obtained the loyalty of the boyars, the
ruling class, and instructed them to murder Boris. The
assassins hastened to Alta, where they found Boris in
prayer. He evidently knew they would come for him,
and when he was done with vespers, he lay down on
his couch and let them attack him with lances. In vain
his faithful personal servant, a Hungarian named
George, tried to shield him with his body. George was
slain and was decapitated so that the assassins could
steal the large gold necklace—a gift from Boris—that
was around his neck.

Boris survived. He was wrapped in canvas, loaded
onto a wagon and taken back to Sviatopolk. His
brother ordered him finished, and he was fatally
stabbed in the heart with a sword.

Sviatopolk then plotted to kill Gleb. He sent his
brother a false message, telling him to come at once to
Kiev because their father was gravely ill. But another
brother, laroslav, warned Gleb and told him the truth
about their father’s death and Boris’s murder.

Gleb was unable to avoid murder. Sviatopolk’s
assassins arrived and ordered the terrified servants to
kill their master. Gleb’s cook seized a knife and stabbed
him to death.

Later, Iaroslav was able to transport the bodies of
his two brothers to the Church of St. Basil in Vyshe-
gorod. Miracles were reported at their tomb, which
became a popular pilgrimage site.

Feast: July 24
Patronage: Moscow (Boris)

FURTHER READING

Nestor, “The Martyrdom of Boris and Gleb.” URL: http://
www.dur.ac.uk/~dm10www/borigleb.html. Downloaded
Oct. 1, 2000.

Botwid (d. 1100) Swedish martyr
Also known as: Botuid

Botwid was a Swedish layman who converted to Ca-
tholicism while on a trip to England. Back in Sweden,
he began preaching. He bought a Finnish slave, bap-
tized him, gave him religious instruction and set
him free with the request to spread the Gospel in his
native land.

Botwid and a friend, Asbjorn, arranged to take the
slave by boat across the Baltic Sea. On shore at night,
the treacherous slave murdered the sleeping men and
stole the boat. A search party set out to find the miss-
ing men. According to lore, a bird perched on the prow
of their boat and sang until the bodies were found.

Botwid was buried in Sweden and is revered as an
apostle of Sweden.

Feast: July 28

Brendan of Clonfort (b. ca. 460-486, d. ca. 577-
584) One of the greatest of Irish saints

Also known as: Brendan the Navigator, Brendan the
Voyager, Brandan, Brandon

Brendan was born sometime around 484 near the sea-
coast town of Tralee in County Kerry. A descendant of
Ireland’s first-century high king Fergus MacRoy, or
McRory, the boy seemed destined for greatness. The
entire Irish countryside supposedly lit up the night he
was born. Brendan was baptized by Bishop St. Erc and
spent his first five years in the care and education of St.
Ita at her monastery school in Killeedy. Later he trav-
eled to many of the great Irish monasteries to receive



Brendan of Clonfort 53

SR PR PP | e e

St. Brendan of Clonfort (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division)

religious instruction from the abbots there, including
Jarlath of Tuam, Finian of Clonard and Enda of Aran.
Returning to Bishop St. Erc, Brendan received ordina-
tion in 512 and continued his wanderings, establishing
monastic communities at Ardfert and Shanakeel (or
Baalynevinoorach).

Although revered for his saintly ways, Brendan’s
fame comes from the Navigatio Santi Brendani Abatis,
or the Navigations (or Travels) of Saint Brendan the
Abbot. Legend says that Brendan, unable to shake his
wanderlust, left the monastery at Baalynevinoorach
with between 17 and 60 monks (accounts vary) to dis-
cover and evangelize the people living on islands
beyond the western horizon. Most specifically, Brendan
sought the “Lands of Delight,” the “Land of Promise”
or the “Isles of the Blessed Saints.” Old Irish calendars
assigned the feast day of March 22 to celebrate the
“egressio familiae S. Brendani,” or Saint Brendan’s
departure, and St. Aengus the Culdee invoked the 60
monks in his eighth-century Litany. The voyages took
seven years and included detailed descriptions of the
construction of the group’s hide-covered boats, called
currachs or coracles. Currachs—small boats that ride
high in the water, unaffected by currents—are still
built in County Kerry today much the same as they
were in the sixth century. The monks’ tales seemed

incredible, telling of large sea-monsters that raised the
boats on their backs, of huge crystals that rose to the
sky, and of being pelted with “flaming, foul-smelling
rocks by the inhabitants of a large island.” The monks
even tried to light an Easter fire on one island only to
discover they were on a whale.

Word of Brendan’s magical voyages spread and
attracted many pilgrims to the monastery at Ardfert.
After his return, Brendan continued his mission to
spread the Word of God, founding a monastery at Inis-
da-druim, now Coney Island in County Clare, about
550. He traveled throughout Ireland, to Wales, to St.
Columba’s monastery at lona, to the Canary Islands and
to Europe. His greatest contribution was the monastery
at Cluain Fearta, or Clonfert in County Galway, built
about 557. The monastic community at Clonfert report-
edly housed 3,000 men under rules dictated to Brendan
by an angel. Although most of the monastery fell into
ruins years ago, the cathedral remains, regarded as an
Irish national treasure and one of the finest examples of
Irish Romanesque architecture. The doorway contains
six decorated arches topped by a huge triangle contain-
ing ornaments and heads.

Brendan established a monastic community for
women at Enach Duin (Annaghdown) and placed his
sister Briga in charge. He died there in 577 at about age
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93 while visiting her. Fearing that some might want his
relics, Brendan arranged for Briga to keep his death a
secret and send his body back to Clonfert in his lug-
gage. He is buried at Clonfert.

From medieval times into the 18th century, maps of
the western Atlantic Ocean included an island called
St. Brendan’s Isle. Mapmakers were unsure of the
island’s exact position, but it often appeared south of
the Antilles and west of the Cape Verde Islands. Schol-
ars speculate that locating this magical place inspired
Christopher Columbus’s voyage to the New World. Six
copies of the Navigatio manuscript remain, but few
have believed the fantastic tales were anything more
than stories for the faithful.

In 1976, British navigation scholar Tim Severin and
a crew decided to reconstruct Brendan’s journeys by
following the accounts in the Navigatio to prove that
the trip was possible. To begin with, Severin and his
crew built the currachs following Brendan’s directions.
They tanned ox-hides with oak bark, stretched them
across the wooden frame, sewed them with leather
thread and smeared the boats with animal fat to pro-
vide water resistance. Skeptics didn't believe the light-
weight currachs could handle ocean current, but
Severin found them quite seaworthy. The crew
embarked from Brandon Creek on the Dingle Penin-
sula, supposedly Brendan’s point of departure. Severin’s
study of nautical charts indicated Brendan’s route was
governed by prevailing winds, taking the monks across
the northernmost part of the Atlantic, close to Iceland,
Greenland and maybe Newfoundland. This was the
same route Viking Leif Eriksson traveled about 400
years later. Most of the stops chronicled in the Naviga-
tio were islands where the Irish monks established
primitive monasteries. Indeed, the accounts of Viking
explorations remarked on meetings with “Papers”
(“papas” or fathers—priests).

Severin and his crew were surprised at the playful,
friendly encounters with North Atlantic whales, and
they speculated that the creatures were even friendlier
in the sixth century—before they had been hunted—
causing them to bump and lift the tiny boats, as the
monks recounted. Off the coast of Canada, an iceberg
punctured Severin’s currach, which he patched with a
piece of leather. Such icebergs may well have been
Brendan’s “towering crystals.” And the active volcanoes
of Iceland may explain the “flaming, foul-smelling
rocks.”

Other stops included the Hebrides Islands and the
Danish Faroe Islands. Brendan had described an island
as “the Paradise of Birds,” and Mykines in the Faroe
chain is populated by thousands of seabirds. Brendan
called the largest island the Island of Sheep, and the
word “faroe” means sheep. There is also another Bran-

don Creek on the main island. Severin and his crew
landed on Newfoundland on June 26, 1977, proving
that the possibility of a sea voyage in a currach was not
just an old sailors tale.

But the Navigatio says Brendan’s voyages took seven
years. Tim Severin found the boats extremely hard to
tack against winds and currents, leading him to think
that the return voyage to Ireland took much longer than
the journey west. Most intriguing is the discovery of
markers covered with Old Irish Ogham runic language
in what is now West Virginia. If the monks were the first
Europeans to explore America—what Brendan called
the “Promised Land of the Saints”—their overland
expeditions would have lengthened their trip as well.

Feast: May 16
Patronage: boatmen; mariners; sailors; travelers;
watermen; whales

FURTHER READING
Plummer, Charles. Lives of Irish Saints, Vol. 2. Oxford:
Oxford University Press, 1922.

Bridget of Sweden (1303-1373) Wife, mystic and
founder of the Brigittines order; patron of Sweden
Also known as: Brigid, Birgitta, Brigitta

Bridget of Sweden was born in 1303, the daughter of
Birger, the governor of Upland, Sweden, and his sec-
ond wife, Ingeborg, daughter of the governor of East
Gothland. Her parents were pious and instilled in her a
sense of religious devotion at an early age. Her father
consecrated all Fridays to special acts of penance.

Bridget’s mother died when she was 12, and she was
raised by an aunt in Aspenas on Lake Sommen. Before
she was 14, her father married her to Ulf Gudmarsson,
the 18-year-old prince of Nericia in Sweden. The mar-
riage was happy, and Bridget bore eight children. The
last was a daughter, Catherine, who became St. Cather-
ine of Sweden.

In 1335, Bridget was summoned to be the principal
lady-in-waiting to the queen of Sweden, Blanche of
Namur. She did not like the loose lifestyle in court and
tried to influence the royals, to no avail. She became
known for her prophetic dreams and visions, many of
them concerning politics and affairs of state. At the
time, the Church was in upheaval; the pope resided in
Avignon, not Rome, and many people felt there was a
need for reform. From her visions, Bridget believed
herself charged with a mission to work for reform.

Sometime after 1340, she obtained a leave of
absence, and she and Ulf made a pilgrimage to Com-
postela in Galicia, Spain. Ulf became ill and nearly
died. The couple vowed to commit themselves to God
in separate religious houses. Ulf died in 1344 at the
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Cistercian monastery of Alvastra. Bridget remained
there for four years as a penitent.

Meanwhile, her visions began troubling her and she
feared she was being plagued by the Devil, or deluded
by her own imagination. At the direction of a vision,
she confided in Master Matthias, canon of Linkoping,
who pronounced the visions as from God. Thereafter,
she dictated her visions to the prior at Alvastra, Peter,
who recorded them in Latin. One vision instructed
Bridget to warn the king about his sinful ways. This
she did, and for a time he complied.

Another vision instructed her to found a monastery
at Vadstena on Lake Vattern. The monastery housed 60
nuns and in a separate house for men, 13 priests, four
deacons and eight choir boys. The monastery was run
according to instructions given in Bridgets visions.
The order, which became known as the Brigittines, was
for women; the men were admitted to provide them
spiritual instruction.

In 1349 Bridget made a pilgrimage to Rome; she
never returned to the monastery. Guided by her visions,
she stayed to campaign for the return of the papacy to
that city. Many of her revelations were uncomplimen-
tary toward the Church and the pope. At St. Paul’s-out-
side-the Walls, the crucifix spoke to her while she
prayed. At the Church of San Francesco a Ripa, a vision
of St. Francis of Assisi invited her to eat and drink with
him in his cell. She went to Assisi, and then spent two
years touring shrines in Italy. She made herself unpopu-
lar with her predictions that the Romans would be pun-
ished for their sins.

In 1371, a vision directed her to make what would
be her last pilgrimage, to the Holy Land with Cather-
ine, two sons and several others. In Naples, son
Charles became involved with Queen Joanna I, despite
the fact that they were both married. Bridget prayed for
a resolution. Charles soon became ill and died in her
arms, sending her into deep mourning.

Bridget's last pilgrimage was marked by many
visions, including one from Christ that predicted her
death and gave instructions for her burial and for the
eventual editing of her revelations. She returned to
Rome in March 1373 in poor health. Her condition
deteriorated, and she died on July 23 at age 71. Peter
of Alvastra administered last rites. Catherine had her
body transferred to Vadstena.

Canonized: 1391 by Pope Boniface IX
Feast: July 23
Patronage: against miscarriage; Sweden

FURTHER READING

St. Bridgets Revelations to the Popes. URL: http://www/
fordham.edwhalsall/basis/bridget-tractatus.html. Down-
loaded: February 10, 2000.

St. Bridget of Sweden (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

Brigid of Ireland (ca. 450-453-ca. 523-525) One of
the three patron saints of Ireland, along with Patrick and
Columba

Name meaning: Fiery arrow (Breo-Saighit in Gaelic)
Also known as: Bride, Brigid of Kildare, Mary of the
Gael, Bride of the Isles, Queen of the South, Bridget,
Ffraid (Wales)

Brigid was born half-princess, half-slave, ca. 450-453,
to the Irish chieftain Dubthach (pronounced “Duffack”
or “Duffy”) and a Pictish bondwoman named Brocessa
or Brocca at Faughart, near Dundalk in County
Louth—an area associated with the mythical Irish
queen Medb (Maeve). Her father allowed her to live
with her mother—who had been sold to a druid—until
she was older. Brigid showed an interest in God at an
early age, reportedly after hearing St. Patrick preach,
and gave whatever she had to anyone in need.

Her determination to further Christian charity by
giving away all her father’s goods angered Dubthach so
much that he decided to sell Brigid in marriage to the
Christian king of Leinster. Dubthach threw Brigid in
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his chariot and drove furiously to the king’s castle,
whereupon he left his sword with Brigid so as not to
appear belligerent and went inside to strike the bar-
gain. No sooner had he left than a poor leper begged
alms of Brigid, and she, having no money, gave him the
sword. When Dubthach returned and found his sword
missing, he began beating Brigid, but the king stopped
him. He asked Brigid why she had given away her
father’s sword, and she replied that she would gladly
give away all the king’s wealth as well if it could serve
her brothers and sisters in Christ. The king of Lein-
ster diplomatically declined to marry Brigid, telling
Dubthach that, “Her merit before God is greater than
ours.”

Brigid left Dubthach to care for her ailing mother
and run the druid’s dairy, where she resumed her habit
of giving everything away. The druid—realizing he was
making no money from his dairy products—asked
Brigid to bring him a large basket of butter, thinking he
could entrap her. But miraculously the hamper was
full. Impressed with Brigid's powers, the druid granted
her request to release her mother from bondage.

Upon her return to Dubthach’s home, her father
attempted to marry his daughter to a poet, but she had
vowed to remain a virgin. After finding a wife for the
groom, she took the veil as a nun from St. Macaille at
Croghan Hill, where she and seven other girls lived
together. About 468, Brigid followed St. Mel of Ardagh,
a pupil of Patrick’s, to Druin Criadh, in the plains of
Magh Life (Meath). There, under a large oak tree (a
tree sacred to the druids), Brigid founded Cill-Dara
(Kildare): the “church of the oaks.”

Kildare was a double monastery, meaning it housed
communities of both men and women. Legend tells
that Brigid was ordained a bishop “by mistake” as justi-
fication for her leadership role at the abbey, including
even her supposed canonical selection of St. Conlaeth
as bishop of the men’s community. As opposed to the
Roman diocesan system, in which women had minor
roles, the Celtic Christians were organized and gov-
erned by the monasteries. Many abbeys were governed
by abbesses, who served as spiritual leaders, preached,
heard confession and may have even performed Mass.
Kildare was a school as well, teaching reading, writing,
illumination and the practical arts of carpentry and
blacksmithing. Artisans and goldsmiths created beauti-
ful objects for churches, such as bells, crosiers, chal-
ices, patens and bookrests, and scribes copied books
sent throughout Europe. The Book of Kildare, older
than the Book of Kells, was considered one of the finest
Irish illuminated manuscripts until it disappeared over
300 years ago.

Brigid, who never left Ireland, was revered as the
prototype of all nuns. She reportedly was beautiful and

vivacious and wore a red-purple cloak over her habit.
She was joyful, pious, hospitable and generous—the
kind of person who might wipe her hands simply on
her apron as she greeted a stranger. She loved both ani-
mals and people. She traveled all over Ireland, convert-
ing souls and tending to the sick and hungry. In many
ways, Brigid resembled her namesake, the Celtic pagan
goddess Brighid, who presided over the arts of inspira-
tion and poetry, the crafts of smithing, and medicine
and healing. And in keeping with druidic influences,
Brigid kept an eternal flame burning on the altar of Kil-
dare, tended by 20 nuns, as a symbol of the shining
light of the Gospel.

Names of places such as Brideswell (the birth parish
of St. Thomas Becket), Tubberbride, Templebride, Kil-
bride and even Bride’s Island off the coast of Japan
honor the saint. Many little girls, especially in Ireland,
are still named Brigid. As patroness of the medieval
knights of chivalry, Brigid was invoked each time a
knight called his new wife “bride” (pronounced
“brida”), supposedly becoming the English word
“bride.”

One interesting story about Brigid says that once
the Virgin Mary was trying to speak to Brigid and
became rather annoyed at Brigid’s ability to draw a
crowd, interrupting their conversation. In order to pla-
cate the Virgin, Brigid brought out a rake whose tines
flashed like candles, distracting the onlookers. As a
reward for her thoughtfulness, Mary granted Brigid’s
request of having her feast day ahead of Mary’s: Brigid’s
memorial is February 1, while Our Lady’s Feast of the
Purification is February 2. On February 1 the faithful
put out reed crosses, reminding followers to share
whatever they have. (Interestingly, these dates are the
same as for Imbolc, a pagan winter purification festival
that celebrates Brigid (also spelled Briguid), the Irish
Celtic goddess of fire, fertility, crops, livestock, wis-
dom, poetry and household arts.

As Brigid lay dying (ca. 523-525), she was attended
by St. Ninnidh, known thereafter as Ninnidh of the
Clean Hand because he encased his right hand—the
one that had administered the sacraments to Brigid—
in a metal covering to keep it undefiled. Brigid was
buried at Kildare in a jeweled casket, but her relics
were transferred to Downpatrick in 878 to avoid the
Vikings, where she was entombed with Patrick and
Columba. The relics of all three saints supposedly were
found in 1185 and enshrined in Downpatrick Cathe-
dral. In 1283, three knights allegedly carried Brigid’s
head with them on pilgrimage to the Holy Land. They
died in Lumier, Portugal, near Lisbon, where the head
is kept in a Jesuit chapel. Brigid remains a popular
saint and is frequently invoked in prayer, because it
is written in the Leabhar Breac, or Book of Lismore,
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that the Lord granted whatever Brigid asked of Him,
and at once.

Feast: February 1

Patronage: blacksmiths; boatmen; cattle; children
whose parents are not married; dairy workers;
fugitives; healers; Irish nuns; mariners; midwives;
newborn babies; poets; the printing press; schol-
ars; travelers; watermen; Ireland

FURTHER READING

Cahill, Thomas. How the Irish Saved Civilization. New York:
Nan A. Talese/Doubleday, 1995.

Reynolds, Wendy M. “The Goddess Brighid.” The Medie-
val Sourcebook. URL: http://www.millersv.edu/~english/
homepage/ duncan/medfem/bride.htm 1. Downloaded
January 18, 2000.

Brother André, Blessed (1845-1937) Beatified bro-
ther of the Holy Cross Brothers, renowned healer and
founder of St. Joseph’s Oratory in Montreal

Also known as: Frere André; the Wonder Man of
Mount Royal

Brother André was born Alfred Bessette on August 10,
1845, in a village east of Montreal. His father, Isaac,
was a carpenter. André was frail from his first breath—
in fact, he was baptized immediately after birth out of
fear that he would not live. He grew up small, slight
and of delicate constitution. Due to chronic stomach
problems, he could not eat any solid foods. Through-
out his life, his health was poor, yet the power of God
flowed through him to heal others. He was influenced
in childhood by the religious devotion of his mother,
Clothilde. From an early age, he was drawn to St
Joseph.

In 1870, he dedicated himself to a life of religious
service with the Congregation of the Holy Cross, a reli-
gious order dedicated to the teaching profession. He
was given the name André in honor of his sponsor,
Pastor André Provencal. Due to his poor health and
lack of stamina for physical work, the Holy Cross
Brothers asked him to leave. He appealed to a bishop,
who promised him he could stay.

Unschooled and untrained, the only thing André
could do was pray. He was given a lowly job as door-
keeper at Notre Dame College in Mount Royal, a dis-
trict of Montreal. At night he would go out and visit
the sick. He demonstrated remarkable healing powers.
The crippled walked and the cancerous were cured.
Sometimes he rubbed holy oil on them, sometimes he
touched them, sometimes he told them, like Jesus,
simply that they were healed. He became renowned as
the “Wonder Man of Mount Royal.” People traveled
great distances to seek his healing. He credited his

work to his patron, St. Joseph. He could be brusque
and gruff with people, sometimes bluntly informing
them that they could not be healed because they
lacked faith in the power of God.

It was André’s dream to build an oratory in honor of
his patron saint. The archbishop of Montreal would
give permission to do so only if André raised the
money to pay for it. To that end, he saved small change
and enlisted the support of others. In 1904, a tiny
chapel was erected on Mount Royal on grounds oppo-
site the college. It was often filled to overflowing by
those who wished to be close to André. Over the years,
donations funded expansions. Today the oratory’s huge
basilica, set on the hilltop, rises taller than any build-
ing in Montreal. It holds 3,000 people.

In his later years, André traveled around Canada
and even to the United States, visiting New England,
New York and New Jersey. He inspired Americans to
make pilgrimages to Mount Royal.

During his life, André endured the skepticism and
downright opposition of some of his peers and superi-
ors, who doubted that such a simple man could pos-

Brother André
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sess such healing power and ability to attract the
masses. He shrugged off the poor treatment. He always
worked within his religious system, gaining permission
for everything that he did. He prayed ceaselessly. Offi-
cially, he never was anything but a doorkeeper for his
order. He was fond of saying, “When 1 entered the
community they showed me the door, and I remained
there for 40 years.” Though he seldom had much phys-
ical strength and often was ill, he always had stamina
for healing and counseling. He attributed this to the
intercession of St. Joseph. He often used oil from the
lamp in the oratory as part of his healing.

André died on January 6, 1937, after several days
of severe pain from acute gastritis, a condition that had
afflicted him his entire life. Approximately 30,000 peo-
ple gathered for his beatification 50 years later.

St. Joseph’s Oratory is the world’s largest shrine to
St. Joseph. Some two million pilgrims come each year,
many ascending the steps to the basilica on their

knees. Brother André is buried inside the oratory in a
small, black granite tomb, called the Black Coffin. Pil-
grims come to touch the tomb and pray for healing,
and numerous miracles have been reported. An entire
wall inside the oratory is covered with canes and
crutches that were discarded on the spot by people
whom André healed.

André’s heart is on view as a relic, encased in a clear
glass container. Humble to the end, he could not envi-
sion such veneration of himself. “We keep relics of
saints, not of persons like me,” he said.

Beatified: May 23, 1987, by John Paul 11
Feast: January 6

FURTHER READING

Bergeron, H.-P. Brother André: The Wonder Man of Mount
Royal. Montreal: St. Joseph’s Oratory, 1997.

Cruz, Joan Carroll. Mysteries, Marvels, Miracles in the Lives of
the Saints. Rockford, Ill.: TAN Books, 1997.



Cadoc (d. ca. 580) Bishop, martyr and one of the chief
saints of Wales

Cadocss life was recorded in the 12th century by Lifris,
a Norman monk at Llancarfan, and Caradoc, a Breton-
born hermit of Gower.

Cadoc was born the grandson of Gwynllyw, a chief-
tain of Glamorgan; his mother, Gwladys, was Gwynl-
lyw’s daughter. (Lifris gives the romantic fantasy of
Cadoc as the descendant of a long line of Roman
emperors, unbroken from Augustus.) He went to Ire-
land to study. Upon his return, he converted his par-
ents, and they adopted an austere lifestyle.

At Llancarfan, near Cardiff, Wales, Cadoc founded
a great monastery and is said to have fed “daily a
hundred clergymen, and a hundred soldiers, and a
hundred workmen, and a hundred poor persons, with
the same number of widows, and many guests
besides.” Some of the most famous Celtic saints, such
as Brendan of Clonfort and Malo, trained at the
monastery.

Cadoc then became a hermit on the Bristol Channel
island of Flat Holm, where he was joined by a pupil,
Finian of Clonard. According to lore, the rocks in the
channel (known as “the wolves”) were wolves who
had attempted to swim the channel to get Cadoc’s
sheep, and he had turned them into stone.
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In the 560s, Cadoc went to Scotland and reportedly
founded a monastery west of Stirling. Machan became
one of his disciples. A church is dedicated to Cadoc at
Cambusland in the Clyde Valley. Later Cadoc traveled
from Glamorgan north to the River Usk. He also went
to Rome (seven times) Jerusalem (three times) and
Greece.

At Jerusalem he visited the River Jordan and filled a
flask with its water. He took the water back to Corn-
wall where he poured it into a healing well, thereby
increasing its healing powers many times. St. Cadoc’s
well remained famous for 300 years. Also, the well is
said to have been created on a journey to visit St.
Michael’s Mount, where Cadoc struck his staff on the
ground and out sprang a well of water.

Cadoc went to Brittany where he worked as a mis-
sionary. After his return to Britain, he was involved in
the Saxon occupation. He was martyred by the Saxons
near Weedon, England.

Cadoc is the patron of at least 25 churches and
chapels in Wales.

Feast: September 25
Patronage: glandular disorders

FURTHER READING
Doble, Gilbert H. The Saints of Cornwall, Part Four. Felifach,
Cornwall: Llanearch Publishers, 1998.
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Caesarius of Arles (ca. 470-543) Bishop of Arles,
Father of the Church

Caesarius of Arles was the first bishop in western
Europe to receive the pallium from a pope. He was
born at Chalons, Burgundy, France (then Gaul), in 470
or 471, of a French-Roman family. He entered the
monastery of Lérins in his youth but ill health forced
him to leave the community soon after. His uncle,
/Eonus, bishop of Arles, took him into his monastery
and ordained him deacon and priest. When Zonus
died in 502 or 503, Caesarius was unanimously chosen
to succeed him.

In 505, King Alaric II of the Visigoths accused Cae-
sarius of treason. He had come to believe that Caesar-
ius intended to deliver Arles to the Burgundians, and
without putting him on trial had him exiled to Bor-
deaux. He soon relented and allowed Caesarius to
return to Arles. In 506, Caesarius called the Council of
Agde and promulgated the famous adaptation of the
Roman Law known as the “Breviarium Alarici,” which
eventually became the civil code of Gaul.

Following a siege in 508, the Ostrogoths occupied
Arles and King Theodoric, son of Alaric, suspecting
Caesarius of having plotted with the besieging Franks
and Burgundians, had him deported again. Caesarius
was still in exile in 513 when Theodoric summoned
him to Ravenna and pardoned him. Caesarius then
went to Rome where Pope St. Symmachus (r. 498-514)
gave him the pallium, confirmed him as metropolitan,
and (in 514) personally renewed his appointment as
vicar of the Apostolic See in Gaul.

Caesarius used his office to update and strengthen
various aspects of church doctrine. In 529 he presided
over the Second Council of Orange, the confirmation
of whose decrees by Pope Boniface II (r. 530-532) in
531 made them authoritative in the Universal Church.
Caesarius brought the Divine Office into local parishes
and introduced monastic reforms, placing his sister St.
Caesaria as abbess of a convent he founded. He was
known as a great preacher, with a strong mystic bent.
In the many sermons that have come down to us he
inveighed at length against the main vices of his day—
adultery and concubinage, drunkenness, neglect of the
mass, love of landed wealth, and the numerous pagan
practices still in vogue.

When the Franks captured Arles in 536, Caesarius
was once more forced to flee. However, he was later
able to return to his see, and died there on August 27,
543. His name was entered in the Roman Martyrology.
Today, he is venerated especially in Arles.

In art, Caesarius is depicted as a bishop led by peo-
ple with candles.

Feast: August 27

Caesarius of Nazianzus (ca. 330-369) Father of the
Church, physician, younger and only brother of St. Gre-
gory of Nazianzus; son of Gregory the Elder

Most of the details of the life of Caesarius of Nazianzus
are known from his funeral oration delivered by his
older brother Gregory. Caesarius was born ca. 330 in
Arianzus near Nazianzus. His father, Gregory the
Elder, was bishop of Nazianzus, and all the children
received a careful religious upbringing. He studied
medicine, geometry and astronomy at Caesarea in Cap-
padocia and in Alexandria. He established an excellent
reputation as a physician, and went to Constantinople,
where his older brother, St. Gregory of Nazianzus,
came in 358. Caesarius served as physician to the court
of Emperor Constantine and then was appointed to the
court of Emperor Julian the Apostate, who unsuccess-
fully attempted to convert him to paganism. Caesarius
left the court but returned to Constantinople after
Julian’s death. He became physician for Emperor Jov-
ian and then treasurer for Emperor Valens.

In 368 Caesarius narrowly escaped death in a great
earthquake that nearly destroyed Nicaea. Shaken, he
was baptized and devoted himself to an ascetic life.
Soon thereafter he fell fatally ill, dying in the spring of
369. He instructed that all of his goods should be given
to the poor, but his servants kept many things.

Caesarius’s remains were buried at Nazianzus.

Feast: February 25

FURTHER READING

Gregory Nazianzus, “Oration 7: Panegyric on His Brother S.
Caesarius.” URL: http://www.fordham.edu/halsall/basis/
gregnaz-caesar.html. Downloaded September 23, 2000.

Caius (d. 296) Pope and martyr
Also known as: Gaius

Caius is said to have been a Dalmatian and a relative of
Emperor Diocletian. He succeeded St. Eutychianus as
pope on December 17, 283.

Caius decreed that only priests could be conse-
crated bishops; other than that, nothing has come
down to us about his pontificate, which must have
been unusually tranquil. He ruled for 12 years, four
months and seven days, dying of natural causes on
April 22, 296.

Caius is honored as a martyr, though on a mistaken
basis. He is supposed to have fled the Vatican and lived
for eight years in a cave or catacomb during the Dio-
cletian persecution—which, however, did not begin
until seven or eight years after his death. He was the
last pontiff interred in the papal crypt of the Catacomb
of St. Callistus on the Appian Way. He shares a feast
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day with Pope St. Soter (d. ca. 175) and is venerated
especially in Dalmatia and Venice.

In art, Caius is shown with St. Nereus, wearing the
papal tiara.

Feast: April 22

Callistus I (d. 222) Pope and martyr
Also known as: Callixtus

Callistus, the son of Domitius, was a Roman. As a
young Christian slave, he was put in charge of a bank
by his master, Carpophorus, but somehow lost the
money that had been entrusted to him. He fled Rome
but was discovered on a ship off Portus (Proto); he
jumped overboard but was caught and carried back to
Carpophorus. Later he was arrested for fighting in a
synagogue when he tried to borrow (or collect debts)
from some Jews. Denounced as a Christian, he was
sentenced to work in the mines of Sardinia. He was
released after the intercession of Emperor Commodus’s
mistress, Marcia, but was in such poor health that he
was sent to Antium to recuperate.

Callistus lived in Antium with the help of a pension
from Pope St. Victor I (1. 189-199). About the year 199
he was called back to Rome and made a deacon by
Pope St. Zephyrinus (r. 199-217), who put him in
charge of a cemetery (later named the San Callistus in
his honor) on the Via Appia. He was well known for
his kindness, and when Zephyrinus died about 217,
was elected his successor by popular vote of the
Roman people and clergy.

He was not without enemies, however. Critics
denounced him for admitting to Communion people
who had repented of fornication, adultery, and murder.
They were upset also with his teachings that the com-
mission of a mortal sin was not enough to depose a
bishop; that men who had been married more than
once could be admitted to the clergy; and that mar-
riages between free women and Christian slaves were
legitimate.

One of the biggest critics was St. Hippolytus, his
rival for the papal seat. Hippolytus was an opponent
also of the Monarchianists, who denied the Trinity and
held that Jesus was no more than a man who had
received supernatural abilities at his baptism. Callistus
excommunicated Sabellius, then the leader of the
Monarchianists, but this was not enough for Hippoly-
tus, who withdrew from the Church of Rome and had
himself consecrated bishop (and antipope), producing
a schism that was to last for decades.

Callistus died about October 14, 222, perhaps dur-
ing a popular uprising, although the legend that he was
thrown down a well has no basis in fact. He was buried

on the Via Aurelia rather than in the cemetery on the
Via Appia, where most other popes of his time were
interred.

In art, Callistus is shown wearing a red robe with a
tiara (the sign of a pope); as being thrown into a well
with a millstone around his neck; or simply with a
millstone around his neck. Often there is a fountain
near him.

Feast: October 14

Camiillus de Lellis (1550-1614) Founder of the Order
of Ministers of the Sick, or the Camillians
Also known as: The Father of a Good Death

Camillus de Lellis was born in 1550 in Bocchianico,
Italy, the son of a military officer. His mother died
when he was an infant, and he was neglected as a
child. As a youth he became a soldier and fought
against the Turks. His gambling left him penniless, and
he was ill from abscesses in his feet. He subsisted by
begging. He tried to join the Franciscan order but was
rejected.

In Rome, Camillus went to the Hospital for Incur-
ables seeking help for his feet, and took a job there car-
ing for the sick, only to be dismissed on account of his
gambling and unruly behavior. He returned to soldier-
ing and fought the Turks again in 1569. After the war,
the Capuchins in Manfredonia hired him for a con-
struction project. They admitted him to the order as a
lay brother, but then dismissed him because of his dis-
eased legs. Camillus went back to the hospital in
Rome, where he was temporarily cured. He became a
nurse and then director of the hospital.

Camillus had an idea to found an order of lay infir-
marians, but his confessor St. Philip Neri advised him
to become a priest. He entered the Jesuit College in
Rome and in 1584 founded the Order of the Ministers
of the Sick, which became known also as the Camil-
lians. They devoted themselves to caring for plague
victims.

The congregation was confirmed by Pope Sixtus V
(r. 1585-90) in 1586, and Camillus served as the first
general superior. The order adopted a red cross to wear
on the front of their habits. Tradition holds that the
saint’s mother had had a vision of a child with a red
cross on his chest and holding a standard, leading
other children who wore the same symbol. The red
cross preceded by nearly 200 years the red cross
adopted as the symbol for the Red Cross volunteer
organization established by Swiss businessman Henri
Dunant.

In 1588 Camillus’s order expanded to Naples. At
that time, Rome’s harbor was full of quarantined ships
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with plague victims aboard. Two members of the com-
munity died caring for them. The congregation was
made a religious order in 1591 by Pope Gregory XIV (1.
1590-91).

Camillus established more houses throughout Italy.
Though often seriously ill and debilitated himself from
chronic conditions, he devoted most of his time to vis-
iting and caring for the sick and the poor. He resigned
as general superior in 1607 to make more time avail-
able for his caregiving work.

Camillus died in Rome on July 14, 1614. In art he
is often shown in the robes of his order. He shares his
patronage with St. John of God.

Eleven years after his death, Camillus was exhumed
and his body was found to be in excellent condition.
Large crowds came to view it and witnessed the flow of
a pure, fragrant liquid from an incision made by one of
the examining doctors. The liquid was collected in
cloths and claimed to have remarkable healing proper-
ties.

The Camillians still wear red crosses on the front of
their habits.

Canonized: 1746 by Pope Benedict XIV
Feast: July 14
Patronage: hospitals; infirmarians; nurses; the sick

Casimir (1458-1484) Prince and patron saint of
Poland and Lithuania

Casimir was born in 1458, the second son and third
of 13 children to King Casimir IV and Elizabeth of
Austria. In childhood he became devoted to God
through the influence of his tutor, John Duglosz. He
refused to play the royal role, instead wearing plain
clothes and sleeping on the floor. He spent much time
in prayer.

His father expected something more traditional
from Casimir, and in 1471 sent him to head an army
and seize control of the Hungarian throne. Casimir
obeyed, but felt the expedition was morally wrong.
When soldiers began deserting, he turned around and
went home. His furious father confined him to the
castle at Dzoki.

The exile strengthened Casimir’s resolve to adhere
to his spiritual calling. He refused his father’s arranged
marriage for him, as well as other plans.

From 1479 to 1483, King Casimir was out of
Poland, and son Casimir served as regent. While visit-
ing Grodno, Lithuania (now Belarus), Casimir became
ill with tuberculosis and died on March 4, 1483 or
1484. He was buried at Vilnius with his favorite song, a
Latin hymn favored by St. Bernard of Clairvaux, called
“Daily, Daily Sing to Mary.” It is sometimes called the

“Hymn of St. Casimir,” though he did not write it. His
tomb became renowned for miracles.

Canonized: 1522 by Pope Adrian VI
Feast: March 4
Patronage: Knights of St. John; Lithuania; Poland

Catherine de’ Ricci (1522-1590) Dominican mystic
and stigmatist

Catherine de’ Ricci was born April 23, 1522, in Flo-
rence, Italy, to a patrician family. Her father, Pier
Francesco de’ Ricci, came from a lineage of respected
merchants and bankers. She was baptized Alexandrina.

Catherine lost her mother in infancy, and she was
reared by a stepmother, Fiammetta da Diacceto. As a
young child, she spoke to her guardian angel and
learned how to pray the rosary from the angel. She was
often in prayer. Fiammetta, a pious woman, encour-
aged the child in her devotion. At age six Catherine
was sent to the convent school of Montecelli, where
her aunt, Louisa de’ Ricci, was a nun. There she devel-
oped a devotion to the Passion that played a prominent
role in her mystical life to come.

Her father was opposed to her becoming a nun but
relented after she became ill. In 1535, when she was
14, she entered the Dominican convent of San Vicenzo
in Prato, Tuscany, under the direction of her uncle, E
Timothy de’ Ricci. The order offered her a desired strict
religious life. She took the name of Catherine, and was
professed in 1536.

Despite a series of illnesses that permanently dam-
aged her health, Catherine strove to die to her senses
and practiced severe austerities and mortifications. She
fasted two or three days a week on bread and some-
times went for a day with no food at all. She wore a
sharp iron chain next to her skin. She practiced obedi-
ence, humility and meekness.

Catherine advanced quickly in the convent, serving
as mistress of novices, subprioress, and then by age 25
(some accounts say age 30 or 38) perpetual prioress.
Her reputation for sanctity and prudence, as well as
her astonishing mystical life, attracted numerous bish-
ops, cardinals and princes who paid visits to seek her
counsel. Three of them went on to become popes:
Clement VIII (r. 1523-34), Marcellus II (r. 1555) and
Leo XI (r. 1605). Catherine corresponded with St.
Charles Borromeo and Pope Pius V (r. 1566-72) and
had mystical visits with SS. Philip Neri and Mary Mag-
dalen de’ Pazzi.

Catherine’s remarkable mystical life had a dramatic
opening in 1542, when she was about 20. During holy
week she experienced the first of her ecstasies in which
she saw the passion of Christ enacted in sequence in
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17 scenes. The 28-hour-long ecstasies went on for 12
years, repeating every week from Thursday midday to
Friday at 4 M. During these raptures, Catherine’s body
would move as though going through the passion her-
self. She exhibited all the wounds experienced by
Jesus. She had bleeding stigmata in her hands, feet and
side, as well as the wounds from Christs crown of
thorns and from His scourging. By the time the rap-
tures were finished, her shoulder was indented as
though from carrying the cross.

Throughout the raptures, Catherine issued a sweet
perfume that lingered on everything she touched,
sometimes for up to a day later.

In her first such experience in 1542, Catherine
meditated so intensely on the crucifixion that she
became ill, and was healed by a vision of the resur-
rected Christ talking with St. Mary Magdalene.

Catherine’s raptures attracted spectators. Sometimes
she would speak out to them. The crowds increased to
the point that Catherine’s sisters prayed for her
wounds to become less visible (in 1554, they did).

Also in 1542, Catherine experienced the mystical
marriage. On Easter Sunday, Jesus appeared to her and
placed on her forefinger a gold ring with a large
pointed diamond. Others glimpsed the ring. Some saw
only a swelling and reddening of the flesh. The red-
dened appearance could not be duplicated, nor made
to go away.

Spectators also saw her passion wounds differently
as well. Some people saw the actual wounds, while
others saw only redness and swelling. Still others saw
her hands actually pierced and bleeding, or the saint
surrounded in a brilliant light.

Catherine had a mystical relationship with St. Phi-
lip Neri in Rome, with whom she exchanged letters.
The two never met in person, but did meet in mystical
visits, some of which were witnessed by others.
Catherine had the ability to bilocate.

After a lengthy illness, Catherine died on February
2, 1590, in an odor of sanctity. Her incorrupt body can
be seen in a reliquary below the major altar of the
basilica of Prato.

Beatified: 1732 by Pope Clement XII
Canonized: 1746 by Pope Benedict XIV
Feast: February 13

FURTHER READING
“St. Catherine de Ricci, V,, O.S.D.” URL: http://www.cin.
org/saints/cricci.html. Downloaded September 21, 2000.

Catherine of Alexandria (d. ca. 310)
martyr whose cult was suppressed in 1969
Name meaning: Pure one

Virgin and

St. Catherine of Alexandria (copyright © Robert Michael
Place. Used with permission)

Catherine of Alexandria is believed to have been born
in Alexandria, Egypt, to a noble family. She converted
to Christianity through a vision, and denounced
Emperor Maxentius (r. 306-312) for persecuting
Christians. Catherine was arrested. She debated 50
pagan philosophers, all of whom converted on the
strength of her words. They were burned to death by
Maxentius.

The emperor offered Catherine a royal marriage if
she would deny her faith. She refused and was sent to
jail. While in prison, and while Maxentius was away,
Catherine is said to have converted Maxentius’s wife
and 200 of his soldiers. He had them all put to death.

Catherine was condemned to death and was
strapped onto a spiked wheel. The wheel broke (leg-
end has it that an angel destroyed it). She was then
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beheaded. According to lore, an angel carried her body
to Mount Sinai and buried her there. St. Catherine’s
Monastery is still there. Her relics are in Cologne,
Rouen, Nuremberg and Grevenrode.

Catherine has been venerated in the Eastern church
since the 10th century. She is one of the Fourteen Holy
Helpers whose voices guided St. Joan of Arc. She has
been invoked against diseases of the head and tongue;
for harvests; and for assistance in drowning. In art she
is shown wearing a crown and with a spiked wheel.

Feast: formerly November 25

Patronage: bakers; barbers; hospitals; jurists;
libraries; Paris haute couture; philosophers;
preachers; pupils; single women; teachers; the-
ologians; universities; virgins; wheelwrights; Uni-
versity of Paris; Valais, Switzerland

Catherine of Bologna
artist and Poor Clare

(1413-1463) Mystic, writer,

Catherine of Bologna was born Catherine de Vigri on
March 9, 1413. She was the daughter of a diplomatic
agent of the marquis of Ferrara. At the age of 11, she
was appointed maid of honor to Margaret d’Este, the
daughter of the marquis, and shared her training and
education. Margaret married when Catherine was 14.
Catherine turned down marriage proposals, and at age
17 left the court and became a Franciscan Tertiary in
Ferrara. Eventually her community became part of the
Poor Clares.

Catherine assumed the duties of the bakers, then of
novice mistress. A story is told that once she baked
bread and left the loaves in the oven for five hours
while she attended a sermon. The loaves did not burn,
but turned out beautifully. After her death, the oven
was said to emit a sweet perfume for 10 days before
each of her feast days and for several days thereafter.

Catherine began to experience visions of Christ and
the Blessed Virgin Mary. One Christmas Eve, Mary
appeared and placed the infant Jesus in Catherine’s
arms. On another occasion, she heard angelic choirs
singing after the Elevation of the Mass.

After 24 years at the Ferrara convent, Catherine was
sent back to Bologna with 15 sisters to establish a con-
vent. She was abbess there for the rest of her life.

Catherine was a writer and artist. The Seven Spiri-
tual Weapons, a mystical work on her spiritual life, is
her most important text. She also composed books of
sermons, devotions and verses. She painted miniatures
and illustrated a breviary.

In Lent of 1463, Catherine became seriously ill.
On March 9, her birthday, she pronounced the name
of Jesus three times, and a heavenly perfume came

around her, signaling her death. Though 50 years old,
her face took on the radiance of youth.

Catherine was buried within hours without a coffin.
Her body was exhumed 18 days later because of the
sweet scent coming from her grave and the miraculous
cures claimed by those who visited it. Her body was
found to be incorrupt and bathed in sweat. While sis-
ters cleaned it, a pleasant perfume wafted from it. One
sister pulled off a piece of skin hanging from a foot,
and the corpse bled copiously. The next morning,
Catherine’s face was radiant. Three months later, the
corpse, exhumed, was found to bleed copiously
through the nose twice.

Since 1475, Catherine’s incorrupt body has
remained seated in an upright position in the church of
the Poor Clare convent in Bologna. In 1500, Catherine
appeared in a vision to a nun and requested that her
body be moved to a special chapel—the location and
layout were specified—and that her body be kept in its
upright position. This was done, and in 1688 the body
was moved to a larger and more elaborate chapel.

Until 1953, the relic was not covered, and pilgrims
kissed the feet. In 1953 a protective glass urn was con-
structed. The hands, which were chapping, were cov-
ered with a light coat of wax during World War II.
Catherine’s skin has darkened, perhaps due to expo-
sure from oil lamps.

Catherine’s biography was written by Sr. Illuminata;
the original is still at the convent in Bologna.

Canonized: May 22,1712, by Pope Clement XI
Feast: March 9
Patronage: art; artists; liberal arts

Catherine of Genoa (1447-1510)

mystic

Extraordinary

Catherine of Genoa was born in 1447 in Genoa, Italy,
to Jacopo Fieschi and Francesca di Negro, both mem-
bers of illustrious families. The Fieschi family boasted
two popes, Innocent IV (r. 1243-54) and Adrian V (r.
1276). Jacopo became the viceroy of Naples.

A delicate child with a rich inner life, Catherine
began to do penance at age eight by replacing her soft
bed with straw and a wooden block for a pillow. She
felt intense physical pain whenever she gazed upon her
favorite image of Jesus, “La Pieta.” At age 12 she began
to pray earnestly, and at age 13 announced her desire
to become a nun at the convent of Our Lady of Grace,
along with her sister Limbania. The convent turned
her away because of her age, however.

When Catherine was 16, her parents married her
against her wishes to a young nobleman, Giuliano
Adorno, who proved to be unfaithful, mean-tempered
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and a spendthrift. Catherine spent five years in
depressed misery and another five years trying to
amuse herself in various activities.

Around 1473 she had a life-changing mystical expe-
rience. Urged by her sister nun to go to confession on
the day following the feast of St. Benedict, Catherine
complied but without enthusiasm. When she knelt in
the confessional, she felt herself pierced by a burning
ray of divine love that swept her into an ecstasy. She
felt united with God and purged of her miseries. The
confessor was not witness to this, having been called
out of the booth. When he returned, she could only
murmur that she would leave her confession for
another time. She went home, on fire and wounded
with the love of God, and closed herself in her room to
weep and sigh. Thereafter, she often beheld a vision of
Jesus nailed to the cross.

Catherine made her general confession and felt
cleansed of her sins. For nearly 14 months, she
remained in an exalted state of consciousness. She
experienced intense contrition, self-hatred and total
absorption in Christ, who showed her his flaming
Sacred Heart. In her contrition, she would lick the
earth with her tongue, not knowing what she was
doing. So complete was her mystical union that she felt
her own heart die within her and proclaimed, “I live no
longer, but Christ lives in me.”

Catherine’s interior state remained profoundly
changed for the rest of her life; she was sustained by a
burning inner fire. She had many encounters with
Christ and was taken into heaven to see the realms of
the angels.

For four years, she quit the world as much as possi-
ble. She imposed upon herself strict mortification and
penance. She wore hair cloth and ate no meat or fruit.
She slept on “sharply pointed things” and kept her
eyes cast downward. She spoke to others as little possi-
ble and in as low a voice as possible. She spent six
hours a day in prayer in such states of intensity that
she seemed like one dead to others. She yearned for
death.

For 23 Lents and Advents, she was unable to eat,
and could consume only a glassful of water, vinegar
and pounded salt. Because of these and other mea-
sures, Catherine was often seriously ill. She received
the conventional medical treatments, which included
bloodletting. This especially was believed to relieve her
inner fire.

In spite of her self-inflicted sufferings, Catherine
managed to do volunteer work in hospitals and among
the poor. Reduced to poverty herself thanks to Giu-
liano, she was given funds to aid others by the Ladies
of Mercy. In her volunteer work, Catherine sought suf-
fering for herself as well. She cleaned houses of “the

most disgusting filth,” often putting it into her own
mouth in order to overcome the disgust it produced.
She took home clothing covered with filth and vermin
and cleaned them, returning them to their owners.
Remarkably, she was never affected by what she
touched.

Catherine became manager and treasurer of the
largest hospital in Genoa.

Somehow she managed to convert her wayward
husband, who became a Third Order Franciscan and
agreed to live with her in continence. Giuliano died in
1497.

Beginning around 1491, Catherine began to suffer
from a mysterious malady that doctors did not know
how to treat. It did not seem to be either physical or
spiritual; it left her greatly debilitated. In 1493, Cather-
ine nearly died of the plague. She recovered, but
remained permanently weakened.

Catherine followed her own inner guidance and
would not submit to the spiritual direction of anyone
else. She often told others that she could not put into
words what she experienced. In 1495 a Father
Marabotti became her spiritual adviser, and helped her
to compile her memoirs in her Life and Doctrine.

In 1509 her food intake, which had never been
good, declined drastically; she ate in a week what most
people would eat in a day. That soon dropped to noth-
ing more than small quantities of broth.

Nonetheless, Catherine attracted many visitors,
who saw perfection in her. She touched others with her
“burning words of divine love.” But as her strength
ebbed, she was able to utter only phrases and words,
such as “Love of God” and “charity, union and peace,”
and finally just “God.” She suffered violent attacks in
which she would seem to writhe as if in flames of fire,
and would cease breathing. She felt her heart wounded
with a new ray of divine love, which caused more
severe bodily pain.

On January 10, 1510, she lost sight and speech,
and made signs to be given last rites. She recovered her
senses but continued to suffer in agony. By May doc-
tors said they could do nothing for her and that her
affliction was “supernatural.” Her last months were
spent in excruciating pain. She could not tolerate tak-
ing any food or liquid.

On September 12, black blood flowed from her
mouth and her body was covered with black stripes.
She bled violently again on September 14. That
evening, she indicated she would take her Communion
in heaven. She died uttering, “Into thy hands, O Lord, I
commend my spirit.” She was seen by several persons
ascending to heaven clothed in white and on a white
cloud.
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Catherine’s body was interred in the hospital of the
Pammatone, the largest hospital in Genoa, where she
had done much of her work. It was disinterred nearly a
year later when it was discovered that a conduit of
water ran behind the tomb. Though the wood coffin
was decayed and filled with worms, the body was
untouched and incorrupt, and appeared to have been
dried out. Her body was put on public display for eight
days, and pilgrims claimed to be cured. Prior to her
death, Catherine had instructed that her heart be exam-
ined after death to see if it had been consumed by
divine love, but this was not done.

The body was placed into a marble sepulcher in the
hospital. It was moved to various locations in 1551,
1593 and 1642. In 1694 it was moved to a glass-sided
reliquary placed high on an altar in a church built in
her honor in the quarter of Portoria, Genoa.

Catherine’s body was examined by physicians in
1834 and on May 10, 1960. Though brown, dry and
rigid, her relic was determined to be free of embalming
or any treatment for preservation.

Catherine wrote Spiritual Dialogue between the Soul,
the Body, Self-Love, the Spirit, Humanity and the Lord God
and Treatise on Purgatory, two mystical works that
proved her sanctity for canonization and remain
respected today.

In her writings, Catherine exhorts people to seek
nothing less than complete union with God. Without
the grace of God, she said, man is nothing more than
the devil. She said the human intellect could not com-
prehend the true nature of pure love, which is inca-
pable of suffering.

Beatified: 1675 by Pope Clement V
Canonized: 1737 by Pope Clement XII
Feast: September 14

FURTHER READING

“The Life and Doctrine of Saint Catherine of Genoa.” URL:
http://www.ccel.wheaton.edu/c/catherine_genoa/life.
Downloaded: February 6, 2000.

Catherine of Siena (1347-1380) Doctor of the Church
and second woman to be so named; one of the Church’
greatest mystics; Dominican tertiary; papal adviser

Catherine of Siena was born on March 25, 1347, in
Siena, Italy, the youngest of 25 children in the Benin-
casa family. Her father, Giacomo di Benincasa, was a
dyer; her mother, Lapa, the daughter of a local poet.
From her earliest childhood Catherine saw visions and
practiced extreme austerities; she wore a hair shirt.
When she was five, it was said that angels levitated her
up and down stairs, so pleased were they with her
“Hail Mary” prayers. At age six, she had a remarkable

vision of Jesus giving her a benediction, which took
place while she was traveling on a road with an older
brother. At the age of seven she consecrated her virgin-
ity to Christ. At 16, she took the habit of the Domini-
can Tertiaries.

For three years she engaged in celestial visitations
and familiar conversation with Christ.

In 1366 she had a profound mystical experience of
spiritual marriage. For a long time preceding, she had
been advised of this by Jesus speaking in her interior
voice. On the last day of Carnival, the voice told her, “I
will this day celebrate solemnly with thee the feast of
the betrothal of thy soul, and even as I promised I will
espouse thee to Myself in faith.”

While Jesus spoke, there appeared a glorious
vision of Jesus, the Blessed Virgin Mary, St. John the
Evangelist, St. Paul and St. Dominic, along with the
prophet David, who played the psaltery set to music.
Mary took Catherine’s right hand and held out its fin-
gers to Jesus, asking him to espouse himself to
Catherine in faith. Jesus drew out a gold ring set with
an exquisite diamond encircled with four pearls and
placed it on the ring finger of Catherine’s right hand.
He said, “Lo, I espouse thee to myself, thy Creator
and Savior in the faith, which until thou dost cele-
brate thy eternal nuptials with me in Heaven thou
will preserve ever without stain. Henceforth, my
daughter, do manfully and without hesitation those
things by which the ordering of My providence will
be put into thy hands; for being now armed with the
fortitude of the faith, now will happily overcome all
thy adversaries.”

The vision disappeared. For the rest of her life,
Catherine could see the ring upon her finger, though it
was invisible to others. (Similarly, St. Teresa of Avila
was given by Jesus a rosary made of “stones more pre-
cious than diamonds.” It, too, was visible only to her.)

Catherine experienced other mystical gifts, includ-
ing levitation during prayer, multiplication of food and
the ability to smell the stench of sin in others. She per-
formed miraculous healings and relieved others of dia-
bolical possession. Supernatural rays of light issued
forth from her face. She endured mystical fasts. In
1370, she was said to raise her mother, Lapa, from the
dead after her mother died suddenly.

Once she fell into an ecstasy in which Jesus
approached her holding a red human heart. He opened
her left side and placed the heart inside, saying, “Dear-
est daughter, as I took your heart away, now, you see, I
am giving you Mine, so that you can go on living with
it forever.” The heart was said to make loud noises of
joy whenever Catherine was happy.

Catherine’s peers resented her supernatural gifts
and brought charges against her. She was cleared of
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The mystical marriage of St. Catherine of Siena (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division)
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charges and given a spiritual director, Bl. Raymond of
Capua, who became her first biographer.

Catherine returned to Siena, and began to tend the
sick (especially lepers and plague victims), help the
poor and convert sinners. She suffered terrible physical
pain, but forced herself to live for long periods on little
food save the Blessed Sacrament. Nonetheless, she
charmed everyone with her happiness, wisdom and
spiritual insight, and was sought as a counselor and
peacemaker. She gathered disciples.

During the summer of 1370 she received a series of
special manifestations of Divine mysteries, which cul-
minated in a prolonged trance, a kind of mystical
death. She had a vision of hell, purgatory and heaven,
and heard a Divine command to leave her cell and
enter the public life of the world. From this trance,
Catherine produced her great mystical work, The Dia-
logue of the Seraphic Virgin Catherine of Siena.

She also began to dispatch hundreds of letters to
men and women, including the princes and nobility of
the republics of Italy, and papal legates. She was con-
sulted about the affairs of the Church, and counseled
Pope Gregory XI (r. 1370-78) on numerous matters,
including his plans for a crusade against the Turks, and
for reforming the clergy and the administration of the
Papal States. On a visit to Pisa in 1375, Catherine
received the stigmata on the fourth Sunday of Lent.
Praying before a crucifix, Catherine saw five rays of
blood come from the points of the wounds to her,
changing into rays of light as they reached her body.
She prayed that the marks would not be visible to oth-
ers as long as she lived; they appeared after her death.
She said the five wounds did not pain her but strength-
ened her.

Gregory sent her to Avignon as a peace ambassador
of the Florentines when war broke out between Flo-
rence and the Holy See, but she was unsuccessful.
However, she impressed Gregory so much that he took
her advice to return the papacy to Rome in 1377. In
1378 Gregory dispatched her again to Florence, where
an attempt was made to murder her. Gregory died
and was succeeded by Urban VI (r. 1378-89). She re-
mained in Florence until peace was declared, and then
returned to Siena.

Urban’s election resulted in the Great Schism and
the election of an antipope, Clement VII. Catherine
supported Urban VI, and was summoned to Rome by
him in November 1378. She remained in Rome for the
rest of her life, working for the reformation of the
Church, serving the sick and poor, and dispatching
eloquent letters in behalf of Urban (she had miracu-
lously learned how to write herself in 1377 and no
longer had to rely on dictation). Her last political
work, accomplished practically from her deathbed, was

the reconciliation of Pope Urban VI with the Roman
Republic.

In 1380 her health began to fail and Catherine
prayed to join Christ. She could scarcely swallow due
to severe inflammation in her throat. On Sexagesima
Sunday, she suffered a violent stroke, followed by
another one the next evening. Nonetheless, she rose
every day during most of Lent and walked a mile to St.
Peter’s, where she prayed all day. Finally, overcome, she
lay in bed for eight weeks, covered with sores and
unable to lift her head. Her body wasted away. In her
final hours, she rallied to berate herself for her imper-
fections and sins, and to pray for the Church, the pope
and others. She asked for, and received, plenary indul-
gence to be absolved of all her sins, saying it had been
granted to her by Popes Gregory and Urban.

Catherine died at age 33 on April 29, the Sunday
before the Ascension. Her body was displayed for three
days and remained intact, flexible and fragrant. Huge
crowds came to touch her corpse.

Catherine was buried in the cemetery of the Church
of Santa Maria sopra Minerva, and soon was moved to
the foot of a column facing the Rosary Chapel, where
she remained until 1430. However, in 1385 her head
was severed, placed in a gilded copper reliquary and
secretly sent to Siena, where it eventually was placed in
the Hospital of St. Lazarus, where she had ministered
the sick. Other relics taken from the body at the same
time were an arm for Siena and three fingers for
Venice.

In 1430, what remained of the body was placed in a
new stone sarcophagus. It was opened from time to
time for the taking of more relics for Dominicans
throughout Europe, including:

e a hand taken in 1487 for the Dominican Sisters of
the Monastery of S. Domenico et Sisto in Rome;

o the left foot, bearing stigmata, taken in 1487 for the
Church of SS. John and Paul in Venice;

e a rib taken in 1501 for the convent of St. Mark in
Florence;

* a shoulder blade taken in 1575 for the Dominican
Sisters of Magnanapoli in Rome;

 two reliquaries of bone and skin taken in 1855 for
St. Dominic’s in Stone, England, and the convent of
St. Catherine in Bow, England.

The finger that bore the mystical ring of Christ was
given to the Chartreuse of Pontiniano near Florence.
Other small relics were distributed as well.

On August 4, 1855, the sarcophagus of Catherine
was placed below the main altar of the Church of Santa
Maria sopra Minerva. This event is known as the
Translation of the Relics of St. Catherine, which feast
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is commemorated on the Thursday after Sexagesima
Sunday.

The feast of her Espousals is kept on the Thursday
of the carnival.

Besides her Dialogue, Catherine’s body of work
includes more than 400 letters and a collection of
prayers. Her writings are considered to be among the
classics of the Italian language. The Dialogue comprises
four treatises, on divine providence, discretion, prayer
and obedience. Its style “bears upon it all the marks of
true automatic composition of the highest type,”
according to mysticism expert Evelyn Underhill. Cen-
tral to Catherine’s teaching is that man, whether in the
cloister or in the world, must always abide by “the cell
of self-knowledge,” through which one comes into per-
fect knowledge of God: “In self-knowledge, then, thou
wilt humble thyself; seeing that, in thyself, thou dost
not even exist.”

Catherine is invoked against headaches and the
plague. In art she is depicted in her Dominican Tertiary
clothing. Her emblems are the lily and book, the crown
of thorns, or sometimes a heart, referring to the legend
of her having changed hearts with Christ. She is the
second woman after St. Teresa of Avila to be named a
Doctor of the Church, and one of only three women to
hold the honor.

Canonized: 1461 by Pope Pius 11

Named Doctor of the Church: 1970 by Pope Paul VI

Feast: April 29

Patronage: the dying; fire prevention; nursing
homes; spinsters; Italy (since 1939); Rome (since
1866)

FURTHER READING
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Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press, 2001.
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Catherine of Sweden (1330 or 1331-1381) Daugh-
ter of St. Bridget of Sweden and cofounder of the Brigit-
tines

Also known as: Catherine of Vadstena

Catherine of Sweden was born in 1330 or 1331 in
Ulfasa, Sweden, one of eight children of St. Bridget.
Like her mother, she married young; her husband,
Eggared von Kurnen (Lyderrson), was a lifelong inva-
lid. They took a vow of continence.

When Bridget went to live in Rome in 1348,
Catherine received her husband’s permission to follow
her. He died while she was away. Catherine accompa-

nied her mother to the Holy Land and elsewhere. She
declined offers to remarry and stayed with her mother
for 25 years. When her mother died, she returned to
Sweden with her body to bury it at Vadstena, a
monastery Bridget had founded.

Catherine took on the task of directing her mother’s
Order of the Holy Savior, or Brigittines. After several
years, she returned to Rome for five years to work for
her mother’s canonization. In 1380 Pope Urban VI rati-
fied the Brigittine rule.

While in Italy, Catherine became friends with St.
Catherine of Siena and almost accompanied her on a
trip to the court of Joanna of Naples, a notoriously
immoral queen. Joanna had brought about the moral
disgrace of Bridgets son, Charles, and St. Catherine of
Vadstena could not bring herself to face the woman
who had endangered her brother’s soul. She returned
to Sweden at the outbreak of the Great Western
Schism.

Catherine returned to Vadstena before her mother
was canonized. Her health failed, and after a painful
illness she died peacefully at Vadstena. She was never
formally canonized, but Pope Innocent VIII (r.
1484-92) confirmed her cult. Her feast is observed in
Sweden and in the Brigittine Order. A chapel in the
Piazza Farnese in Rome is dedicated to her.

Catherine is credited with raising the dead on at
least two occasions. One case concerned a man who
fell from a coach and was run over; another was a man
who fell from a roof and was badly mangled. Both were
declared dead, and Catherine touched them and
restored them to life and health.

Feast: March 24

FURTHER READING

Herbert, Father Albert J. Raised from the Dead: True Stories of
400 Resurrection Miracles. Rockford, Tll.: TAN Books,
1986.

Catherine Labouré (1806-1876) Virgin and mystic
who received a vision of the Miraculous Medal from the
Blessed Virgin Mary

Name meaning: Pure one

Catherine Labouré was born on May 2, 1806, in the
Cote d’Or, France, to a farming family. Her given name
at birth was Zoe. She was eight when her mother died,
and she assumed responsibility for helping to raise her
siblings.

At age 18 she had a dream that foretold her destiny
in the church. In the dream, she attended mass said by
a saintly old priest. She then met him again when she
visited a sick person. The priest told her, “My daugh-
ter, it is good to nurse the sick. Now you avoid me, but
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St. Catherine Labouré

one day you'll be very glad to come to me. The good
Lord has plans for you—do not forget it!”

In 1830 she joined the Daughters of Charity,
founded by St. Vincent de Paul, in Paris. When she saw
a picture of him, she was astonished to recognize him
as the saintly old priest in her dream.

Three times in 1830, while Catherine was still a
novice, Mary appeared to her. The first apparition
occurred on July 18, after Catherine had retired to her
partitioned cubicle, silently repeating a prayer. She
went to sleep with the thought that she would see
Mary that night. At about 11:30 PM., she was awak-
ened by the sound of someone calling her name. She
saw a child dressed in white who appeared to be about
four or five years old. The child told her to come to the
chapel where Mary was waiting for her. Catherine was
surprised to see that the way to the chapel was lit. She
was even more surprised when she entered the chapel
and saw all the candles and lights lit, which reminded
her of midnight mass. After a long wait, Mary made

her presence known with a noise like the rustling of a
silk dress. Turning, Catherine saw Mary—a sight that
she described as “the sweetest moment in my life.”

Mary told Catherine that God wished to charge her
with a mission. She would suffer many trials and be
contradicted, but she should never have fear. She
would be inspired in her prayers. Mary advised her
how to act with her director and also told her several
secrets that she was not to disclose. She predicted that
bad times were coming for France and that the whole
world would be in upheaval due to “all sorts of trou-
bles.” The streets would be filled with blood and the
whole world would be in sorrow. Catherine was never
to lose faith. Mary, who seemed to be in great grief,
departed. The child—whom Catherine felt was her
guardian angel—took her back to her bed. It was 2
AM. A few days later Catherine told her vision to her
confessor, Father Aladel, but he paid little attention to
it.

The second vision occurred on November 27,
1830, at 5:30 in the afternoon. Catherine was partici-
pating in a community meditation in the chapel. She
saw Mary, exquisitely beautiful, dressed in white and
standing on a globe. She held a small globe, above
which was a small golden cross. Mary was looking up
toward heaven. She held the globe against her heart
and offered it to Jesus as advocate and mother of all
mankind. Suddenly her hands blazed with dazzling
light. Her fingers were covered with jewels that fell
onto the globe at her feet and she lowered her hands.
Mary looked at Catherine and said, “This globe which
you see represents the world as a whole and France in
particular and each separate individual.” The streams
of light were “the symbol of the graces which I shed on
those who ask me for them.”

Catherine then saw a slightly oval frame form
around Mary. Over it were the words “O Mary con-
ceived without sin, pray for us who have recourse to
thee” written in gold letters. She heard a voice say,
“Have a medal made according to this model. Every-
body who wears it will receive great graces by wearing
it around the neck. The graces will be abundant for
persons who wear it with confidence.” Catherine saw
the reverse side of the medal, which featured the cross,
the letter M, the two hearts of Jesus and Mary, and the
12 stars of the apostles.

Catherine shared her second vision with Father
Aladel, but he dismissed this one, too.

The last vision occurred in December 1830. Cather-
ine saw Mary standing above and in the rear of the
tabernacle on the altar. Under Mary’s feet was a green
serpent with yellow spots. When she noticed that some
of the jewels on Mary’s hands did not shine, Catherine
was told, “Those stones which remain dark symbolize
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the graces that people have forgotten to request.”
Catherine was again shown the design for the medal
and instructed to have it made. Mary told her she
would not appear again but would speak to Catherine
in her prayers.

Father Aladel still refused to act. Catherine prayed
about this, and was told by Mary that a day would
come when he would do Mary’s bidding. In 1832, after
securing permission from the archbishop of Paris, he
had 1,500 medals made. They were approved in 1836.
When distributed, they immediately were associated
with miraculous healings and conversions, and quickly
spread throughout Europe. By 1836, more than six
million medals had been made in Paris and Lyons, and
millions more in 12 other cities.

Mary also instructed that Father Aladel should
found and direct the Sodality Children of Mary. This he
did.

The troubles for France proved to be the anticlerical
revolt in Paris in 1870.

Catherine and Father Aladel told no one who had
received the vision for this medal. Father Aladel took
the secret to his grave; Catherine remained silent about
it for 46 years. She continued her work as a Daughter
of Charity. On all feasts of Mary she was sick or suffer-
ing extreme pain.

Early in 1876 she announced that she would be
dead within a year. With Mary’s permission, she gave a
full account of the apparitions to her mother superior.
She died on December 31, 1876, and was buried in the
chapel of the Daughters of Charity of Paris. Her body
was exhumed on March 21, 1933, and found to be
incorrupt. Her hands were amputated and her heart
removed for relics, as were several ribs, clavicle and the
kneecaps. Her incorrupt body, with wax hands, is on
display behind glass.

Canonized: July 27,1947, by Pope Pius XII
Feast: November 25
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Cecilia (second century?) Roman virgin and martyr

The story of Cecilia, a popular saint, is thought to be
fiction built upon fact. Cecilia is said to have been born
in Rome to a patrician family and was brought up
Christian. Dates of her life vary; by some accounts, she
is believed to have lived in the second century and
died about 177, and by other accounts she lived in the
third century.

St. Cecilia inspired by angels (Author’s collection)

She decided at a young age that she would remain a
virgin for the love of God. Her father, however, pledged
her to marry a young patrician man named Valerian.
On the day of her marriage, Cecilia wore sackcloth
next to her skin, fasted, and invoked the saints and
angels to help her guard her virginity. She told her hus-
band, “I have a secret to tell you. You must know that I
have an angel of God watching over me. If you touch
me in the way of marriage he will be angry and you
will suffer; but if you respect my maidenhood he’ll love
you as he loves me.” Valerian said, “Show me this
angel. If he be of God, I will refrain as you wish.”
Cecilia answered, “If you believe in the living and one
true God and receive the water of baptism, then you
shall see the angel.” Valerian agreed.

Cecilia sent him to Urban (destined to be pope
from 223 to 230), who baptized him. When he
returned, he found Cecilia praying in her chamber.
Standing beside her was an angel with flaming wings,
holding two crowns of roses and lilies. The angel
placed the crowns on their heads and vanished. Shortly



72  Celestine |

after, Tibertius, the brother of Valerian, entered the
chamber and marveled at the fragrance and beauty of
the flowers at that season of the year. He also con-
sented to be baptized.

Valerian and Tibertius devoted themselves to bury-
ing the martyrs slain daily by the prefect of the city,
Turcius Almachius. [Note: There is no record of a pre-
fect by that name.] They were arrested and brought
before the prefect, and when they refused to sacrifice to
the gods they were beheaded. Dying with them was a
man named Maximus, who declared himself a Christ-
ian after witnessing their courage.

Cecilia was called upon to renounce her faith.
Instead she began preaching and converting others.
She summoned 400 persons to her home, where Urban
baptized them all. Cecilia was arrested and was con-
demned to be suffocated in the bathroom of her own
house. She was shut in for a night and a day. The fur-
nace was stoked with seven times the amount of nor-
mal fuel, but Cecilia was not harmed. When
Almachius heard this he sent a soldier to cut off her
head in the bath. The man struck three times without
being able to sever her head. He left her bleeding.
Cecilia lived three days. Crowds came and collected
her blood with napkins and sponges while she
preached to them or prayed. After she died, she was
buried by Urban and his deacons in the catacomb of St.
Callistus.

Pope Paschal T (r. 817-824) wished to transfer the
saint’s body to a place of honor but could not locate it.
In a dream, she told him where to find it. He translated
the relics, along with the bones of Valerian, Tibertius
and Maximus, to the Church of St. Cecilia, an old and
decayed church dedicated to the saint, and believed to
be built on the site of her family home. He founded a
monastery in their honor.

In 1599 Cardinal Paul Emilius Sfondrati, nephew of
Pope Gregory XIV (r. 1590-91), rebuilt the church of
St. Cecilia. The sarcophagus of Cecilia was opened and
her body and clothing were found intact. The cypress
casket was put on display for a month until November
22, the feast of Cecilia. A sweet fragrance issued from
it. The relic was then placed in a silver coffin and
interred behind the main altar.

The story of Cecilia may have arisen along with
other stories that glorified virginity and were popular
at the time. A Greek religious romance on the “Loves
of Cecilia and Valerian” appeared in the fourth century,
apparently intended to replace more sensual romances.
The Roman calendar of the fourth century and the
Carthaginian calendar of the fifth century make no
mention of Cecilia, which surely would have been the
case had her story been true.

Additionally, Christians were not persecuted and
condemned by Emperor Alexander Severus, who
reigned when Urban was pope, though it is possible
some may have suffered. As for the prefect, Urbanus
served in that capacity during the time of Pope Urban.
Other versions of the story of Cecilia say events took
place under the reigns of the emperors Commodus or
Marcus.

Reportedly a church was dedicated to Cecilia in
Rome in the fifth century, in which Pope Symmachus
(r. 498-514) held a council in 500. But Symmachus
held no council in that year, and subsequent councils
were held elsewhere. Cecilia does not appear to have
been known or venerated in Rome until about the time
when Pope St. Gelasius (r. 492-496) introduced her
name into his Sacramentary. Her name was entered
into the Eucharistic prayer.

Cecilia is regarded as the patron of music because
on the day of her marriage she heard heavenly music
and sang to God in her heart. In art she is represented
with an organ or organ-pipes in her hand.

Feast: November 22
Patronage: composers; music; musicians; organ
builders; singers

Celestine I (d. 432) Pope

Celestine was born in Rome, the son of Priscus. He is
said to have lived for a while with St. Ambrose in
Milan and was a good friend of St. Augustine of Hippo.
He served as a deacon in the Roman Church and on
September 10, 422, succeeded Pope St. Boniface I (.
418-422).

Like his recent predecessors, Celestine acted deci-
sively as head of the universal Church. Much of his
pontificate was concerned with combating various
heresies—Manichaeanism, Donatism, Noviatianism,
Pelagianism, and Nestorianism—some of which the
Church had been battling for centuries. He is perhaps
best known, however, for one of his last official acts—
dispatching St. Patrick as a missionary to Ireland
around the year 430.

Celestine died in Rome on July 26, 432, having
reigned nine years, 10 months, and 16 days. He was
buried the following day in the Catacombs of St.
Priscilla in a tomb that he had had decorated with
paintings representing the Council of Ephesus, at
which he had condemned Nestorianism. In 820, his
relics were translated to the church of St. Prassede
(Praxedes). He is honored as a saint, especially in the
Greek Orthodox Church.

In art, Celestine is a pope with a dove, dragon and
flame.
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Feast: April 6 (formerly July 27 and/or August 1);
April 8 (Eastern Church)

Celestine V (ca. 1210-1296) Hermit, founder of the
Celestines, pope

Also known as: Peter Celestine V, Peter of Morone (or
Morrone), Pietro di Murrone

Celestine was born to a peasant family in the Neapoli-
tan province of Moline about 1211, the 11th of 12 chil-
dren. When he was between 17 and 20, he became a
hermit, though he later studied for the priesthood and
was ordained in Rome. He joined the Benedictines at
Faizola in 1246. Five years later, he retired to Mt.
Morone (Morrone) in the Abruzzi (hence his sur-
name), though he spent some time also on the even
more remote Mt. Majella.

Taking St. John the Baptist as his model, he wore a
haircloth roughened with knots, draped himself with
an iron chain, and fasted every day except Sunday.
Each year he kept four Lents, passing three of them on
bread and water, devoting entire days and the better
parts of nights to prayer, reading, copying books or
even hard labor, busying himself so that he would not
be found and tempted by the devil. His austerities and
penances attracted many imitators, leading to the
establishment of a Benedictine suborder, the Celes-
tines, approved by Pope Urban IV (r. 1261-64) in
1264.

At first Peter led the Celestines, but in 1284, tired
of governance, he appointed a vicar, and once again
departed for the wilderness. His peace was not to last,
however. After the death of Pope Nicholas IV (r.
1288-92) in April 1292, the Sacred College of Cardi-
nals was unable to agree on a successor. They had
wrestled with the problem for over two years when
Cardinal Latino Orisini told the assembly that God had
revealed to a saintly hermit (whom they understood to
be Peter) that if they did not fill the see of Rome within
four months, there would be severe repercussions. This
was enough for the cardinals to elect Peter, which they
did on July 5, 1294. A month later a large delegation
arrived to notify him. Peter, who was then in his 80s, is
said to have been in tears, but acquiesced in what he
believed was God’s plan for him.

The cardinals asked Peter to come to Perugia,
where they had been meeting, for his coronation, but
under the influence of King Charles of Naples, he sum-
moned them to Aquila (a town within the kingdom of
Naples) instead. Although only three of the cardinals
had arrived by the time that Peter had arrived, Charles
ordered him to be crowned, and the ceremony had to
be repeated a few days later (on August 29, 1294),

when all were in attendance—the only instance of a
double papal coronation in history. Upon his consecra-
tion, Peter assumed the name Celestine V.

Peter’s elevation was welcomed by the extremist
spiritual movement within the Church, which saw it as
the fulfillment of prophecies that the Holy Spirit would
soon reign on Earth through a monk. However, Cardi-
nal Latino was—it is said—so grief-stricken by the way
things were turning out that he fell ill and died.
Indeed, Celestine soon showed himself to be entirely
unprepared to lead the Church. He was easily swayed
by persons wishing to take advantage of him, espe-
cially King Charles. It took only a few months before
the cardinals’ second thoughts reached the point of
investigating the possibility of papal abdication, an-
other unprecedented event. The possibility being
decided in the affirmative, the choice was put to Peter,
who issued his resignation to the Sacred College meet-
ing in Naples on December 13, 1294.

The cardinals then elected one of their own, Cardi-
nal Gaetani, who took the name Boniface VIII (r.
1294-1303). Fearing Celestine’s popularity would
cause a schism within the Church, Boniface had him
arrested and imprisoned in the castle of Fumone, near
Anagni, Italy. Celestine was reportedly pleased with
this latest turn. He is quoted as saying: “I wanted noth-
ing in the world but a cell, and a cell they have given
me.” He died in Fumone on May 19, 1296, and was
buried at Anagni. A half-century later his relics were
translated to the church of his order at Aquila, where
they remain the object of great veneration.

In art, Celestine is depicted as a pope with a dove at
his ear and the devil trying to disturb him.

Canonized: 1313 by Pope Clement V
Feast: May 19
Patronage: Bookbinders

Chad (d. 672) Bishop and founder
Also known as: Ceadda

Much of what is known about the life of Chad comes
from the Venerable Bede, who was one of his monks
and disciples.

Chad was probably born in Northumbria. He was
one of four brothers, all of whom entered the religious
life. Cynibill and Caelin became priests. Cedd (with
whom Chad is sometimes confused) became abbot of
Lastingham and bishop of the East Saxons.

Chad went to Lindisfarne and studied under St.
Aidan. He then went to Ireland to the Monastery of
Rathmelsige (Mefont), where he studied with St. Ecg-
berht (Egbert). He returned to England, and helped
Cedd found the monastery of Laestingeau (Lasting-
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ham) in Yorkshire. When Cedd died, Chad became
abbot.

King Oswy made Chad archbishop of York. St.
Theodore, archbishop of Canterbury, disciplined him
for impropriety, but in 669 appointed him bishop of
Mercia. Chad built a church and monastery at Litch-
field.

He received a vision foretelling his death, and died
in 672. A shrine was built for him, and the miracles
reported there attracted pilgrimages. In the 12th cen-
tury, the shrine was removed to the cathedral at Litch-
field. During the Reformation, his relics were taken to
Birmingham to the cathedral dedicated to him.

In art Chad is shown dressed as a bishop and hold-
ing a small church in his hand.

Feast: March 2

Charles Borromeo (1538-1584) Cardinal and prin-
cipal figure in the Catholic Reformation

Charles Borromeo was born on October 2, 1538, to a
noble family, Count Gilbert Borromeo and Margaret de’
Medici, sister of Pope Pius IV (1. 1559-1565). Charles,
heir to a great fortune, had a wealthy and gracious
upbringing in the family castle of Arona on Lake Mag-
giore. At age 12 he was sent to the Benedictine abbey
of SS. Gratian and Felinus, and received his clerical
tonsure.

His uncle, Angelo de’ Medici, became Pope Pius V
in 1558, and in 1559 named Charles his secretary of
state and cardinal and administrator of the see of
Milan—even though he was not yet a priest.

With his access to the pope, Charles became influ-
ential in church politics and reform efforts. He per-
suaded the pope to reconvene the Council of Trent,
which had been suspended in 1552. Charles took an
active role in the council and its deliberations, and
directed the writing of its decrees in the third and last
group of sessions. In 1556, Charles began a program of
radical reforms to improve the morals of both clerics
and laity. He established seminaries, founded a Confra-
ternity of Christine Doctrine, increased aid to the poor,
aided the English college at Douai, and held six
provincial councils and six diocesan synods. His
reform efforts made him many enemies, one of whom
wounded him in an assassination attempt in 1559.
After the deaths of his father and older brother, Charles
declined to become the head of his family. He took
ordination as a priest in 1563 and was made bishop of
Milan. When famine and the plague struck in 1576, he
worked to aid the starving and the ill, using his own
resources and even going into debt. He had a vision
that told him when the plague would end. In 1578 he

founded the Oblates of St. Ambrose, now called the
Oblates of St. Charles.

Charles died in Milan on the night of November
3—4, 1584. He was buried in a double coffin beneath
the pavement in the middle of the cathedral of Milan,
of which he was archbishop. Throngs of pilgrims came
to his tomb over the years. By 1610, pilgrims had left
10,891 silver votive offerings and 9,618 precious gifts,
such as jewelry, gems and lamps of gold and silver.

In 1605, during the cause for his beatification, his
body was exhumed. Moisture had corroded the cover
of both lead and wood coffins, and had penetrated to
the body. His remains, however, were found intact. An
oratory was constructed, and in 1607 the remains,
revested and placed in new wood and lead coffins,
were buried there.

In 1880, the body was exhumed again and was
found to have been embalmed. It was determined that
the embalming could not account for the remarkable
preservation of his body 300 years after his death.

Over the years, the oratory has been improved, and
a jewel-like reliquary was made of rock crystal set in
silver and adorned with miniature angels and religious
figures.

When Pope Paul VI (r. 1963-78) was still arch-
bishop of Milan, he had the face of Charles covered in
silver. The body is clothed in pontifical garments stud-
ded with gems.

Canonization: 1610 by Pope Paul V

Feast: November 4

Patronage: Apple orchards; boarding schools; cate-
chists; against colic; learning and the arts; public
libraries; secular clergy; seminarians; spiritual
directors; against stomach diseases; against
ulcers; dioceses of Lugano and Basel, Switzer-
land; Salzburg University, Austria

Charles of Sezze (1613 -1670) Franciscan mystic

Charles of Sezze was born John Charles Marchioni in
Sezze, Italy, on October 19, 1613, to humble parents.
His family name may also have been Melchior. He was
raised by his grandmother, who instilled in him a love
of God.

As a boy Charles worked as a shepherd and
dreamed of becoming a priest. At age 17 he made a
vow of chastity. His priestly ambition was thwarted by
his lack of education, so instead he became a Francis-
can lay brother at Naziano. He was given various
menial jobs, such as cook, porter and gardener at dif-
ferent monasteries near Rome.

Charles had numerous mystical experiences and
was given the gift of mystical knowledge. His wisdom
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impressed learned theologians. Among those who
sought his advice were cardinals and Pope Clement IX
(r. 1667-69). Charles became renowned for his holi-
ness, simplicity and charity, and for his severe mortifi-
cations. One day while meditating on the Eucharist, a
ray of light shot like an arrow from the host and
pierced his left side, leaving a wound that remained
even after his death.

When plague struck in 1656, Charles worked tire-
lessly for the victims. He also wrote several mystical
works.

Charles died in Rome on January 6, 1670.

Canonized: 1959 by Pope John XXIII
Feast: January 6

Christopher Martyr and one of the Fourteen Holy
Helpers
Name meaning: Christ-bearer

According to lore, Christopher, called Kester, was a
large, ugly man who earned his living by ferrying
people across a river.

Christopher was popularized by William Caxton’s
version of the Golden Legend. According to Caxton,
Christopher was of the lineage of the Canaanites. Prior
to baptism, his name was Reprobus. As Christopher, he
bore Christ in four ways: on his shoulders by leading
and conveying; in his body by making it lean; in his
mind by devotion; and in his mouth by confessing and
preaching.

The legend tells that one day Christopher decided
to seek out the greatest prince in the world. He learned
about the devil, and searched until he found him. But
the devil fled at the presence of a cross, and told
Christopher about Christ. Christopher wandered,
found a hermit, and made a home for himself by a
river. One day as he slept he was awakened by a child
asking to be carried across the river. Christopher put
him on his shoulders. As he waded into the water, the
child grew heavier and heavier until Christopher
feared for his life. The child then revealed himself to be
Christ. He told Christopher to place his staff in the
earth and be rewarded with flowers and fruit. Christo-
pher did so, and the next day found his staff like a
palm tree.

Christopher went to Lycia in Asia Minor (modern
Turkey), where God granted him the ability to under-
stand the foreign tongue. There he preached and con-
verted 8,000 men. The king sent knights to fetch him;
he converted them. The king executed the knights and
had Christopher thrown in prison. He was severely tor-
tured with iron rods and burning pitch but remained
unscathed and refused to renounce his faith. The king

St. Christopher (Engraving by Albrecht Diirer, 1251)

had him bound to a stake and shot with the arrows of
40 archers. The arrows stopped in the air and did not
strike him; one returned and blinded the king in one
eye. Christopher told him that upon his death on the
morrow, the king should take some of his blood, mix it
with clay and anoint the eye, and it would be healed.
The next day, Christopher was beheaded. The king did
as instructed, and his sight was restored. The king con-
verted.

From this legend arose the belief that whoever
looks upon an image of Christopher will not be
harmed that day. In the Middle Ages, statues of him
were placed near the entrances to churches.

The legend may be based on a martyr named
Christopher and called Kester, who made his living by
ferrying people across a river, and who died ca. 251 in
Lycia in Asia Minor. His relics were taken to Paris and
Rome.
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As one of the Fourteen Holy Helper saints, Christo-
pher was especially invoked against the plague in the
Middle Ages. He appeared to St. Joan of Arc.

Feast: July 25

Patronage: against accidents; bachelors; bus drivers;
against mortal dangers; motorists; against night-
mares; against the plague; porters; sailors; against
sudden death; travelers; truck drivers; America

Clare of Assisi (1194-1253) Founder of the Francis-
can Poor Clares

Clare was born on July 11, 1194, to a noble family.
Her father was Faverone Offreducio Ortolanadi Fiumi.
During Lent in 1212, she heard St. Francis of Assisi
preach and decided to imitate him and live a poor,
humble life for Jesus. She ran away from home and
dedicated herself to God on Palm Sunday in a little
chapel outside Assisi. Francis cut off her hair and gave
her the rough brown Franciscan habit. She went to the
Benedictine convent near Bastia.

Clare’s distraught parents tried to no avail to make
her return home. Soon her sister, St. Agnes of Assisi,
joined her, as well as other young women. In 1215
Clare became the superior of the Poor Clares and
moved into a house adjoining the church of St. Dami-
ano. The sisters wore no shoes, ate no meat, kept no
money and kept silent most of the time. Clare’s mother
and another sister, Beatrice, joined the community. The

St. Clare of Assisi with church fathers (Library of Congress
Prints and Photographs Division)

Poor Clares were granted a rule of absolute poverty by
Pope Innocent I1I (r. 1198-1216).

Clare established other convents, and the order
spread throughout Italy and into France and Germany.
Many people sought her out for her wisdom, including
high-ranking clergy and secular officials.

Clare performed numerous miracles. After prayer,
her face was often lit with an unusual, dazzling radi-
ance. Once her prayer saved her convent from attack by
Saracens. Despite being ill, Clare had herself carried to
the wall and had the Blessed Sacrament placed where
the enemies could see it. She got down on her knees
and begged God to save the sisters. “O Lord, protect
these Sisters whom I cannot protect now,” she prayed.
A voice answered, “I will keep them always in my care.”
Suddenly the attackers fled.

On another occasion she saved the city of Assisi
from attack by the army of Emperor Frederick II.

Clare was sick throughout much of her life. Toward
the end, she had a vision of the Mass in her bed—and
for this later became the patroness of television. She
died on August 11, 1253.

Canonized: 1255 by Pope Alexander IV

Feast: August 11

Patronage: against sore eyes; Assisi; the blind,;
embroiderers; gilders; glass painters; glaziers;
laundry women; television

Clare of Montefalco (ca. 1268-1308) Abbess and
mystic

Name meaning: Brilliant, bright

Also known as: Clare of the Cross

Clare was born at Montefalco, Italy, around 1268. As a
young woman she joined a convent of Franciscan ter-
tiaries. This group established Holy Cross Convent at
Montefalco in 1290, adopting the Rule of St. Augustine.
Clare’s sister Joan was the abbess of this community, but
when she died Clare succeeded her. Clare led an austere
life, being particularly devoted to Christs passion and
His cross. She became known as a miracle worker.

Clare was given an apparition of the Lord in which
He said to her, “I have sought a place in the world
where I might plant my cross, and have found no bet-
ter site than your heart.” Later, Clare told her sisters,
“If you seek the cross of Christ, take my heart; there
you will find the suffering Lord.”

When Clare was on her deathbed in 1308, she
repeatedly said, “Know that in my very heart 1 have
and hold Christ crucified.” Soon after her death, her
sisters were inspired to take out her heart. When they
did so, a quantity of blood rushed out and was col-
lected in a vial that had been washed and purified.
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Her heart was larger than normal. They opened it
and found clear symbols of the passion of Christ that
were part of the cardiac tissue itself. The symbols were:

e A thumb-sized crucifix. The body of Christ was
white and his lance wound red, and his loins were
covered in white tissue.

e A scourge formed of a hard, white nerve

e The crown of thorns composed of tiny sharp nerves

e The three nails formed of a dark, sharp fibrous tis-
sue

* The lance and sponge formed of nerve tissue

In addition, three mysterious pellets were found in
the gall. The pellets were about the size of hazel nuts,
and were judged by theologians to be symbols of the
Trinity. Any one of them was as heavy as the other two,
while at other times any one of them equaled the
weight of all three together.

The sisters locked the heart and vial of blood in a
box. The next day these items were examined by a
group of officials who included the chief magistrate,
the leading doctor in the town and a public notary,
with a representative of the Franciscan house at
Foligno in attendance. More examinations were con-
ducted later by other Church officials and politicians.

Clare’s body and heart remained incorrupt. At vari-
ous times the blood was seen to liquefy and also to boil
and bubble. These episodes seemed to presage political
disturbances and turmoil. Liquefactions were recorded
in 1495, 1500, 1508, 1560, 1570, 1601, 1608 and
1618. In the 17th century a commission was estab-
lished to investigate the mystery of the blood, and con-
cluded that no natural explanation could be found.

In 1608 the body was moved from its shrine. The
blood in the vial had dried and coagulated. The vial was
dropped and everything broke into pieces. All the pieces
were collected and placed in a crystal vessel. Over time
this vessel cracked and was placed in a third vessel.

The incorrupt body of Clare can be viewed at the
Sanctuario S. Chiara da Montefalco. Her incorrupt
heart is enclosed in a bust and can be viewed under a
crystal. The pellets are in a jeweled cross kept in the
Church of the Holy Cross in Montefalco.

In art Clare is portrayed holding a crucifix, the bot-
tom of which penetrates her heart.

Canonized: 1881 by Pope Leo XIII
Feast: August 17

Clement 1 (d. ca. 99) Pope and martyr
Also known as: Clemens Romanus

The identity of Clement is uncertain, though probably
he was a freedman or the son of a freedman of Emperor

Nero’s household. It is also possible that he was of Jew-
ish descent. He is said to have been baptized—and
ordained a priest—by St. Peter and is accepted by most
authorities as the fourth pope, following SS. Peter,
Linus and Anaclitus.

Clement is best known from an apostolic letter he
wrote to the Church of Corinth when it faced an inter-
nal crisis. The letter is important not only as a homily
on Christian life, but also for the example it gives of
the bishop of Rome intervening authoritatively in the
affairs of another apostolic church. On the basis of this
letter, Clement is considered the first of the Apostolic
Fathers.

It appears that Clement may have been forced into
exile from Rome, thus ending his reign. Tradition has it
that he converted Theodora, wife of Sisinnius, a
courtier of Nerva, and then—after miracles—Sisinnius
himself, together with 423 other persons of rank.
Emperor Trajan then banished him to the Crimea,
where he was made to work in the quarries. The near-
est drinking water was six miles away, but—assisted by
a miracle—Clement discovered a spring close by. Soon
he had brought in so many new converts that 75
churches were needed to serve them. His success so
enraged Trajan that he ordered him thrown into the
Black Sea with an iron anchor around his neck. Angels
came and built him a tomb under the water, but every
year, the tide receded far enough to reveal it.

This account is no older than the fourth century,
and there is no way of knowing how much of the truth
it represents. About 868, St. Cyril, in the Crimea, dug
up some bones and an anchor from a burial mound
said to be Clements, and carried them to Rome. The
relics were deposited by Pope Adrian II (r. 867-872)
with those of St. Ignatius of Antioch in the high altar of
the basilica of St. Clemens Church. However, they may
or may not be Clements in fact.

In art, Clement is represented as a pope with an
anchor and fish. Sometimes he is shown lying in a
temple in the sea. He may also be shown with a mill-
stone; keys; a fountain that has sprung forth at his
prayers; or a book.

Feast: November 23

Patronage: Guild, Fraternity, and Brotherhood of the
Most Glorious and Undivided Trinity of London
(responsible for lighthouses and lightships); mar-
ble workers

Clement of Alexandria (d. ca. 215) Greek theolo-
gian and Father of the Church

Clement of Alexandria’s date of birth is unknown; his
birthplace is likely to have been Athens. He was con-
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verted and traveled about in search of religious instruc-
tion and eventually settled in Alexandria, where he
enjoyed the diversity of race, culture and religion. He
became attracted to the teachings of Pantaenus, head
of the catechetical school of Alexandria. He succeeded
Pantaenus in about 190.

In 202, persecutions began in Egypt and Clement
left Alexandria for Caesarea in Cappadocia, where he
met his friend and former pupil, Bishop Alexander,
who was converting people from prison.

Clement had a profound effect upon another
church father, Origen, who succeeded him at Alexan-
dria. He died around 215, probably in Cappadocia.

Clement left a large body of writings. Some of his
doctrines were found to be erroneous or suspect.
Nonetheless, his name was entered in the martyrolo-
gies and he was venerated as a saint into the 17th cen-
tury. Pope Clement VIII (r. 1592-1605) revised the
Roman Martyrology and dropped Clement’s name from
the list. This decision was upheld by Pope Benedict
XIV (r. 1740-58) on the grounds that no cultus had
ever established itself around him. Clements works
have found new favor in modern times.

Feast: Formerly December 4

Clement of Ireland (ca. 750-818) Teacher and
scholar

Also known as: Clement Duns Scotus, Clemens Scotus

Clement Duns Scotus (meaning from Irish or Scottish
ancestry) and his companion Albinus, or Ailbe, trav-
eled to Gaul in 772 to establish a school. Charlemagne
reportedly learned of their knowledge and called them
to court to teach at his palace school.

Albinus eventually directed a monastery near
Pavia, but Clement stayed in France and became
regent of the school in 775, serving in that post until
his death. During his tenure, learning and the produc-
tion of books flourished at the school, which eventu-
ally became the University of Paris. Legend holds that
Clement actually founded the university, but he did
not.

Clement died in Paris on March 20, 818.

Clotilde (b. ca. 474-545) Queen of the Franks
Also known as: Clothilde of France, Clotilda

Clotilde was born at Lyons, France, about 474, the
daughter of King Chilperic of Burgundy. She mar-
ried the Salian Frankish king Clovis I in 493, who
used their alliance as a means of strengthening his
position with the Romanized Celts. Clovis had
already defeated several minor Frankish kings in Gaul

and the Rhineland and established himself as the
sole Frankish king and founder of the Merovingian
Dynasty.

Although not a Christian himself, Clovis allowed
his Catholic Christian wife to baptize their children.
His tolerance of Catholic Christianity angered other
Germanic tribes, who were either pagans or Arians. In
496, while fighting the Alemanni tribes, Clovis prayed
to “Clotilde’s God” and promised to convert if victori-
ous in battle. On Christmas Day of 496, Bishop St.
Remigius (St. Remy) of Reims baptized Clovis I, sup-
posedly with about 3,000 of his followers. Clovis and
Queen Clotilde chose Paris as their capital city, where
the monarchs founded the Church of the Apostles,
later known as St. Genevieve.

Upon Clovis’s death in 511, Clotilde was extremely
wealthy but powerless to control her rebellious chil-
dren. Clovis I had divided his kingdom among his four
sons—Theodoric I, Clodomir, Childebert I and
Clothaire I—but each desired the others’ kingdoms.
Clodomir was murdered, and Clotilde took his three
sons under her care. Nevertheless, her son Clothaire
murdered two of the boys, his own nephews. Clotilde
secreted the youngest, five-year-old Clodoaldus, to a
monastery at Versailles, where he grew to become St.
Cloud.

Her daughter, also named Clotilde, was forced to
marry the Arian Visigoth king Amalaric, who treated
her cruelly. Childebert murdered Amalaric to avenge
his sister, but Clotilde II died on her way back to Paris.
Mortified at her children’s sins and unable to change
their ways, Queen Clotilde went to Tours, where she
lived the rest of her life near the tomb of St. Martin of
Tours, spending her time in prayer, penance and ser-
vice to the sick and the poor. Historians attribute the
founding of churches at Laon, Andelys and Rouen to
Clotilde. She died at Tours in 545.

Feast: June 3

Patronage: adopted children; brides; disappointing
children; exiles; parents of large families; queens;
those who have suffered the death of children;
the lame; widows; women with iniquitous hus-

bands

Colette (1381-1447) Founder of the Colettine Poor
Clares (Clarisses), mystic

Colette was born on January 13, 1381, in Corbie,
Picardy, France. Her father, Robert Boellet, was a car-
penter at the Benedictine Abbey of Corbie. Colette was
orphaned at age 13. She joined the Bequines, Bene-
dictines and Urbanists Poor Clares, and lived for a time
as a hermit.
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In 1406, she had a vision in which St. Francis of
Assisi and St. Clare of Assisi instructed her to reform
the Poor Clares, who had fallen into lax ways. She was
empowered to do so by Pope Benedict XIII (the
antipope recognized by France), and followed through
with reforms and the founding of 17 new convents in
France and Europe. She reformed the Franciscan friars
(the Coletani), a small order that eventually was sup-
pressed in 1417 by Leo X (r. 1513-21). Colette’s
reforms included extreme poverty, going barefoot, and
perpetual fasts and abstinence. Colette was a friend of
St. Vincent Ferrar, and helped him in his work to heal
the Great Western Schism.

At her convent in Ghent, Belgium, she foresaw her
own death. In February 1447, she announced that she
would die soon. She told her sisters not to wait for her
to say anything at her death, for she would say noth-
ing. One month later, she donned the veil given her by
Benedict XIII (r. 1724-30) in 1406 when he named her
abbess general of the Poor Clares. She wore it only for
special occasions. She laid down on her bed and said
“This is the last time I shall lie down.” She died two
days later on March 6 at age 66. About 12 hours after
her death, her worn body began to transform and
become a beautiful and fragrant white. It still looked
that way when she was buried three days later.

Colette had numerous mystical experiences and
ecstasies and is credited with many miracles. Early in
her religious life, she experienced a mystical marriage
with St. John the Apostle (also called St. John the
Divine). John appeared in a vision and placed a beauti-
ful gold ring upon her finger, saying as he did so, “by
my own right and on behalf of the sovereign King and
Prince of virginity and chastity.” Colette kept her ring
in a box and showed it to very few people. She shared
her experience with few as well. She remained espe-
cially devoted to St. John.

Colette had the gift of prophecy, seeing not only her
own death, but also that of St. Vincent Ferrar. She
accurately told him that he would die in less than two
years in France.

On Fridays, Colette had 12-hour visions of the Pas-
sion from which she suffered torments and great
bruises upon her body, in sympathy with the suffering
of Christ.

In her travels, Colette seems to have been guided by
angels who held her up on her mules and enabled her
to walk extremely fast as though her feet did not touch
the ground. Once during her reforms, she was opposed
by the head of a monastery who punished the Francis-
can friars of Dole—who had accepted her reforms—by
cutting off their food supply. For an entire year,
Colette’s convent supplied the friars with grain, despite
the fact that they did not have enough in their granary

to do so. The grain was always taken to the monastery
on a very small donkey.

Beatified: January23, 1740, by Pope Clement XII
Canonized: May 24, 1807, by Pope Pius VII
Feast: March 6

Colombian Martyrs of the Spanish Civil War
(d. 1936)

Also known as: Martires Colombianos de la Comunidad
de San Juan de Dios

Seven Colombian members of the Comunidad de San
Juan de Dios were among the thousands of Catholics
killed by communists and anarchists during the Span-
ish Civil War (1936-39) that brought Francisco
Franco to power. The Colombians were studying and
working in Spain, dedicated to helping the mentally ill,
when they were arrested, tortured and killed on August
7,1936.

The group includes: Juan Bautista Velasquez, of
Jardin (Antioquia), age 27; Esteban Maya, of Pacora
Caldas, age 29; Melquiades Ramirez of Sonson (Antio-
quia), age 27; Eugenio Ramirez, of La Ceja (Antio-
quia), age 23; Rubén de Jesus Lopez, of Concepcion
(Antioquia), age 28; Arturo Ayala, of Paipa (Boyaca),
age 27; and Gaspar Pdez Perdomo, of Tello (Huila), age
23.

Beatified: 1992 by Pope John Paul 11

FURTHER READING

“Los Martires Colombianos de la Comunidad de San Juan de
Dios.” URL: http://www.churchforum.org. Downloaded:
December 6, 1999.

Columba (521-597) Abbot and one of the three pat-
ron saints of Ireland, with Brigid and Patrick; also a
patron saint of Scotland, with Andrew

Also known as: Colmcille, Columcille, Columkill,
Colum, Columbus, Combs

Most of what is known about and attributed to
Columba comes from the Vita Columbae (Life of
Columba), a three-volume work composed between
688 and 692 by Adamnan, an abbot of Iona who was
regarded in his own time as “the High Scholar of the
Western world.”

Columba (the Latinized form of Colmcille) was
born on December 7, 521—or 60 vyears after St.
Patrick died—in Gartan, County Donegal, Ulster, to
the royal clan of Ui Neill, also known as Clan Conaill
or O'Donnell. His mother was Eithne and his father
Fedhlimidh, a descendant of the great fourth-century
king Niall of the Nine Hostages. Columba’s birth name



80 Columba

was Crimthann, “the fox,” and the boy may have had
red hair. He expressed an interest in the Church early
on, taking the name Colmcille, or “dove of the
church,” after his baptism by the priest Cruithnechan.

After learning all Cruithnechan could teach him,
Columba entered the monastic school of Moville under
St. Finian. After completing his training and ordination
as a deacon, Columba left Moville to study Irish poetry
and history under the aged bard Gemman in Leinster.
He then joined the monastery at Clonard, headed by
another Finian, a student of St. David of Wales.
Columba became one of 12 disciples at Clonard known
as the Twelve Apostles of Ireland. He also received
priestly orders from Bishop Etchen of Clonfad. Legend
tells that the bishop meant to consecrate Columba as a
bishop but mistakenly designated him only a priest.
Leaving Clonard, Columba went to the monastery of
St. Mobhi Clarainech at Glasnevin, where he stayed
until an outbreak of disease caused the monastery’s
closing in 544. Columba returned to Ulster, where he
founded monasteries at Derry in 546, Durrow in 556
and Kells not long after. Altogether, Columba report-
edly established 27 monasteries and founded approxi-
mately 40 churches.

According to his biographer St. Adamnan, Colum-
ba’s missionary zeal and love of Christ led him to leave
Ireland in 563 with 12 companions and settle on the
small island of Tona, off the coast of Scotland. They
established a monastery there that flourished as a cen-
ter of scholarship, art and Christianity until the Viking
raids of the ninth century.

But Columba’s desire to spread the Gospel was per-
haps not the only impetus for his travels to Iona. At
some point, Columba made an illicit copy of a psalter
owned by St. Finian (supposedly the one at Moville)
and attributed to St. Jerome. Writing surreptitiously in
the dark, with the fingers of his left hand allegedly
burning like candles so he could see, Columba made
the copy. He was found out, and Finian demanded that
the young monk return the copy. Columba refused,
and Finian referred the case to High King Diarmait
(Dermott). Diarmait, a member of a clan unfriendly to
Columba’s clan, ruled in what amounts to the first
copyright case: “Le gach buin a laogh” (“to every cow
her calf”), or to every book its copy, and Columba was
forced to relinquish the psalter.

Resentment over King Diarmait’s decision later
turned to rage, when Columba was sheltering his
kinsman, Prince Curnan, who had fatally injured
an opponent in a hurling competition. King Diar-
mait ordered his men to ignore the right of sanctuary
and to seize Curnan and kill him. Columba demanded
revenge and gathered his clan’s army against Diar-

mait’s at Cuil Dremne (Cooldrevny) in 561. When the
battle was over, King Diarmait’s clan had lost 3,000
men; Columba’s clan had lost one. Columba regained
his psalter as a spoil of war, and ever after the book
was known as the Cathach, or “warrior,” and served
as the sacred Battle Book of the Clan O’'Donnell. The
Cathach is preserved at the Irish Academy and is the
oldest surviving example of Irish majuscule writing.

Convening a synod at Telltown in Meath, church
fathers condemned Columba for the 3,000 deaths and
excommunicated him for a time—the standard punish-
ment for a monk who had taken up arms. But
Columba’s conscience supposedly pained him more
than the group’s judgment, and he turned to his con-
fessor, St. Molaise of Devenish, for guidance. Molaise
ordered Columba to leave Ireland and never return,
and to bring as many new souls to Christ as had been
lost at Cooldrevny. Columba and his 12 companions
left Treland in a wicker currach covered with hide and
landed on Iona (“holy island”) in May 563—a place
just far enough north to have no view of Ireland.

Columba first ministered to the Irish in Scotland—
emigrants from the Dalriada region of Ulster—but
eventually began converting the Northern Pictish peo-
ple of Scotland. One of his first converts was King
Brude at Inverness. When Columba and his monks
arrived at the castle, the doors were shut and barred.
Columba raised his arm to make the sign of the cross,
and the bolts reportedly flew out and the doors
opened—a scene reminiscent of St. Patrick’s entrance
to King Laoghaire’s castle at Tara. Columba also reput-
edly anointed King Aidan of Argyll on the famous
Stone of Scone. Even the name Scotland comes from
Columba, for in those days Scoti or Scotus meant
Irish.

Although Columba never again lived in Ireland, he
traveled there often. In 580, Columba returned to
Ulster for the assembly at Druim-Cetta, a conference to
determine the obligations of the Irish in Scotland to
the mother country. Participants decided that the Scot-
tish-Irish should furnish a fleet, but not an army, to the
Irish high king. Perhaps more important, Columba
convinced the assembly not to suppress the Bardic
Order—the bards and poets who sang and wrote about
Celtic history, legend and culture.

Columba retained leadership of the monasteries
and churches he founded in Ireland as well as those he
established from Iona. This situation led to the devel-
opment of a governing system unique to Celtic Christ-
ian churches and at odds with the Roman model for
over 70 years following Columba’s death: The
abbots—and abbesses—had jurisdiction over the
monastery and environs, even superior to the bishops.
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The Celtic churches finally bowed to Rome’s authority
in 664.

By spring of 597, Columba knew he was dying. On
June 8, he was copying the line from Psalms that says,
“They that love the Lord shall lack no good thing” (Ps.
34:10), when he put down his pen and said, “Here I
must stop; let Baithin [Columba’s cousin and succes-
sor] do the rest.” When the monks returned to the
chapel for Matins prayers after midnight, they found
Columba on the floor before the altar. The saint
blessed the brethren and died on June 9 at age 77. He
was buried at Iona for 200 years, then his relics were
moved to the abbey at Down in Ireland to rest near SS.
Patrick and Brigid. According to lore, a Viking stole his
coffin from Iona and carried it onto his longship, hop-
ing to find treasure inside. Finding only the saint’s
remains, he threw the casket and its contents over-
board. They washed ashore at Down. Thus was ful-
filled a prophecy of both Patrick and Brigid that
Columba would rest with them.

For centuries afterward, Iona enjoyed prestige as a
great center of Celtic learning, and attracted numerous
religious exiles.

Adamnan’s Vita Columbae gives considerable atten-
tion to the prophecies and miracles of Columba. The
saint is credited with prophetic visions of wars, battles,
deaths of kings and others, weather calamities and so
forth. His miracles included healing the sick, driving
out “armies” of disease-causing demons, taming wild
beasts, calming violent weather, causing rain to fall,
raising the dead, and turning water into wine. Columba
was often seen surrounded by a brilliant holy aura. He
enjoyed frequent visionary visits from angels. He saw
angels carry the souls of the righteous to heaven and
demons carry souls of the condemned to hell.

Feast: June 9

Patronage: bookbinders; computer hackers; Knights
of Columbus (Columba); plagiarists; poets; Ire-
land; Scotland
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Columban (ca. 543-615) Irish abbot in France
Also known as: Columbanus, the Younger Columba

Columban was born around 543 in Leinster, Ireland, to
a noble family. He received a good education, and
decided at a young age to enter monastic life. He went
to an island in Lough Erne, where he studied with St.
Comgall.

After his ordination in 590, Columban took 12
companions, among them St. Gall, and went to En-
gland and France. In France they established monas-
teries at Annegray, Fontaine and Luxeuil. They were
not well received and encountered many difficulties.
Columban denounced King Thierry II of Burgundy for
keeping concubines, and the king exiled him in 610.

Columban spent two years traveling, eventually
reaching Austrasia, where he and Gall parted company:.
Columban and the rest of his party returned to Ireland.
They were shipwrecked en route and were taken in by
King Clotaire of Neustria and King Theodobert at
Metz, France. They stayed and evangelized in the area
around Lake Constance in parts of modern Germany
and Switzerland.

Columban died in 615 at Bobbio, Italy.

Feast: November 23

Conrad
Otto 1
Also known as: Conrad of Constance

(d. 975) Bishop and companion of Emperor

Conrad was born into the famous Guelph family and
was the son of Count Henry of Altdorf. He was edu-
cated at the cathedral school of Constance, Switzer-
land, and was ordained. In 934 he was made provost of
the cathedral and was elected bishop of Constance, a
post he held for 42 years. He avoided all secular mat-
ters.

Conrad gave all of his wealth to the Church and to
the poor, built three grand churches and renovated
many more in his see. In 862 he accompanied Emperor
Otto I to Italy. He also is said to have taken three pil-
grimages to Jerusalem.

According to lore, Conrad was saying mass one
Easter when a large spider dropped into the chalice. It
was commonly believed at the time that most spiders
were poisonous, but the plucky saint swallowed the
spider, anyway, and suffered no harm.

Conrad is best known for his grand vision, experi-
enced in 948 when he was asked to dedicate the Chapel
of Our Lady of the Hermits at Einsiedeln, Switzerland,
the spot where the murdered St. Meinrad once had his
hermits hut and chapel. Conrad arrived in the Dark
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Wood on September 13 with a party of knights, princes
and the bishop of Augsburg. Near midnight, he and sev-
eral others went into the chapel to pray. Conrad prayed
to Mary to accept the shrine and help it to become a
place of pilgrimage.

At midnight, Conrad and the others heard a beauti-
ful chanting. The chapel was filled with dazzling light,
and the altar was illuminated. A procession of angels
came down from heaven, led by Michael the Arch-
angel. Some of the angels sang and others swung
censers. Then came St. Peter with a crozier, and the
apostles SS. Mark, Luke, Matthew and John, followed
by three of the greatest Doctors of the Church, SS.
Ambrose, Augustine and Gregory the Great. Then
came the martyred SS. Lawrence and Stephen, and
finally Jesus Christ, clothed magnificently as high
priest. Mary, attended by angels, installed herself over
the altar. Jesus conducted Mass in minute detail and
dedicated the chapel to his mother. The vision lasted
for more than an hour. Conrad remained in ecstatic
meditation for hours.

The next day, Conrad proclaimed to the crowd
gathered that God had already dedicated the chapel,
but he was pressed to continue with the service by oth-
ers who did not believe his story. As he began, a boom-
ing voice heard by everyone said three times, “Stop!
Stop, Brother. The chapel has been divinely conse-
crated.”

In 964, Pope Leo VIII (r. 963-964) issued a bull
confirming the miraculous dedication.

The Chapel of Our Lady of the Hermits is one of
the most popular pilgrimage sites in Europe, attracting
up to 200,000 people a year; many miracles are
reported there. A basilica and monastery were built in
the first part of the 18th century.

In art Conrad usually is represented with a chalice
and a spider.

Canonized: 1123 by Pope Callistus 11
Feast: November 26
Patronage: hernia sufferers

Constantine the Great (d. 337) Roman emperor and
champion of Christianity

Also known as: Flavius Valerius Constantinus, the Thir-
teenth Apostle

Birth dates for Constantine range from 274 to 288. He
was born at Naissus to Constantius Chlorus, a Roman
officer who became junior emperor (r. 293-306), and
St. Helena, a woman of inferior lineage. Constantine
grew up in the court of Diocletian (r. 284-305) and
served in the military. Upon the death of his father in
battle in 306, his troops proclaimed him caesar.

Diocletian had attempted to establish a four-headed
empire, but constant struggle ensued for the sup-
remacy of one person as emperor. Constantine man-
aged to stay out of the infighting until 311, when the
emperor Galerius died. In 312 Constantine faced the
army of his rival, Maxentius, in a decisive battle at the
Milvian Bridge near Rome. He sought out pagan di-
viners who told him the battle would go badly for
him. He then had first a waking vision and then a
dream that convinced him that he would win if he
invoked the name of Christ. He did and thus defeated
Maxentius.

By 325 Constantine defeated the fourth rival,
Licinius, and became sole emperor, a position he held
until 337. He was preparing to march with his troops
against a new enemy when he fell ill and died in March
of that year.

Constantine was instrumental in stoping the perse-
cutions of Christians, and as sole emperor made Chris-
tianity the religion of state. Tradition holds that he did
so out of personal experience and conviction, but he
also was influenced by the political and social forces of
the times. Old ways were falling out of favor. The
empire faced barbarian invasions from the north,
which sapped resources that had been devoted to per-
secutions.

Constantine combined both paganism and Chris-
tianity into his personal life and political affairs. In 330
the dedication of Constantinople, the city he made the
capital of the empire, was a mix of both pagan and
Christian rites. As he got older, Constantine became
increasingly Christian, but did not receive baptism
until he was on his deathbed.

About 20 years after the death of Constantine, the
historian Eusebius recorded an account of the vision-
nary experiences in 313, saying that Constantine had
related them personally to him:

Accordingly [Constantine] called on [God] with earnest
prayer and supplications that he would reveal to him
who he was, and stretch forth his right hand to help him
in his present difficulties. And while he was thus praying
with fervent entreaty, a most marvelous sign appeared to
him from heaven . . . He said that about noon, when the
day was already beginning to decline, he saw with his
own eyes the trophy of a cross of light in the heavens,
above the sun, and bearing the inscription, CONQUER
BY THIS. At this sight he himself was struck with amaze-
ment, and his whole army also, which followed him on
this expedition, and witnessed the miracle.

He said, moreover, that he doubted within himself
what the import of this apparition could be. And while
he continued to ponder and reason on its meaning, night
suddenly came on; then in his sleep the Christ of God
appeared to him with the same sign which he had seen
in the heavens, and commanded him to make a likeness
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of that sign . . . and to use it as a safeguard in an engage-
ments with his enemies.

At dawn of day he arose, and communicated the mar-
vel to his friends: and then, calling together the workers
in gold and precious stones, he sat in the midst of them,
and described to them the figure of the sign he had seen,
bidding them represent it in gold and precious stones.

The sign was the two Greek letters chi (X) and ro
(P), the first two letters of Christ's name, combined
one over the other as a monogram. Called the labarum,
it became the symbol of the Roman emperors.

Feast: May 21
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Eusebius of Caesaria. The Life of the Blessed Emperor Con-
stantine. URL: http://www.fordham.edu/halsall/basis/vita-
constantine.html. Downloaded Sept. 11, 2000.

Guiley, Rosemary Ellen. Dreamwork for the Soul. New York:
Berkley Books, 1998.

Cornelius (d. 253) Pope and martyr

Cornelius was a priest in the Church of Rome at the
time of his elevation to bishop to replace Pope St.
Fabian, who had been killed at the beginning of perse-
cutions under Emperor Decius. Fabian died on January
20, 250, but the persecutions delayed the election of a
new pope for 14 months, until March 251.

The main issue facing Cornelius was the treatment
of Christians who had denied their faith during the
persecutions. He supported St. Cyprian, bishop of Car-
thage, whose council provided for the restoration of
Communion after various forms of penance, against
Novatian, a Roman priest who asserted that the apos-
tates should not be pardoned. In the summer of 251,
Novatian had himself consecrated bishop of Rome by
some dissident deacons, establishing himself as
antipope to Cornelius. This brought about a major
schism in the Church, with many eastern bishops
inclined to back Novatian. However, a synod of west-
ern bishops in Rome in October upheld Cornelius,
condemned the teachings of Novatian and excommu-
nicated him and his followers.

New persecutions suddenly broke out early in 252,
and Cornelius was exiled to Centumcella (Civita Vec-
chia). He was beheaded there in June 253, having
reigned two years, three months and 10 days. His relics
were translated to Rome where they were interred, not
in the Chapel of the Popes in the Catacomb of St. Cal-
listus but rather in an adjoining catacomb, perhaps
that of a branch of his noble family. The inscription on
his tomb is in Latin, whereas those of his immediate
predecessor and successor are in Greek.

Feast: September 16

Cosmas and Damian (d. ca. 303) Arab twin brothers
and physicians who became martyrs

Cosmas and Damian were born in Arabia and studied
science and medicine in Syria. It is not known how or
when they became Christians. They lived at Aegeae on
the bay of Alexandretta in Cilicia, where their generous
practice of free medicine earned them the moniker
“the moneyless ones.”

During a persecution, they were arrested and
brought before Lysius, the governor of Cilicia, in
Cyrrhus (modern Turkey). They refused to renounce
their faith, and were tortured and beheaded. Also exe-
cuted were their brothers Anthimus, Euprepius and
Leontius. They were buried at Cyrrhus and a cult grew
up around them. Miracles of healing were claimed in
which the saints came to the afflicted in their dreams
and either cured them or told them how to be cured—
much like the Greek tradition of inviting the healing
god Aesculapius to appear in a similar fashion.

A basilica in Rome was dedicated to them about
530. They are named in the canon of the mass.

In the Middle Ages, romantic legends about their
martyrdom appeared. According to lore, the saints
defied death first by water, fire and crucifixion prior to
their beheading. While on the crosses, they were pelted
with stones and arrows, but the missiles recoiled back
on the mob.

Feast: September 27
Patronage: barbers; chemical industries; druggists;
physicians; surgeons

Crispin and Crispinian (third—fourth centuries)

Brothers and martyrs

The story of Crispin and Crispinian probably is more
legend than fact. Born to Roman nobility, the brothers,
shoemakers by trade, traveled to France with St.
Quintinus. They settled in Soissons and supported
themselves by making shoes while they preached the
Gospel and converted pagans.

Co-Emperor Maximian, a hater of Christians, or-
dered the brothers brought before an official named
Rictiovarus (whose existence and position are not doc-
umented). Rictiovarus had Crispin and Crispinian tor-
tured, but committed suicide when he was unable to
cause their deaths. Maximian had them beheaded.

Crispin and Crispinian were especially popular dur-
ing the Middle Ages. In art they are shown holding
shoes and shoemaker’s tools.

Feast: October 25
Patronage: cobblers; leatherworkers; saddlers; shoe-
makers; tanners
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Crispina (d. ca. 304) Noblewoman and martyr, ac-
claimed by St. Augustine

Born in Thagara to a noble family, Crispina was raised
as a Christian. During persecutions she was arrested
and brought before the proconsul Anulinus. She
refused to renounce her faith when threatened with
punishment. Anulinus had her head shaved (a sign of
degradation) and told her she would be executed if she
did not deny her faith. Crispina replied that she cared
not for this life. She was beheaded on December 5 in
about 304.

In his sermons, Augustine held Crispina as a model
for Christians: she could have lived a life of luxury and
ease, but chose eternal glory.

Feast: December 5

FURTHER READING
St. Alphonsus Liguori. Victories of the Martyrs. Brooklyn:
Redemptorist Fathers, 1954.

Curé d’Ars See JOHN BAPTISTE MARIE VIANNEY.

Cuthbert (ca. 634-687) Monk, bishop and miracle-
worker
Also known as: Cuthbert of Lindisfarne

Most of what is known about Cuthbert, one of the
most famous of Celtic saints, comes from the Venera-
ble Bede’s account of his life, written around 716 (in
verse) and in 721 (in prose). Bede was moved to write
about the saint upon hearing of the discovery of his
incorrupt body.

Little is known about Cuthberts early life. He was
born probably around 634 to an Anglo-Saxon family
near the River Tweed in southern Scotland. (An Irish
hagiography claims him as one of their own, son of an
Irish princess.)

In 651 Cuthbert entered the Celtic monastery at
Melrose, where he served with his mentor, a priest
named Boisil. In 661 he accompanied St. Eata, the
abbot of Melrose, to Ripon to build a new abbey, where
he served as guestmaster. Returning to Melrose, he
became prior after the death of Boisil and held the
position for many years. He had great skill as a
preacher. He then took a group of monks to the Bene-
dictine abbey at Lindisfarne, where he served as prior.
Then desiring a solitary life, Cuthbert moved to Inner
Farne Island and built his hermit’s cell. However, oth-
ers sought out the popular saint, wanting to confess
and seeking his guidance. He helped all who came to
him.

In 684 he was elected bishop against his own
wishes. He refused to acknowledge all letters to the

fact, and finally King Ecgfrith sailed to the island with
a group of officials and begged him to do so. Cuthbert
was consecrated bishop of Lindisfarne in 685. He
resumed his active ministry, caring for the sick, proph-
esying and working miracles. In 687, Cuthbert knew
his life was nearing its end. He resigned as bishop and
went back to his beloved Inner Farne. Two months
later he fell ill and died while praising God. He was
buried on his island in accordance with his wishes. A
year later, his body was moved to the monastery at
Lindisfarne.

Nine years after his death, Cuthbert was exhumed
for the taking of relics. The monks expected to find
nothing but dry bones and decayed clothing, and were
astonished to find his body incorrupt and fresh, as
though he were sleeping. The body was placed in new
clothing and reburied.

In 875, the Vikings raided Lindisfarne and
destroyed Cuthbert’s shrine. His incorrupt body was
moved to Northumbria. It was given several resting
places, and then finally was moved to Durham, where
it was enshrined on September 4, 999. Numerous pil-
grims visited, including St. Thomas of Canterbury, and
in 1069 William the Conqueror.

The casket was opened in 1104 and the body was
found still incorrupt and smelling sweet. In 1537,
Henry VIII ordered the tomb destroyed as part of his
dissolution of the monasteries. The jewels and orna-
ments were plundered. When the casket was opened,
the body was found still intact, dressed in garments for
the Mass, and with a fortnight’s beard on the face. The
monks were allowed to bury Cuthbert in the ground
where the shrine had been. In 1827, the saint was
exhumed. This time the remains were but a skeleton in
decaying robes.

In art Cuthbert is shown in the dress of a bishop,
holding the head of St. Oswald, whose skull is pre-
served in his coffin. Sometimes he is shown also with
swans and otters.

Numerous miracles and extraordinary events are
related about Cuthbert throughout his life. Bede relates
several visits by angels early in life. One angel
appeared as a man on horseback and told Cuthbert
how to heal a painful and crippling tumor on his knee.
One night while tending sheep, Cuthbert had a vision
of choirs of angels descending from heaven, inspiring
him to seek the spiritual life. When he was at Ripon,
angels frequently appeared and conversed with him,
and would bring him food.

According to Bede, he sowed a field with barley
and reaped a harvest that the birds began to eat. He
told them they had no right to the grain and to depart,
and they did, never to return. In another instance
involving birds, Cuthbert was annoyed by crows who
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stole pieces of thatched roof that Cuthbert had made
for his brethren. He told the birds to depart and do no
more harm. They did. Three days later, seemingly pen-
itent crows returned bearing a gift of hog’s lard, which
Cuthbert gave to his brethren for the greasing of their
shoes.

Bede recounts another episode involving Cuthberts
rapport with animals. One night he left his monastery
and was followed by a curious brother. Cuthbert went
down to the sea and waded into the water until he was
up to his neck. He spent the night praising God. In the
morning, he waded out and fell to his knees on the
beach to continue praying. Two sea otters came out of
the water and wiped him with their bodies and
breathed upon his feet. Cuthbert blessed them and
they returned to the sea.

Cuthbert banished the devils that reputedly
haunted the island of Inner Farne, and produced a
miraculous spring from the hard and stony ground
where he built his cell. He was able to change the
course of a fire threatening to destroy the house of a
holy woman. He changed water so that it tasted like
wine. He healed people with sprinklings of holy water,
anointments with oil and consecrated bread. He healed
others by a laying on of hands, and also at a distance
with prayer. Miracles of healing continued to be
reported after his death.

Feast: March 20
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Bede. Life and Miracles of St. Cuthbert. URL: http://www.ford-
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September 2, 2000.

Sellner, Edward C. Wisdom of the Celtic Saints. Notre Dame,
Ind.: Ave Maria Press, 1993.

Cyprian of Carthage (ca. 200-258) Bishop of
Carthage, Father of the Church, martyr

Cyprian’s full Latin name was Thaschus Cecilius
Cyprianus. Nothing is known of his early life, apart
from the fact that he was well-established and wealthy
at the time of his conversion to Christianity. He was
converted by a priest named Cecilianus, with whom
he lived for a while, and who on his deathbed asked
him to care for his wife and family. His baptism took
place around the year 246, apparently on April 18,
Easter Eve.

Even as a catechumen Cyprian decided to observe
chastity. He sold his property, including his gardens at
Carthage, and gave most of his revenues to the poor.
He was elected bishop of Carthage in 248 or 249, with
the dissent of five priests who remained his lifelong
enemies.

In its first centuries, the Christian Church was sub-
jected to a series of persecutions from Rome. One, the
Decian persecution, began in October 249 when
Emperor Decius issued an edict sentencing all bishops
to death and other believers to be punished and tor-
tured until they recanted. Cyprian went into hiding, an
action for which he was much criticized by his ene-
mies. However, he continued to shepherd his see. He
wrote panegyrics on Christians who were martyred
and provided financial aid to the faithful. When the
persecution let up early in 251, Cyprian made priests
of some who had resisted, been tortured and banished.

Nevertheless, the majority of Christians—in Car-
thage as well as in Rome and elsewhere—had denied
their faith. Their lives no longer threatened, many
now clamored for forgiveness and restoration. Cyprian
convened a council in April 251, which decided to
accept the former apostates after they had done ap-
propriate penance, a position endorsed by Pope St.
Cornelius (r. 251-253). However, the five priests op-
posed to Cyprian accepted the lapsed without pe-
nance, while in Rome, a priest named Novatian
held that none should be accepted again under any
circumstances.

A related issue of rebaptism arose. Since heretics—
and by extension apostates—did not follow the canon-
ical teachings of the Church, were their baptisms
invalid? Or were baptisms performed through the
agency of God and therefore valid under any circum-
stance? Since the Church held that there could be only
one baptism in a lifetime, this was not a trivial issue,
but itself the basis for declaring heresy. Cyprian and
the other Eastern bishops routinely rebaptized the
lapsed, a practice condoned by Cornelius and Pope St.
Lucius I (r. 253-254) although the Church of Rome
believed it unnecessary. Pope St. Stephen I (r.
254-257) took a stronger stand on Church orthodoxy,
declaring that the lapsed everywhere should be recon-
ciled only with a laying-on of hands, thus alienating
Cyprian and others.

A new round of persecutions (announced by
numerous visions, according to Cyprian) began under
Emperor Valerian, and this time Cyprian was not so
fortunate. He was arrested on August 30, 257, and
taken before the proconsul Peternus, but refused to
renounce his faith. Early in September he had a dream
foretelling his martyrdom. He awoke from the dream
in terror, but once awake, calmly awaited its fulfill-
ment. This came on the morning of September 14,
when he was tried, sentenced and beheaded. Before
dying, he ordered that 25 gold pieces be given to his
executioner.

Members of his flock observing his execution held
cloths and handkerchiefs before him to catch his
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blood. His dismembered body lay exposed for the rest
of the day, but that night the brethren carried him in a
funeral procession to the cemetery of Macrobius Can-
didianus in the suburb of Mapalia. He was the first
bishop of Carthage to be martyred.

Feast: September 16 (in the West); August 31 (in
the East)
Patronage: Algeria; North Africa

Cyril of Alexandria (ca. 376-444) Patriarch
of Alexandria, Father of the Church, Doctor of the
Church

Cyril was born in Alexandria ca. 376. He was the
nephew of Theophilus, patriarch of Alexandria, and
among those who deposed St. John Chrysostom. Cyril
was raised, educated and ordained by his uncle, and
went with him to Constantinople in 403 for the depo-
sition of John. When Theophilus died in 412, Cyril
succeeded him as patriarch of Alexandria, but only
after a riot broke out between his supporters and those
of his rival, Timotheus.

Cyril spent much of his career embroiled in the
church politics of heresies. He closed the churches of
one heretical sect, the Novatianists, and chased the
Jews out of Alexandria. In 430 he began a battle
against the heretic Nestorius, who was preaching that
Mary was not the Mother of God, since Christ was
Divine and not human, and consequently she should
not have the word Theotokos (“God-bearer”) applied to
her.

Cyril persuaded Pope Celestine 1 (r. 422-432) to
convene a synod condemning Nestorius, and Cyril
convened his own synod in Alexandria to do the
same. Cyril also presided over the Third General
Council of Ephesus, at which he condemned Nes-
torius, but then was deposed himself. Both Cyril
and Nestorius were arrested, but Cyril was released
upon intervention of the pope. Eventually Nestorius
was condemned and banished to the Great Oasis of
Egypt.

A brilliant scholar, Cyril left a legacy of exegetical
works, treatises, commentaries on the Gospels and the
Pentateuch, sermons, letters and an apologia against
Julian the Apostate. He is known especially for his
writing on the Holy Trinity and the Incarnation. On
Adoration in Spirit and Truth is a 17-book exposition on
the spiritual nature of the Old Law.

Declared Doctor of the Church: 1882 by Pope Leo
XIIT
Feast: June 27
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St. Cyril of Alexandria (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

Cyril of Jerusalem (ca. 315-ca. 386) Bishop of
Jerusalem, Father of the Church, Doctor of the Church

Little is known of Cyril of Jerusalem’s life. He was born
in Jerusalem about 315 and probably was raised a
Christian. He became a priest around 345-347, and
was ordained by St. Maximus.

Cyril became the bishop or patriarch of Jerusalem,
succeeding Maximus after the latter died; stories differ
as to how he obtained the position. In one version,
Cyril was promised the episcopate only if he repudi-
ated his ordination. Cyril declined and agreed only to
become deacon, but through fraud and manipulation
got the position. In another version, Maximus was dri-
ven out and was succeeded by Cyril.

For the next 36 years, Cyril had to deal with the
Arian heresy, and three times was exiled as a result of
the politics involved. In 357-359 he went to Tarsus. In
360 he was driven out again, only to be restored in 361
by Emperor Julian the Apostate. In 367 Emperor
Valens banished all bishops, and Cyril was exiled until
Valens died in 378.

In 380, St. Gregory of Nyssa came to Jerusalem and
approved of Cyril but found the city corrupt in morals.
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Cyril and Gregory attended the Council of Constan-
tinople in 381. At this council, Theodosius ordered the
Nicene Creed to be promulgated.

The exact date of Cyril's death is unknown. He
probably died on March 18, 386.

Cyril left a body of work highly valued by the
Church. The most famous is his theological master-
piece Catecheses, a collection of 18 instructional
addresses for baptismal candidates during Lent and
five—known as the Mystagogic—for the recently bap-

tized at Easter. Cyril composed numerous catechetical
lectures and sermons (including his best-known on the
pool at Bethesda). He wrote on the mystical origin of
the Septuagint, the story of the phoenix and the mysti-
cal elements of the Mass.

Declared Doctor of the Church: 1882 by Pope Leo
XIII

Feast: March 18 (in the East); March 18 or 20 (in
the West)






Damasus | (ca. 304-384) Pope

Damasus was born in Rome, the son of Antonius, a
priest of Spanish descent, and a woman named Lauren-
tia. He became a deacon in the Spanish church of St.
Laurence, where his father served.

In October 366, when Damasus was about 60, Pope
Liberius died, and he was elected bishop of Rome.
Though he received a substantial majority of votes, a
dissident faction, adherents of Liberius (a controversial
pontiff who became one of the few early popes to be
revered neither as a martyr nor as a saint), rejected him
and consecrated their own candidate, Ursinus. In pro-
moting him, they were not beyond using violence, for
which Emperor Valentinian had them exiled to
Cologne. From Cologne and later Milan, Ursinus and
his followers continued to harass Damasus. They
charged him with incontinence in the imperial court in
378, but he was exonerated by Emperor Gratian. He
was cleared also by a Church synod of 44 bishops, who
then excommunicated his accusers.

In 380, Gratian and Theodosius I recognized
Christianity as the religion of the Roman state. Dama-
sus did much to clarify and promote its teachings.
He argued that the supremacy of the Roman Church
was based on the words of Jesus Christ (Matthew
16:18). He was a vigorous opponent of Arianism
(supported by Liberius and Ursinus), Apollinarian-
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ism, Macedonianism and other heresies. At a synod in
374, he promulgated a canon of the Holy Scripture,
specifying the authentic books of the Bible. Most
important, he commissioned St. Jerome to revise the
Latin text of the Bible, resulting in the Vulgate ver-
sion of the Scriptures.

Like several of his immediate predecessors, Dama-
sus promoted the construction of ecclesiastical proper-
ties in and around Rome. Among other projects, he
provided for the proper housing of the Vatican
archives, built a baptistery in honor of St. Peter at the
Vatican, and drained and rehabilitated the sacred cata-
combs. He devoted much effort to gathering the relics
of Roman martyrs and wrote new epitaphs for the
tombs of many of them.

In the papal crypt of the Catacomb of St. Callistus
he placed a general epitaph that ends, “I, Damasus,
wished to be buried here, but I feared to offend the
ashes of these holy ones.” When he died on December
11, 384, he was buried with his mother and sister at a
small church he had built on the Via Ardeatina.

In art, Damasus is a pope holding a ring. He may
also be shown with Jerome; restoring sacred buildings;
holding a screen with “Gloria Patri” on it; or in front of
a church door.

Feast: December 11
Patronage: archaeologists
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Damian See COSMAS AND DAMIAN.

David (d. 601) Confessor, bishop, monastic founder,
patron saint of Wales
Also known as: Degui; Dewi; the Waterman

Few facts are known about the life of David. According
to tradition, he was born at Henvynyw (Vetus-
Menevia) in Cardiganshire, some sources place his
birth at about 520. He played a prominent role at the
Synod of Brevi and in 569 presided over a synod held
at Lucus Victoriae. He was bishop of Menevia, Pem-
brokeshire, also known as the Roman port of Menapia,
and later renamed St. David’s.

A longstanding tradition exists in Wales of wearing
a leek on St. David’s Day, in remembrance of a battle
against the Saxons in which David is said to have told
the Welsh to wear leeks in their hats to distinguish
themselves from the enemy.

Legends about David were recorded by medieval
writers, including Geoffrey of Monmouth. According
to lore, his birth was prophesied 30 years in advance
by an angel appearing to St. Patrick. Another story tells
how an angel appeared to his father, Sanctus, in a
dream and prophesied David’s birth.

David was born to a violated nun. He was educated
by St. Illtyd at Caerworgorn in Glamorganshire and
then studied under St. Paulinus, who was blind due to
excessive weeping. David cured him of his blindness
by making the sign of the cross. Paulinus was directed
by an angel to dispatch David to evangelize the British.
During his travels, David founded 12 monasteries
(Glastonbury and Bath are among those credited to
him), suffered the temptations of women and had fab-
ulous adventures. His monks tried to poison his bread,
but David was warned by St. Schuthyn who rode from
Ireland one night on the back of a sea monster. David
blessed the bread and ate it without injury. He was
credited with raising the dead and having a hill rise up
under him so that a multitude could hear him preach.

David is said to have made a pilgrimage to
Jerusalem with two other saints to be consecrated arch-
bishop, but the story probably is not accurate.

King Arthur allowed him to move his see from Caer-
leon to Menevia, where David ruled for many years,
dying at the unlikely age of 147 on a day he predicted.
His soul was witnessed as it was borne to heaven. He
was buried at the monastery, then moved to St. David’s
Cathedral. Supposedly his remains were moved to Glas-
tonbury in 966, but they apparently were still at St.
David’s in 1346. That tomb is now empty.

In art David is shown standing on a small hill with
a dove on his shoulder. He was nicknamed “the Water-

man” because of his strict monastic rule prohibiting
alcohol.

Canonized: 1120 by Pope Callistus II
Feast: March 1
Patronage: doves; poets; Wales
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Ind.: Ave Maria Press, 1993.

Dionysius (d. 268) Pope

For a year after the murder of Pope St. Sixtus II in
August 258, there was a vacancy in the Holy See of
Rome as the persecutions under Emperor Valerian con-
tinued. Finally Gallienus came to power, and Diony-
sius, a priest in the Roman Church, was elected bishop
onJuly 22,259.

The signal event of his pontificate was the effort to
discipline Sabellius, an Asian priest who, like Marcion,
denied the Trinity and held that Jesus was but a man
who had received supernatural powers at baptism.
Dionysius called a synod in Rome about 260 to discuss
the matter, then issued an important doctrinal letter
explaining the Church’s position.

Dionysius is also known for sending support to
help the Christians of Cappadocia when faced with
invasion by the Goths. Along with a letter he sent a
large sum of money for the ransom of enslaved believ-
ers.

Dionysius died in 268 of natural causes and was in-
terred in the papal crypt of the Catacomb of St. Callis-
tus.

In art he is portrayed wearing papal vestments and
holding a book.

Feast: December 26

Dionysius of Alexandria (ca. 190-265) Bishop of
Alexandria, Father of the Church
Also known as: Dionysius the Great

Dionysius of Alexandria was one of the greatest bish-
ops of the third century. He lived during a time of tur-
moil and persecution.

Dionysius was born in Alexandria to a distin-
guished pagan family. As a youth he had a vision that
prompted him to convert to Christianity. He entered
catechetical school and studied under Origen. Origen
was banished by Demetrius in 231. After the death of
Demetrius, Dionysius took over as head of the school,
and may have retained the position even after becom-
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ing bishop of Alexandria in 247 and serving through
248.

In 249, an anti-Christian riot broke out in Alexan-
dria, and scores of Christians, including the virgin
Apollonia, were tortured and killed. The riot was
stopped, but an official persecution was launched in
January 250 by the newly crowned emperor Decius.
Dionysius was arrested, but was rescued and taken into
the Libyan desert, where he remained until the perse-
cutions stopped in 251. The same year, a dispute arose
between Pope Cornelius (r. 251-253) and Novatian,
and Dionysius sided with Cornelius.

Famine and plague then descended on Alexandria
and the city remained in turmoil. Throughout these
tensions and difficulties, Dionysius sought to keep the
Eastern and Western Churches in communication, and
advocated indulgences for lapsed Christians who
wished to return to the fold. He wrote books correcting
errors in theology and went out into the villages to
preach.

In 253 Valerian became emperor and began perse-
cutions in 257. Dionysius was banished to Kephro in
the Libyan desert. There he remained until tolerance
was declared in 260 by Gallienus. Returning to Alexan-
dria, Dionysius once again found the city in the grip of
famine and plague. So difficult was travel that he had
to communicate with his churches by letter. In 264 he
regained the bishopric, which he held until his death
in 265.

Dionysius wrote numerous letters, only one of
which survives. He is cited in the works of Eusebius,
who, along with St. Basil and others, referred to Diony-
sius as “the Great.”

Feast: November 17

Dismas (d. first century) The “Good Thief,” crucified
with Jesus on Calvary

The Gospel of Infancy, an Arabic text of dubious relia-
bility, tells how Dismas and the other crucified thief,
Gestas, actually encountered the Holy Family when
they fled to Egypt, and robbed them. Dismas suppos-
edly saved the family from Gestas.

The Gospels do not name the thieves, but Matthew
and Mark tell of one of them reviling Jesus on the
cross. Luke 23: 39-43 tells of one reviling Jesus and
being rebuked by the second thief, who said, “Do you
not fear God, since you are under the same sentence of
condemnation? And we indeed justly; for we are
receiving the due reward of our deeds; but this man
has done nothing wrong.” The robber asked Jesus to
remember him when Jesus came into his kingdom, and

Jesus said, “Truly I say to you, today you will be with
me in paradise.”

Feast: March 25
Patronage: death row inmates; funeral directors;
prisoners; therapists; undertakers

Dominic (ca. 1170-1221) Founder of the Order of
Preachers, known as the Dominicans

Dominic was born around 1170 in Calaroga, Old
Castile, Spain, to a noble family. His mother, Joanna of
Aza, was a devout woman who was beatified in 1828
by Leo XII (r. 1823-29). Brother Antonio became a
priest, and brother Manes became a friar preacher and
was beatified by Pope Gregory XVI (. 1831-46).

From birth Dominic seemed destined for sainthood
and greatness. Tradition holds that his mother had a
vision prior to his birth of a dog with a lighted torch in
its mouth. This was a sign that she would have a son
who would set the world on fire with his ministry.

Dominic studied at the University of Valencia from
1184 to 1194, excelling in his subjects and garnering
the admiration of others for his austerity and charity.
He especially abhorred heresy. He sold his books to
give money to the poor, and twice attempted to sell
himself into slavery in order to buy captives held by
the Moors.

In 1199 Dominic was called to the cathedral of
Osma to assist in reforms of the Franciscan chapter
there. He became a Franciscan canon regular and was
appointed subprior. In 1201 he became superior and
prior. Dominic spent nine years there, spending most
of his time within the confines of the chapter.

In 1203, Don Diego, the bishop of Osma, was dis-
patched by Alfonso IX, king of Castile, to negotiate the
hand of a Danish princess for his son in marriage.
Diego chose Dominic to accompany him. En route,
they were dismayed at the influence of the Albigensian
heresy in Toulouse. Dominic was inspired with the
idea of founding an order of preachers to evangelize
and combat heresy. After the marriage was arranged,
Diego and Dominic were sent to escort the princess to
Spain. She died suddenly en route. Dominic and Diego
set out to preach against the Albigenses in southern
France and went on to Rome, arriving near the end of
1204.

Pope Innocent III (r. 1198-1216) refused to ap-
prove a new order, however, and sent the men to
Languedoc to aid the Cistercians in their fight against
heresy and to reform the monasteries. They found the
Cistercians to be too lax. Their preaching won many
converts, as well as threats from the Cistercians.
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St. Dominic (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs
Division)

Dominic also founded a convent for women in Prouille
in 1206.

In 1208, Pierre de Castelnau, one of the Cistercian
papal legates, was murdered by the Albigenses. Inno-
cent III responded with a crusade to stamp them out
and appointed Simon de Montfort to head the effort.
Dominic formed a close friendship with him and
assisted him. During this seven-year crusade, Dominic
played a role in the Inquisition. Simon attributed a
critical victory at Muret to the prayers of Dominic, and
erected a chapel there devoted to Our Lady of the
Rosary. De Montfort also gave Dominic a castle at
Casseneuil.

In 1214 Dominic returned to Toulouse. He turned
down several offers of bishoprics and pursued his
dream of establishing a new order. He did so with the

approval of the bishop of Toulouse, forming a small
group known as the Order of the Preachers, charged
with the mission of spreading religious truth and
stamping out heresy. The order received papal approval
on December 22, 1216, from Pope Honorius III (r.
1216-27). In 1218, Honorius III gave the order the
church of St. Sixtus in Rome.

Dominic spent the remainder of his life organizing
and expanding the order. Dominic himself preached
tirelessly; it is said that his words and miracles con-
verted thousands. He established a third order, the
Militia of Christ, as an organization of men and women
living in the world and protecting the rights and prop-
erty of the Church.

In June 1221 Dominic was in Bologna preparing for
a missionary journey to Venice. He foresaw his own
death, and told others that he would die before the
next feast of the Assumption (August 15). Upon his
return to Bologna, he spent several hours in prayer,
and then was stricken with a fatal illness. He died three
weeks later.

As the Inquisition gathered force in Europe,
Dominicans played a major role in the prosecution of
heretics. In 1233, Pope Gregory IX (r. 1227-41) issued
a bull declaring that all inquisitors would be Domini-
cans and would be answerable only to the pope. In
1484, Pope Innocent VIII (r. 1484-92) was persuaded
by two Dominican inquisitors, Heinrich Kramer and
Jacob Sprenger, to issue a bull removing all impedi-
ments against inquisitors. The bull opened the way for
the most extreme prosecutions of the Inquisition in the
15th and 16th centuries.

In art Dominic is shown in the black and white
robes of his order, sometimes holding a lily or accom-
panied by a dog or globe of fire. A star is placed in his
halo.

Numerous miracles were attributed to Dominic.
With the help of holy water and prayer, he is said to
have raised from the dead a cardinal’s nephew who was
killed when he was thrown from a horse and mangled.
He had the gift of miraculous transport, not only of
himself but of others as well. On one occasion, he and
a Cistercian monk were traveling and stopped at a
church to spend the night in prayer. It was locked, so
they decided to spend the night on the church steps.
Suddenly they found themselves inside at the altar. On
numerous occasions he multiplied food. Once when
the friary of St. Sixtus had no food, Dominic sum-
moned all the brothers to the refectory and had the
tables set for a meal. He prayed, and suddenly two
angels in the guise of beautiful young men appeared
carrying a large load of bread. They gave every brother
an entire loaf, and then disappeared. It was recorded in
1528 that every year on the anniversary of this occa-
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sion, a sweet perfume manifested for 40 hours at the
spot where the rectory had been.

In his preaching, Dominic was known for his accu-
rate prophecy. He also foretold deaths. He had the gift
of tongues; on one occasion he enabled himself and
some of his monks to converse with German monks in
their own language. He could control the elements and
tame storms.

Dominic seemed to have an immunity to fire.
Once the Albigenses challenged him to a debate in
writing, to be judged by a panel sympathetic to the
heretics. After hearing the arguments, the judges
declined to make a decision. The heretics then
requested trial by fire. The works of both sides were
tossed into the flames. The writings of the heretics
burned immediately, but Dominic’s work was not con-
sumed, and even rose into the air. Three times his
work was cast into the fire, with the same results each
time.

On another occasion, Dominic traveled to Segovia
and stayed at the home of a poor woman. He
exchanged his hair shirt for a coarser one. The woman
secretly kept the hair shirt. Later, after Dominic was
gone, the house caught fire. The only thing left
unburned was the hair shirt and the box containing it.
The relic was taken to the monastery at Valladolid.

On May 24, 1233, Dominic’s body was exhumed
due to repairs at the Bologna monastery where he was
buried. As soon as the flagstones were moved, a sweet
perfume filled the air. When the casket was raised, the
scent filled the entire church. Dominic’s body was
incorrupt and his countenance looked the same as in
life. His head turned spontaneously. The perfume
adhered to anyone who came near or touched the
body. Three hundred years later, his relics were still fra-
grant.

Canonized: July 13, 1234, by Pope Gregory IX
Feast: August 8
Patronage: astronomers

FURTHER READING
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Dominic Savio (1842-1857) Student of St. John
Bosco; mystic; patron of youth

Dominic Savio was spiritually advanced at a young age.
He was born in Italy in 1842. By age five, he was an
altar boy. When he was seven, he received his First
Holy Communion. On that day, he chose a motto:
“Death, but not sin!”

At age 12, he went with John Bosco to John’s ora-
tory in Turin. There Dominic created the Company of
the Immaculate Conception, in order to help John with
his work. He stood out from among the other boys,
who looked up to him. John Bosco was impressed with
his piety and purity. He had many gifts, including
prophecy and visions. One of his visions influenced
Pope Pius IX in 1850 to reestablish the Catholic hierar-
chy in England.

One day Dominic began to feel sick and was sent
home. While at home he grew worse, and knew him-
self that he was dying. He was only 15. He is said to
have faced death bravely, looking forward to going to
heaven. He received the last sacraments. Just before he
died, he tried to sit up. He said to his father, “Good-
bye.” He smiled and added, “I am seeing such wonder-
ful things!” With that, he died.

Dominic became the patron saint of the falsely
accused, due to an incident that happened while he
was alive. One time, two boys filled the school stove
with snow and garbage during the cold winter months.
When the teacher came back into the room, they
falsely accused Dominic of doing the deed. Although
disciplined in front of the entire class, Dominic refused
to tell on the two mischievous boys. When the truth
was later revealed, Dominic was asked why he didn’t
confess to his innocence. He remarked that he was imi-
tating Our Lord, who remained silent during His perse-
cutions and crucifixion.

“A teenager such as Dominic, who bravely strug-
gled to keep his innocence from baptism to the end of
his life, is really a saint,” said Pope St. Pius X (r.
1903-14).

On December 6, 1876, 20 years after Dominic’s
death, John Bosco—renowned for his lucid dreams—
met him in a dream. The setting was a beautiful place
of gardens, long avenues and magnificent buildings.
John was given to understand that it was not techni-
cally “heaven.” In a brilliant light, Dominic walked for-
ward to greet him. Bosco described:

Dominic now walked forward on his own until he
stood close beside me. He stood there silently for a
moment, smiling and looking at me. How wonderful he
looked, how exquisitely he was clothed! The white
tunic which reached to his feet was interwoven with
golden threads and sparkling jewels. Around his waist
he had a broad red sash, also interwoven with precious
stones of every color, which sparkled and glittered in a
thousand lights. Around his neck there was a necklace
of wild flowers, but the flowers were made of precious
stones and the light they reflected lit up further still the
beauty and dignity of Dominic’s face. His hair, which
was crowned with roses, hung down to his shoulders
and completed the quite indescribable effect of his total
appearance.
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Dominic told John that they were in “a place of
happiness where all that is beautiful can be enjoyed.” It
was not heaven, for “no living person can ever see or
imagine the wonders of eternity.”

Dominic told John that he had done well with the
boys under his care at his oratory, but that the Salesian
order would be many more in number if he had
“greater faith and confidence in God” and nurtured
virtues in the boys. “What helped me most and gave
me greatest joy when I was dying,” replied Dominic,
“was the loving care and help of the great Mother of God.
Tell your sons not to fail to keep close to her while
they are alive.”

Dominic then accurately predicted that John would
have many trials ahead of him. He predicted the death
of Pope Pius IX (r. 1846-78) two years hence in 1878,
and the coming deaths of some of John’s charges.

His final gift was to give John three pieces of folded
paper. The first paper bore a list of boys who had never
been overcome by evil. The second had a list of boys
who had “seriously offended God,” but were trying to
redeem themselves. The third paper bore the names of
boys who had been conquered by evil. It was folded.
Dominic warned Bosco that when he opened the third
paper it would give off a terrible, unbearable stench of
evil.

John did so and was overcome by the stench. He
was saddened to see the names of some of his “best”
boys. When he awakened, the stench filled his cham-
ber. Dominic’s words were borne out.

Canonized: 1954 by Pope Pius XII
Feast: March 9
Patronage: choir boys; the falsely accused; youth

FURTHER READING
Forty Dreams of St. John Bosco. Rockford, I1.: TAN Books and
Publishers, 1996.

Dunstan (d. 988) Confessor, archbishop of Canterbury,
abbot of Glastonbury and one of the greatest saints of the
Anglo-Saxon Church

Dunstan was born to a noble family in Glastonbury,
England, probably around 910; some sources place his
birth date as late as 925-26. According to lore, his
mother, Cynethryth, received a sign of his sanctity
while he was still in the womb. While in the church of
St. Mary on Candleday (Candlemas), all of the candles
suddenly went out. The candle she held relit, and
everyone relit their candles from hers. This was taken
as a sign that her child would be a “minister of eternal
light” to the Church of England.

Dunstan was educated by Irish scholars who fre-
quented the monastery at Glastonbury. He received a

tonsure and minor orders, and served in the church of
St. Mary. He devoted himself to prayer, study, the copy-
ing of illuminated manuscripts and the making of bells
and other things for the church. So great was his devo-
tion that his uncle Athelm, archbishop of Canterbury,
summoned him into service.

At court, Dunstan was favored by King Aethelstan,
which earned him enemies who accused him of pagan
interests. Dunstan left court and went to Winchester,
where St. Alphege the Bald, his uncle and also the
bishop of Winchester, tried to convince him to become
a monk. Dunstan demurred, but changed his mind
after a near-fatal illness he believed to be leprosy (but
may have been blood poisoning). He returned to Glas-
tonbury and built himself a cell against the outside of
the church that measured five feet long by two-and-a-
half feet wide. Here he took up the life of a hermit,
played his harp and endured temptation by the devil.
According to lore, he seized the devil’s nose with a pair
of blacksmith’s tongs.

In 940 King Aethelstan’s successor, King Eadmund,
summoned him to court at Cheddar, but Dunstan once
again was tarnished by jealous lies, and Eadmund
threw him out. One day, while the king was out hunt-
ing a stag, his prey rushed over a cliff and Eadmund
saw he was powerless to stop his galloping horse from
doing the same. He prayed that he would make
amends to Dunstan if his life was spared. Miraculously,
the horse stopped at the edge of the cliff. Eadmund
took Dunstan to Glastonbury and made him abbot.

Thus began a revival of monastic life in England.
Dunstan established Benedictine monasticism and
worked to rebuild the Glastonbury abbey. He founded
a school for youth. Two years later, Eadmund’s succes-
sor, Eadred, invested Dunstan with more power, and
for the next nine years the saint wielded tremendous
influence in court and in monasteries throughout En-
gland.

After Eadred died in 955, Dunstan was once more
the victim of court politics, and he was exiled to Flan-
ders. He was recalled in 957 and appointed to the see
of Worcester, and then to the see of London in 958. He
became archbishop of Canterbury in 960, a position
that restored his influence. In 975, he was instrumental
in the selection of King Eadward. Civil war erupted,
and Eadward was assassinated in 978. Under the next
king, Aethelred the Redeless, Dunstan lost his influ-
ence. He retired to Canterbury and emerged only three
times, in 980, 984 and 986.

On the vigil of Ascension Day in 988, he had a
vision of angels warning him that he had three days to
live. On the feast day, he said mass and preached three
times, telling people of his impending death. He chose
the location for his tomb and went to bed to die. On



May 19 Mass was celebrated in his presence, he was
given the last rites and he died.

Dunstan was buried in Canterbury Cathedral. It
burnt down in 1074, and his relics were translated to a
tomb in the new church on the south side of the high
altar. The tomb was opened in 1508. The shrine was
destroyed during the Reformation.

Dunstan’s notable work is Regularis Concordia,
about the monastic life. In art he often is shown with a
dove near him, with a band of angels, or holding a pair
of blacksmith’s tongs.

Feast: May 19

Patronage: armorers; blacksmiths; goldsmiths; jew-
elers; lighthouse keepers; locksmiths; musicians;
silversmiths; swordsmiths

Dymphna Virgin and martyr
Also known as: Dympna, Dimpna

The story of Dymphna is told in legend and has no his-
torical foundation. An oral tradition existed for cen-
turies and was set down in writing in the mid-13th
century. At that time Dymphna had been venerated for
many years in Gheel, in the province of Antwerp, Bel-
gium, and a church there was devoted to her. She was
invoked against insanity.

According to the legend, Dymphna was the daugh-
ter of a pagan king in Ireland. She converted to Chris-
tianity and was baptized in secret. After her mother
died, her father desired to marry her. With the priest
Gerebernus, she escaped to Gheel. They became her-
mits. Her father found them. When he failed to per-
suade Dymphna to marry him, he had the priest slain
and cut off his daughter’s head. The bodies were placed
in sarcophagi and entombed in a cave. The remains
were found, probably in the 13th century. Dymphna
was transferred to Gheel and Gerebernus to Xanten.
Fragments of the sarcophagi are in Gheel, along with a

St. Dymphna (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs
Division)

brick alleged to have been found in one of them, bear-
ing the word DYMPNA.

In art Dymphna is shown with a sword in her hand
and a fettered devil at her feet.

Feast: May 15

Patronage: against epilepsy; family harmony; against
insanity; nerves; against mental disorders; against
possession; runaways; against sleep disorders






Eleutherius (d. ca. 189) Pope
Also known as: Eleutheros

Eleutherius was from Nicopolis in Epirus (Greece). He
became a deacon in Rome under Pope St. Anicetus (.
ca. 154-164), a position he held also under the pope’s
successor, Pope St. Soter. Upon Soter’s death around
the year 174, Eleutherius himself was elected pope.

Eleutherius decreed that any food fit for humans
was suitable for Christians, a response to the teachings
of the Gnostics and the Montanists (Phrygians). The
latter was a prophetic sect with origins in the east. It
was especially influential in Lyons, which sent a letter
to Eleutherius on the matter. At first Eleutherius was
inclined to be tolerant of its teachings, but after some
reflection, he came out strongly against them. Never-
theless, Montanists continued to have followings in
Rome and other Christian cities.

There is a legend that Eleutherius sent a mission to
the British Isles (then a part of the Roman Empire) in
response to an invitation from an English king named
Lucius. However, this is now known to be due to a
misreading of Britio for Britanio. Britio (short for
Birtha-Britium) was the name of the fortress at Edessa
in Syria, under the Christian king Lucius Zlius Septi-
mus Megas Abgar IX, and it was he who wrote to
Eleutherius. The misinterpretation may have been a
deliberate attempt to lay a foundation for the subjuga-
tion of Britain under the Roman Church.
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The persecutions of Christians during his pontifi-
cate were relatively light, and Eleutherius died a nat-
ural death on May 24 about the year 189. He was
buried on Vatican Hill along with his predecessor

popes.
Feast: May 26

Elizabeth (first century) Mother of St. John the Baptist
and kinswoman of the Blessed Virgin Mary
Name meaning: Worshiper of God

Elizabeth is mentioned in Luke 1. She was a descen-
dant of Aaron and lived with her husband Zachary, a
priest of the temple in Jerusalem. She and Zachary
prayed for a son, but she was barren.

When the couple was advanced in years, Gabriel
the Archangel appeared to Zachary and told him Eliza-
beth would bear a son who was to be named John.
When Elizabeth was six months pregnant, Gabriel
informed Mary that she was to bear a son who was to
be named Jesus. Mary, wishing to share her news, vis-
ited Elizabeth, who greeted her by saying, “Blessed
are you among women, and blessed is the fruit of
your womb!” Elizabeth said that her infant “leaped for
joy” in her womb at the sound of Mary’s voice. Mary
then delivered the Magnificat (“My soul magnifies the
Lord...”).
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The last information about Elizabeth in Luke tells
of the infant John’s circumcision and naming in the
temple of Jerusalem.

Feast: November 5 (with Zachary)

Elizabeth Ann Seton (1774-1821) Founder of the
Daughters of Charity of St. Joseph and the American
parochial school system; first native-born American saint
Also known as: Elizabeth Ann Bayley Seton; Mother
Seton

Elizabeth Ann Bayley was born August 28, 1774, to a
wealthy and influential Episcopalian family in New
York City. Her father, Dr. Richard Bayley, was born in
Connecticut and educated in England. He was the first
professor of anatomy at King’s College, now Columbia
University, and although he remained a Loyalist during
the American Revolution was appointed the new
nation’s inspector general in the New York Department
of Health for the Port of New York. Elizabeth’s mother,
Catherine Charlton, was the daughter of the Anglican
rector of St. Andrew’s Church on Staten Island. She
died when Elizabeth was three years old, leaving a
younger daughter, Mary, as well. Dr. Bayley remarried,
having seven children by his second wife, but took

St. Elizabeth Ann Seton (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

responsibility for the education of his first two daugh-
ters. Elizabeth was well read, industrious and pious.

On January 25, 1794, Elizabeth married William
Magee Seton in St. Paul's Church, New York. William
Seton was a first-generation American and heir to a
wealthy shipping firm. Elizabeth became an active
philanthropist, and she and William’s sister Rebecca
were known in New York as the “Protestant Sisters of
Charity.” By 1797 she had helped found the Society for
the Relief of Poor Widows with Small Children. The
couple had five children: Anna Maria, William Jr.,
Richard, Catherine and Rebecca.

Then disaster struck. The Napoleonic Wars
between France and England resulted in the seizure of
many of the Setons’ ships, and the business failed. The
elder Seton died in 1798, leaving William responsible
not only for the mounting bills but also for his
orphaned siblings. In 1802, Elizabeth’s beloved father
contracted yellow fever and died. And by 1803 William
himself was seriously ill with tuberculosis.

Doctors recommended a sea voyage to sunny Italy,
so William, Elizabeth and their eldest daughter Anna
Maria left for Leghorn in late 1803 to winter with the
Filicchi family, with whom William had done business
before his marriage. After seven weeks at sea, Italian
authorities kept the ship in quarantine for another four
weeks due to a yellow fever epidemic in New York.
William’s health worsened, and he died on December
27, just nine days after being released from quarantine.

Poor health caused Elizabeth and Anna to remain
with the Filicchis throughout the winter and spring of
1803-04. During this sad period Elizabeth often
accompanied the Filicchis to Catholic services, where
she was touched by the beauty of the Mass and espe-
cially impressed with the idea of the Presence in Com-
munion. When Elizabeth and Anna returned to New
York in June 1804, she began Catholic instruction,
even in the face of fierce campaigning against such a
step by her rector, Mr. Hobart, and all of her relatives.
Then her dear sister-in-law Rebecca Seton died in July,
throwing Elizabeth into total despair. Finally accepting
the call, Elizabeth was received into the faith at St.
Peter’s Church by Father Matthew O’Brien on March
14, 1805. Family financial support would have been
immediately forthcoming had Elizabeth remained
Protestant, but now she was ostracized. She endeav-
ored to run a boardinghouse for boys, then tried to
teach at a girls’ school, but fears that Elizabeth would
teach Catholic dogma forced the school to close.
When Elizabeth’s 15-year-old sister-in-law, Cecilia, an-
nounced she was converting as well, threats were made
to have the New York legislature expel Elizabeth from
the state. Her sons William and Richard were in
Georgetown College, courtesy of the Filicchis, and
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Elizabeth unsuccessfully sought refuge for herself and
the girls in a Canadian convent.

Desperate, Elizabeth went to hear Mass in August
1807 from Father William Valentine du Bourg, a Sulpi-
cian father and president of the Sulpician College of St.
Mary’, a seminary in Baltimore. Father du Bourg sug-
gested that Elizabeth found and head a girls’ school
near the seminary. After much prayer and consultation,
Elizabeth traveled to Baltimore in June 1808 and
opened St. Joseph’s School for Girls next to the chapel
at St. Mary’s, an event that marked the beginning of the
Catholic parochial school system in America. Other
young women seeking quiet service joined the school,
including Cecilia Conway of Philadelphia. They wore
whatever clothes they owned for everyday, and for for-
mal dress Elizabeth chose an outfit based on a nun’s
habit she had seen in Italy: a plain black dress with a
shoulder cape and a bonnet. In 1809, a man named
Cooper died and left the women $10,000 to found a
school for poor children. Elizabeth bought a farm
located a half-mile from Emmitsburg, Maryland, and
two miles from the school at St. Mary’s. Before estab-
lishing her new community, Elizabeth took vows in
front of Archbishop Carroll, formally founding the Sis-
ters of St. Joseph and henceforth becoming Mother
Seton, and moved to Emmitsburg. Her sisters-in-law
Harriet and Cecilia joined her, but Harriet died that
December, followed by Cecilia in April 1810. That
same year, Bishop Flaget petitioned the Sisters of Char-
ity of St. Vincent de Paul in Paris to receive the rules of
the Sisters of St. Joseph. Three sisters were to come to
America to train the community, but Napoleon forbade
the women to leave France. Bishop Flaget modified the
rule somewhat, with Archbishop Carroll's approval,
and in January 1812 the order officially became the
Daughters of Charity of St. Joseph, with Mother Seton
as superior. Elizabeth’s daughter Anna Maria died
March 12, 1812, during her novitiate but was allowed
to profess her vows before she died. On July 19, 1813,
Mother Seton and 18 women established the first
American religious society.

The order quickly grew, establishing free schools,
orphanages and hospitals in addition to the parochial
schools. Mother Seton divided her time between the
sisters and writing discourses, translations and hymns.
Her triumphs continued, tempered by sadness, how-
ever, as her daughter Rebecca died in 1816. When the
community reelected Mother Seton as their superior in
1819 she was suffering from a pulmonary disease,
probably tuberculosis, which finally took her life on
January 4, 1821. The Daughters of Charity were incor-
porated into the full Sisters of Charity of St. Vincent de
Paul in 1850. Mother Seton’s body is enshrined in the
basilica at Emmitsburg. Only two of Elizabeth’s chil-

dren survived their mother very long (Richard died in
Italy in 1821 as well), and both became important to
the Church. William Jr. died in 1868 after joining the
navy, but his son Robert became the Most Reverend
Robert Seton, archbishop of Heliopolis. Her daughter
Catherine (whom Elizabeth had once offered to God in
despair over her father’s illness) became the first postu-
lant of the New York Sisters of Mercy and their mother
superior, dying at age 91. And one of Elizabeth’s half-
nephews, James (the son of her stepbrother Guy Charl-
ton Bayley), also converted and became the Most
Reverend James Roosevelt Bayley, archbishop of Balti-
more.

Beatified: March 17, 1963, by Pope John XXIII

Canonized: September 14, 1975, by Pope Paul VI

Feast: January 4

Patronage: death of children; loss of parents; people
opposed to Church authorities; people ridiculed
for their piety; people with in-law problems; wid-
ows

FURTHER READING

“Saint Elizabeth Ann Seton.” Christianity-Catholicism. URL:
http://www.suitel0l.com. Published July 31, 1998.
Downloaded May 13, 2000.

Dirvin, Joseph I. The Soul of Elizabeth Seton: A Spiritual Por-
trait. Fort Collins, Colo.: Ignatius Press, 1990.

Elizabeth of Portugal (1271-1336) Queen of Portu-
gal, Franciscan tertiary

Also known as: Isabella; Angel of Peace; the Peace-
maker

Given the contentious nature of her royal ancestors, no
one would have predicted that Elizabeth would assume
the role of peacemaker almost from birth. Her great-
grandfather was Holy Roman Emperor Frederick II,
leader of Germany, Italy, Sicily and Jerusalem, and
cousin to St. Thomas Aquinas. Her maternal grandfa-
ther, King Manfred of Sicily, was one of Frederick II's
illegitimate sons. He met an untimely end when
Charles of Anjou, son of King St. Louis IX of France,
had him murdered and his body paraded through the
streets on a donkey.

On her father’s side, her grandfather, King James 1
of Aragon, banished his family from court because they
criticized his incestuous affairs. But Elizabeth’s birth at
Aragon in 1271 stopped all the squabbling, at least
temporarily; James reconciled with his son Peter in
order to see Peter’s child, named for her great-aunt St.
Elizabeth of Hungary. The king fell in love with Eliza-
beth and took her to live with him.

By the time King James I died in 1276, the six-year-
old child had learned the intrigues of her grandfather’s
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marriages and affairs and understood the geopolitical
significance of her own wedding. Edward I of England
wanted Elizabeth to marry his son, and Charles of
Anjou desired her for his son. But her father, now Peter
III of Aragon, betrothed the girl, barely 12, to King
Denis of Portugal, supposedly to keep her sunny, pious
presence nearby.

Passion and retribution scarred the groom’s family
as well. Denis’s father was the illegitimate son of King
Alfonso IIT of Portugal. The father repudiated his wife
and married Beatrice Guzma, Denis’s mother—herself
illegitimate. Denis was excommunicated, and all of
Portugal was under a papal interdict for the royal fam-
ily’s refusal to conform. By her 19th birthday, Eliza-
beth—an astute politician—had negotiated a peace
between her husband and Pope Nicholas IV and the
removal of the papal interdict. At 21, she called for
arbitration to settle a property dispute between Denis
and his brother. When that failed, Elizabeth avoided
war by ceding her brother-in-law a piece of her own
estates.

The Portuguese remember the reign of King Denis
and Queen Elizabeth as a golden age. The royal couple
organized agricultural villages, and Elizabeth founded
the nation’s first agricultural college, where orphan
girls learned to be good farmers’ wives. Whenever one
of the girls married, Elizabeth gave the couple a plot of
her own land. She established foundling refuges, a hos-
pital, travelers’ shelters and a home for penitent wo-
men at Torres Novas. Even during their honeymoon,
Elizabeth gave parties for the poor and whatever she
had to the needy. One account says that when she had
no money for her workmen, she gave them roses,
which turned into money.

Elizabeth and Denis had two children, Constance
and Alfonso, but Denis’s infidelities brought nine more
into the royal household. Elizabeth refused to
denounce Denis or repudiate the children. It pained
her, however, that Denis preferred his illegitimate son
Alfonso Sancho over their own son. Jealous and rebel-
lious, Alfonso attempted to kill Alfonso Sancho, but
his plot failed. To punish her for helping Alfonso
escape, Denis banished Elizabeth from Lisbon, the
royal capital, and persuaded Pope John XXII (r.
1316-34) to issue a bull granting Portugal the right to
ignore Alfonso’s birthright in favor of the illegitimate
children.

When she was allowed to return to Lisbon, Eliza-
beth again brokered peace between Denis and Alfonso
and persuaded the pope to lift the bull. In 1323, when
nothing else worked to allay war between father and
son, Elizabeth rode at full gallop on a donkey between
the opposing armies standing on the field of battle,
shaming them into reconciliation. She reportedly

averted war between Ferdinand IV of Castile and his
cousin, and between Ferdinand IV and her own
brother, James II of Aragon.

In 1324 Denis fell ill, and Elizabeth devoted herself
totally to him. Denis finally admitted his sins and died
repentant January 6, 1325. Immediately after his
death, Elizabeth gave away all her possessions and
made pilgrimage to Compostela, then left for a convent
of Poor Clares she had founded at Coimbra. Dissuaded
from joining the convent, she became a tertiary to the
order of St. Francis and lived the rest of her life as
Queen Mother in a house near the convent.

Always the peacemaker, Elizabeth attempted one
final mission to reconcile her son, now Alfonso IV, and
her nephew, Alfonso XI of Castile. Traveling to
Estremoz at age 66, in the summer heat, she died on
July 4, 1336.

Elizabeth is invoked in time of war, for peace.

Canonized: 1626 by Pope Urban VIII

Feast: July 4

Patronage: brides; charitable societies and workers;
difficult marriages and victims of unfaithfulness
or adultery; falsely accused people; widows;
queens; tertiaries; victims of jealousy

Emiliana and Tarsilla (d. ca. 580-581) Aunts of Pope
St. Gregory I and nieces of Pope St. Felix III (IV)
Also known as: Aemilianus; Tharsilla

Emiliana, a mystic, and Tarsilla lived in Rome at the
home of Gregory’s wealthy father, Gordianus, and were
revered for their severe austerities and prayer. Tarsilla
died on January 5, around 580-581, and Emiliana
died a few days later.

Feast: January 5

Ennodius of Pavia (474-521) Bishop of Pavia, Father
of the Church

Magnus Felix Ennodius is believed to have been born
at Arles, in southern Gaul, in 474. As a youth he went
to Pavia, Italy, where he was trained in rhetoric and
became engaged. Later he decided to join the priest-
hood, his fiancée at the same time becoming a nun; it
does not appear that they were ever married.

In 496, his uncle Laurentius, Bishop of Milan, had
him transferred to that city. Ennodius was ordained a
deacon and began teaching in the schools. He also
became embroiled in ecclesiastical controversies
when he served as secretary to his uncle, who
weighed in on the side of Pope St. Symmachus (r.
498-514) in 498.
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About 514, Ennodius was made bishop of Pavia. In
515 and 517 he was sent by Pope St. Hormisdas (r.
514-523) to Constantinople as part of his ultimately
successful campaign to bridge the long-standing schism
between the Eastern and Western churches.

Nothing further is known about Ennodius’s episco-
pate, though the texts of several hymns he composed
have come down to us. He died at Pavia on July 17, 521.

Feast: July 17

Ephraem (ca. 306-373) Doctor of the Church
Also known as: Ephrem; Ephraim, Ephraem the Syrian,
the Harp of the Holy Spirit

Ephraem was born under Roman rule in Nisibis in
Mesopotamia; his father was a pagan priest. He was
raised in the Christian mysteries by St. James, bishop of
Nisibis, and was baptized either at age 18 or 28. He went
with James to the Council of Nicea in 325. Ephraem
aided James in giving religious instruction to the people
of Nisibis and was especially influential during sieges of
the city in 338, 346 and 350. According to lore, he
cursed Persian troops from the city walls, causing a
cloud of flies and mosquitoes to descend upon the
troops and drive them away.

In 363 Rome gave control of Nisibis to the Persians
and most of the Christians fled. Ephraem left and set-
tled finally in Edessa, the capital of Osrhoene, where
he spent the last 10 years of his life as a hermit. He
condemned heretical sects, especially the Arians and
Gnostics. According to St. Gregory of Nyssa, Ephraem
visited St. Basil in Caesarea in 370.

Ephraem died in 373 and was buried in a cemetery
for foreigners. His body is claimed to be at the Armen-
ian monastery of St. Sergius in Edessa.

Most of Ephraem’s prolific writings were done dur-
ing his hermit years. He composed commentaries on
the Scriptures, most of which have been lost or survive
in fragments. He wrote sermons and exhortations,
mostly in verse, and composed hymns. He is credited
with introducing hymns to the public.

Declared Doctor of the Church: 1920 by Pope Bene-
dict XV
Feast: June 9

Epiphanius of Salamis (ca. 310-403) Bishop of Con-
stantia (Salamis) and Father of the Church
Also known as: the Oracle of Palestine

Epiphania of Salamis was born sometime after 310 in
Besanduk, near Eleutheropolis in Judea. He became an
expert in scriptural languages and lived as a monk and
hermit in Egypt. He returned to Besanduk, founded a

monastery and was ordained. He became bishop of
Constantia on Cyprus in 367.

As bishop, Epiphanius earned a reputation for
asceticism, scholarship and orthodoxy. His advice was
often sought. He went to Antioch in 376 to intervene
in the schism there, siding with Rome against Meletius.
He also intervened in the alleged Origenism of Bishop
John of Jerusalem and in the heresy accusations against
St. John Chrysostom. He died in 403 on his return to
Cyprus from Constantinople.

Epiphanius was a vigorous defender of the faith.
Ancoratus, or “The Well-Anchored,” is a substantial
treatment of Christian doctrine and argues especially
against Arianism and Origenism. Panarion, or “Medi-
cine chest,” gives the remedies against the poisons of
77 heresies. He was a primary authority of his day in
the devotion to the Blessed Virgin Mary.

Feast: May 12

Eucherius of Lyons (d. ca. 450) Bishop of Lyons,
Father of the Church
Also known as: Eucharius

Eucherius was born in the latter half of the fourth cen-
tury. A Gallo-Roman of high rank, he was married to a
woman named Galla; they had two sons, Veranius and
Salonius, both of whom became bishops and today are
numbered among the saints.

Around 422, Eucherius withdrew to the monastery
of Lérins, where his sons were living. His decision was
probably spurred by the death of his wife, although she
may have taken the veil. In any event, he did not stay
long in the monastery, but soon retired to the island of
Lerona (now Sainte-Marguerite), where he devoted
himself to study and mortification.

Wishing to join the anchorites of the eastern
deserts, he wrote to St. John Cassian, who, in reply,
sent him descriptions of the lives of these hermits.
However, this turn was not to be vouchsafed him. His
reputation for wisdom and virtue brought him to the
attention of Church officials and in 434 or 435 he was
compelled to accept the bishopric of Lyons.

Eucherius left a considerable correspondence with
Cassian, St. Hilary of Arles, and other church luminar-
ies of the day, and a few other writings, including an
account of the martyrs of the Theban Legion. He died
about 450.

Feast: November 16

Eugene | (d. 657) Pope
Also known as: Eugenius

Eugene, the son of Rufinianus, was a Roman from the
first ecclesiastical region of the city. He was known for
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his holiness, gentleness and charity. He became a cleric
in the Church of Rome in his youth and held various
positions before his elevation to the Chair of St. Peter
to replace St. Martin I on August 10, 654. Although it
is not known whether Martin I had officially resigned,
he was being held in exile in the Crimea at the time,
and evidently approved of Eugene as his successor.
Martin died less than a month after Eugene’s consecra-
tion.

Martin had gotten into trouble by his vocal opposi-
tion to Monothelitism (a heresy that held that Christ
had a single divine nature rather than a double human
and divine nature), and had been banished to the
Crimea by Emperor Constans II. Eugene continued to
uphold the Church’s position, and was threatened with
being roasted alive. Fortunately for him, Constans just
at this time became involved in a conflict with the
advancing Moors. They captured Rhodes in 654 and in
655 defeated Constans in a naval battle at Phoenix.

During his pontificate, Eugene consecrated 21 bish-
ops for different parts of the world. He died in Rome
on June 2, 657, and was interred in St. Peter’s at the
Vatican.

Feast: June 2

Eugene Il (d. 1153) Cistercian monk, pope
Also known as: Bernard of Pisa

There is much uncertainty about the parentage, place
of birth, and original name of the pope known as
Eugene III. Each of his biographers gives different
information on these matters. The only thing certain is
that he was born into a noble family named Pignatelli.
He was educated at Pisa, Italy, and following his ordi-
nation as a priest, became a canon at that city’s cathe-
dral.

In 1135, after meeting St. Bernard, he joined the
Cistercian order at Clairvaux, apparently taking the
name Bernard (Bernardo) after his mentor. Later he
was sent by his order along with other monks to the
ancient abbey of Farfa, but Pope Innocent II (r.
1130-43) instead assigned them to St. Athanasius
(then Tre Fontane) in Rome. Thus, he was living in
Rome when he was unexpectedly elected pope on Feb-
ruary 15, 1145, the day his predecessor, Lucius II (r.
1144-45), died.

Eugene was enthroned in St. John Lateran but then,
because the city threatened to erupt in violence
(Lucius may in fact have been stabbed to death), he
and his cardinals fled to the Farfa monastery. After
Eugene’s consecration in secret on February 18, he
and his entourage moved to Viterbo. His elevation was
soon welcomed by the entire Christian world with the

exception of Rome. There, under the instigation of
Arnold of Brescia, pilgrims who happened to be in the
city were attacked, the palaces of the cardinals and
nobles who supported Eugene were razed, monasteries
were pillaged, St. Peter’s was turned into an armory.
The violence was so extreme that it soon met resis-
tance from influential families of the region, and they
forced a reconciliation between the parties.

At issue was the independence of an elected Senate
from both the monarchy and the Roman Church. A
democratic party, with whom Arnold was affiliated,
wanted the Church to be beholden to the Senate.
Nonetheless, a treaty was worked out whereby the Sen-
ate would pledge allegiance to the pope. The pope and
the Senate would have separate courts, with the right
of appeal from either court to the other. The treaty
enabled Eugene to return to Rome a few days before
Christmas, 1145. However, when the democrats
demanded the destruction of Tivoli, a town that had
been faithful to Eugene, and he refused to allow it, the
agreement broke down. With Rome again growing
restless, Eugene left the city for the Castel Saint’
Angelo, then for Viterbo, and finally, early in 1146,
crossed the Alps into France.

For the next three years Eugene remained in
France, convening councils to take action in regard to
heresies such as Manichaeanism and ecclesiastical dis-
cipline in matters such as the dress and conduct of the
clergy. In the spring of 1148, he began making his way
back to Rome. On July 7 of that year, he excommuni-
cated Arnold, still a leader of the democratic move-
ment there. Then in the winter of 1149, Eugene
entered the city with the military assistance of Roger of
Sicily, and celebrated Christmas in the Lateran. How-
ever, he and his court were soon forced to take to the
road again. It was not until the spring of 1153 that the
Treaty of Constance, made between the Church and
the Holy Roman Empire, caused the democratic cause
to lose support and collapse, and they were able to
return to Rome for good.

As vexing as the situation in Rome must have been
for the Catholic Church during this period, it faced a
much larger crisis in the Moslem advances in the Holy
Land. The fall of Edessa in 1144 was bad enough, but
then Christian principalities in Palestine and Syria
were threatened. A Second Crusade was in order, and
Eugene commissioned St. Bernard to preach it. The
Crusade ended unfavorably, however, with the defeat
of armies under the command of the king of the Ro-
mans and the king of France.

In the summer of 1153, Eugene retired to Tivoli to
escape the heat. He died there on July 8 and his body
was carried back to Rome where it was interred in
front of the high altar in St. Peter’s Basilica.
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Beatified: December 28, 1872, by Pope Pius IX
Feast: July 8

Eusebius (d. 309 or 310) Pope and martyr

Perhaps a physician of Greek descent, Eusebius was
elected successor to Pope St. Marcellus on April 18,
309 or 310. He reigned for only four months, until
August 17 of the same year. His brief rule was marked
by the rigorist controversy, which concerned the return
of apostates to the church.

During the four years of persecution under
Emperor Diocletian (r. 284-305) many Christians had
deserted their faith. They now wanted to return to the
Church, which Eusebius, following Marcellus and
longstanding Church policy, ruled they could do, so
long as they performed proper penance. In this he
charted a middle course between Anaclitus, who
believed that the lapsed were outside the Church and
could not be reconciled to it, and Heraclius, himself an
apostate, who insisted that they be allowed to return
without penance. The controversy caused such an
uproar in Rome that Emperor Maxentius charged both
Eusebius and Heraclius with disturbing the peace and
exiled them to Sicily. Eusebius died there soon after.

The relics of Eusebius were translated back to
Rome, probably in 310, and placed in their own
cubiculum in the Catacomb of St. Callistus on the
Appian Way. Although Eusebius did not die a violent
death, he is venerated as a martyr.

Feast: September 26

Eustathius (ca. 270-ca. 360, or 336-337) Bishop of
Antioch and Father of the Church
Also known as: Eustathius of Antioch

Eustathius was born in Side, Pamphylia. He was the
first bishop of Beroea in Syria and was transferred to
Antioch in 323. There he became embroiled in the
Arian heresy controversy and was a fierce opponent of
the sect. He incurred many powerful enemies, includ-
ing Eusebius of Caesarea, who succeeded in calling a
synod in Antioch in 331 and having him deposed.
Emperor Constantine exiled him to Trajanopolis. Eus-
athius’s followers were enraged and ready to defend
him by force, but he calmed them down and went into
exile. Many of his clergy went with him. His followers
formed their own community in Antioch, calling
themselves the Eustathians. They refused to recognize
any of the Arian bishops.

Eustathius died probably in 360, though some
sources give 336 or 337 as the date. St. Meletius became
bishop of Antioch, but the Eustathians refused to recog-
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St. Eustathius (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs
Division)

nize him. This created the “Meletian Schism,” which
lasted into the second decade of the fifth century.

Most of Eustathius’s writings have been lost. He was
a harsh critic of Origen.

Feast: July 16

Eutychianus (d. 283) Pope

Little is known about the life or pontificate of Eutychi-
anus, who was elected to succeed St. Felix I in January
275. Legend has it that he personally buried 242 mar-
tyrs, but this is unlikely, since he lived in a time of
peace. He died of natural causes on December 7, 283,
and was buried in the papal crypt of the Catacomb of
St. Callistus on the Appian Way.

Feast: December 8

Evaristus (d. ca. 105) Pope and martyr
Also known as: Aristus

Evaristus was born in Bethlehem. A Hellenic Jew, he
converted to Christianity and eventually reached
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Rome. There he accepted the dangerous office of
bishop after the exile and death of St. Clement, around
the year 97, thus becoming the fifth pope. He ruled for
eight years. Although there are no extant accounts of
his death, he is listed in early martyrologies. He is
buried in the Vatican, near the tombs of St. Peter and
other early popes.

Feast: October 26

Ewe (sixth century) Patron saint of the Cornwall
parish of St. Ewe

Little is known about Ewe, who is believed to have
come from Wales to evangelize the area of mid-Corn-
wall, England. From the 12th century on, Ewe was said
to have been a woman. It is also thought that Ewe may
be the same as St. Theo of Brittany, as Th was often
placed at the beginning of saints’ names beginning in
vowels. The latter possibility is unlikely.

A church probably built by the saint exists in the
parish of St. Ewe and is dated to the sixth century.

Ezequial Moreno (1848-1906) Augustine missionary
renowned throughout the Americas

Ezequial Moreno was born on April 9, 1848, in Alfaro,
Rioja, Spain, the child of Félix Moreno and Josefa Diaz.
He was drawn to the religious life as a child, and in

September 1864, when he was 18, he entered the
Augustine monastery in Montegudo, Navarra.

Ezequial spent much of the early part of his career
as a missionary in the Philippines, where he was sent
in 1870. He was ordained a priest the following year,
and later was named to head the Montegudo
monastery and so returned to Spain.

In 1888, Ezequial traveled once again, this time to
Colombia in command of a group of Augustinian mis-
sionaries. His success as an administrator led to his being
named bishop of Pinar in 1893 and bishop of Pasto in
1895.

In 1905, Ezequial was diagnosed with cancer. The
following year he returned to Spain for an operation,
which turned out unsuccessfully, and he died in the
monastery at Montegudo on August 19, 1906.

After his death, his fame grew rapidly, especially in
Colombia. He is considered to have been one of the
greatest evangelists of the Americas.

Beatified: 1975 by Pope Paul VI

Canonized: October 11, 1992, by Pope John Paul 11
Feast: August 19

Patronage: cancer victims

FURTHER READING

“San Ezequiel Moreno.” Santos y Biatos de America Latina:
Colombia website. URL: http://www/aciprensa.com/santcolo.
htm. Downloaded: November 26, 1999.



Fabian (d. 250) Pope and martyr

Fabian was a farmer who happened to be in Rome
when the election to replace Pope St. Anterus began.
Several important persons were under consideration,
when a dove suddenly appeared and alighted on his
head. The dove recalled the settling of the Holy Spirit
on Christ, as described in the Scriptures. It was ta-
ken as a sign, and although he was a complete un-
known, Fabian received unanimous approval on the
first ballot.

During his 14-year reign, Emperor Philip was in
power, and there was a lull in the persecution of Chris-
tians. Fabian was responsible for several important
actions. He divided Rome into seven districts, each
supervised by a deacon, and appointed seven subdea-
cons to collect the acta of the martyrs (that is, the pro-
ceedings of their trials). (A similar order had brought
about the death of his predecessor.) He also made con-
siderable improvements to the Catacombs of St. Callis-
tus and had the body of Pope St. Pontian (r. 230-235)
brought from Sardinia and interred there. He may also
have sent St. Dionysius (Denis) and other preachers to
Gaul, but this is uncertain.

Fabian died a martyr on January 20, 250, when
upon the death of Philip and the accession of Decius
the persecutions began anew. Decius ordered all Chris-
tians to deny Christ by offering incense to idols or
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through some other pagan ritual; those who refused to
obey were killed. Fabian’s body was interred in the
Crypt of the Popes in the Catacomb of St. Callistus.
Later some of his relics were translated to the Basilica
of Saint Sebastian.

In art, Fabian is shown with a dove by his side; with
a tiara and a dove; with a sword or club; or kneeling at
a block (about to be beheaded). Sometimes he is
shown with St. Sebastian, who was martyred on his
feast day, or with a palm and cross. Fabian’s image is
included in a painting attributed to Diamante (ca.
1430-98) in the Vatican’s Sistine Chapel.

Feast: January 20
Patronage: lead-founders; potters

Faith (d. third century) Virgin martyr

Faith was born in Agen, Aquitania (southwestern
France), to a prominent Christian family. Tradition
held that at a young age she dedicated herself to Christ
and longed to become a martyr. Her wish was granted
during the persecutions.

Many of the Christians of Agen took to the forests
and hills to escape, but Faith remained in the city to
face the arrival of Dacian, the prefect of Rome. She was
arrested and brought before Dacian. He ordered her to
sacrifice to the goddess Diana, upon which she would
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be rewarded. She refused, and was sentenced to be
roasted alive on a gridiron. The spectators were so hor-
rified at her suffering that they protested, and so Faith
and several other martyrs were beheaded. Christians
buried their bodies in secret.

After the persecutions ended, the bishop of Agen,
Dulcitius, built a church in honor of Faith and placed
the relics of the martyrs in it. The relics of Faith later
were translated to the abbey of Conques, which was a
popular pilgrimage site in the Middle Ages. Some of
her relics also reportedly were taken to Glastonbury,
and churches in England were dedicated to her.

Feast: October 6

FURTHER READING
St. Alphonsus Liguori. Victories of the Martyrs. Brooklyn:
Redemptorist Fathers, 1954.

Faustina Kowalska (1905-1938) Nun and mystic,
originator of the Divine Mercy movement

Also known as: Maria Faustina of the Most Blessed
Sacrament

Faustina Kowalska was born Elena Kowalska in Glo-
gowiec, a small village west of Lodz, Poland, on August
25, 1905. She was the third of 10 children.

When she was seven, during the celebration of Ves-
pers, at the time of the exposition of the Blessed Sacra-
ment, God called her to the religious life. After her
First Communion, she went to confession every week
and never missed Sunday Mass with her family. Her
extraordinary holiness was manifest in the miraculous
obedience the family cattle paid to her.

From the ages of 12 to 14, Elena attended public
school. At 16, she began to work as a housemaid in
Lodz. Then a few weeks before her 20th birthday, in
the summer of 1924, she had a vision of Jesus in his
Passion. He chastised her for her spiritual sloth and
ordered her to join a convent. After being rejected by
several religious orders, she entered the Congregation
of the Sisters of Our Lady of Mercy in Warsaw on
August 1, 1925.

In her year as postulant, Elena’s guardian angel
showed her purgatory in order to excite her devotion
to the poor souls waiting there. On April 30, 1926, she
entered her novitiate; she took the veil and was given
the religious name Maria Faustina, to which she added,
“of the Most Blessed Sacrament,” as was her congrega-
tion’s custom. On that occasion, Jesus revealed to her
all that she would suffer for his name. The following
year, he gave her a vision of potatoes changed into
roses to teach her how pleasing was a lowly work done
for His love. During the last six months of the novi-

tiate, Faustina passed through a dark night of the soul.
At the end of that mystical experience, St. Thérese of
the Child Jesus appeared to her in a dream and foretold
her final perseverance, her future heroic sanctity, and
her canonization. On April 30, 1928, she took her first
vows of poverty, chastity, and obedience.

Faustina spent the next 10 years in various houses
of her order, working as cook, gardener and porter. She
had a special devotion to Mary Immaculate and to the
Eucharist and reconciliation, which gave her the
strength to bear all her sufferings. She suffered in
secret, with only her confessors and some of her supe-
riors aware of what she was going through. Fortu-
nately, she kept a diary in which she recorded the
details of the visions and stigmata that began to visit
her with increasing frequency. Since she was barely lit-
erate, she wrote phonetically, without punctuation, fill-
ing almost 700 pages. A poor translation reached Rome
in 1958 and the work was judged heretical. However,
when Karol Wojtyla (the future Pope John Paul II)
became archbishop of Krakow, he ordered a better
translation made, and the Vatican reversed itself,
declaring that the diary proclaimed God’s love. The
diary was published as Divine Mercy in My Soul.

Despite her profession, the darkness that had come
upon Faustina during her novitiate did not leave her.
So challenging were some of her experiences that her
confessors and superiors could not at first believe God
was treating her in such a manner. On one occasion,
Jesus commanded her to adore him in the Blessed
Sacrament for one hour on nine successive days, pray-
ing in union with Mary and all the while attempting to
make the Stations of the Cross. On the seventh day, she
had a vision of Mary, standing between heaven and
earth, dressed in a bright garment. Fiery rays issued
from her heart, some ascending heavenward, others
falling upon Poland.

Faustina received several striking communications
from Jesus in the 1930s. In the most important of these,
He sent her a message of Divine Mercy and asked her to
spread it throughout the world. She was to be an instru-
ment for emphasizing God’s plan of mercy for all of
humankind and a model of how to be merciful to oth-
ers, living her entire life in imitation of Jesus, as a sacri-
fice. To assist in this project, Jesus asked that a picture
be painted of Himself with an inscription reading,
“Jesus, I Trust in You.” Faustina commissioned this
painting in 1935. It shows a red and white light shining
from Christ’s Sacred Heart.

Faustina died October 5, 1938, in Krakow, Poland,
of tuberculosis, but her work was picked up by others,
thanks especially to Divine Mercy in My Soul. A move-
ment of priests, religious and lay people inspired by
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her experiences was organized under the name, Apos-
tles of Divine Mercy. The movement was approved in
1996 by the archdiocese of Krakow, and has since
spread to 29 other countries.

Faustina’s congregation, the Sisters of Our Lady of
Mercy, operates the Shrine of the Divine Mercy in
Lagiewniki, Poland. The order opened its first house
outside Poland—in Boston, Massachusetts—in 1988.
In Eden Hill, Massachusetts, there is a National Shrine
of the Divine Mercy, run by the Marians of the Immac-
ulate Conception.

Faustina is credited with interceding in two miracu-
lous cures that led to her beatification in 1993 and can-
onization in 2000. In the former, she caused a cure of a
woman who suffered Milroy’s disease, a hereditary
form of lymphedema; in the latter, she caused the cure
of a priest’s heart condition.

Beatified: 1993 by Pope John Paul 11

Canonized: April 30, 2000, by Pope John Paul II

Feast: October 5

Patronage: Warsaw, Plock, and Krakow, Poland; Vil-
nius, Lithuania

FURTHER READING

“Bl. Maria Faustina Kowalska, Apostle of the Divine Mercy.”
Apostolate Alliance of the Two Hearts website. URL:
http://home.ici.net/~aath/alliance/apostles/faustina/lifel.h
tml. Downloaded: September 10, 2000.

Kreitzberg, Paul. “St. Faustina Kowalska, Nun.” URL: http://
www.smart.net/~tak/Patrons/faustina.html. Downloaded:
September 10, 2000.

Pope John Paul II. “Canonization of Sister Faustina, Angelus
Message.” Catholic Information Network website. URL:
http://www.cin.org/jp2/jp000430a.html. ~ Downloaded:
May 21, 2000.

Felicity See PERPETUA AND FELICITY.

Felix 1 (d. 274) Pope

Nothing is known about the early life of Felix, the son
of Constantius. He was presumably a presbyter or
priest in the Church of Rome when he was elected to
succeed St. Dionysius as bishop on January 5, 269.

Felix is remembered for his condemnation of the
heresy of Paul of Samosata, for a time bishop of Anti-
och. Paul had already been deposed by the Synod of
Antioch when Felix became aware of the matter, but as
pope he dispatched a letter supporting the synod’s
views. Like other second- and third-century heretics,
Paul maintained that there was no unity to the Holy
Trinity and that Jesus had been a man who received
supernatural powers at his baptism.

Felix died a natural death on December 30, 274,
and was interred in the papal crypt of the Catacomb of
St. Callistus.

In art, he is shown as a pope with an anchor.

Feast: May 30

Felix 11l (d. 492) Pope

Felix was born to a Roman senatorial family and is said
to have been an ancestor of Pope St. Gregory I (Gre-
gory the Great, 1. 590-604). He was a widower with
two children when he was elected bishop of Rome to
succeed St. Simplicius upon his death in 483.

The year before, at the suggestion of Acacius, the
patriarch of Constantinople, Emperor Zeno had issued
an edict known as the Hereticon, or Act of Union. This
edict was intended to bring about a reconciliation
between the Catholics in the West and the Eutychians
(or Monophysites) in the East on the issue of the
nature of Jesus, but it backfired and resulted in split-
ting the Eastern Church into three or four branches.
Felix’s pontificate was largely concerned with this
schism, which was to last for 35 years. He died on
March 1, 492, having reigned eight years, 11 months
and 23 days.

Feast: March 1

Felix IV (d. 530) Pope

Felix was a cardinal in Samnium when Pope St. John I
(r. 523-526) died in prison in May 526. John I had
been arrested by Theodoric, king of the Ostrogoths and
of Italy, who was threatened by John’s appeal to mem-
bers of the Eastern as well as Western Church.
Theodoric put forward Felix as a candidate for the
Chair of St. Peter, and the Roman clergy and laity
acquiesced to his wishes. Felix was consecrated on July
12.

On August 30, Theodoric died. The throne passed
to his grandson, Athalaric, but because he was then a
minor, the government was put in the hands of his
mother, Theodorics daughter, Amalasuntha. Fortu-
nately, she was well disposed toward the Catholics. She
allowed Felix the traditional privilege of judging clergy
who were accused of misconduct and she gave him as
gifts a pagan temple, which he had reconstructed as
the church of SS. Cosmas and Damian. This church
still exists; in its apse there is a large and magnificent
mosaic executed on Felix’s order.

In 529, Felix sent 25 pronouncements on grace and
free will to Caesarius of Arles, who presented them
before the Synod of Orange. The synod accepted them
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as a confirmation of the teachings of St. Augustine and
a condemnation of semi-Pelagianism.

Felix grew increasingly concerned about the Roman
Church. On the one hand, many believers supported
the Goths, while on the other, many leaned toward
Byzantium. When he fell fatally ill in September 530, in
the hopes of keeping peace Felix gave his pallium to his
archdeacon Boniface and let it be known that Boniface
was to be his successor. However, in the papal elections
that followed his death, his wishes were disregarded.
Felix’s relics rest in the portico of St. Peter’s Basilica in
the Vatican.

Feast: January 30

Fiacre (d. 670) Irish miracle-worker and healer who
established a cult in France
Also known as: Fiachra, Fiaker, Fiacrius, Fevre

Fiacre is not mentioned in the earlier Irish calendars.
He was born in Ireland and became a hermit at Kilfi-
achra. In 630, desiring greater solitude, he went to
France and settled at Meaux. St. Faro, bishop of that
city, gave him land in a forest that was his own patri-
mony—called Breuil, in the province of Brie.

According to legend, Faro offered him as much land
as he could turn up in a day. Instead of driving his fur-
row with a plough, Fiacre turned the top of the soil
with the point of his staff. He cleared the ground of
trees and briers, made himself a cell, cultivated a gar-
den, built an oratory in honor of the Blessed Virgin
Mary, and made a hospice for travelers, which devel-
oped into the village of Saint-Fiacre in Seine-et-Marne.
He is said to have built the first hostel for Irish pil-
grims on the Continent, and used the produce of his
vegetable garden to feed them.

Fiacre’s generosity and cheerful disposition at-
tracted many people, who sought him out for advice,
alms and especially healing, for he had the miraculous
touch. However, his goodwill did not extend fully to
women: He never allowed any woman to enter the
enclosure of his hermitage or his chapel. Those who
dared defy this prohibition, even centuries later, met
with punishments. According to one story, a woman
from Paris entered the oratory in 1620. She instantly
became distracted and never recovered her senses.
Anne of Austria, Queen of France, mindful of the pro-
hibition, offered her prayers outside the doors.

Fiacre died in 670 and was buried at Meaux.

The fame of Fiacre’s miracles of healing continued
after his death and crowds visited his shrine for cen-
turies. In the 17th and 18th centuries, Meaux was a
major site for pilgrimages. High-ranking people and
royalty testified to the healing power of Fiacre’s relics

and shrine. Mgr. Seguier, Bishop of Meaux in 1649,
and John de Chatillon, count of Blois, gave testimony
of their own relief. Anne of Austria credited the inter-
cession of Fiacre with the recovery of Louis XIII at
Lyons, where he had been dangerously ill. She
expressed her thanks by making a pilgrimage on foot
to the shrine in 1641. She also sent to his shrine a
token in acknowledgment of his intervention in the
birth of her son, Louis XIV. Before Louis XIV under-
went a severe operation, Bossuet, bishop of Meaux,
began a novena of prayers at Saint-Fiacre to ask a
divine blessing.

Fiacre is invoked against all sorts of physical ills,
including venereal disease. Many miracles have been
claimed through his working the land and interceding
for others. He is especially the patron saint of the cab
drivers of Paris. French cabs are called fiacres because
the first establishment to let hackney carriages for hire
in the mid-17th century was in the Rue Saint-Martin,
near the hotel Saint-Fiacre in Paris.

In art Fiacre is often shown with a spade in his role
as patron of gardeners.

Feast: September 1
Patronage: cab and taxi drivers; all drivers; garden-
ers; against hemorrhoids; against syphilis

Finbar (ca. 560—ca. 633) Founder and miracle-worker
Name meaning: Fair crest
Also known as: Findbarr, Bairre, Barr

Finbar was born in Connaught, Ireland, around 560,
the illegitimate son of a master smith or craftsman and
a slave girl in the royal court (by some accounts a
lady). His parents moved to the region of Macroom,
where he was baptized Lochan (or Loan) by Bishop
MacCuirb. At age seven he was given to three clerics of
Munster to be educated. When they had his fair hair
cut, they named him Finbar, meaning “fair crest.”

Finbar went on pilgrimage to Rome with some of
the monks, visiting St. David in Wales on the way
back. David became a mentor. Legend tells that on
another visit to Rome Pope Gregory I (r. 590-604)
wanted to consecrate him a bishop but a vision told
him that God had reserved that honor to Himself. Fin-
bar returned home and was consecrated from heaven.
Oil flowed up from the earth to cover the feet of him
and the elders present; it had healing properties. Fin-
bar preached throughout southern Ireland. He also
may have preached in Scotland.

Finbar retired to live on the small island at Lough
Eiroe, and started a school there. According to lore, an
angel guided him to the place where he built a church.
Nearby is a cave called Cuas Barrai (Finbar’s Cave),
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and near that is a pool where Finbar caught a salmon
in his net every night. The angel told Finbar that the
spot would not be the place of his resurrection, how-
ever, and he went across the river to Cell na Cluaine
(Gougane Barra) where he built a church and stayed
for a long time. He built 12 churches and then founded
a monastery that developed into the city of Cork, of
which he was the first bishop. His monastery became
famous in southern Ireland and attracted numerous
disciples.

Finbar died at Cloyne about the year 633, although
various accounts give his date of death as 610, 623 and
630. According to legend, the sun did not set for 12
days after he died. His body was taken to his church in
Cork for burial. The church became a cathedral. His
island retreat at Gougane Barra became a pilgrimage
site, his hermitage and chapel marked with a wooden
CToss.

Many miracles are attributed to Finbar. He healed
many people, had visions, prophesied and foresaw the
time of his own death.

Feast: September 25

FURTHER READING
Sellner, Edward C. Wisdom of the Celtic Saints. Notre Dame,
Ind.: Ave Maria Press, 1993.

Finian (d. 579) Abbot and miracle worker
Also known as: Finnio; Winin

Finian was born in Strangford Lough, Ulster, Ireland,
to a royal family. Attracted to the religious life, he
became a disciple of SS. Colman and Mochae, then
became a monk in Strathclyde and was ordained in
Rome. He returned to Ulster where he founded sev-
eral monasteries and became the abbot of Moville in
County Down. He also founded monasteries at Holy-
wood and Dumfries in Scotland.

Finian was a teacher to St. Columba. Once when
Columba came to see him, he saw the young man
accompanied by an angel. He had a disagreement with
Columba over possession of a copy of St. Jerome’s
psalter, and won the disagreement.

Finian also is credited with numerous miracles,
including moving a river.

Feast: September 10

Finian of Clonard (ca. 470-549) Founder and teacher
of “the Twelve Apostles of Ireland” and other Irish saints

Finian of Clonard was born about 470 in Myshall,
County Carlow, Ireland. He studied under SS. Cadoc
and Gildas in Wales, then returned to Ireland where he

founded schools, monasteries and churches. His school
at Clonard was the most famous, and attracted some of
the most famous saints of Ireland, including Columba
and Brendan of Clonfort. Finian was abbot, or by some
accounts, bishop, though he may never have been offi-
cially consecrated in that position. He died during a
plague epidemic.

Feast: December 12

Foillan (630-655) Benedictine abbot
brother of SS. Fursey and Ulan
Also known as: Fullan

and  founder,

Born in Ireland, Foillan went to England in 630 with
his family and friends. There he participated in the
founding of Burghcastle, near Yarmouth. Foillan went
to France and Belgium. In Belgium he was given land
by Blessed Ita of Nivelles, and founded a monastery
and worked as a missionary abbot. In 655, he was
killed by outlaws after celebrating Mass in the Sneffe
forest.

Feast: October 31

Fourteen Holy Helpers Group of martyrs considered
especially helpful against adversity

The Fourteen Holy Helpers were especially invoked
during the Black Plague in Europe from 1346 to 1349,
when people took ill suddenly and often died violently,
within hours and without last sacraments. Symptoms
included a black tongue, parched throat, violent
headache, fever and abdominal boils.

In 1445 and 1446 a shepherd boy named Herman
Leicht, of Bamberg, Bavaria, saw apparitions first of
one child and then of 14 while he was out with his
flock. The children said they were the Fourteen
Helpers and asked for a chapel to be built in their
honor, and for Herman to serve them. The monks did
not believe the boy, but people began praying at the
spot where the apparitions appeared. When remark-
able favors happened to them, the monks constructed
a chapel in 1447-48. The site attracted pilgrims. In
1743, work was begun on a grand cathedral to replace
the little chapel; work was completed in 1772.
Churches and altars to the Fourteen Holy Helpers have
been built elsewhere in Europe and around the world.

The 14 martyrs and their special patronages are:

Achatius against death agony

Barbara against fever and sudden death

Blase against throat problems

Catherine against tongue problems and
sudden death
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Christopher  against plague and sudden death

Cyriacus against temptations, especially at
death

Dionysius against headache

Erasmus against abdominal problems;
protection of domestic animals

Eustachius against family troubles

George protection of domestic animals

Giles making a good confession

Pantaleon physicians; protection of domestic
animals

Vitus against epilepsy; protection of
domestic animals

Giles plague

FURTHER READING
Hammer, Fr. Bonaventure. The Fourteen Holy Helpers. Rock-
ford, Ill.: TAN Books, 1995.

Frances of Rome (1384-1440) Mystic, founder of the
Oblates of Mary (Oblates of Tor de Specchi)
Name meaning: Free one

Frances was born in 1384 at Trastevere in Rome to
noble parents, Paul Bosco and Jacobella dei Roffre-
deschi. At the age of seven she began to mortify her
body and express interest in being a nun, a decision
she declared at age 11. Her father opposed it as he
wished to marry her to another wealthy family. At 13
she was married to Lorenzo de Ponziani, a union that
lasted 40 years.

Early in the marriage, however, Frances collapsed
from strain. During her illness, she had a vision of St.
Alexis, patron saint of beggars and the sick, who asked
her if she wanted to live. She replied that she wanted
only what God willed; the saint healed her, saying the
Lord wished her to remain in the world to glorify Him.

Frances discovered that her sister-in-law, Vannozza,
also would have preferred the religious life. The two
became close friends, and went out into Rome together
to minister to the poor and sick. They especially
sought out those whom others refused or were reluc-
tant to treat.

In 1400 her first child was born: John Baptist (Bat-
tista), followed by a second son, Evangelista, and a
daughter, Agnes.

In 1408 Rome was seized by the troops of Ladislaus
of Naples, an ally of the antipope. Francess family
home was looted and burned. Lorenzo was stabbed;
Frances nursed him back to health. In 1410, Lorenzo’s
home and lands were seized and pillaged, and Battista
was taken hostage. He was later released. The story
goes that Frances refused to surrender her boy and
fled. Her confessor told her to give him over. She did

so and went to the Ara Coeli Shrine of the Sorrowful
Mother to pray. There Mary appeared to her and com-
forted her, and told her not to despair. The boy was
returned to her when the soldier carrying him could
not get his horse to budge.

Lorenzo was separated from the rest of his family.
Frances lived in the ruined house with her children
and Vannozza. Three years later, nine-year-old Evange-
lista died during a plague. According to lore, Frances
was rewarded by God with the gift of healing, and she
turned her home into a hospital. Agnes died two years
after Evangelista.

In 1414 the Ponziani family regained their property,
but Lorenzo’s health was broken. At about this time,
Frances brought to fruition a plan she had been devel-
oping for some time: the establishment of a lay order of
women who would serve God and the poor. She had
been inspired by a heavenly voice that told her Mary
wished her to do so. She received permission for this
order to be affiliated with the Benedictines of Mount
Oliveto. The order first was called the Oblates of Mary
and then the Oblates of Tor de Specchi. After seven or
eight years, the order acquired its own facility. Frances
spent as much time as possible with the order, but
refused to be acknowledged as foundress. She dictated
to her confessor the words of their Rule, which she
said had been given to her by St. Paul, in the presence
of Mary, St. Benedict and St. Mary Magdalen, who were
the patrons of her community.

Lorenzo died in 1436, and Frances retired to the
order. The superioress, Agnes de Lillis, resigned and
Frances assumed the post.

In the spring of 1440, she went to visit Battista and
his wife, and became ill on the way home. Her director
met her en route and ordered her back to her son’s
home. She spent seven days on her deathbed and died
on March 9. Her last act was to read her Little Office of
the Virgin Mary. She was buried in Santa Maria Nuova,
in the chapel of the church of her oblates. The church
is now known as the church of Santa Francesca
Romana. Her relics are on display there.

Frances had numerous mystical experiences of
Mary, who invited her to attend various feasts in
heaven. There she contemplated Mary in all her mys-
teries, and also was with the infant Jesus. At Christmas
in 1432, she spent 48 hours in ecstasy after Mary gave
her baby Jesus to hold. Thereafter, she proclaimed her-
self servant, subject and slave of Mary.

Frances also had numerous experiences involving
angels. According to lore, she was given two guardian
angels at birth. Frequent angelic visits began with the
death of Evangelista. Just before dying, he exclaimed
that angels had arrived to take him to heaven. On the
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one-year anniversary of his death, Frances had an
extraordinary hour-long vision. Her oratory was filled
with a brilliant light at dawn, and she beheld her son
accompanied by a beautiful boy. Evangelista said he
now resided in the second choir of the first hierarchy of
angels, and introduced his companion as an archangel
who had a place above his. He told his mother that God
was sending her this archangel, who would not leave
her day or night, and whom she would be blessed with
seeing with her “bodily eyes.” Evangelista then said he
had to return to heaven, but the sight of the angel
would always remind his mother of him.

Evangelista disappeared, never to manifest to
Frances again. The angel remained, standing with arms
folded across his chest. Frances fell to her knees and
begged for his help in guiding her spiritual growth,
and in defending against the devil. When she finally
left the oratory, the angel followed her, enveloping her
in a halo of light. The angel, and this halo around
Frances, could not be perceived by other people.

Frances could not look upon the angel’s brightness
without hurting her eyes; so, she looked upon the glow
around him. Over time, she was able to more directly
see his features while she was at prayer; it seemed that
the angel purposefully dimmed his own light to help
her. He looked like a boy of nine, with sparkling eyes
and an ever-present sweet expression upon his face and
his eyes turned constantly toward heaven. He wore a
white robe covered by a tunic that reached his feet, was
clear as light and had an ethereal color like sky-blue
and flaming red. His hair, like spun gold, fell across his
shoulders. The light coming from his hair was so
bright that Frances frequently did not need a candle,
even at night.

She wrote that the angel was never soiled by dirt or
mud when he walked beside her. If she committed
even the slightest fault, however, he disappeared from
her sight, and would reappear only after she had con-
fessed her faults. If she was plagued by doubts, he gave
her a kind look that immediately made her feel better.
When he talked, she could see his lips move; his voice
was incredibly sweet.

Much of the angels guidance centered around
Frances’s worries as head of a family. The angel assured
her that she was not lost in God’s sight. He also
enabled her to supernaturally discern the thoughts of
others. Thus she reportedly was able to short-circuit
evil intent, reconcile enemies, and help wandering
souls return to the fold.

Frances also was engaged in a constant struggle
against evil spirits. Whenever the devil would particu-
larly plague her, she would appeal to the archangel for
help. In the fashion of Samson, the angel’s power was

in his hair, for when Frances asked him for protection,
the angel shook his hair and frightened the evil spirits
away.

The archangel—who never announced a name—
stayed with Frances for 24 years. In 1436, she joined
her own community, and was granted a vision in which
she saw God seated on a high throne and surrounded
by myriad angels. God appointed one of the high-rank-
ing powers to replace the archangel. In his human
form, the power was even more beautiful than the
archangel, and exhibited greater power and courage.
He did not have to shake his hair to scare away evil
spirits; his mere presence accomplished that. He car-
ried in his left hand three golden palm branches, which
symbolized three virtues that he helped Frances to cul-
tivate: charity, firmness and prudence.

The power stayed with Frances for four years until
she died. At the moment of her death, her face shone
with a bright light and she uttered, “The angel has fin-
ished his task: he beckons me to follow him.”

Miraculous events attributed to Frances include the
multiplication of food: She increased corn and wine for
the sick, needy and prisoners. She experienced fre-
quent ecstasies and shone with a supernatural radi-
ance. When Frances died, her face lit with youth and
beauty, and her body exuded a sweet perfume. A sister
who had a withered arm washed her body; her arm was
restored to health. The perfume was still present when
the saint’s remains were moved to a larger tomb.

Canonized: 1608 by Pope Paul V
Feast: March 9
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Frances Xavier Cabrini (1850-1917) First U.S. citi-
zen to be canonized
Also known as: Francesca Saverio Cabrini

Frances Xavier Cabrini was born on July 15, 1850, in
the village of Sant’Angelo Lodigiano, in the diocese of
Lodi, in the Lombardy region of Italy. She was the 13th
child of Augustine Cabrini, a farmer, and his wife,
Stella Oldini. Stella was then 52, and Frances seemed
so fragile that she was carried to the church and bap-
tized at once. She was given the name Maria Francesca
Saverio, after the missionary St. Francis Xavier.

On the day of Francess birth, a flock of white
doves flew by her father’s farm and circled the house,
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St. Frances Xavier Cabrini (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

one of them dropping down to alight in the vines that
covered the walls. Flocks of white birds were to
appear several more times in her life. She compared
them to angels or souls she would help save, or to
new sisters who would join the religious community
she founded.

In 1863, at the age of 13, Frances entered the con-
vent of the Daughters of the Sacred Heart at Arluna,
where she made a vow of virginity, and took courses
that led to a teacher’s certificate. When she graduated
with honors in 1868, she was fully qualified as a
teacher. She applied for admission to the convent, hop-
ing that she might be sent as a missionary teacher to
China. Her health was not good, however, and she was
turned down.

Two years later, she lost both parents and 10 of her
siblings to smallpox. She herself was stricken the fol-
lowing year, but an older sister nursed her back to
health, and in 1872 she began to teach in a public

school. After reapplying and once more being rejected
by the Daughters of the Sacred Heart, she was offered
the job of managing a small orphanage at Codogno in
the Lodi diocese, then encouraged to turn it into a reli-
gious community. She took her first vows there in 1877
and was made the superior by the bishop of Lodi.
When he closed the institution three years later, the
bishop counseled her to found a congregation of mis-
sionary nuns, since he knew of none. Frances then
moved to an abandoned Franciscan friary in Codogno
and drew up the rules for the Missionary Sisters of the
Sacred Heart, whose object was to be the education of
girls in Catholic schismatic or pagan countries. The
Missionary Sisters received episcopal approval at the
end of 1880 and the decree of papal approbation in
1888.

Bishop Scalabrini of Piacenza, who had established
the Society of Saint Charles to work among Italian
immigrants in the United States, suggested that Frances
go there to support his priests. Archbishop Corrigan of
New York sent her a formal invitation; Pope Leo XIII (r.
1878-1903) gave his blessing to the enterprise, and she
arrived in New York on March 31, 1889, with six of
her nuns. Although Frances was to return to Italy
annually in search of new missionary sisters, she was to
make the United States her home from then on, even-
tually, in 1909, taking U.S. citizenship.

Besides schools and charitable institutions, she
founded four great hospitals, with nurses’ homes
attached, one each in New York and Seattle, and two in
Chicago. Her Columbus Hospital in New York was
opened in 1892, the 400th anniversary of Christopher
Columbus’s arrival in the New World. The work of the
Missionary Sisters was by no means confined to the
United States, however. Frances traveled to, and estab-
lished orphanages, schools and hospitals, in Nicaragua,
Costa Rica, Brazil, Argentina, Chile, Italy, Spain,
France and England as well. By the time of her death,
her order had grown to include 67 houses with over
4,000 nuns.

Frances’s health, which had always been precarious,
began to decline in 1911. She was visiting one of her
schools in Chicago when, on December 21, 1918, she
died of a heart attack, at age 67. At first her relics were
placed at the Sacred Heart Orphanage in West Park,
New York, her official home, but they have since been
moved to a chapel in the Mother Cabrini High School
in the Bronx.

Beatified: August 6, 1938, by Pope Pius XI

Canonized: July 7, 1946, by Pope Pius XII

Feast: November 13 (formerly December 22)

Patronage: displaced persons, emigrants and immi-
grants
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Francis de Sales (1567-1622) Bishop of Geneva, Doc-
tor of the Church, founder and popular preacher
Also known as: the Gentle Christ of Geneva

Frances de Sales was born on August 21, 1567, to a
noble Savoy family in Thorens in the duchy of Savoy.
His parents were Francois de Sales de Boisy and
Francoise de Sionnaz, and he was the oldest of five
boys. He was brought up a strict Catholic and followed
his father’s ambition for him to become a magistrate.

Francis was well schooled at the colleges of La
Roche and Annecy. From 1583 to 1588 he studied
under the Jesuits at the college of Clermont, Paris.
While there, he studied theology, which had a pro-
found effect on him. He made a vow of chastity and
consecrated himself to the Blessed Virgin Mary. He
then went to law school at the University of Padua,
Italy. He excelled in studies, was eloquent and gentle-
manly and was well liked.

In 1592 Francis received his doctorate of law and
was appointed a lawyer before the senate of Chambéry,
France. His father arranged for him to be appointed
senator and to marry a noble heiress. But Francis
refused, creating a serious rift with his father. Claude
de Granier, bishop of Geneva, arranged for Francis to
be appointed provost of the Chapter of Geneva, a posi-
tion under the patronage of the pope. Francis’s father
relented, and Francis received his holy orders in 1593.

In Geneva, Francis threw himself with great energy
into preaching and evangelizing. In 1594 he began
work in Le Chablais, a district just restored to the
duchy of Savoy. He traveled extensively, sometimes at
risk to his life, and converted many from Calvinism.
Francis had several conferences with Theodore Beza,
the “Patriarch of the Reformation,” but nothing came
of them.

In 1599, Claude de Granier appointed him coadju-
tor and sent him—despite his refusal—to Rome. There
Pope Clement VIII (r. 1592-1605) approved of him,
and prophesied that he would have a great impact
upon the world.

Francis returned to France and became friends with
King Henry IV, who wished him to stay and preach in

France. In 1602, de Granier died, and Francis was
appointed bishop of Geneva. The next 20 years were
the most productive of his life. He devoted himself to
visiting the parishes, instituting reforms and religious
instruction, and performing his ministerial duties. He
did not care for the Calvinist influences in Geneva, and
so worked primarily from Annecy, where he lived like a
poor priest. His sermons were eloquent, and people
loved to hear him preach. On at least one occasion he
was witnessed illuminated by supernatural light as he
preached.

During this period, Francis found the time to write
innumerable letters and treatises, many of which are
still popular. In 1607, he founded the Institute of the
Visitation of the Blessed Virgin Mary for young girls
and widows.

In 1622, Francis accompanied the court of Savoy to
France. In Lyons, he suffered a sudden apoplexy on
December 27. He was given last rites and constantly
repeated, “God’s will be done! Jesus, my God and my
all!” He died the following day.

Huge crowds came to see his body. Lyons wished to
keep his remains, but kept only his heart, with every-
thing else going back to Annecy. He was entombed at
the Visitation Convent, and miracles were claimed
there. During the French Revolution, nuns carried his
heart to Venice for safety, where it still remains.

His beatification in 1661 was the first beatification
held at St. Peter’s Basilica.

Francis’s heart was placed in a silver coffer. At inter-
vals over the years, it exuded a clear oil, or manna. The
coffer was not hermetically sealed, and in 1948 the dry
heart was wrapped in a new piece of linen and a layer
of tissue paper the same color as the heart. In 1952
white salt-like spots appeared between the heart and
the container. The heart was unwrapped for examina-
tion, and the linen cloth had bloodstains. The heart
was rewrapped in fresh linen and placed in a hermeti-
cally sealed container, which was then placed inside
the original reliquary. In 1953 the heart was again
examined, by doctors and Church officials. No satisfac-
tory explanation could be given for the bloodstains.
One rather mystical explanation proposed that the
heart had bled to express the saint’s unhappiness with
a decision following World War II to reorganize the
independent Visitation into a confederation under the
jurisdiction of Rome. The confederation was eventu-
ally dissolved.

In his sermons and writings, Francis showed a deep
insight into human nature and psychology. He did not
address himself to peers, as did many other great writ-
ers of the Church, but to the people. He was gifted in
inspiring and motivating others to a higher spiritual
life. Probably his best-known and loved work is
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Philothea, better known as An Introduction to the Devout
Life, published in 1608. In a warm and personal fash-
ion, the book lays out the requirements for a devout
life of prayer, practicing virtues, resisting temptation,
maintaining a good marriage, and worshiping God.
Francis’s style translates easily for modern times, and
Philothea remains a widely read and followed work.

Another of Francis’s principal works is Controver-
sies, which addresses the fundamentals of Catholic
faith. It originally appeared in separate handbills and
leaflets passed out to those whom Francis sought to
evangelize in Le Chablais.

Other important works are: Treatise on the Love of
God, a 12-book examination of the history and theory
of Divine love; Spiritual Conferences, conversations on
religious virtues, which Francis wrote for the Sisters of
the Visitation; and Defense of the Standard of the Cross,
a discussion of Catholic doctrine on the veneration of
the cross. Francis wrote numerous sermons, especially
for Lent—also still popular reading—and other trea-
tises.

Various religious congregations have been formed
under his patronage, among them the Missionaries of
St. Francis de Sales, of Annecy; the Salesians, founded
by St. John Bosco in Turin for underprivileged boys;
and the Oblates of St. Francis de Sales, of Troyes,
France.

Beatified: 1661 by Pope Alexander VII

Canonized: 1665 by Pope Alexander VII

Declared Doctor of the Church: 1877 by Pope Pius IX

Feast: January 24

Patronage: attorneys; authors; Catholic press; con-
fessors; the deaf; journalists; teachers; writers
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Francis of Assisi (11812-1226) Stigmatist, considered
to be the founder of all Franciscan orders

Name meaning: Free one

Also known as: Little Poor Man, Il Poverello

Francis of Assisi was born in either 1181 or 1182 in
the town of Assisi in Umbria, Italy, at a time when his
wealthy father, Pietro Bernardone, was away. His
mother, Pica, baptized him as Giovanni after John the
Baptist. His father had the name changed to Francesco,
“the Frenchman,” in honor of the time he spent in
France conducting his successful silk cloth trade.

Francis spent his early years in song, drink and
extravagance, going through his father's money but
showing no interest in his father’s business. His com-
panions were youths who loved the wild life. In 1201,
war broke out between Assisi and neighboring Perugia,
and Francis was captured. He languished for a year in
prison, was ransomed and then suffered a long illness
after his release. During his convalescence he kept
receiving signs that he should change his ways.

After his recovery, a call was issued for knights for
the Fourth Crusade. Francis outfitted himself in the
finest of armor and garments with the intention of join-
ing the forces of Walter de Brienne, who was fighting in
southern Italy. Francis bragged that he would return a
prince. But a day’s journey out of Assisi, he met a poor
gentleman or former knight and traded his fine clothes
and armor for the man’s rags. At Spoleto, he became ill,
and either had a dream or an auditdon (direct voice
experience) in which God told him that what he was
doing was wrong, and that he should “serve the master
and not the man” and go home. He did so.

At home, he began visiting the sick and poor, giv-
ing them whatever he had. He spent more time in
prayer, even removing himself to a cave, where he
wept and prayed about his sins. One day in prayer in
the church of San Damiano (St. Damian), a voice
emanated from the crucifix and told him three times,
“Francis, go and repair my house, which you see is
falling down.” Francis took one of his father’s horses
and a large amount of cloth, both of which he sold to
rebuild the ruined church.

His enraged father came to the church, but Francis
hid. Several days later, Francis emerged in public after
fasting and praying; crowds pelted him. His father took
him home and tried everything to dissuade Francis
from his “mad” ideas, including beatings and shackles,
but Francis was immovable. He returned to the church,
whereupon his father demanded that he either come
home or renounce his inheritance and repay the cost of
the horse and cloth. Francis responded by stripping oft
all his clothing and giving them to his father. He
renounced his patrimony and took a vow of absolute
poverty. He was given the dress of a laborer, marked it
with a cross in chalk, and wore it. The white cross on
an undyed woolen tunic was to become the trademark
of Franciscan monks.

Francis soon attracted a band of 12 followers, all of
whom wore long, rough tunics of undyed wool, shaved
the tops of their heads and preached as itinerants
among the poor and sick, depending solely on the gen-
erosity of strangers. He composed a rule based on the
gospel’'s words about perfection, and in 1210 sought
approval from Pope Innocent III (r. 1198-1216).
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St. Francis of Assisi receiving the stigmata (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division)

According to lore, the pope had two dreams that Lateran church, which seemed about to fall. Innocent
prompted him to grant approval. In one, a palm tree gave Francis approval for spreading his rule only by
grew at his feet. In another, Francis propped up the word of mouth.
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Francis made two attempts to preach among the
Moslems. In 1212 his journey was ended by ship-
wreck, and a later journey was ended by his own ill-
ness. He did, however, travel to Egypt and Syria
beginning in 1219.

A revision of his rule was approved in 1223 by Pope
Honorius IIT (1.1216-27). The same year, Francis in-
troduced a creche at a Nativity Mass in Greccio in 1223
as a memorial of Jesus’ humble birth—a practice that
has become a central part of Christmas celebrations.

Perhaps his most unusual achievement was the
acquisition of stigmata after an ecstatic vision in 1224.
During the summer of that year, close to the Feast of the
Assumption (August 15), Francis retired in seclusion
to a tiny hut on Monte La Verna, part of the property of
Orlando, count of Chiusi. He intended to suffer a long
fast in honor of the archangel Michael, requesting that
he be left alone until the angel’s feast day on September
29. Francis was then 42 years old, racked with disease
and fevers, and quite thin from self-mortification.

On September 14, the Feast of the Exaltation of the
Holy Cross, Francis continued his fasting and prayer
by concentrating on Christ’s sufferings on the cross. As
described in the Little Flowers of St. Francis of Assisi, he
was contemplating the Passion so fervently that he
believed himself transformed into Jesus. While in such
an ecstatic state, his vision continued with the appear-
ance of a seraph. The angel’s six fiery wings descended
from heaven, drawing closer to Francis, and revealed
the crucified Jesus within their folds. Francis was filled
with fear, joy and sorrow. When the vision ended, the
saint found to his amazement that his hands and feet
were marked with black excrescences in the form of
nail heads and bent nails, and that a wound on his
side—like the sword wounds suffered by Jesus—oozed
blood frequently.

Francis was embarrassed and frightened by these
stigmata, and for the remaining two years of his life
kept his hands within his habit and wore shoes and
stockings. He told none of his followers about the mir-
acle, but they deduced the situation after finding blood
on his clothing and noting Francis’s inability to walk
without hobbling. Sweet smells issued from cloths
stained by the blood of the stigmata.

Several surviving accounts from various of Francis’s
followers refer to his bleeding wounds, the saints in-
ability to walk and the blackness of the marks. St. Fran-
cis’s biographer, Thomas of Celano, reported that black
marks resembling nails appeared on Francis’ flesh even
after death. And two paintings of Francis, painted
within 10 years of his death, both show the stigmata.
There were no verified reports of stigmata before Fran-
cis’s designation in 1224, and very few since.

In 1225, suffering greatly from ill health, Francis
composed his famous “Canticle of Brother Sun” poem
and set it to music.

When doctors could do no more for him, he went
to Assisi to die. On his last day, Saturday, October 3,
1226, he asked for the singing of that part of his Canti-
cle that honors death. He broke bread with his brothers
and was laid on the ground. He preached to them and
blessed them, and died that evening.

Familiar with court poetry and the songs of the
troubadours, Francis introduced a love of nature and
creation, of song and praise, and of higher chivalric
love into medieval worship.

There are many stories about his rapport with birds
and animals, who tamely gathered around him to listen
to him preach. Birds especially seemed fond of him.
Francis would preach to them the same as he did to
people. In one village, he subdued a ferocious wolf that
was attacking humans and animals. He ordered the
wolf to desist, and told the townspeople that the wolf
would do them no more harm if they fed him every day.
For the next two years until the wolf died, the towns-
people fed the docile wolf as it went from door to door.

Francis multiplied food on more than one occasion.
Once, when a priest complained that followers of Fran-
cis were eating too many of the church’s grapes, Fran-
cis said that they should be allowed to do so, and the
vineyard would produce more wine than normal. He
also multiplied food when his ship was wrecked.

He is said to have influenced the weather, once end-
ing frequent hailstorms that were destroying crops.
Francis told the people to confess their sins and
repent. The hailstorms ended. The people, however,
eventually went back to their old ways, and were
struck by pestilence and a fire that destroyed their
town.

Francis was never ordained because he believed
himself to be unworthy of the priesthood, yet he had
a profound and lasting impact on the Church and
on charity; there are Franciscans the world over carry-
ing on his work. The “Canticle of Brother Sun” is still
sung in Christian churches all over the world. Francis’s
simple appeal and total devotion —as well as the sto-
ries of his prophecies and miracle healings—continue
to attract followers today.

Canonized: 1228 by Pope Gregory IX

Feast: October 4

Patronage: animals; birds; Catholic action; ecolo-
gists; merchants; zoos

FURTHER READING

Chambers, R., ed. The Book of Days: A Miscellany of Popular
Antiquities in Connection with the Calenda., Vol. 2. Detroit:
Gale Research Co., 1967.
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Wilson, Ian. Stigmata: An Investigation into the Mysterious
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Francis of Paola (ca. 1416-1507) Founder of the
Minim Friars

Known as “The Miracle Worker” and “God’s Miracle-
Worker Supreme”

St. Francis of Paola was born around 1416 in Paola,
Italy, to a humble family. Childless for years, the par-
ents had prayed earnestly to St. Francis of Assisi for a
son. When Francis was conceived, tongues of fire were
seen dancing harmlessly over the family roof. At birth
the boy was named after the saint. When he was 13,
they sent him to the Franciscan friary at San Marco to
be educated. The austere lifestyle appealed to Francis.

After a year, he took a pilgrimage with his parents
to Assisi, Rome and other places. When they returned,
Francis went into seclusion, first slightly outside Paola
and then in a remote location in a cave by the sea. By
1436 he was joined by two companions. Neighbors
built them cells and a chapel. A story is told that one
day a goat rushed into Francis’s cave, seeking refuge
from hunters. Francis took it as a sign from God that
he was to leave his hermitage and work for the
Church.

Thus began Francis’s order. The date of foundation
is considered to be 1452. Seventeen years later a
church and monastery were built, and Francis estab-
lished a discipline for the order based on penance,
charity and humility, and also on a perpetual Lent that
required a strict vegetarian diet.

Pope Sixtus IV (r. 1471-84) approved the new
order in 1474. Initially, they were called the Hermits
of St. Francis of Assisi. Francis had this changed in
1492 to the Minim Friars, as he desired that they be
recognized as the least (minimi) in the household of
God.

In 1481 the dying King Louis XI of France sent for
Francis and asked him to heal him in exchange for
assistance to his order. Francis replied that the lives of
kings are in the hands of God. The two men shared
numerous meetings, and Louis died in Francis’s arms.
His successor, Charles VIII, relied upon Francis for
much advice. He built for Francis three monasteries:
two in France at Plessias and Amboise, and one at
Rome.

Francis remained in France for the last 25 years of
his life. He became ill on Palm Sunday, 1507, and died
the following Good Friday, at age 91.

Francis was renowned as a miracle-worker. He was
reported to bilocate, and was seen simultaneously in
prayer in the chapel and out on the street talking to
people, or working in the kitchens while he also at-
tended the altar. He had the gift of miraculous trans-
port, and took companions across water using his
cloak for a boat. In 1483 he was observed by the king
of Naples to levitate in an ecstasy and to be bathed in
supernatural light in the middle of the night. The saint
also levitated objects. During the building of his first
church and monastery, he raised a large boulder that
was in the way.

On numerous occasions, Francis multiplied food
and wine, sometimes for large crowds of several hun-
dred. Though portions were small, each person felt
fully satisfied.

Throughout his life, Francis was very popular and
was often mobbed by enthusiastic crowds when he
ventured out in public. He was said to make himself
invisible whenever he wished to travel undetected, or
to have quiet moments for prayer and meditation. He
also had the gifts of prophesy, clairvoyance, supernat-
ural knowledge and control of the elements.

Once Francis had a confrontation with the Neapoli-
tan king Ferrantes, a corrupt man who sought to curry
favor with the saint by giving a large quantity of gold
coins for the building of a monastery. Francis lectured
the king on his corruption. He took a gold coin and
broke it in two; blood dripped from the halves. Francis
told him it was the blood that had been squeezed out
of his subjects. He refused the money. Reportedly, the
shocked king reformed.

Francis reportedly could produce sweet, often heal-
ing water by striking the ground with his staff. One
such spring, called the Fountain of Seven Canals, is
near the Church of the Holy Rosary in Paola. Its waters
are given to the sick.

When the wall of a furnace in his monastery was
near collapse, Francis entered the fire several times to
repair the damage, and was unharmed by the flames,
according to eight witnesses. The saint was unharmed
by fire on other occasions. When he was on his
deathbed and about to give his brothers his final in-
structions and blessings, a brazier in his room sud-
denly burst into flames. Francis got up, walked to it
and picked it up, saying, “Be assured, my brothers, that
it is not difficult for one who truly loves God to carry
out what He wishes, which for me is holding in my
hands this fire.” He was unharmed.

Canonization: 1519 by Pope Leo X
Feast: April 2
Patronage: naval officers; seafarers
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FURTHER READING
Simi, Gino J., and Mario M. Segreti. St. Francis of Paola.
Rockford, 11l.: TAN Books, 1977.

Francis Solanus (Francisco Solano) (1549-1610)
Franciscan missionary in Peru
Also known as: the Miracle-Worker of the New World

Francis Solanus was born in Montilla in the Andalusia
region of Spain on March 10, 1549. From an early age
he demonstrated spiritual inclinations and talents,
such as his ability to make peace between those who
were fighting. It was enough for Francis merely to run
to the combatants and ask them to desist in order to
get them to stop.

After studying with the Jesuits, in 1569, at the age
of 20, Francis entered a Franciscan monastery, drawn
to the poverty and the life of sanctity of St Francis of
Assisi. He was ordained a priest in 1576, and a few
years later, when an epidemic of black typhus arrived
in Andalusia, dedicated himself to attending the sick-
est. He himself contracted the disease and believed
himself about to die, but then, unexpectedly, recov-
ered. From this he understood that God was saving
him for still greater challenges. He asked his superiors
to send him as a missionary to Africa, but they denied
his request. However, in 1589 King Philip II asked the
Franciscans to send missionaries to South America,
and they assigned him there.

Francis arrived in Lima, Peru, in May 1589, having
survived a shipwreck off Panama. From Lima he was
sent to Argentina, where the Franciscans had several
missions. He had a great facility in learning the native
languages, considered by his peers to be a divine gift.
Even the most warlike tribes attended his sermons.
One Good Thursday while Francis was preaching in La
Rioja, the sound of thousands of Indians attacking the
village was heard. Francis went out to meet them with
crucifix in hand and placed himself in front of the
attackers, who not only desisted, but soon thereafter
also allowed themselves to be evangelized and baptized
in the Catholic religion.

Like his namesake and patron, St. Francis of Assisi,
Francis felt great compassion for animals. Birds fre-
quently surrounded him and then rose in the air,
singing happily. One day during a bullfight in the town
of San Miguel a bull escaped the corral and took to the
streets. Francis was called and he calmly approached
the animal. People watched in admiration as the bull
allowed Francis to take hold of him and lead him back
to the corral.

In 1601, Francis was ordered back to Lima, where
he spent his last years preaching to and converting sin-
ners. He went to gambling houses and to theaters,

where he interrupted plays he deemed immoral, deliv-
ering spirited sermons from the stage. In the town
square he preached that God would bring terrible pun-
ishments if people did not desist from their sinful
ways. Inevitably, these acts brought in many converts.

One day Francis announced in a sermon that
thanks to the sins of the people, everything around
him would be destroyed, leaving nothing but the site
from which he was preaching. The following year an
earthquake destroyed the church and its surroundings,
sparing only the site where Francis had made his pre-
diction.

In May 1610, the Miracle-worker of the New
World (as he had come to be called) began to feel very
weak. On July 14 a flock of birds flew into his room
in the San Francisco Monastery, singing, Francis
exclaimed, “Glory be to God,” and died. His room was
lit all that night by an unusual illumination visible
from far away.

Beatified: 1675 by Pope Clement X
Canonized: 1726 by Pope Benedict XIII
Feast: July 14

FURTHER READING

“San Francisco Solano, Misionero.” Church Forum Santoral
website. URL: http://www.churchforum.org.mx/santoral.
Downloaded: November 17, 1999.

“San Francisco Solano.” Santos Peruanos website. URL:
http://ekeko.rcp.net.pe/IAL/cep/santpapa/santoslos.htm.
Downloaded: November 17, 1999.

“San Francisco Solano.” Santos y Beatos de America Latina:
Peri website. URL: http://www/aciprensa.com/sant-
peru.htm. Downloaded: November 17, 1999.

Francis Xavier (Francisco Javier) (1506—1552) First
Jesuit missionary, considered the greatest missionary since
St. Paul

Francis was born in the castle of Javier (Xavier) near
Sanguesa, in the Spanish kingdom of Navarre, on April
7, 1506. His father, Juan de Jasso, was the king’s coun-
selor, and his mother was heiress to the houses of
Azupilqueta and Javier. They were Basques, like St.
Ignatius of Loyola, who was born not far away. Also
like Ignatius, Francis was the youngest of a large fam-
ily, though unlike him, he early showed an aptitude for
study, and at 19 was sent to Paris for his higher educa-
tion.

Francis enrolled in the College de Sainte-Barbe
(College of St. Barbara) of the University of Paris. He
received his M.A. degree in 1530 and began teaching
Aristotelian philosophy in the university. It was there
that he first met Ignatius, who in 1529 resided in the
college for a time as a guest. Together with five other
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St. Francis Xavier

students, Francis and Ignatius formed a group to prac-
tice Ignatius’s spiritual exercises. The group of seven
took vows of chastity together at Montmartre on
August 15, 1534.

Francis was ordained to the priesthood in Venice on
June 24, 1537, and went to teach in Bologna. How-
ever, when Ignatius called his Paris companions
together during Lent in 1539, he went to Rome to join
them. The group decided to form a new religious order,
the Society of Jesus, placing themselves at the disposal
of the pope to be sent wherever he wished and for
whatever duties. Pope Paul III gave verbal approval to
the order on September 3, the written approbation
coming a year later, on September 27, 1540.

By the time written approbation was promulgated,
Francis had left Rome. When King John III of Portugal
asked the Vatican to send two Jesuits to Goa, India,
where a colony had been established 30 years earlier,
Francis was assigned the mission. He reached Lisbon
about June and quickly became busy assisting in hospi-

tals and schools. The following year he received four
briefs from Pope Paul III, constituting him papal nun-
cio and recommending him to the princes of the East.
He sailed for Goa on April 7, 1541, his 35th birthday,
and landed there on May 0, 1542.

Francis spent five months in Goa, preaching and
ministering to the sick in the hospitals, and teaching
the catechism to children. He would walk through the
streets ringing a bell to call the children to their stud-
ies. Then in October he moved to Travancore on the
Pearl Fishery Coast to minister to the Paravas, a low-
caste people who had been introduced to Christianity
by the Portuguese. Twice while in Travancore he was
credited with the miracle of bringing the dead to life.
Word of the miracles spread, and he soon received
invitations to minister elsewhere in southern India.

Leaving India in 1545, Francis took his ministry to
areas of the western Pacific, though it is improbable
that he ever reached the Philippines, as is sometimes
claimed. He did, however, reach Japan and the Chinese
coast.

In Malacca in July 1547, Francis met a Japanese
called Anger (Han-Sir), whom he baptized with the
name Pablo de Santa Fe. From Anger he learned about
Japan, and the two left for the islands toward the end
of June 1549, arriving at the city of Kagoshima on
August 15. Francis spent a year learning the language
and translating the principal church documents, then,
about August 1550, he left Kagoshima and went
inland, preaching the Gospel in some of the cities of
southern Japan. At the beginning of 1551 he returned
briefly to Goa, intent on converting China, about
which he had heard much while in Japan.

Francis left Goa for the last time in April 1552, and
arrived at the small island of Sancian off the coast of
China that fall. He was planning how best to reach the
mainland when he fell ill. Since the movement of his
ship seemed to be aggravating his condition, he was
taken ashore to a crude hut that was built for him. He
died there on December 3, 1552, without the last
sacraments or a Christian burial. His corpse was cov-
ered in lime so that the flesh would be quickly con-
sumed in the grave. However, when his body was dug
up on February 17, 1553, it was found to be incor-
rupt and in a remarkable state of preservation. His
body was taken to Goa, where it was met with much
devotion, displayed for four days and entombed in the
former Jesuit church. Prior to entombment, it was
examined by doctors to verify that no embalming had
been done on it. The corpse gave off a sweet fra-
grance.

In 1614, by order of the general of the Society of
Jesus, Claudius Acquaviva, the right arm was severed
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at the elbow and conveyed to Rome, where an altar was
erected to receive it in the Church of the Gesu. The
body was exhumed and examined again in 1694 and
found to be remarkably lifelike, as though the saint
were merely sleeping. The body since has dried and
shrunk, but remains incorrupt. Numerous parts of it
have been removed for relics.

In 1949 the severed arm was toured throughout
Japan and the United States to commemorate the
400th anniversary of Francis’s arrival in Japan. The
body was placed on exhibition in Goa from November
1974 to January 5, 1975.

During his life Francis was credited with many mir-
acles, besides raising the dead, among whom was a
man whose entombed body had started to putrefy.
Francis’s bilocations were recorded so frequently that
one biographer termed them “of quite an ordinary
occurrence.” He is said to have possessed the gift of
prophecy and of tongues, to have healed the sick and
wounded, and to have calmed storms. In one such
storm near the Molucca Islands, the winds snatched
his crucifix, which he was holding high above his
head, and tossed it into the sea. When the saint’s ship
arrived safely at its destination, a great crab came out
of the sea carrying the crucifix in its claws in an
upright position. The grateful saint prostrated himself
on the beach in prayer for half an hour.

No doubt this reputation aided in his ministry. It
is estimated that in India alone he baptized 30,000
people.

Francis was canonized in 1622 along with SS.
Ignatius of Loyola, Teresa of Avila and Isidore the
Farmer.

In art, he is represented by a bell, crucifix, vessel or
globe. He is also depicted as a young bearded Jesuit
with a torch, flame, cross and lily; as a young bearded
Jesuit in the company of Ignatius of Loyola; and as a
preacher carrying a flaming heart.

Beatified: 1619 by Pope Paul V

Canonized: March 12, 1622, by Pope Gregory XV

Feast: December 3

Patronage: apostleship of prayer; Borneo; East
Indies; foreign missions; Goa, India; immigrants;
Japan; wineries and winegrowers

FURTHER READING
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Fulgentius of Ruspe (468-533) Bishop of Ruspe,
Father of the Church

Fabius Claudius Gordianus Fulgentius was born at
Telepte (Thelepte), in the North African province of
Byzacena, in 468. His grandfather, Gordianus, had
been a senator in Carthage who had been exiled to
Italy by the Vandals; but the family still owned prop-
erty and had status in the region. Fulgentius’s father,
Claudius, died soon after his birth, and he was brought
up by his mother, Mariana. He was well educated and
when he came of age helped Mariana manage the fam-
ily estate. Proving himself in his abilities, he was
appointed procurator of Telepte and tax receiver of
Byzacena.

However, he was drawn to the religious life. After
practicing austerities privately for a time, he entered a
local monastery when he was 22. There he became ill
from excessive abstinence, but recovered. When
renewed persecutions forced the abbot to flee, Fulgen-
tius also left, going to another monastery, this run by a
friend of his named Felix. Felix tried to abdicate in
favor of Fulgentius, but the two finally agreed on a co-
rule, Felix caring for the house while Fulgentius
instructed the brethren.

Felix and Fulgentius ruled together for six years
until in 499 they were forced to flee invading Numidi-
ans. They went to Sicca Veneria, where they were
arrested on the demand of an Arian priest, scourged,
and tortured, but finally released when they refused to
deny their faith. The two monks then split up, Fulgen-
tius intending to visit the anchorites in the Egyptian
desert, though he instead went to Rome where in 500
he visited the tombs of the Apostles. When he returned
to Byzacena, he built his own monastery, though he
chose to live apart as a hermit.

During this period, the Vandals did not allow ortho-
dox Catholic bishops to be elected in Africa, and sev-
eral sees fell vacant. Finally, in 508, the remaining
North African bishops decided to get new bishops in
place before the Vandals could stop them. Fearing he
would be elected, Fulgentius went into hiding. He
returned when he thought all of the vacancies had
been filled, but unfortunately for him landed at the
seaport of Ruspe (now Kudiat Rosfa, Tunisia), where
the election had been delayed. He was promptly
elected and consecrated bishop of a town he had never
before seen.

He quickly erected a new monastery, placing Felix
in charge. However, it was not long before he and the
60 other new bishops were exiled to Sardinia. Fulgen-
tius quickly emerged as spokesman of this community,
and in Cagliari founded yet another monastery. There
he began writing an important series of theological
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works addressing the Arian heresy, some of which
came to the attention of the Vandal king Thrasimund.
In 515, Thrasimund had Fulgentius taken to Carthage
for discussions with the Arian clergy.

In Carthage, Fulgentius found a receptive audience
among the city folk. His presence became a threat to
the Arians, who insisted that he be deported. He was
put aboard ship one night but contrary winds kept it in
port for the next several days and many were able to
take his leave and to receive Holy Communion from
his hands. To one weeping religious man, he prophe-
sied his speedy return and the liberty of the African
Church. This came with the death of Thrasimund in
523. Fulgentius returned to his monastery outside
Ruspe, where he continued to rule for the remaining
years of his life, insisting on austerity for himself and
his priests.

Perhaps sensing his end was near, in 532 Fulgentius
suddenly left Ruspe and retired to a small monastery
he had caused to be built on the island of Circinia
(Circe). His flock did not permit him to remain there
long, however, and shortly after his return to Ruspe, he
fell ill. He was sick for 70 days before expiring on Jan-
uary 1, 533. He was 65, and in the 25th year of his
episcopate. So beloved was he for his gifts of oratory
that he was buried within his church, contrary to the
law and custom of his age.

Feast: January 1 (formerly January 3)

Fursey (d. 648) Irish abbot, monastery founder, vision-
ary and miracle-worker

Fursey was born to a noble family on the island of Inis-
guia en Lough Carrie, Ireland, and was the brother of
SS. Foillan and Ulan. He founded a monastery at
Lagny-en-Brie, France, and became its abbot. Desiring
a good source of water, he prayed to God and then
struck the ground with his staff. A fountain of water
issued forth that served not only the monastery but
also the entire town. The water was said to have heal-
ing properties, and it attracted many pilgrims, espe-
cially on Ascension Day.

In 630 he went to England with family and friends.
According to the Venerable Bede, Fursey experienced
intense ecstasies, many of which occurred during ill-
nesses. After arriving in England, he fell ill and had a
vision in which God urged him to proceed with his
ministry and continue his prayers. With great speed,
he built a monastery near Ugremouth on land donated
by King Sigebert.

During a subsequent illness, Fursey fell into a
trance one evening and left his body until dawn. He

saw and heard choirs of angels and was told, “The
saints shall advance from one virtue to another.” Three
days later, another trance journey took him to visions
of the joys of the blessed and the extraordinary efforts
of evil spirits who attempted to obstruct his journey to
heaven but were restrained by angels.

The angels had him look down upon the Earth,
where he saw four fires that would consume the world:
falsehood, covetousness, discord and iniquity. The
flames increased in intensity and joined into one, and
devils flew through the fire. The angels told Fursey he
would not be burned by anything he did not kindle.
There followed accusations hurled by the devils at
Fursey, and defenses provided by the angels. Fursey
also was shown more of heaven, and the holy men of
his nation.

Upon the departure of Fursey and the angels, the
flames opened and a devil tossed out a man, striking
Fursey on the shoulder and jaw and burning him. An
angel tossed the man back into the fire. Fursey had
known the man and had accepted his garment after he
died. A devil said that since he accepted the clothing of
a damned man, he had to share in the man’s punish-
ment. The angel told the devil that Fursey had not
accepted the garment in avarice, but to save his soul.
The fire ceased. The angel said, “that which you kin-
dled burned in you; for had you not received the
money of this person that died in his sins, his punish-
ment would not burn in you.” The angel then gave him
advice for salvation.

For the rest of his life, Fursey bore burn marks
on his shoulder and jaw. He also was perpetually hot,
and even in winter sweated in the thinnest of gar-
ments.

Fursey preached the practice of virtues, but talked
about his visions with only a select few. After a time, he
could no longer bear the crowds who came to the
monastery. He resolved to end his life as a hermit, and
went off to live with his brother, Ulan, also a hermit.
But after a year he reentered the world, traveling to
France where he was welcomed by King Clovis and the
patrician Erconwald. He built another monastery near
Paris.

In 648 Fursey fell ill again and died. Erconwald
took his body to a church under construction in
Perrone. Fursey’s body remained on the porch in-
corrupt for 27 days until the church was dedicated.
His remains were buried near the altar; four years
later the still-incorrupt body was translated to a
chapel. Many miracles were claimed at his burial
site. For many years some of his relics, sent back
to Ireland, were paraded to the fountain he had
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found every Ascension Day for a special ceremony.
Thanks to Bede, he is one of the best known early
Irish saints.

Feast: January 16

FURTHER READING

Bede. Ecclesiastical History of the English Nation. URL:
http://www.fordham.edu/halsall/basis/bede-book1.html.
Downloaded: February 10, 2000.






Gabriel the Archangel
Name meaning: “Hero of God,” “the mighty one” or
“God has shown himself mighty” in Hebrew

”

The angel Gabriel—given the rank of archangel in
post-biblical lore—is one of the three principal angels
of Christianity, and figures prominently in Judaic,
Christian and Islamic angelology. In Christianity, the
cult of Gabriel began early in Rome.

Gabriel is the angel of revelation, wisdom, mercy,
redemption and promise. He sits at the left hand of
God. Gabriel is mentioned four times in the Bible, and
always in connection with important news. In the Old
Testament, he first appears as Daniel’s frequent visitor,
bringing prophetic visions of apocalyptic proportion
(Daniel 8:16, 9:21). In the New Testament, Gabriel
gives his name to Zechariah—*I am Gabriel who stand
in God’s presence” —when he announces the coming
birth of John the Baptist (Luke 1:19). He is cited in the
Annunciation to Mary of the coming birth of Jesus
(Luke 1:26).

It is in his role as annunciator of the coming of the
birth of Christ to Mary that Gabriel is best known and
best depicted in art. He is the most painted of angels,
for the Incarnation is the most common subject in
Western art. He is often shown holding one or more
lilies, the symbol of purity, or holding a scroll inscribed
with the Ave Maria.

125

Luke 1:26-38 describes the encounter between
Gabriel and Mary. He appears to her, tells her she has
found favor with God, and she will become pregnant
with a son who is to be named Jesus. When Mary won-
ders how this can happen, since she is a virgin, Gabriel
tells her the Holy Spirit will come upon her, and the
child will be holy. When she consents (“Behold, I am
the handmaid of the Lord; let it be done unto me
according to your word”) the angel departs. Though
the angel who announces the birth of Jesus to the
shepherds (Luke 2:8-14) is called only an “angel of the
Lord,” Catholic tradition credits this to Gabriel.

In Catholic devotion to angels, Gabriel has a promi-
nent place because of his role in the Annunciation.
Gabriel’s salutation, “Hail, full of grace, the Lord is
with thee, blessed art thou among women” is reiterated
in the Hail Mary. Because of his role in the Annuncia-
tion, other lore about Gabriel holds that he guides the
soul from paradise to the womb and there instructs it
for the nine months prior to birth.

Gabriel also is credited with other major acts of
unnamed angels concerning Jesus: as the angel who
appears in a dream to Joseph, warning him to take his
family and flee to Egypt to avoid Herod’s hunt for the
baby Jesus (Matthew 2:13); as the angel who appears
in the Garden of Gethsemane to provide strength and
support to Jesus in his agony (Luke 22:43); and as the
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Archangel Gabriel announcing the birth of Jesus to Mary (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division)
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“angel of the Lord” who has a countenance as light-
ning and a raiment as snow, who rolls back the stone
from the tomb of Jesus and sits upon it (Matthew
28:2). In addition, Gabriel is said to be the unnamed
archangel in 1 Thessalonians 4:15 who sounds the
trumpet of judgment and resurrection. Thus, he is
shown in art blowing a trumpet. Gabriel’s symbols are
a spear and a shield emblazoned with a lily.

Devotion to Gabriel and other angels is fostered as a
way of becoming closer to God.

Feast: September 29

Patronage: clerics; diplomats; messengers; postal
workers; radio broadcasters; stamp collectors;
telecommunication workers

FURTHER READING

Guiley, Rosemary Ellen. The Encyclopedia of Angels. New
York: Facts On File, 1996.

O’Sullivan, Fr. Paul. All about the Angels. Rockford, Ill.: TAN
Books, 1990; first published, 1945.

St. Michael and the Angels. Rockford, I1l.: TAN Books, 1983;
first published, 1977.

Gabriel Francis of Our Lady of Sorrows (1838-
1862) Passionist monk who advised St. Gemma Galgani

Gabriel Francis of Our Lady of Sorrows was born Fran-
cis Possenti in Assisi, Italy, in 1838. He joined the Pas-
sionist monks in Morovalle in 1856. He died of
consumption in 1862 in Isola.

Gabriel Franciss cult was confined to local calen-
dars in 1969.

Canonized: 1920 by Pope Benedict XV
Feast: February 27

Gall (ca. 550-630) Irish missionary, companion of St.
Columban, patron saint of Sweden and Switzerland

Gall was born ca. 550 in Ireland and studied under SS.
Columban and Comgall. He was a priest and biblical
scholar, and one of the 12 companions who accompa-
nied Columban to France, where they founded the
abbeys of Annegray, Fontaine and Luxeuil; Gall lived at
the latter for 20 years. When Columban was forced
into exile in 610, Gall went with him, and they eventu-
ally went to Austrasia. There they preached for two
years amidst opposition from the pagans.

In 612 Columban decided to retire to Italy, but Gall
said he could not go along due to illness. Columban
did not think him that ill, but merely unwilling, and so
sentenced him to a penance of never celebrating the
mass for the rest of his life. Gall obeyed, and went off
to Arbon, where he stayed with a priest, Willimar, who

had given them shelter during Columban’s exile. The
deacon Hiltibod instructed him to live as a hermit, and
so he chose a spot by the river Steinach to live. Disci-
ples gathered around him, and they followed the rule
of Columban.

Gall learned of Columban’s death at Bobbio in 615
in a vision. St. Eustace, whom Columban had left in
charge of the abbey at Luxeuil, died in 625. The monks
asked Gall to succeed him as abbot, but Gall preferred
to remain a hermit, leaving his cell only to teach and
preach. He undertook missionary activities in Switzer-
land.

King Sigebert twice offered Gall a bishopric, but he
declined these as well. He died around 630 in Bregenz,
Austria.

The Saint Gall monastery grew up on the site of his
hermitage, as did the town of Saint Gall. During the
Middle Ages, it was a prominent center of arts and
learning. The library was secularized and is now part
of the cathedral of Saint Gall.

According to legend, Gall had miraculous gifts,
including the ability to communicate with animals.
Once he is said to have dispatched a bear to fetch fire-
wood for the monks.

Feast: October 16
Patronage: birds; geese; poultry; Sweden; Switzer-
land

Gelasius | (d. 496) Pope

Gelasius, the son of an African named Valerius, was
born in Rome. He served as secretary to Pope St. Sim-
plicius (r. 468-483) and Pope St. Felix III (r. 483-
492), holding the position of archdeacon under the lat-
ter. He was elected Felix’s successor in the Chair of St.
Peter on March 1, 492.

During his pontificate, Gelasius made little attempt
to breach the schism between the Western and Eastern
Churches that had arisen at the end of Simplicius’s
reign. His more modest aim was to assert papal author-
ity over the Church of Constantinople, which had
emerged as a see second only to Rome and as leader of
the Eastern Church. Although he meet with little suc-
cess in this regard, he did exercise a deep influence on
the development of Catholic ecclesiastical discipline
and liturgy. A considerable number of his decrees were
incorporated into canon law. He also composed many
hymns, prefaces and collects, and arranged a standard
missal, although the Sacramentarium Gelasianum actu-
ally belongs to the next century and it is not known
how much of Gelasius’s work it contains.

In his private life, Gelasius was much devoted to
prayer, penance and study. He delighted in the com-
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pany of monks and gave freely to the poor, dying pen-
niless as a result of his lavish charity.

Gelasius died in Rome on November 19, 496, and
was buried in St. Peter’s on November 21.

Feast: November 21

Gemma Galgani (1878-1903) Mystic, stigmatist
Also known as: the Passion Flower of Lucca

Gemma Galgani was born on March 12, 1878, in
Camigliano, a small town near Lucca in Tuscany, Italy.
She was the oldest daughter of eight children. Her
mother died when she was seven, and her childhood
was fraught with hardships. She was chronically ill.
Her relatives, burdened with caring for her, treated her
poorly.

From an early age, she exhibited supernatural gifts:
visitations, visits by Christ, assaults by the devil, and
stigmata.

Gemma took her First Communion on June 17,
1887. She had an intense desire to become a Passionist
nun, but was turned away because of her ill health.

At age 19, Gemma turned down two marriage pro-
posals and then fell seriously ill with meningitis. She
felt herself tempted by the devil, and prayed for help to
the Venerable Francis Possenti (a Passionist later can-
onized as St. Gabriel Francis of Our Lady of Sorrows).
She was miraculously cured, and credited the interces-
sion of Possenti.

The stigmata appeared on her wrists, feet and side
from 1899 to 1901. The first episode occurred on June
8, 1899. Gemma felt an intense sorrow for her sins and
a willingness to suffer. She had a vision of her guardian
angel and the Blessed Virgin Mary. Mary opened her
mantle and covered her, and told her she was much
loved by Jesus, who was giving her a special grace.
Then Jesus appeared with his wounds open; flames,
not blood, issued forth. The flames touched Gemma’s
hand, feet and heart, and she felt as though she were
dying. Mary supported her for several hours. The
vision ended, and Gemma found herself on her knees,
a sharp pain in her hands, feet and heart. Her guardian
angel helped her into bed, and blood began to flow
from her wounds.

Thereafter, every Thursday evening to Friday after-
noon, Gemma would fall into a rapture and the five
wounds would open and issue a bright red blood. She
would utter the words of Jesus and Mary. The wounds
would abruptly stop bleeding, close and leave only
white marks. Sometimes the obliteration took until
Saturday or Sunday to complete. When the ecstasies
ended, Gemma would serenely go about her normal
business. However, she suffered great inner torments

and trials from the devil. Throughout these difficult
experiences, she maintained a great serenity and peace.

A Passionist, Father Germano, took an interest in
Gemma and became her spiritual director and confes-
sor. An expert on fraudulent mystical phenomena, he
had Gemma thoroughly tested and was convinced her
experiences were genuine. He recorded her utterances
and later became her biographer. With Germano’ help,
Gemma went to live with a family as a mother’s helper,
where she was shielded from unfriendly attention and
had the freedom to experience her ecstasies.

In 1901, Germano forbade her to accept the stig-
mata. She prayed and the phenomenon ceased, though
the white marks remained.

Gemma sought to help the poor, and especially
prayed for the conversion of souls.

In 1903, she was diagnosed with tuberculosis of
the spine. She died peacefully with a smile on her lips
in the company of her parish priest on Holy Saturday,
April 11, 1903.

Gemma'’s rich visionary life was recorded in detail
in her diaries and letters, as well as in Germano’s writ-
ings. She was especially known for her angelic visions.
She saw her guardian angel and heard his voice. Her
conversations with her angel were observed and
recorded by others who could hear only one side of the
conversation—hers. Germano commented that when-
ever she saw or listened to her angel, she entered into
an ecstatic state of consciousness, lost in another
world; as soon as she turned her eyes away, she
resumed her usual personality.

Gemma’s angel was her constant companion, so
familiar that she often treated him like a brother. She
was once admonished by Germano—who overheard
one of her one-way conversations—that she should
treat him with more respect. She agreed, and vowed to
remain 100 steps behind the angel whenever she saw
him coming.

Whenever Gemma was plagued by evil spirits, she
called upon her angel. In 1900 she recorded an episode
in which she was harassed for hours by the devil in the
form of a horrible “little fellow.” She was assaulted by
blows upon her shoulders while she prayed. Her angel
appeared and, curiously, attempted to beg off her
request to stay with her all night. He told her he had to
sleep. When she replied that the “Angels of Jesus do
not need to sleep,” he said he still needed to rest.
Nonetheless, he remained, and spread his wings over
her while she slept.

Sometimes the angel was severe with her, in word
or expression, as a way of trying to keep her on the
straight and narrow spiritual path. He would find fault
with her, and tell her he was ashamed of her. If she
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strayed from the path, he would depart from her pres-
ence for awhile.

Perhaps the most remarkable trademark of Gem-
ma’s angel was his couriership. She would send him off
on errands to deliver verbal messages to people in dis-
tant places, and return with their replies. Gemma con-
sidered this angelic postal service to be a natural thing,
and did not like asking for stamps. Others reportedly
received the messages. Sometimes replies were deliv-
ered back to her by the guardian angel of Father Ger-
mano. When some suggested this was the work of the
devil, Germano subjected Gemma to various spiritual
tests, asking for irrefutable signs, and got them.

For one test, Germano told Gemma to give her aunt
Cecilia a letter addressed to him; she was to lock it in a
place unknown to Gemma. Cecilia gave the letter to a
priest who locked it in a chest in his room and pock-
eted the key. The next day Gemma sensed the angel
passing with her letter. She notified the surprised
priest, who found the letter missing from the chest.
The letter was received by Germano—apparently by
angelic post. This test was successfully repeated a sec-
ond time under different circumstances.

Gemma was visited by other angels, and often by
Germano’s guardian angel, who, she said, had a bril-
liant star over his head. No thought or deed of hers
ever escaped angelic attention. If she was distracted in
prayer, her angel would punish her. If she did not feel
well, or if she would not eat enough, the angel exhib-
ited a tender side, inquiring after her welfare and urg-
ing her to eat.

Many other marvels were ascribed to her. Like St.
Martin de Porres, she was seen levitating and kissing a
crucifix on a wall in her home. She also could “smell”
the purity of a person’s soul. If she was in the company
of a wicked person, she found they gave off such a
stench that she became physically ill. She reportedly
undertook a mystical fast of extraordinary length at the
end of her life, from Whitsunday on June 1, 1902,
until the day she died. She would eat only the Blessed
Sacrament.

Though she never officially was a Passionist,
Gemma'‘s remains are interred at the Passionist
monastery at Lucca. She had accurately predicted it
would be built two years after her death.

Beatified: 1933 by Pope Pius XI

Canonized: May 2, 1940, by Pope Pius XII
Feast: April 11

Patronage: pharmacists; tuberculosis sufferers

FURTHER READING
O’Sullivan, Fr. Paul. All about the Angels. Rockford, IlL.: Tan
Books and Publishers, 1990; first published, 1945.

St. Gemma Galgani

George (d. ca. 303) Martyr; one of the Fourteen Holy
Helpers, patron saint of many countries

St. George is considered to be one of the most illustri-
ous martyrs in the Church, though most of what is
known about him in various “Acts of St. George” is
probably more legend than fact.

However, George was an historical figure. Accord-
ing to an account by Metaphrastes, he was born in
Cappadocia (in modern Turkey) to a noble Christian
family; his mother was Palestinian. After his father
died, he went to live in Palestine with his mother.
George became a soldier and was promoted to high
rank by Emperor Diocletian. But when Diocletian
began persecuting Christians, George went to him and
protested. He was jailed and tortured at or near Lydda,
also known as Diospolis. On the following day (April
23, probably the year 303), he was paraded through
the streets and then beheaded. He was buried at Lydda.

George immediately became an important martyr in
the churches of both East and West, and altars and
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St. George with slain dragon (Engraving by Albrecht Diirer,
n.d.)

churches were built in his honor. The early pilgrims of
the sixth to eighth centuries knew of Lydda as the seat
of his veneration. Some Acts of St. George were in exis-
tence by the end of the fifth century.

During the Middle Ages, George became a patron of
arms and chivalry in England, and the best-known
image of George, as a dragon-slaying knight, was born.
By the 11th century, his Acts had been translated into
Anglo-Saxon, and churches were dedicated to him. He
was invoked as a champion of the Crusades. The arms
of St. George, a red cross on a white background, were
carried into battle, and by the 14th century were used
as an insignia on the uniforms of English soldiers and
sailors. The red cross was incorporated into the Union
Jack. In 1347, King Edward III founded the chivalric
Order of the Garter, of which George was the principal
patron. Edmund Spenser wrote of George in his Faerie
Queen as the “Red Cross Knight.”

The Golden Legend, translated into English by
William Caxton, tells of St. George and the dragon, a
story that probably dates to the 12th century. A
monstrous dragon lived in the swamp near Silena,
Lybia, and terrorized the countryside by bringing
pestilence with its breath. To placate it, the townsfolk
fed it two sheep every day. The dragon grew weary of
sheep and started demanding human victims. Lots
were drawn and no substitutes were allowed. One day
the king’s little daughter was marked as the next sacri-
fice. She was taken to the swamp. George came by,
and when the dragon appeared he made the sign of
the cross and stabbed it with his lance. He asked the
maiden for her girdle and put it around the beast’s
neck. They led the dragon back to town. George
exhorted the people to be baptized and have no fear;
then he cut off the dragon’s head. All the people were
converted. George declined the king’s offer of half his
kingdom, saying he must ride on. He told the king to
take care of the churches, honor the clergy and have
pity on the poor.

Numerous religious and secular orders of St
George have existed throughout Europe and in Russia
and England (despite the fact that the saint’s cult was
suppressed in Protestant England). As a Holy Helper,
he was invoked for the protection of domestic animals
during the plague.

In art, George is most often depicted as a knight on
a horse lancing a dragon, the medieval symbol of evil.

Feast: April 23

Patronage: Boy Scouts; cavalry; farmers; soldiers;
Aragon; England; Genoa; Germany; Portugal;
Spain; Venice

FURTHER READING

Hammer, Fr. Bonaventure. The Fourteen Holy Helpers. Rock-
ford, T1l.: TAN Books, 1995.

Gerard Majella (1726-1755) Disciple of St. Alphon-
sus Liguori and Redemptorist lay brother
Also known as: the Wonder-Worker

Gerard Majella was born in April 1726 in Muro, south
of Naples. His father, Dominic Majella, was a tailor,
and died while Gerard was a child. Gerard’s mother
was forced to apprentice the child to a tailor, who
treated him cruelly.

Gerard was attracted both to the priesthood and to
suffering. He became the servant of a bishop. When
the bishop died, he resumed work as a tailor. In 1745
he opened his own shop, and divided his earnings
between his mother and the poor, and offerings for the
souls in purgatory.
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Gerard unsuccessfully tried to become a Francis-
can, and then a hermit. In 1749 he became a Redemp-
torist and was professed by Alphonsus Liguori in 1752.
In his vows, he promised to always do that which
seemed to him to be more perfect. Though sickly, he
obeyed all orders, performed his duties and was a
model of virtue, much to the appreciation of Alphon-
sus. He also seemed to know the needs of others even
when absent. Alphonsus declared him a saint.

Gerard accompanied the fathers on missions, and
converted many to the faith. He desired to spend so
much time in church that he had to do violence to
himself to keep himself away. When a woman falsely
accused him, he was defended by Alphonsus, and was
sent to Naples and then Caposele. The woman then
admitted she had lied. Gerard remained in Caposele
raising funds. He died there of tuberculosis on October
15, 1755, at age 29. After his death, Gerard became a
powerful intercessor, especially for expectant mothers.

During his short life, Gerard experienced many
miracles and mystical experiences. He bilocated, and
used his gift to spend more time in prayer, sometimes
in ecstatic prayer. He fell into raptures and levitated
before witnesses. On one occasion, he was seen to fly
rapidly about one-quarter of a mile. He also could
make himself invisible. He was often attacked and
annoyed by demons, who left him bruised; he used
holy water to heal the bruises.

Sometimes when he fell into ecstasy, rays of light
shot from him, so bright that the very room he was in
seemed to be on fire. His face and body glowed until he
became like a sun.

He was often permeated with a heavenly odor.
When he was dying, even his vomit smelled sweet.

One day while traveling along the Neapolitan
seashore, he saw a ship in danger of capsizing in a sud-
den squall. While onlookers screamed, he made the
sign of the cross and ordered the boat to pause in the
name of the Most Holy. He took off his mantle, laid it
on the water, walked to the ship and took hold of it
and pulled it to safety. Gerard’s explanation was that
when God wills, all things are possible. He also con-
trolled the elements and stopped torrential rain.

He had an amazing rapport with animals, and birds
were attracted to him. On one occasion he slew mice.
He met a poor farmer whose field was being ravaged by
mice. Gerard asked him if he would like the mice to
move or to die. The farmer said he wanted them to die.
Gerard made the sign of the cross, and in moments the
field was covered with dead and dying mice.

On numerous occasions, Gerard manifested mo-
ney—alfter intense periods of prayer—for the poor and
for church projects. He also multiplied food for the
poor and for his brethren. He healed people, some-

St. Gerard Majella

times using dust from the tomb of St. Teresa of Avila to
cure illness and prevent accidents.

He had the gift of prophecy, and knew when others
would die. He predicted his own death six months in
advance. He said he had prayed to die of tuberculosis,
knowing that few would want to attend him, and he
would die virtually abandoned. He predicted the day
and hour of his death.

Gerard had the gift of mystical knowledge, and
spontaneously said profound things at the right time.
He knew the sins of others and could read souls and
hearts. He knew when people had not confessed all
they should, and sent them back to the confessional.

Posthumous miracles are recorded as well. In 1855,
during his cause of beatification, Gerard’s remains were
exhumed. The head and bones oozed a perfumed oil or
manna in such abundance that a basin overran with it.
The manna was collected on handkerchiefs and linens
and given to the sick, many of whom were healed. In
1892, the remains were exhumed again. The bones,
found to be humid, were dried and placed in a casket.
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Four hours later, they were found to be oozing a sweet,
white oil. The oil never appeared again.

In 1895, two years after Gerard’s beatification, peo-
ple gathered at Caposele to celebrate his feast day. After
delivery of a panegyric and prayer, three flashes like
lightning illuminated the chapel containing the saint’s
tomb, the basilica of Materdomini.

Beatified: January 29, 1893, by Pope Leo XIII

Canonized: December 1904 by Pope Pius X

Feast: October 16

Patronage: childbirth; expectant mothers; the falsely
accused

FURTHER READING

Gerard Majella: The Mothers Saint. League of Saint Gerard
Staff. Liguori, Mo.: Liguori Publications.

Saint-Omer, Edward. St. Gerard Majella. Rockford, 11l.: TAN
Books and Publishers, 1999.

Germanus | (d. 733 or 740) Patriarch of Constanti-
nople, Father of the Church

Germanus was born to a patrician family; his father,
Justinianus, held various high-level positions in the
government. Germanus became a cleric at the cathe-
dral, and some time after the death of his father was
made bishop of Cyzicus.

Germanus opposed Monothelitism, which rejected
the two wills of Christ, but was forced to accept it by
Emperor Philippicus. Philippicus was dethroned in
713, and his successor, Anastasius, restored orthodoxy.
In 715, Germanus was recognized as patriach by Pope
Constantine (r. 708-715).

Germanus opposed Emperor Leo III the Isaurian in
his support of Iconoclasm, and Leo sought to depose
him. Germanus appealed to Pope Gregory II (r.
715-731). In 730 the pope summoned Germanus to a
council and he was instructed to support the prohibi-
tion of the use of images in worship. Germanus refused
and was forced to resign. He returned to the home of
his family, where he died either in 733 or 740. In 787
the Council of Nicaea praised Germanus.

Feast: May 12

Gertrude the Great (ca. 1256-1302) Benedictine
mystic
Name meaning: Spear-strength

Gertrude was born on January 6, 1256, near Eisleben
in Saxony, Germany. Nothing is known of her parents,
except that they were well-to-do. Gertrude was or-
phaned and at age five was placed in the Benedictine
convent at Rodalsdorf, where she became a student of

St. Mechtilde. She became a nun in the same mo-
nastery, and was elected abbess in 1251. The following
year she took charge of the monastery at Helfta, to
which she moved with her nuns.

Gertrude was such a devoted student that later she
repented for neglecting her prayers in order to study
more. She wrote and composed in Latin. She was espe-
cially devoted to the Sacred Heart, and wrote prayers
with Mechtilde.

On January 27, 1281, Gertrude had her first vision
of Christ, who appeared to her as a 16-year-old youth.
The vision appeared as she raised her head from prayer
at twilight. Christ told her that her salvation was near
at hand, and he would welcome her tenderly. There-
after for 20 years, Gertrude had at least one vision of
Christ a day. He often urged her to come to him
through his mother, the Blessed Virgin Mary, who
would be her protector. Only once did the visions
cease—during an 11-day period when he punished
Gertrude for a “worldly” conversation.

Gertrude was so humble that she wished no out-
ward manifestation of these visions, as she did not
want to appear special.

After Mechtilde’s death in 1298, one of the nuns
received this revelation from Jesus: “I have done great
things in Mechtilde, but I will accomplish still greater
things in Gertrude.”

Jesus bestowed seven graces upon her, and con-
firmed his promises by revealing his heart and telling
her to extend her hands. When she withdrew them,
she saw on one hand seven gold ringlets, one on each
finger and three on the signet finger.

In visions, Gertrude saw Jesus also give his mother
his Sacred Heart, and also kneel down before her. She
also had numerous visions of Mary. Once Gertrude
prayed to Mary, asking her to fill her heart with virtues.
In a vision, Mary came and planted in Gertrude’s heart
symbolic flowers: the rose of chastity, the lily of purity,
the violet of humility, the sunflower of obedience, and
others.

Gertrude also saw Mary appear in the presence of
the Holy Trinity. In another vision on the Feast of the
Assumption, she saw Mary invite her to take her place
on the heavenly throne, explaining that she could offer
Gertrude’s merits to God for the privilege. Mary
ascended to heaven, conducted by Jesus and amidst
rejoicing saints and angels.

Gertrude died in Hefta on November 17, 1302.
According to lore, Mary came and supported her dur-
ing her dying, and helped her soul to heaven. She was
buried alongside Mechtilde. In 1342, the monastery
was transferred to New Helfta inside the city walls of
Eisleben, but there is no record of any translation of
the relics and remains of the two saints.
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The death of Gertrude the Great (Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division)

Many of Gertrude’s writings are lost. Extant are
Legatus Divinae Pietatis (Herald of divine love), Exer-
cises of St. Gertrude, and the Liber Specialis Gratiae
(Book of special grace) of St. Mechtilde, all written in
Latin. Her mysticism is that of all the great contempla-
tive workers of the Benedictine Order.

Legatus Divinae Pietatis comprises five books con-
taining her life story and accounts of many of the
favors granted her by God. Only book two of the five is
her work, with the remainder being compiled by mem-
bers of the Helfta community. The seven “Exercises”
range from the work of the reception of baptismal
grace to the preparation for death. Gertrude exhibits a
profound knowledge and understanding of liturgy and
Scripture, and uses rich symbolism and allegory to
convey her message. Central to her work is her devo-
tion to the Sacred Heart.

The superiors of Helfta appointed renowned
Dominican and Franciscan theologians to examine the
works of Gertrude. Her writings were approved and

propagated. St. Teresa of Avila chose Gertrude as her
mentor and guide, and Gertrude’s works were favor-
ably viewed and recommended by SS. John of the
Cross and Francis de Sales.

Gertrude never was canonized, but in 1677 her
name was inscribed in the Roman Martyrology, and
Pope Clement XII (r. 1730-40) decreed that her feast
should be observed by the entire Church. In art she is
depicted as an abbess, sometimes with a mouse and
sometimes holding a flaming heart. She is considered
to be the forerunner of St. Margaret Mary Alacoque in
devotion to the Sacred Heart and is the only woman
saint to be called “Great.”

The seven mystical rings are commemorated by the
Church in St. Gertrude’s Office, in the third antiphon
at Lauds: “My Lord Jesus has espoused me to Him with
seven rings, and crowned me as a bride.”

Gertrude is especially invoked for living sinners
and souls in purgatory. In a vision, Jesus had told her
that a certain prayer would release 1,000 souls from
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purgatory each time it is said. The prayer was extended
to include living sinners as well:

“Eternal Father, 1 offer Thee the Most Precious
Blood of Thy Divine Son, Jesus, in union with the
Masses said throughout the world today, for all the
Holy Souls in Purgatory, for sinners everywhere, for
sinners in the universal church, those in my own home
and within my family. Amen.”

Feast: November 16
Patronage: against rats; West Indies

FURTHER READING

Brown, Raphael. Saints Who Saw Mary. Rockford, 1Il.: TAN
Books, 1955.

Gertrude of Helfta: The Herald of Divine Love. Margaret
Winkworth, ed. Mahwah, N.J.: Paulist Press, 1993.

Gleb See BORIS AND GLEB.

Gorgonia (d. ca. 370-373) Daughter of SS. Gregory
of Nazianzus and Nonna, sister of SS. Gregory of
Nazianzus the Younger and Caesarius

Most of what is known about Gorgonia comes from the
eloquent funeral oration for her delivered by Gregory
of Nazianzus the Younger. Gregory described her as a
model of piety and morals who was generous to the
poor. She was married and had children, and the sole
wealth she left them was “the imitation of her example,
and emulation of her merits.”

Gregory described how on more than one occasion
she was remarkably healed by her intense faith. Once
her mules went wild with her carriage and overturned it.
She was dragged and so badly injured that others
thought she would die. She refused all medical help and
relied upon the will of God. On another occasion, she
fell seriously ill with “an extraordinary and malignant
disease” that left her fevered, paralyzed and even coma-
tose. From this she seemingly miraculously recovered.

Gorgonia was told by God when she would die. She
made her preparations, went to bed, and passed away,
surrounded by her family and friends. Her last words
were, “I will lay me down in peace, and take my rest.”

Feast: December 9

FURTHER READING

“Gregory Nazianzus: On His Sister Gorgonia.” URL: http:/
www.fordham.edu/halsall/basis/gregnaz-gornogia.html.
Downloaded: September 24, 2000.

Gregory | (540-604) Pope, Father of the Church, Doc-
tor of the Church
Also known as: Gregory the Great

Gregory 1 is one of only two popes called “the Great”;
the other is Pope Leo I (r. 440-461). Gregory was the
first monk to become pope. His reign is distinguished
by his statesmanship, his writings, and his encourage-
ment of the monasteries, as well as his miracles. He is
considered one of the four great Latin fathers of the
Church.

Gregory was born in 540 in Rome to a patrician
family. His father, Gordianus, owned large estates in
Sicily. His mother, Silvia, is recognized as a saint, and
two of his aunts, Tarsilla and Aemilians (Emiliana),
were canonized.

Little is known of his early years. He was drawn to
the religious life and spent long hours meditating on
the Scriptures. In 573 he became the prefect of Rome,
but a year later abandoned the job to become a monk.
He turned his home into a monastery under the
patronage of St. Andrew, and turned his six Sicilian
estates into monasteries. For about three years, Gre-
gory lived in happy retirement from the world, proba-
bly following the Rule of Benedict, and practicing
severe austerities that weakened his health for the rest
of his life. He suffered chronic gastrointestinal prob-
lems and a “slow fever.”

In 579, with the Lombards threatening Rome, Pope
Pelagius II (r. 579-590) sent Gregory to Constantino-
ple to be permanent ambassador to the court of Byzan-
tium. Several of Gregory’s brothers from St. Andrew’s
went with him. Gregory disliked court life and, with
his fellow monks, adhered to monastic life as much as
possible. During the six years he was in Constantino-
ple, Gregory played the key role in suppressing a
heresy by Eutychius, the patriarch of Constantinople,
that held that Christ’s risen body had no substance, but
would be “more light than air.” Gregory and Eutychius
engaged in such a battle that the health of both was
impaired. The emperor supported Gregory and ordered
Eutychius’s book to be burned. Crushed and in failing
health, Eutychius took to his deathbed, recanting his
error just before he expired.

Gregory was recalled to Rome in 585 or 586. He
returned to St. Andrew’s and became abbot. He wrote
and preached, and his reputation grew. After meeting
some pagan Englishmen (or boys), Gregory was
inspired to evangelize in Britain. The English were
either men visiting Rome, or, according to the Venera-
ble Bede, young boys being sold in Rome as slaves.

Pope Pelagius 11 granted Gregory permission to go
to Britain, but the Roman people, with whom he was
supremely popular, demanded his return. Gregory was
stopped in mid-journey and recalled. Back in Rome, he
served as the pope’s chief adviser and assistant.

In 590, Pelagius 1I died on the heels of two years of
flood, famine and disease. Gregory was immediately
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St. Gregory the Great (Library of Congress Prints and
Photographs Division)

elected his successor. He attempted to demur, but
Emperor Maurice confirmed the election. Gregory
thought about fleeing, but he was seized and brought
to St. Peter’s Basilica and was confirmed on September
3, 590.

For the next 14 years, Gregory kept an exhausting
schedule of administrative duties and writing. He
preached to huge crowds. He expanded the power and
authority of his office and established it on an equal
footing with the imperial government. He expanded
the Church’s missionary efforts throughout the world,
including Britain; he is recorded in the Venerable
Bede’s Ecclesiastical History of the English People. He
supported the monasteries, enforced discipline, and
encouraged the wealthy to establish more monasteries.
Personally, he lived as simply as possible.

During his last years, Gregory suffered deteriorating
health and depression. He died on March 12, 604, and
was buried the same day in St. Peter’s Basilica. He was
canonized by popular acclaim immediately. His relics
were moved several times, the last occurring in 1606
when Pope Paul V (r. 1605-21) moved them to the
chapel of Pope Clement V (r. 1305-14).

In art he is shown dressed as a pope with tiara, car-
rying the double-barred cross. Sometimes he is shown

seated at a desk or at an altar; a dove also is sometimes
shown with him.

Among Gregory’s most important works are the
Liber Regulae Pastoralis (Book of pastoral rules), guide-
lines of religious practice; four Dialogues, collections of
saints’ lives and their miracles; the Magna Moralis, a
mystical commentary on the Book of Job; and homi-
lies. Of his letters, 850 are extant.

Gregory is credited with creating Gregorian chant, a
form of musical worship with Jewish, Palestinian and
Syrian roots. Gregory ordered this music to be col-
lected and preserved. Gregorian chant grew over the
centuries and now numbers about 3,000 chants.

Numerous miracles are attributed to Gregory. Best
known is the story of his writing of his homilies on
Ezekiel, around 593. He dictated to a secretary, who
was seated on the other side of a veil. He would
remain silent for long periods of time. Once during
one of these silences, the curious secretary made a
hole in the veil and peeked through. He saw a white
dove seated upon the pope’s head with its beak
between his lips. When the dove withdrew its beak,
the pope began to speak. During another silence, the
secretary again saw the dove with its beak between
the pope’s lips.

Another story from tradition involves a woman at
Communion who did not believe in the host as the
true body of Christ, for she had made the bread herself.
Gregory placed the bread upon the altar, and it began
to bleed.

Feast: September 3
Patronage: musicians; popes; singers; teachers
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Gregory Il (ca. 669-731) Pope
Also known as: Dialogus, Gregory the Lesser, Gregory
Junior

Gregory was born about 669 to Marcellus and Honesta,
Roman nobles. While very young he showed an inter-
est in the Church and was placed by the pope in the
schola cantorum, the choir school. He became a Bene-
dictine monk. Pope St. Sergius 1 (r. 687-701) made
him a subdeacon and appointed him sacellarius
(almoner and treasurer) of the Roman Church. Later
he also became its librarian, and has the distinction of
being the first known papal almoner or librarian.
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In 710, Gregory, now a deacon, accompanied Pope
Constantine (r. 708-715) to Constantinople to protest
the anti-Western canons of the Second Quintisext
(Trullan) Council. He distinguished himself in his
replies to Emperor Justinian II and helped to secure
Justinian’s acceptance of papal supremacy. The two
returned to Rome in 711.

Constantine died in 715, and on May 19 of that
year, Gregory was elected his successor. One of his first
official actions was to repair the walls of Rome as a
defense against the Muslims, who were then in control
of much of the Mediterranean. In 716, Gregory peace-
fully regained papal territory from the Lombards, and
when their king Liutprand threatened to invade Rome
in 729, Gregory dissuaded him.

Although Gregory acknowledged allegiance to the
Greek emperor Leo III the Isuarian (Leo the Icono-
clast), he opposed Leo’s illegal taxation of the Italians,
and demanded that Leo stop interfering in Church
matters. He rebuked Leo severely at a synod in Rome
in 727, proclaiming the true doctrine on the matter of
the worship of images. In return, Leo plotted (unsuc-
cessfully) to have him killed.

During his pontificate, Gregory received several dis-
tinguished pilgrims—including the Anglo-Saxons,
Abbot Ceolfrid and King Ina, the latter of whom
became a monk in Rome in 726—and in 719 sent SS.
Corbibian and Winfrid (or Boniface) as missionaries to
Germany. In 722, he consecrated St. Winfrid bishop
and interested the great Frankish chief Charles Martel
in his work. Gregory also assisted St. Nothelm in his
researches in the papal archives to provide material for
St. Bede’s Ecclesiastical History.

Gregory was a great supporter of the monastic
order. On his mother’s death, he followed his papal
namesake, Gregory I (Gregory the Great, r. 590-604),
in converting his family mansion into a monastery. He
also founded or restored many others monasteries,
including the abbey of Monte Cassino, which had been
destroyed by Lombards 150 years before.

Gregory is regarded as the greatest of the great eighth-
century popes. His Western contemporaries called him
Gregory the Younger or Gregory Junior, while those in
the East, who confused him with Gregory I, author of
the “Dialogues,” knew him as “Dialogus.”

Gregory died of natural causes on February 11,
731, and was buried in St. Peter’s. He is honored as a
saint in the Roman and other martyrologies.

Feast: February 11 (sometimes February 13)

Gregory Il (d. 741) Pope

Gregory’s date of birth is not known. The son of a Syr-
ian named John, he became a priest in Rome, earning a

reputation for holiness and learning. So great was his
following that he was elected pope by acclamation, as
he was accompanying the funeral procession of his
predecessor, St. Gregory II (1. 715-731), on February
11, 731. He was not consecrated for another month,
however, as he awaited confirmation from the exarch
at Ravenna.

Gregory continued his predecessor’s opposition to
Iconoclasm and in 731 convened two councils in
Rome, both of which condemned the image-breaking
heresy. He paid particular attention to images and
relics, especially those of St. Peter the Apostle, and
built a special oratory in the Vatican basilica of St.
Peter’s to honor them. In response, Emperor Leo the
Iconoclast seized papal properties in Calabria and
Sicily and transferred ecclesiastical jurisdiction over
those two provinces (and Illyrium) to the patriarch of
Constantinople, long a rival to the pope in Rome.

Gregory also followed his predecessor in supporting
the missionary activities of St. Boniface in Germany,
sending St. Willibald to assist him.

The end of Gregory’s pontificate was largely con-
cerned with preventing the Lombards from once again
sacking Rome. He completed the rebuilding of the city
walls, a task begun by Gregory II, and took other pre-
cautions, including enlisting the assistance of the
Frankish king Charles Martel. This last decision was to
have far-reaching consequences for the meddling of the
state in church affairs.

Gregory died in November or December 741, in the
midst of the Lombard campaign. He was buried in the
oratory of Our Lady which he had had built in St.
Peter’s.

Feast: December 10 (formerly November 28)

Gregory VII (ca. 1021-1085) Pope
Also known as: Hildebrand, Holy Satan

Gregory was highly influential in the Roman Church
even before his elevation to the papacy. He was largely
responsible for changing the rules for selecting popes
from election by all the Christians of Rome to election
by the College of Cardinals. The widespread reforms
he instituted during his own reign won him the per-
verse epithet, “Holy Satan.” However, he is recognized
today as one of the greatest popes of the Middle Ages.
Gregory was born in Ravaco, near Saona, in Tus-
cany, Italy, around 1021. His father was a poor peasant,
perhaps a carpenter, named Bonizo. He was baptized
Hildebrand (Hellebrand). While still a youth, he was
placed in the care of his uncle Laurentius, superior of
the monastery of Santa Maria in Rome. He joined the
Benedictine order and was educated at the Lateran
Palace school, where one of his teachers was John Gra-
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tian, the future pope (or antipope) Gregory VI (r.
1045-46).

When Gratian was elected pope in May 1045, he
made Hildebrand his secretary, and when he was
deposed the following December, Hildebrand followed
him into exile in Cologne, Germany. After Gratian died
in 1047, Hildebrand moved to Cluny, where he
resumed the monastic life. It was there, in January
1049, that he met Bruno, Bishop of Toul, then recently
elected Pope St. Leo IX (r. 1049-54), who took him
back to Rome.

Leo created Hildebrand a cardinal-subdeacon and
made him administrator of the Patrimony of St. Peter’s.
Under Hildebrand’s leadership, much Church property
was recovered and the revenues of the Holy See
increased. Leo then appointed him propositus of the
monastery of St. Paul-Outside-the-Walls, which had
lost much of its monastic discipline. Women attended
the monks in its refectory, and sheep and cattle roamed
freely through the broken doors of its sacred buildings.
Under Hildebrand’s direction, the monastery’s austerity
was restored.

In 1054, Leo sent Hildebrand as his legate to the
Council of Sens. He was still in France when news
came of Leo’s death, and he hurried back to Rome.
There was talk of electing him pope, but he worked to
secure the election of Victor 11 (r. 1055-57) instead.
Under Victor, Hildebrand continued to work behind
the scenes. After Victor, he was instrumental in the ele-
vation of Popes Stephen (r. 1057-58) and Nicholas II
(r. 1058-61). During Nicholas’s reign, he engineered
the papal decree overturning the traditional manner of
electing popes and mandating the College of Cardinals
as the electoral body. He was also responsible for nego-
tiating the 1059 Treaty of Melfi, which allied the
Roman Church with the Normans. Alexander made
him archdeacon and appointed him chancellor of the
Apostolic See.

When Alexander died in June 1073, Hildebrand
himself was elected pope by an overwhelming majority.
He was consecrated on June 30, took the name Gre-
gory VII, and immediately set about his widest reforms
to date. He convened councils in Rome in 1074 and
1075 at which he enacted decrees against married
clergy, simony and the royal investiture of bishops and
abbeys. A council convened in Paris in response
declared the decrees to be intolerable, but Gregory
enforced them through depositions and excommunica-
tions.

Gregorys reforms made him many enemies and
found a varied response in Europe. The most
intractable region turned out to be Germany, then
under the rule of Henry IV. Henry had Gregory kid-
napped by Roman nobles while he was celebrating a

Christmas Eve midnight Mass in St. Mary Major’s, and
he was held for several hours before being rescued by
parishioners.

This was only the beginning, however, for Henry
tried to have Gregory deposed, whereupon Gregory
excommunicated Henry. Gregory lifted the excommu-
nication when Henry repented, but reinstated it in
1080 when Henry reneged on his promises. Henry
then invaded Italy and attacked Rome, taking it in
1084 and forcing Gregory to take refuge in the Castle
Sant’ Angelo. Henry demanded that Gregory crown
him emperor, but when the pope refused, Henry thew
his support behind Guibert, archbishop of Ravenna.
Guibert was duly consecrated as antipope Clement III,
and in turn crowned Henry.

Gregory remained at Sant Angelo until he was
rescued by Robert Guiscard, the Norman duke of Cal-
abria, whom he had summoned to his aid. Unfortu-
nately, in retaking Rome from Henry, the Normans
sacked the city, which added to Gregory’s growing
unpopularity, since he was seen as responsible for the
pillaging. He fled to Monte Cassino and then to
Salerno, having been abandoned by 13 of his cardinals.

Gregory’s health began to decline and he died in
Salerno on May 25, 1085. On his deathbed, he forgave
his enemies and withdrew all his censures and excom-
munications except those against Henry and Guibert.
His body was interred in the church of St. Matthew at
Salerno.

In art, Gregory is shown as a pope holding a book
and ring or with the Virgin and Child, from whom a
ray of light shines and pierces his heart, while a dove
rests on his shoulder. He has also been depicted being
driven from Rome by soldiers.

Canonized: 1606 by Pope Paul V
Feast: May 25

Gregory X (1201-1276) Pope

Gregory was born in 1201 in Piacenza, Italy, as
Theobald Visconti. He was archdeacon of Liege,
though not yet ordained a priest, when he was elected
to succeed Pope Clement IV (1. 1265-68) on Septem-
ber 1, 1271. The Holy See had then been vacant three
years due to disagreements among French and Italian
cardinals, and Theobald was a compromise candidate
who did not even know that he was in the running. He
was on a pilgrimage to the Holy Land when news came
of his election, and he hurried to Viterbo, where the
cardinals were meeting, arriving there in February
1271. He made his entrance into Rome on March 13.
On March 19 he was ordained a priest and on March
27 he was consecrated in the Chair of St. Peter, assum-
ing the name Gregory X.
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Gregory is best remembered for convoking the 14th
General Council at Lyons in 1274, which approved a
new crusade to retake possession of Christian sites in
the Holy Land from the Muslims, a decision that pre-
pared the way for reconciliation between the Roman
Catholic and Eastern Churches. However, although
money was raised for the crusade, it proved impossible
to bring it off, and the schism between East and West in
the end went unbridged.

Gregory died in Arezzo (Rezzo) on January 10,
1276, on his way back from Lyons. He is honored as a
saint in Rome and in several dioceses. Pope Benedict
XIV (r. 1740-58) added his name to the Roman Marty-
rology.

Beatified: 1713 by Pope Clement XI
Feast: January 10 (formerly February 16)

Gregory of Elvira (d. ca. 392) Bishop of Elvira; Fa-
ther of the Church

Gregory Baeticus was born in the Spanish province of
Baetica (hence his surname). He supported the Nicene
Creed at the Council of Rimini in 359, and was then
and later a strong supporter of Roman Catholic Chris-
tianity in its battle with the Arian heresy. He was con-
sidered the head of the anti-Arian movement in Spain.
By 375, he ruled as bishop of Elvira (Illibrius), now in
the diocese of Granada.

Feast: April 24

Gregory the Illuminator (2572-337?) National saint
and patron of Armenia, the first Christian state
Also known as: the Apostle of Armenia

Gregory was brought up in a Christian family in Cae-
sarea, Cappadocia (in modern Turkey). He married and
had two sons. According to tradition, Christianity had
been brought to Armenia by the apostles Bartholomew
and Thaddeus. The Persians overtook the country and
destroyed the churches, but eventually were driven out
by King Trdat.

Trdat, a defender of the old Armenian religion, per-
secuted Gregory but was converted by him. The two
evangelized the country and Trdat made Christianity
the national religion. Gregory returned to Caesarea to
be ordained, and was made bishop of the Armenians.
He went to Ashishat to live, and there preached to the
masses. Toward the end of his life, he retired and was
succeeded by his son, Aristakes. The date of his death
is uncertain, but probably was around 337. His relics
were deposed in Thortan.

An embellished legend of his life and trials tells of
Gregory being thrown into a poisonous pit by Trdat,

and coming out alive thanks to prayer. He fasted 70
days, and had many adventures defeating the pagans
throughout the land.

Feast: October 1

Gregory of Nazianzus (ca. 325-389 or 390) Father
of the Church; Doctor of the Church

Also known as: Gregory the Theologian, Gregory the
Divine

Gregory Nazianzus was born ca. 325 in Arianzus, Asia
Minor, to a wealthy family. His father, St. Gregory of
Nazianzus the Elder, and his mother, St. Nonna, were
converts to Christianity; his father was bishop of
Nazianzus and his sister was St. Gorgonia. Gregory and
his brother Caesarius were sent to a school in Caesarea
in Cappadocia (in modern Turkey) headed by Car-
terius, later a tutor to St. John Chrysostom. At school
Gregory met Basil and formed a lasting and influential
friendship with him. Gregory continued his studies in
Palestine, where he learned rhetoric under Thespesius,
and in Alexandria, where St. Athanasius was bishop in
exile. Going on to Athens, Gregory reunited with Basil,
and the two studied rhetoric under Himerius and
Proaeresius, two famous teachers. Gregory remained in
Athens for about 10 years, and left at age 30 to return
home via Constantinople.

In Nazianzus, Gregory was undecided whether to
pursue a career in law or rhetoric, or to enter a monas-
tic life. He consulted Basil, and for two or three years
joined his friend in a monastic community that Basil
established at Neocaesarea in Pontus. He helped Basil
to compile his rule.

In 361 Gregory returned home to find a heretical
father. He steered him back to orthodoxy, but was
ordained a priest only at the behest of his father and
against his own wishes. During the next several years,
Basil was embroiled in political maneuverings with
Emperor Valens, and established a new see at Sasima.
He asked Gregory to become his first bishop there.
Gregory agreed, but disliked the job and soon left it to
return to Nazianzus and become coadjutor to his
father. As a result, a permanent rift was created in his
friendship with Basil.

Gregory’s parents died in 374. He gave away most of
his inheritance to the poor, keeping for himself only a
small plot of land. He declined to succeed his father as
bishop, and in 375 withdrew to a monastery in Seleuci
to live in solitude for three years. Basil died in 379, but
Gregory’s poor health prevented him from going to his
friend or attending the funeral. He wrote poems com-
memorating the saint.
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The same year, Gregory found his monastic peace
shattered by politics. Theodosius was named the East-
ern emperor, and he prevailed upon Gregory to come
to Constantinople and campaign against the heretics
there. Gregory established the Anatasia, a chapel in a
private home, where he developed and delivered some
of his greatest oratorical works in the face of hostile
persecution.

In 380, Theodosius banished the Arian bishop of
Constantinople and placed Gregory in his stead. But a
few months later in 381, Gregory was opposed by a
general council of bishops. He resigned in June 381
and returned to Nazianzus. There he found the Church
in poor condition, and reluctantly took over its admin-
istration. Poor health forced him to leave, and he went
to Arianzus to spend the rest of his life in retirement at
the tiny piece of land he had retained from his inheri-
tance.

During his last years, Gregory produced most of his
poetical works. The date of his death is not known, but
probably falls in 389 or 390. He was buried in his fam-
ily vault; his body is said to have given off a sweet
odor.

St. Jerome, who was influenced by Gregory, said
that the saint wrote 30,000 verses of poetry. If the fig-
ure is accurate, only about one-third have survived.
Gregory also composed numerous epistles, sermons
and orations. Of his orations, best-known are his five
“Theological Discourses” written while in Constan-
tinople. He is called one of the three “Cappadocian
Fathers,” with SS. Basil the Great and Gregory of
Nyssa.

FURTHER READING

The Fathers Speak: St. Basil the Great, St. Gregory Nazianzus,
St. Gregory of Nyssa. Tr. Georges Barrois. Crestwood,
N.Y.: St. Vladimir’s Seminary Press, 1986.

Gregory of Nazianzus the Elder (276-374) Bishop of
Nazianzus and father of St. Gregory of Nazianzus

Gregory the Elder was born in 276 in Nazianzus, Cap-
padocia (in modern Turkey), and was a contemporary
of SS. Basil the Great and Gregory of Nyssa. He was a
member of the Hypsistarri (or Hypsistiani) heretical
sect. His wife, St. Nonna, converted him to Christian-
ity. All three of the couple’s children—sons Gregory
and Caesarius and daughter Gorgonia—became saints.
The family was wealthy and owned much land.

Gregory was consecrated bishop in 328. He fell
under the influence of the heretical creed of Rimini,
and was brought back into orthodoxy by son Gregory
in 361. He died in 374.

Feast: January 1

Gregory of Nyssa (d. after 385 or 386) Bishop of
Nyssa; Father of the Church; brother of SS. Basil the
Great, Macrina the Younger and Peter of Sebaste

Gregory was born in Caesaria, Cappadocia (in modern
Turkey); some sources place his birth ca. 335. He was
influenced by his older brother Basil, who steered him
toward the religious life. As a youth Gregory served as
rector. He met with Basil’s strong disapproval when he
began studying for a career in rhetoric. At some point
he married a woman named Theosebia. After his
appointment as bishop, Gregory continued to live with
her but as a sister; at an unknown time she died.

Basil at last prevailed with Gregory and consecrated
him bishop of Nyssa, near Caesarea, around 371. But
he was disappointed in his younger brother’s adminis-
trative ability, which was not as good as his own.

Gregory had enemies in Nyssa, and was accused of
wasting church property and other crimes. He was
arrested, and in 376 a synod of Nyssa deposed him. In
378, the new emperor, Gratian, restored him to his
bishopric and issued an edict of tolerance for the
Christians.

Gregory’s reputation as one of the greatest theolo-
gians in the Eastern Church was earned for his opposi-
tion to the Arian heresy, and for his orthodoxy. He was
named bishop of Sebaste in 380 (against his wishes)
and in 381 he was among the orthodox leaders at the
Council of Constantinople. He also distinguished him-
self as an orator.

Gregory died sometime after 385 or 386; some
sources place his death at 395.

Gregory wrote numerous treatises on the Scrip-
tures, and produced works on theology and the ascetic
life. His Catechesis defends Catholic teaching. He
defended Basil against the heretic Eunomius, and
defended the Nicene Creed against Arianism. His De
anima et ressurectione (Life and resurrection) is a dia-
logue between Gregory and his dead sister Macrina
about death and resurrection. He is called one of the
three “Cappodocian Fathers,” with Basil and St. Gre-
gory of Nazianzus.

Among Gregory’s ascetic works on Christian life are
On Perfection, On Virginity and On the Meaning of the
Christian Name or Profession. Many of his sermons and
homilies, and 22 of his letters, are extant.

Feast: May 9
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Gregory Palamas (ca. 1296-1359) Athonite monk
and archbishop of Thessalonica

Gregory of Palamas was born ca. 1296 to a noble Ana-
tolian family, probably in Constantinople. After his
father died, he and two of his brothers became monks,
and his mother, two of his sisters and several servants
became nuns. Gregory entered a monastery on Mt.
Athos and followed the Rule of St. Basil, living in soli-
tude for most of the next 20 years.

In the 1330s, he began to defend the hesychast prac-
tice, centered on a method of prayer used by monks in
Byzantine monasticism—possibly linked to Buddhist
techniques—that involved controlled breathing and
posture to induce a vision of light, often compared to
the light seen at Jesus’ transfiguration on Mt. Tabor.
Hesychast comes from hesychia, which means “still-
ness” or “light.” Opponents of hesychasm denied that
the light of Tabor, which hesychasts experienced, was
the uncreated light of the Godhead.

The breathing techniques to experience this uncre-
ated light were dangerous, and if done improperly or
done to excess, could cause physical and mental dam-
age.
Gregory’s defense of the reality of the monk’s prayer
experience was called Palamism. He maintained that
though God had an unknowable essence, the energies
of God’s grace—a part of God—were knowable. Thus
God could be experienced through sacraments and
mystical experience. This was made possible by the
incarnation of Christ. Palamism contrasted with
Catholic theology, which maintains that God is inef-
fable and cannot truly be experienced.

Hesychast, prayer, or Palamism, created controversy
and conflict that drew in lay people and became quite
political. A hesychasm party formed. The 1341 Council
of Constantinople upheld Gregorys teachings, and
Palamism was officially adopted by the Orthodox
Church.

Gregory, however, was excommunicated in 1344. In
1347, he was consecrated bishop of Thessalonica, an
appointment that required the aid of the Byzantine
emperor, due to the controversy over Palamism. Gre-
gory worked diligently to reconcile deep social and
political divisions.

In 1354, invading Turks captured Gregory and held
him prisoner for a year. He died in 1359.

Gregory left behind a large body of works, several
of which are included in The Philokalia compilation.
He is considered one of the great spiritual masters of
Orthodox Christianity.
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Gregory Thaumaturgus (213-270 or 275) Bishop of
Neocaesarea renowned for his miracles, Father of the
Church

Also known as: Gregory Thaumaturgos; Gregory the
Wonder-Worker; Gregory of Neocaesarea

Much of what is known about Gregory Thaumaturgus
comes from a Life written by St. Gregory of Nyssa and
delivered on the saint’s feast day, November 17, in 380.
Gregory of Nyssa obtained much of the information
from his grandmother, St. Macrina the Elder, who was
schooled in the tradition of Gregory Thaumaturgus.

Gregory was born at Neocaesarea, Pontus (also
Pontos), now in modern Turkey, to a distinguished
pagan family in 213. He was named Theodore (“the
gift of God”). His father died when he was about 14.
About 233, he and his brother Athenodorus set out for
Beirut to study law there. They were accompanied by
their sister, who was joining her husband in Caesarea,
Palestine.

In Caesarea they met Origen, head of a famous cate-
chetical school there, and decided to enter it to pursue
the study of theology instead of law. Origen converted
them, and they became his disciples. Gregory received
his Christian name at his baptism by Origen.

Origen encouraged his pupils to study all the great
philosophical works, including pagan, but not atheist.
The broad teachings created the foundation of Gre-
gory’s religious and philosophical life.

The brothers returned to Neocaesarea in 238 or
239. According to Gregory of Nyssa, Gregory spent
some time in solitude. He was elected bishop by the 17
Christians of the city (interestingly, by the time of Gre-
gory’s death there were but 17 pagans remaining in
Neocaesarea).

After his election, Gregory had the first recorded
dream or vision of St. John, who appeared in the form
of an old man accompanied by the Blessed Virgin Mary.
Gregory was told that Mary had requested John to
reveal the mystery of truth. The radiance around the
figures was so brilliant that Gregory could not look
upon them. He heard the voices of other learned men
speaking to him about truth. Mary told him to imme-
diately write down the revelation and proclaim it in the
church. St. John then dictated a creed of Christian faith
pertaining to the eternal existence of the Trinity.
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Gregory took a great deal of inspiration and
courage from this vision. He proved to be a charismatic
and eloquent figure, and also gifted with miraculous
powers. He became known as Gregory Thaumaturgus
(“the wonderworker”). His words, wisdom and mira-
cles won over many converts. He built a church and
dispensed advice to many.

In 250, during the Decian persecution, Gregory and
his flock fled to the desert. Upon their return, they had
to deal with plague and attacks by the Goths in
252-254. In 264-265 Gregory participated in the
synod of Antioch, Turkey. He argued against Sabellian-
ism and Tritheism.

Among Gregory’s important writings are Oratio
Panegyrica, an enthusiastic and admiring homage to
Origen; Exposition of the Faith, in which he asserts his
orthodox views about the Trinity; Epostola Canonica;
and a dissertation addressed to Theopompus concern-
ing the passibility and impassibility of God.

Gregory died in Neocaesarea in 270 or 275. He is
invoked against floods and earthquakes. In 1969 his
feast was confined to specific calendars.

In his Life of Gregory Thaumaturgus, Gregory of
Nyssa gives accounts of some of the saint’s miracles.
Some undoubtedly are of a legendary nature, intended
to enhance the saint’s reputation. Nonetheless, Gregory
did possess remarkable abilities. He healed the sick
and vanquished demons. He converted a pagan temple
keeper by moving, through the power of faith, a huge
stone. When flood waters threatened Neocaesarea, he
struck his staff into the river banks; it turned into a
tree and checked the flow of flood waters. When a
heckler accused him of being under demonic influ-
ence, Gregory blew upon him and caused the heckler
to become temporarily possessed. He then healed the
young man.

Gregory’s miracles continued after death. According
to Gregory of Nyssa, an earthquake damaged most of
the city but left Gregory Thaumaturgus’s church
untouched. It is likely that the saint was buried there.

Feast: November 17
Patronage: against earthquakes; against floods
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Gregory of Tours (538 or 539-593 or 594) Bishop
and historian

Gregory was born in Tours in 538 or 539 to an illustri-
ous family with ties to the great houses of Gaul. He
was named Georgius Florentius, but later took the
name Gregory in memory of his maternal great-grand-
father, who was the bishop of Langres.

Gregory’s father died when he was young, and he
was sent to be educated by his uncle Gallus, bishop of
Clermont. A serious illness convinced him to serve the
Church. After Gallus died in 554, he was turned over
to Avitus, a priest who later became the bishop of Cler-
mont.

In 573 Gregory was named bishop of Tours by King
Sigebert I, and he went to Rome to be consecrated. In
his role as bishop, Gregory was faced with almost con-
stant civil war. He increased the number of churches
and attended to the suffering of the people, all the
while managing to stay out of politics.

Gregory began his career as an historian during his
episcopate. He was fascinated by the lives and miracles
and intercession of the fathers, saints and martyrs,
subjects on which he wrote numerous books. He is
perhaps best-known for his 10-volume Historia Franco-
rum, an early Frankish history beginning with Adam,
and for his three books on the life and miracles of St.
Martin of Tours. A fourth book was never completed.
Other notable works are De Vitae Patribus (Lives of the
fathers) and Gloriam Martyrum (Book of the glories of
the martyrs), about the miracles of the martyrs in Gaul
during Roman persecutions. Gregory put his theology
into the introductions of his books, and wrote only one
purely theological work, De cursu stellarum ratio (On
the courses of the stars), which discusses using the
stars to set the proper time for the singing of the night
office.

Gregory died in Tours on November 17, 593, or
594.

Feas